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Ne pas voir
On ne doit pas voir.
On doit pas savoir.
On ne doit pas comprendre.
On ne doit pas entendre . . .
Le silence.
Le terrible silence
de l’indifference
de l’homme
pour l’homme.

Not to See
You don’t need to see.
You don’t need to know.
You don’t need to understand.
You don’t need to listen to . . .
The silence.
The terrible silence
of man’s indifference
towards man.

Jacques Rozenberg (1922–99), 
artist and Auschwitz survivor

Poem taken from the book Hommage Jacques Rozenberg. Sa pensée, sa peinture, edited by Andrée 

Caillet-Rozenberg, Gant 2005, with friendly permission of Andrée Caillet-Rozenberg.
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P R E FAC E

This book attempts to reframe the history of the camp for Jews at 
Blechhammer (today Blachownia Śląska), one of many “forgotten” camps on the Ho-
locaust’s deplorable map.

In sharp contrast to its “mother camp” Auschwitz-Birkenau, the site of the former 
Blechhammer satellite is now largely overgrown by forest and is probably visited more 
often by herds of wild deer than by tourists. Those familiar with the camp are typi-
cally locals or the next of kin of victims and survivors. Accordingly, it was the story of 
my great-grandfather that inspired me to write a doctoral thesis on Blechhammer. He 
was arrested by the Gestapo in June 1941 for having publicly criticized Nazi Germany’s 
attack on the Soviet Union. He was shipped from southern Germany to Auschwitz, 
where he was detained until August 1941. Then he was conscripted to highway con-
struction works “on probation.” From spring 1942, he was assigned to building the in-
dustrial complexes in Heydebreck (Kędzierżyn-Koźle) and Blechhammer. He man-
aged to escape in January 1945 with British prisoners of war he had befriended. After 
the war, he wrote a manuscript on the horrors he witnessed and experienced but un-
fortunately found no publisher. Over the years the manuscript was lost, he passed away, 
and his story only lived on through what my grandmother told us.

I’m indebted to many individuals and institutions who made this research proj-
ect possible.

First, I would like to extend my heartfelt thanks to all those whose family members 
were interned in Blechhammer and who shared these life stories with me. I’m especially 
grateful to the late Charles Hayward, a former British prisoner of war at Blechhammer, 
and his son Tony, for granting me an interview in 2010, and to Simone Millard Spira.

Edward Haduch of the Blechhammer-1944 Association (Stowarzyszenie Blech-
hammer-1944), a local initiative in Kędzierżyn-Koźle to commemorate the victims of 
the Blechhammer camps, is a fount of knowledge on the region’s difficult history. He 
and a group of fellow volunteers tirelessly excavate and preserve objects, gather archi-
val sources, and reach out to survivors and their families for information, to maintain 
a museum. He started to exchange information with me from an early stage in my re-
search, and I cannot thank him enough for his wonderful support.

A European Union Holocaust Research Infrastructure (EHRI) Fellowship at the 
Netherlands’ Institute for War, Holocaust and Genocide Studies (NIOD) in Amster-
dam in June 2012 enabled me to see some of the oldest and highly crucial testimony 
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on Blechhammer by Dutch Jewish survivors. Thanks to Karel Berkhoff and other re-
searchers and staff at the NIOD, my stay was extremely fruitful.

I’m immensely grateful for having been awarded a Claims Conference Saul Kagan 
Fellowship in Advanced Shoah Studies in 2012–2013. The feedback I received from the 
incredibly knowledgeable and helpful members of the academic board, like Steven T. 
Katz, Dalia Ofer, David Silberklang, and Jolanta Ambrosewicz-Jacobs, and also from 
the other fellows, gave important new impetus to my project.

I equally wish to thank the University of Oldenburg’s history department for pro-
viding me with a position based on a stand-alone project grant by the German Research 
Association (DFG) from 2013 to 2015 and from 2016 to 2017.

Many thanks to Yad Vashem for a two-week research fellowship for PhD candi-
dates at the International Institute for Holocaust Research in June 2014. All the staff, 
and especially Eliot Nidam, did their utmost to help me access a wide array of sources. 
I’m particularly grateful for the unique opportunity to discuss my project with Yehuda 
Bauer during my stay in Jerusalem.

A junior fellowship at the Vienna Wiesenthal Institute for Holocaust Studies 
(VWI) in 2015–2016 provided much needed long-term access to specialist libraries and 
the USC Shoah Visual History Archive. My special thanks to the University of Vien-
na’s library staff. The amazing work of the VWI’s directors, Éva Kovać and Béla Raśky, 
filled my eight months’ tenure with vibrant, highly interesting events, ranging from 
group discussions and public presentations commented on by accomplished scholars to 
talks by international Holocaust researchers. I particularly wish to thank Sybille Stein-
bacher for the invitation to present my project in one of her higher seminars at the Uni-
versity of Vienna and for her competent feedback. Fruitful exchange was equally pro-
vided by the other fellows, and I especially benefited from thoughtful advice by Rory 
Yeomans, Volha Bartash, and Paul Weindling.

I likewise extend my gratitude to the Fondation pour la Mémoire de la Shoah for 
granting me a doctoral fellowship in 2017–2018, and to Dominique Trimbur for orga-
nizing a very stimulating workshop in Paris.

I wish to thank Wendy Lower, Waitman Wade Beorn, and Steven Tyas for invit-
ing me to a workshop on complicity and collaboration at the United States Holocaust 
Memorial Museum in summer 2014. The two weeks in Washington, D.C., were very 
productive, also due to the great support of the archive and library staff, and especially 
Elizabeth Anthony, who facilitated access to the International Tracing Service (ITS) 
database. I’m also indebted to the Claims Conference for enabling my participation 
in a workshop for British and Israeli PhD students at the Wiener Library in London 
in June 2015. Many thanks to the insightful commentators, among others Dan Mich-
man, Christopher Dillon, and Mary Fulbrook, and to Christine Schmidt, who intro-
duced the participants to the ITS.
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This project drew on a wide variety of sources in many archives and libraries in Eu-
rope, Israel, and the United States. I thank all staff members for their assistance. I’m par-
ticularly grateful to the head of the Archive of the State Museum Auschwitz-Birkenau 
in Oświęcim Wojciech Płosa for his expert advice and generous provision of materials.

Furthermore, special thanks to Linda Margittai and Ari Joskowicz for translating 
Hungarian and Hebrew sources, and to Uwe Höpken of the “euthanasia” Memorial 
(Gedenkstätte Alte Pathologie) in Wehnen for helping with the first preparations for 
this project (and for brewing Frisian tea on rainy days). I likewise thank my family for 
their continuing support.

I feel very honored that my dissertation was awarded the Prix Fondation Auschwitz–
Jacques Rozenberg, 2021–2022. I extend my deepest gratitude to the members of the 
Fondation Auschwitz and the Fondation Jacques Rozenberg, and especially to Baud-
ouin Ferrant and Andrée Caillet-Rozenberg.

Finally, I wish to thank Andrea Gapsch, the director Justin Race, the editorial board, 
and the whole team of Purdue University Press for their fantastic assistance in turning 
my dissertation into a book.





I N T RO D U C T I O N

L eo B. was born into a Jewish orthodox family in Sosnowiec in 1918. 
When Nazi Germany invaded Poland in fall 1939, he was conscripted for forced 
labor duties. He witnessed how the Germans publicly humiliated his father by 

shaving off his beard. Leo continued to live in the ghetto established in Sosnowiec with 
his family, until the first deportation waves to Auschwitz began. He and his family were 
among the twenty-two thousand Jews from Sosnowiec, Będzin, and Dąbrowa who 
were rounded up in sports fields on August 12, 1942, for selections. Leo’s mother was 
shot immediately, while his father and his siblings were either murdered in Auschwitz 
or transferred to labor camps. Leo was the only family member allowed to remain in 
the ghetto, as he worked for the German Army. In March 1943 he, too, was sent to la-
bor camps. After only three months in camp Gräditz (Grodziszcze), Leo became un-
fit to work due to a leg injury. Despite being granted a short period to recover in a so-
called camp for convalescents at Brande (Prądy), Leo’s name was swiftly put on a list 
for Auschwitz. His life was saved by the intervention of a Jewish overseer, who secretly 
added him to a transport to Blechhammer (Blachownia Śląska). The hard labor exac-
erbated the problems with his leg, which had not fully healed. However, Leo managed 
to continue working with the help of a female inmate, who passed on food to him. The 
takeover of the Blechhammer forced labor camp by Auschwitz in April 1944 turned 
him into a concentration camp prisoner. When the Blechhammer prisoners were evac-
uated to Buchenwald in January 1945, Leo was unable to go on the march. He was lib-
erated in the camp’s infirmary by the Red Army on January 28, 1945, and was eventu-
ally reunited with his surviving brother and sisters. 1

Leo B.’s story is unique, yet representative of the fate of tens of thousands of Jew-
ish women and men who had been ghettoized in the region the Germans referred to 
as “Eastern Upper Silesia.”
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Up to 120,000 Jewish residents of formerly Polish parts of Silesia, the Cieszyn area, 
and northern parts of Lesser Poland, which had been annexed by Nazi Germany in Oc-
tober 1939, were concentrated in a small strip of land deemed inappropriate for German 
settlement. While the non-Jewish parts of the ethnically diverse population of Silesia 
were screened for their suitability to become “Germans,” the Nazis intended to remove 
all Jews from the outset. 2 When initial plans to deport the Jews to the Polish-Soviet bor-
derlands had to be abandoned due to logistical impediments, it was decided to tempo-
rarily exploit their labor in ghetto workshops and camps. Growing numbers of young 
people were arrested in the ghettos to be detained in a secluded system of forced labor 
camps set up all over Silesia and Sudeten by Himmler’s Special Commissioner Schutz-
staffel (SS) Brigadeführer Albrecht Schmelt from fall 1940. The so-called Schmelt 
camps operated outside the concentration camp system but were closely connected to 
Auschwitz. Next to providing the German war industry with cheap labor, they were 
integral to the anti-Jewish policy. The internment in Schmelt camps permitted Nazi 
authorities to control healthy, young ghettos inhabitants they considered likely to put 
up resistance. 3 By the end of 1942 more than 50,500 people, almost half of the region’s 
Jewish population, had been arrested and transferred to camps under this policy. Most 
importantly, the conditions in Schmelt camps effected soaring mortality rates of up 
to 95 percent, which decimated young, able-bodied women and men even before the 
onset of the large deportation waves from the ghettos to Auschwitz in 1942 and 1943. 4

Immediately after the invasion of Poland, the Reich Security Main Office (Reichs-
sicherheitshauptamt, RSHA) under Reinhard Heydrich ordered the establishment of 
Jewish councils, a relic of the Middle Ages, with the sole purpose of carrying out Ger-
man orders. In Sosnowiec, an umbrella organization known as the Central Office of the 
Jewish Councils of Eastern Upper Silesia (Zentrale der jüdischen Ältestenräte in Os-
toberschlesien) was formed to supervise all Silesian Jewish councils. The Central Office 
was headed by Moshe Moniek Merin (1906–1943), a commercial broker with a polariz-
ing personality. Like Chaim Rumkowski in the Łódź ghetto, Merin pursued the strat-
egy of “salvation through labor.” Both were convinced that a thriving ghetto economy, 
coupled with the provision of laborers to German businesses, would save parts of the 
Jewish communities, at the cost of sacrificing those who were unable to work. However, 
as Dan Michman has pointed out, the Jewish councils were not self-governing bodies, 
as they had virtually no leeway for action. Merin was held personally responsible for 
the proper implementation of German directives he received from Hans Dreier, who 
represented the Gestapo Kattowitz (Katowice) in the Sosnowiec ghetto. 5

From October 1940 at least one male member of a Jewish family was obligated to 
work in a camp. This order coincided with the delegation of Jewish labor affairs from 
employment agencies to the Office of the Special Commissioner for the Deployment 
of Foreign Labor, Albrecht Schmelt. The so-called Schmelt Office was a major driving 
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force behind the expansion of forced labor camps and ghetto workshops. The profits 
were seized by the German state, and Schmelt also embezzled considerable amounts of 
money. A central transit camp in the Sosnowiec ghetto served as a collection point for 
those conscripted for labor duties in camps. The Germans requested ever greater con-
tingents of workers from the Jewish councils. Moreover, Schmelt’s deputy, SS Ober-
sturmbannführer Heinrich Lindner, together with the Gestapo and German police 
units, frequently raided the ghettos to have people arrested for labor camps. 6

The Schmelt Office closely collaborated with Fritz Todt’s Reich Highway Company 
(Reichsautobahngesellschaft, RAB). Sybille Steinbacher and Wolf Gruner even posit 
that the Schmelt Office came into existence as a result of Himmler’s order of Septem-
ber 12, 1940, to supply the RAB with Eastern Upper Silesian Jews. Todt’s enterprise was 
in charge of constructing “thoroughfare IV,” a fast-track route to the Ukraine built in 
preparation for the attack on the Soviet Union. As this road was considered crucial to 
the planned Operation Barbarossa, and the RAB suffered from labor shortages, the 
RAB was allocated thousands of Jewish workers by Schmelt to complete the segments 
running through Silesia. 7 The RAB and the Schmelt Office indeed became tightly knit 
together in several respects. An employee of the RAB’s building supervisory board at 
Breslau (Wrocław) named Haunschild became Lindner’s right-hand man in regard to 
selecting Jewish workers or killing those on the spot they deemed unfit during their vis-
its to camps. The RAB administered the camps it set up along thoroughfare IV them-
selves. Its civilian camp leaders, who could be notoriously cruel, were partnered with 
order police guards provided by the Schmelt Office. 8 In late 1941 the construction of in-
dustrial sites was prioritized over the completion of the highways, and the RAB was del-
egated the building supervision of arms production facilities. The company allocated its 
Jewish inmates to these projects. Hitler’s “architect” Albert Speer, who inherited most 
positions held by Todt after his death in February 1942, intensified the exploitation of 
Jewish labor by playing out his simultaneous functions as minister of arms and ammu-
nition and head of the RAB. Having urged Himmler to permit the Schmelt Office to 
extract Jewish men from western deportation trains before they reached Auschwitz 
in fall 1942, he offered the Highway Company’s camps as transit centers. Haunschild 
was a key figure in selecting the deportees, many of whom subsequently augmented the 
RAB’s own workforce. 9 By the end of 1942 the RAB was utilizing about five thousand 
Jewish inmates, 10 percent of all able-bodied Jews held in Schmelt camps at the time. 10

In January 1942 a protocol of the Wannsee Conference stipulated that Jews in-
volved in important war work were to be temporarily exempted from the Final Solu-
tion. In Eastern Upper Silesia, the first deportations of those unfit for work, or unem-
ployed, to Auschwitz began. In parallel with the onset of mass murder, Schmelt further 
expanded his camp system. The selections in the ghettos, which were made by Dreier 
and Schmelt Office staff, equally forced more and more able-bodied women and men 
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into labor camps. 11 The number of Schmelt camps almost tripled during what Bella 
Gutterman called the “fall peak” of 1942. 12 Altogether, there were up to 160 Schmelt 
camps in Silesia and 19 in Sudeten. 13 These seemingly contradictory developments 
were in fact part and parcel of the same murderous plannings. The paramount role of 
the Highway Company in the policy of “annihilation through labor” was implied by 
a paragraph in the protocol of the Wannsee Conference stating that the able-bodied 
Jews were to be taken eastward while constructing roads. It was assumed that the over-
whelming majority would perish in the process. 14 Although the road-building work was 
gradually stopped in Silesia (but continued in the Ukraine, where a camp system sim-
ilar to Schmelt’s evolved), 15 the conditions in the newly established industrial Schmelt 
camps were no less lethal.

The Schmelt camp set up in Blechhammer in spring 1942 adjacent to one of the 
Third Reich’s most important synthetic fuel facilities, the Oberschlesische Hydrierw-
erke (Upper Silesian Hydrogenation Works, OHW), was emblematic of the last phase 
of Schmelt’s system. At a crucial turning point in the anti-Jewish policy, the camp was 
at the intersection of the full implementation of the Final Solution and the industrial-
ists’ requests for more laborers. Consequently, it began to serve a dual purpose. First, it 
supplied workers to a plant, which produced fuel for the German Navy and the Luft-
waffe. Second, Blechhammer took over important functions connected to the mass 
murder of the Eastern Upper Silesian ghetto population and Schmelt camp inmates.

The pivotal role played by camps like Blechhammer in the Shoah remains largely un-
explored by scholarship in the field. 16 The almost complete absence of studies on indi-
vidual Schmelt camps left many central aspects of the Holocaust in Eastern Upper Sile-
sia in obscurity. 17 As a result, a narrative developed that (mis-) construes the Schmelt 
Office’s actions as lifesaving to Jews. At the core of what Yehuda Bauer referred to as 
an “extreme functionalist” argument lies the contention that Schmelt’s economic in-
terests had slowed down or even averted the genocide. 18 Andrea Rudorff thus identi-
fies the Schmelt camps as “unintentional safe havens” (nicht intendierte Überlebensorte), 
where the Jewish inmates purportedly survived, while their next of kin were deported 
to Auschwitz. 19 Stephan Lehnstaedt even posits that Schmelt had been opposed to the 
Final Solution, and that the mass deportations had only commenced after his dismissal 
in 1944. 20 By contrast, Steinbacher points out that Jewish labor deployments and mass 
murder were intrinsically linked to one another. However, her groundbreaking work 
on Schmelt’s system did not delve deeper into the actual conditions prevailing inside 
these camps, and neither did it arrive at approximate death tolls to support her argu-
ment. 21 Moreover, the identities of both the perpetrators and the victims remain dif-
fuse in most studies on the subject.

The relevance of microhistories is underlined here. They add precision and clarity 
and help to discern between singular phenomena and standard practices. Schmelt’s 
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parallel system, its relation to the Auschwitz concentration camp, the internal organi-
zation of these camps, their changing functions, the different perpetrator groups, and 
their interactions can only be fully comprehended by examining individual camps. Mi-
crohistories also permit a victim-centered perspective and the reframing of the prison-
ers’ responses to the atrocities they were confronted with.

Considering the abundance of sources, it is surprising that camps like Blechham-
mer are still categorized as “forgotten camps.” Sadly, the lack of camp studies equally 
led to the omission of the victims of the Schmelt camps from public commemoration.

Following Saul Friedlander’s concept of an integrated history, this microhistory on 
Blechhammer combines contemporaneous documents and judicial interviews with 
survivor testimony to achieve a more balanced view. 22 Next to fact-centered accounts 
that Lawrence Langer termed “common memory,” witness testimonies enhance our 
understanding of the inflicted trauma with their inherent layers of “deep memory.” 23

A previously untapped document collection on the OHW in the German Federal 
Archives Berlin-Lichterfelde sheds new light on the plant’s ruthless exploitation of 
Jewish and other unfree labor. The original OHW company files were taken over from 
the former German Democratic Republic’s Dornburg archive in 1993 but only became 
accessible to the public in 2008. 24 Most documents pertaining to the activities of the 
Schmelt Office have been destroyed. To a certain extent, the modalities of the Jewish 
work deployment can be derived from files from the OHW, the RAB, the Council of 
Jewish elders of Dąbrowa, regional administrations, and the police president of Sos-
nowiec. 25 Despite attempts by the SS to burn most compromising evidence, a small frac-
tion of Auschwitz prisoner records has nonetheless been preserved. 26 A wealth of wit-
ness accounts and life writing collected by archives beginning in 1945 was evaluated. 27 
The introduction of video testimonies in the 1980s opened a fresh perspective on the 
Shoah by facilitating a more differentiated view of the human suffering inflicted by the 
experience. Survivors who had repressed their memories for decades began to tell their 
stories for the first time. The Fortunoff Video Archive at Yale University in 1982 spear-
headed this new trend and led to the creation of similar databases. With an estimated 
eight hundred relevant video testimonies, these archives provide the largest corpus of 
source material on the Blechhammer camp. 28 The increased public interest in the Ho-
locaust resulted in a surge in autobiographies by survivors, some of whom were former 
Blechhammer prisoners. 29 Several trials and pretrial investigations in Poland and Ger-
many regarding members of the Schmelt Office, camp leaders, and SS men produced 
judicial interviews by Jewish survivors, as well as perpetrators. 30

The Blechhammer camp is ideally suited as a case study to examine the multifaceted 
roles played by Schmelt camps in the Shoah. Its later transformation into an Auschwitz 
subcamp allows a comparative view of the differences and similarities between the con-
centration camp and Schmelt’s seemingly autonomous system. As an industrial camp, 
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Blechhammer likewise illustrates the far-reaching connivance and complicity of senior 
executives, factory guards, and civilian foremen in the Holocaust.

When the Highway Company was delegated the building supervision of the OHW 
in early 1942, it relocated up to fourteen hundred Jewish prisoners to set up the new 
Schmelt camp at Blechhammer. Originally the plant had been built in Silesia for the 
ideological purpose of “Germanizing” the area through industrialization. However, 
conscriptions to the front disrupted the regime’s plans for increasing the number of 
Germans in the borderland region, and the OHW had to draw on foreign and unfree 
labor instead. Next to workers from Axis states or Nazi-occupied countries, the OHW 
received British, French, and Soviet prisoners of war, as well as Polish and Jewish pen-
itentiary prisoners. Contrary to the other categories of laborers, the allocation of the 
Jewish Schmelt camp inmates was a direct result of the Highway Company’s building 
supervision. Around the same time, Albert Speer became the director of the Highway 
Company after Todt’s sudden death in an explosion. Speer was a frequent visitor at the 
OHW and facilitated the transfer of more and more Jewish inmates. 31 He equally ini-
tiated the stopping of western deportation convoys en route to Auschwitz to extract 
additional Jewish men for Schmelt camps in fall 1942. 32

Founded in summer 1939 pursuant to the Nazi regime’s autarky program, the OHW 
plant was fully privatized in 1942. The main investors were Preussag, Reichswerke- 
Hermann-Göring, and the Upper Silesian Hard Coal Syndicate. 33 The managing direc-
tor, Max Josenhans (Wildbad, Württemberg, 1893–St. Petersburg, Florida, 1966), had 
previously been a chief engineer at IG Farben’s Leuna plant. Based on his recommen-
dations, IG Farben chose Auschwitz-Monowitz as the site of its synthetic rubber fac-
tory in 1941. The OHW’s plans for a second hydrogenation works on the same site did 
not materialize; however, it closely cooperated with IG Monowitz. 34

The Nazi Party tightly scrutinized all enterprises with the help of senior members 
of the management, who guaranteed a high level of compliance among the workforces. 
At the OHW, a key figure in this respect was the corporate lawyer and deputy director 
Dr. Heinrich Schlick. He officially represented the Nazi Party and its branch organiza-
tions and acted as counterintelligence officer. He reported any nonconformist behav-
ior to the Gestapo and was authorized to interrogate foreign and unfree laborers sus-
pected of alleged sabotage, or espionage. Schlick simultaneously commanded the works 
police (Werkschutz), comprising 150 men. 35 Originally intended to protect factories 
against theft, these private guards were transformed into auxiliary policemen reporting 
to Himmler’s security police (Sicherheitspolizei, Sipo) after the outbreak of war. They 
closely monitored the growing numbers of non-German laborers on industrial sites and 
were permitted to kill alleged saboteurs on the spot from summer 1944. Jewish inmates 
were among their main victims. 36 The dangerous alliance between industrialists and 
the works police effectively turned senior executives into accomplices in the regime’s 
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genocidal policies. 37 Despite their undeniable collaboration in atrocities, the factory 
guards are rarely the foci of newer historiographies. Consequently, the scholarship on 
this perpetrator category is still shaped by the East German anti-capitalist rhetoric of 
the Cold War era. 38 However, it is important to keep in mind that both overlooked 
groups significantly impacted the survival chances of Jewish inmates, and that their in-
fluence remained a constant in industrial camps under Schmelt and Auschwitz alike.

In marked contrast to the concentration camps, Schmelt camps were guarded by the 
order police (Ordnungspolizei, Orpo). Some 233 police officers and 169 police veter-
ans of the Sosnowiec police administration that Himmler had created in 1940 to con-
trol the Jewish ghettos were put at Schmelt’s disposal. The policemen were reinforced 
by ethnic German auxiliaries. The guards were under the command of Higher SS and 
Police Leader (HSSPF) of Silesia, Heinrich Schmauser. 39 While the order police’s col-
laboration in Einsatzgruppen (Sicherheitsdienst [SD] killing squads) shootings, ghetto 
liquidations, and deportations has been widely researched, their tenures in labor camps 
for Jews remain a considerable lacuna. 40 During their deployment in Schmelt’s system, 
they established a new dimension of violence. The police murdered countless inmates 
by way of the so-called death bath procedure (Totbadeverfahren). The victims were ex-
posed to cold water until heart failure set in, they drowned, or they died of hypother-
mia. This despicable killing method presumably originated in the Mauthausen sub-
camp Gusen in fall 1941. 41 There is contention among historians over whether these 
water-induced murders were directly connected to Himmler’s 14f13 directive of May 
1941 to have unfit concentration camp prisoners killed, and the subsequent experi-
ments with gassings in Auschwitz. 42 Contrary to Auschwitz, where this method was 
not commonly applied, water-induced murders had become the terrifying hallmark 
of the Schmelt camps by spring 1942 at the latest. The superior of the police guards at 
Blechhammer, guard duty officer (Wachhabender) Walter Rettinghausen, made such 
excessive use of the death bath procedure that the prisoners, in a cynical allusion to the 
Jewish ritual bath mikvah, called him Mikvenik. 43

It is unclear when selections of unfit prisoners for Auschwitz were introduced into 
Schmelt’s system. Gruner and Steinbacher assume that sick inmates had been systemat-
ically killed beginning in November 1941, analogous to the order by HSSPF Katzmann 
to murder the unfit in Eastern Galician labor camps along thoroughfare IV. Rudorff 
recently rebutted this contention due to a lack of evidence. 44

Survivor testimonies corroborate that frequent selections were already taking place 
when the Blechhammer camp was set up in March 1942. 45 The selections were made by 
police guard duty officer Rettinghausen. Schmelt’s deputy Lindner likewise listed in-
mates for Auschwitz during his weekly inspections. Both the members of the Schmelt 
Office and the order police guards had received preliminary training to this effect. 
Schmelt and most of his staff were police officers and had become members of the SD 
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by joining the SS. In addition to frequent ideological training, they had participated 
in racial screenings and in the expulsion of Jews and Poles during previous engage-
ments in “settlement centers” established by the SS Race and Settlement Main Office 
(Rasse- und Siedlungshauptamt) in late 1939. 46 The order police units stationed in the 
annexed territories were systematically prepared for carrying out mass killings by SS 

“experts” starting in 1940. 47

The order police’s deployment in Schmelt camps was not an interruption, but rather 
a seamless continuation of their collaboration in the Holocaust. Before they were pulled 
out of the camps in February 1943 to be allocated to more pressing tasks, such as ghetto 
liquidations and guarding deportation convoys, they trained the civilian Schmelt camp 
leaders in making selections and carrying out water-induced murders. Schmelt Office 
staff and members of the order police instructed the civilians in a special SD school set 
up in Blechhammer for this purpose. It is unknown how many schools of this kind ex-
isted in Silesia, as this phenomenon remains a blatant research gap. 48

The police guards were replaced by Wehrmacht convalescents and veterans. To en-
sure the continued exploitation of Jewish unfree labor, Speer had urged Himmler to 
permit the use of soldiers in Schmelt camps. The concept of Wehrmacht guards spear-
headed by the Schmelt camps was introduced in the concentration camp system from 
December 1943. 49 Although not explicitly ordered to carry out mass killings of civil-
ians, the Wehrmacht had become entangled in the Holocaust at an early stage of the 
war. The level of its complicity depended on the attitudes of lower echelon leaders and 
individual decisions. 50 In Blechhammer the soldiers were delegated supporting roles, 
like escorting and supervising prisoners during work. They received no preliminary 
ideological training, and they were too diverse to generalize on their attitudes toward 
Jews. Their behavioral spectrum thus ranged from hostility to indifference to support. 
Individual soldiers assaulted inmates on their own initiative. However, contrary to the 
police guards’ systematic violence, such attacks were rare. 51

The dual function of camps like Blechhammer is exemplified here once more: they 
provided the war economy with a constant influx of workers while inexorably decimat-
ing the Jewish inmates by selections for Auschwitz or camp killings. The perpetrators 
in charge of these duties were interchangeable.

The civilian camp leader of Blechhammer was Dr. Erich Hoffmann, a lawyer and 
agricultural engineer born in Breslau in 1897. Hoffmann had been sentenced to two 
years in prison for criticizing the Nazi Party in 1936 and was banned from party mem-
bership and the Wehrmacht henceforth. Upon his release in 1938, he was placed at the 
Highway Company as a clerk and worked his way up to camp leader. His designated 
tasks included the procurement of food and the coordination of the prisoners’ work 
deployment. However, the utilization of Jewish unfree labor fundamentally changed 
the position of RAB camp leaders from administrators to powerful arbiters over life 
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and death. Despite his apparent adverse attitude to the Nazi Party, Hoffmann was in-
famous for his vicious attacks against the Jewish prisoners. From early 1943 he carried 
out water-induced killings, and he assisted police guard duty officer Mareck, who had 
remained in Blechhammer as the last police representative, in making selections. Hoff-
mann was executed by Poland in 1948 for the crimes he had committed in Blechham-
mer. 52 Male and female civilian camp leaders were characteristic of the Schmelt camps. 
Both the practice of water-induced killings and the utilization of civilians were imme-
diately abolished with the Auschwitz takeover.

Similar to concentration camps, Schmelt camps equally had a so-called self- 
administration of the prisoners (Häftlingsselbstverwaltung). It was a crucial tool in the 
hands of the German camp leadership to split up solidarity among the inmates by giv-
ing privileges to a small fraction of them. On top of the hierarchy were the Jewish el-
ders, who like the Jewish councils in the ghettos often faced ethical dilemmas. They 
were unable to truly represent their comrades’ interests, as the Germans forced them 
to carry out orders directed against the prisoners. 53 Throughout the camp’s existence, 
the position of Jewish elder was held by Karl Demerer. Born in Vienna in 1901, the mer-
chant had relocated to Katowice in Poland in 1928. While visiting his mother-in-law 
in Sosnowiec in 1940, he was arrested in the streets, and thereafter passed through 
several Schmelt camps. Demerer had a rare talent for creating a sense of community 
among the inmates and was renowned for his “diplomatic” way of dealing with the 
camp leadership. 54

The overall living conditions in Schmelt camp Blechhammer were worse than in con-
centration camps. Blechhammer used standard RAB barracks fitted with two-tiered 
bunk beds. By order of the Highway Company, camps for Jews had to be run three times 
above capacity. Consequently, three prisoners had to share a bed. The inmates only re-
ceived two hundred grams of bread and some soup, nearly half of the rations handed 
out in Auschwitz. They wore civilian clothes with a sewn-on blue and white Star of Da-
vid. The daily wear and tear, coupled with a lack of opportunities to wash, turned them 
into filthy rags, and the prisoners became infested with body lice. They were assigned 
to menial labor on the OHW construction site for up to twelve hours a day. German 
and ethnic German civilian overseers often maltreated or even killed prisoners without 
being reprimanded. 55 While it is commonly assumed that only a small fraction of them 
classified as fervent Nazis, the regime had nonetheless succeeded in instilling the idea 
of Jews as universal enemies in the population. Especially the ethnic Germans were un-
der a certain pressure to prove that they were “good Germans,” which sometimes cul-
minated in an exaggerated demonstration of being “good Nazis.” 56

Notwithstanding the OHW’s relentless demands for more Jewish workers, the com-
pany did nothing to prevent their gratuitous deaths on the construction site. A major 
cause of lethal accidents was the policy of “warlike building.” Introduced by the Reich 
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Office for Economic Development in July 1941, it stipulated that buildings should be 
constructed by using a minimum amount of material and manpower. By order of the 
Highway Company’s building supervisory board at Breslau, the OHW further radi-
calized this policy by opting out of standard safety precautions, such as using scaffolds 
or handrails. The predominant victims were Jewish prisoners who, unlike other cate-
gories of foreign and unfree workers, were not permitted to reject hazardous work. 57

Jewish prisoner physicians tended to their sick comrades in a camp infirmary. As 
Schmelt only tolerated a sick rate of 2 percent, a small fraction of the estimated 30 per-
cent of the inmates in need of treatment were actually admitted. Others avoided the in-
firmary, as the patients were at high risk of being selected for Auschwitz transports by 
the police or camp leader Hoffmann. 58 The doctors’ capacity to provide genuine aid was 
limited by the camps’ intrinsically annihilatory nature, and there was hardly any leeway 
to protect the patients from selections or other forms of murder. Those refusing to carry 
out killing orders put their own lives in the balance. When faced with the dilemma of 
adhering to the Hippocratic oath or being compliant to save their lives, the physicians 
made different decisions. 59 As Primo Levi pointed out, inmates whose positions placed 
them in a “gray zone” between the perpetrators and the victims should not be judged 
for their involvement in events beyond their control. 60 In areas where there was less ex-
ternal pressure, individual behaviors may nonetheless be evaluated. 61 The work of the 
Jewish medical staff was regularly checked by an SS physician from Auschwitz. 62 Inter-
estingly, the SS never interfered with the selections in the infirmary. As of spring 1943, 
SS physicians from Auschwitz visited Schmelt camps at three-month intervals to select 
working prisoners. 63 This development coincided with the SS Economic Administra-
tion Main Office’s (WVHA) order to delegate selections at the ramp, and in work de-
tails at Auschwitz from SS block leaders to physicians to increase the number of pris-
oners that could be made available to the war economy. 64

During a dysentery outbreak in summer 1942, an SS physician narrowly averted 
the shooting of all Blechhammer inmates ordered by the Schmelt Office to contain 
the spread of the disease. Nazi ideology construed Jews and others labeled “racially in-
ferior” as “endemic carriers” of contagious diseases and postulated their annihilation. 
This notwithstanding, wiping out entire prisoner populations was not regarded as an 
appropriate measure even by SS standards. Following the SS doctor’s moderating in-
tervention, the infected Blechhammer inmates were isolated. Many nonetheless died, 
and those who still tested positive after a few weeks were gassed in Auschwitz. 65 The 
Schmelt Office likewise pursued more radical policies than the Auschwitz administra-
tion in medical issues regarding female inmates.

From April 1942, about one hundred Jewish women worked in Blechhammer’s 
kitchen and laundry. They were detained in a secluded barrack to prevent contacts 
with the male prisoners. Unlike the men, the women spent a comparatively short time 
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in Blechhammer, as they were sent to production sites specifically created or modified 
for female inmates. 66 Especially the younger women were exposed to sexual violence by 
German camp personnel. A Czech German chef, who supervised the female inmates 
in the kitchen, and camp leader Hoffmann frequently raped women. In contrast to 
the rape of male prisoners, the assaults not only humiliated the victims, but they also 
entailed the risk of unwanted offspring. The women’s reproductive capability was re-
garded as a threat to the purity of the “Aryan race.” The perpetrators could easily con-
ceal the official crime of “race defilement” by the process of genocide. As Himmler’s di-
rective of 1941 to murder pregnant Jewish women was equally implemented in Schmelt 
camps, Hoffmann sent several female inmates to Auschwitz who were expecting his 
children. 67 In spring 1943 the WVHA issued the order to kill the babies but leave the 
mothers alive. 68 Schmelt nonetheless continued to have pregnant women murdered 
either directly in the camps or by sending them to Auschwitz. No intervention by the 
SS physicians from Auschwitz seems to have occurred in these gender-specific cases. 69

On May 21, 1943, Himmler ordered the deportation of all Jews in Reich Germany 
and the Protectorate of Bohemia and Moravia to “the east,” regardless of their employ-
ment status. 70 However, Speer’s demands that the number of concentration camp pris-
oners should be raised in support of the war effort resulted in a special arrangement 
for the inmates of Schmelt camps. Himmler ordered the closure of Schmelt’s ghetto 
workshops and bringing the most important of his labor camps under the administra-
tion of either Auschwitz or Gross-Rosen. Camps not vital to the war effort were to be 
disbanded, and the prisoners should be killed in Auschwitz. 71 The mass deportations 
from the ghettos commenced in June 1943 but were temporarily brought to a halt by 
Zionist resistance groups. They held the Sosnowiec ghetto against the Germans until 
mid-August 1943, when it was finally liquidated. 72

During the uprising in the Sosnowiec ghetto, Blechhammer began to play a crucial 
role in the deportation of the Eastern Upper Silesian Jews to Auschwitz. It took over 
the function of the central transit camp of Sosnowiec, which had become unavailable. 
Whole families from smaller ghettos were subsequently sent to Blechhammer, where 
Heinrich Lindner and Haunschild selected them for either death in Auschwitz or work 
in Schmelt camps. Babies born in the transit camp were instantly killed. Similarly, preg-
nant women from Sosnowiec were presumably drowned in a washroom barrack. 73 The 
inmates of several disbanded Schmelt camps simultaneously passed through Blechham-
mer. On average, no more than one-third of the prisoners were picked for work, irre-
spective of their physical state. The overwhelming majority were killed in Auschwitz, 
as Himmler had commanded. 74 From August 2, 1943, a permanent new transit camp 
was established in camp Annaberg (Góra Świętej Anny), the place the Schmelt Office 
had been relocated to from Sosnowiec. It operated until the end of March 1944, when 
the Schmelt camp system had largely been dismantled. 75 The use of Blechhammer and 
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Annaberg, which were both administrated by the Highway Company, exemplifies the 
intense collaboration of Speer’s private enterprise in the Holocaust. In these camps, 
perpetrators not directly linked to Auschwitz made selections and destined the greater 
part of those passing through them for death in the gas chambers. Blechhammer evi-
dently also served as an entity where newborn babies and individual groups of women 
were instantly murdered.

The Jewish elder Karl Demerer succeeded in rescuing about thirty boys, who were 
between eleven and fifteen years old, from the transit camp by bribing Hoffmann. His 
thirteen-year-old daughter Halina and twelve-year-old son Heinrich had been brought 
to Blechhammer at the start of the liquidation of the Sosnowiec ghetto together with 
his wife. The Schmelt Office had granted him this privilege in return for his service as 
a Jewish elder. In the following months, more juveniles arrived in Blechhammer who 
had erroneously been selected for labor camps by Schmelt representatives. The children 
first served as calfactors and later formed a work detail of their own. 76 They were fre-
quently molested by Hoffmann’s deputy Pfeiffer, who lured them into his apartment 
by inviting them for free meals. The abuse of children was ubiquitous in concentration 
camps, and the Schmelt camps evidently were no exception. 77

From late 1942, so-called camps for the sick and convalescent (Kranken- und Er-
holungslager) were set up in Schmelt camps like Annaberg and Brande. They initially 
were meant to comply with Speer’s call for preserving the prisoners’ capability to work 
to boost the war economy. Emaciated inmates were temporarily given more food, and 
some of them returned to labor camps. Those not regaining their ability to work within 
a given period were sent to Auschwitz. The sick camps were nonetheless gradually 
transformed into killing facilities and mere collecting points for Auschwitz transports. 
Blechhammer functioned as one of the last sick camps in the period September 1943 
to March 1944. 78 Unfit prisoners from other camps were locked into a former wash-
room barrack without any medical attention, until sufficient numbers had been gath-
ered for a transport. Blechhammer equally began to operate a punishment camp. The 
prisoners sent there for alleged transgressions were simply added to the sick to be killed 
in Auschwitz. 79 Similar to the transit camp, the modified variant of a sick camp estab-
lished in Blechhammer was intrinsically linked to the implementation of the Final 
Solution in Eastern Upper Silesia. Instead of providing medical care to sick and unfit 
prisoners, its only purpose was to have them killed in the gas chambers in great num-
bers. The sick camp was simultaneously used for sending up to two-thirds of the in-
mate population of disbanded Schmelt camps to Auschwitz, regardless of their physi-
cal state. 80 Along the same lines, prisoners sentenced to punishment camps were now 
simply murdered. 81 Blechhammer was placed at the end of a continuum moving from 
genuine aid to the sick to their large-scale, unspecific murder. The sick camp equally 
turned Blechhammer into a major cog in the wheel of the genocidal machinery of death 
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at Auschwitz, annihilating not merely the ghetto population but increasingly also the 
inmates of labor camps.

Owing to the OHW’s significance in the war economy, Blechhammer was among 
the forty-three Schmelt camps about to be incorporated into the satellite systems of 
Auschwitz and Gross-Rosen. On the eve of the Auschwitz takeover in spring 1944, 
thirty-two hundred out of the twenty-five thousand Schmelt prisoners who were still 
alive then were detained in Blechhammer. Despite the apparent increase in the camp’s in-
mate population, it becomes strikingly obvious that the overall number of Schmelt camp 
prisoners had decreased by 50 percent compared to the previous year. The percentage 
of prisoners who perished between January 1943 and April 1944 must have been even 
greater, if one considers that the last able-bodied men and women from the liquidated 
ghettos were forced into these labor camps on top of the existing inmate population. Fig-
ures suggest that together with the roughly nine thousand western deportees imported 
into Schmelt’s system in fall 1942, there could have been up to seventy-five thousand 
prisoners in these camps between 1940 and 1944. A mere twenty-five thousand thereof 
were subsequently transferred to the concentration camp system. Consequently, the 
overall deaths incurred by the Schmelt camps must have come close to fifty thousand. 
An estimated fifty-five thousand people were deported to Auschwitz from the Eastern 
Upper Silesian ghettos, and most of them were immediately killed in the gas chambers. 
Evidently, almost equal numbers were murdered in Auschwitz and perished in camps. 82 
Therefore, the Schmelt camps were not a ticket to life, as some historians suggest, 83 but 
they played a fundamental role in the Shoah. The inmates not only succumbed to ema-
ciation and sickness but were systematically decimated by way of the water-induced 
murders, maltreatment, and selections for Auschwitz. Despite the soaring mortality 
in the camps, the Schmelt Office still managed to satisfy the industrialists by providing 
fresh contingents of Jewish workers. At the OHW, Jewish inmates represented the larg-
est group among the approximately ten thousand foreign and unfree laborers in 1943. 84

Schmelt’s system was dismantled in spring 1944. Known as “Little Auschwitz” 
among the SS, Blechhammer was transformed into a subcamp on April 1, 1944, and de-
veloped into the second largest satellite, with a prisoner population of four to six thou-
sand. 85 Auschwitz has become a universal symbol of unspeakable crimes against human-
ity. The fact that the Auschwitz takeover was regarded as a considerable improvement 
by many Blechhammer prisoners makes the horrors of the Schmelt camp phase palpa-
ble. The inmates appreciated the initially higher food allocations and better hygiene. 86 
However, the implementation of a full administrative apparatus rapidly institutional-
ized the concentration camp’s modus operandi, resulting not only in a drastic increase 
in staff and departments, but also in a stricter drill and new forms of punishment.

All Auschwitz subcamps reported to the commandant of Monowitz, Heinrich 
Schwarz. Blechhammer’s first camp leader was SS Hauptsturmführer Otto Brossmann 
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(Brawin, 1889–Lohr/Main, 1957), a schoolteacher from Sudeten with previous service 
times in Auschwitz and the Jaworzno subcamp. The inmates considered him a “sadist” 
who viciously maltreated them. (His death sentence by Poland was converted into a 
prison sentence in 1950.) 87 In November 1944 Brossmann was replaced by Untersturm-
führer Kurt Klipp (Cologne, 1907), a merchant and Army officer who joined the SS in 
1936. Following deployments in Flossenbürg, Lublin, and Auschwitz, he remained in 
Blechhammer until the evacuation. From February until April 1945, Klipp was a camp 
leader in Bergen-Belsen, where he died of typhus. 88 The camp was guarded by the Sev-
enth SS Death’s Head Battalion, commanded by the camp leader of Blechhammer. Due 
to personnel shortages, many of the Wehrmacht guards stationed in the camp in 1943 
were incorporated into the SS guard battalion. 89 Comradeship evenings were meant 
to create a sense of unity among the “genuine” SS and the Wehrmacht guards. In in-
dustrial subcamps, they evidently served to foster the mutual relations with the entre-
preneurs as well. Thus, OHW deputy director Heinrich Schlick was a frequent visitor 
to such evenings in the Blechhammer camp. 90

The camp came under the full control of the SS Economic Administration Main 
Office (Wirtschafts–Verwaltungshauptamt, WVHA) under Oswald Pohl. Since late 
1943, Pohl had issued several decrees in response to Albert Speer’s calls for increasing 
the work productivity of concentration camp prisoners to boost the German war ef-
fort. His directives to camp commandants stipulating that the living conditions of 
the prisoners should be ameliorated nevertheless remained on paper. 91 The effects of 
Speer’s “rationalization” efforts on the concentration camps have been controversially 
discussed by historians. Donald Bloxham and Ulrich Herbert contend that from 1944 
pragmatism had overruled ideology, and the mortality of Jewish inmates in industrial 
subcamps had not differed significantly from that of other foreign workers. 92 Chris-
tian Gerlach erroneously assumes that there had been no selections for the gas cham-
bers in subcamps and therefore, they had been the “best option” for Jews during the 
Holocaust. He equally claims that the policy of “annihilation through labor” had not 
applied to Jewish prisoners. 93 In marked contrast, both Christian Wagner and Stefan 
Hördler find that inmate mortality rose from early 1944 due to the increased workload 
and unchanged adverse living conditions, as well as systematic murders. Wagner regards 
the SS Economic Administration Main Office as symbolic of the fusing of genocide 
and labor. 94 Yehuda Bauer and Steven T. Katz question the very notion of “economic 
rationalization” regarding Jewish labor, as great numbers of skilled workers were mur-
dered on the spot, and those detained in labor camps quickly lost their ability to work 
due to emaciation. They view Jewish work deployments as purely annihilatory in na-
ture. 95 Contrary to the idea of punitive labor in the early concentration camps, Wolf-
gang Sofsky attributes some economic purpose to the work in industrial subcamps but 
equally stresses its potentially lethal character. 96
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At Blechhammer the death tolls remained extremely high, at an estimated 87 per-
cent, despite the slight improvements effected by the Auschwitz takeover. 97 Jewish 
prisoners were three hundred times more likely to die than Germans, ethnic Germans, 
and foreign laborers with a similar status at the OHW. 98 Two groups of Jews, whose 
identities were not disclosed, and who were neither visibly marked nor affected by the 
anti-Jewish legislation, were held in Blechhammer camps between 1941 and 1944: Jew-
ish “Palestinian” prisoners of war (POWs) serving in the British Army and penitentiary 
prisoners. A comparison of their fatalities showed that the work coupled with malnour-
ishment alone was not a decisive factor. All three had to cope with a similar type and 
amount of work, and the penitentiary prisoners received the same food allocations as 
the Jewish concentration camp prisoners. Surprisingly, their mortality did not exceed 
14 to 20 percent, until their transfer to Auschwitz under the Ministry of Justice’s “anni-
hilation through labor” act in summer 1944. 99 The POWs, who could top up their Ger-
man rations with Red Cross parcel food, had a death rate of 2 to 3 percent. 100

The disproportionately high mortality of Jewish prisoners in subcamps like Blech-
hammer can only be explained by the repercussions of the Final Solution. The sys-
tematic murders of sick and emaciated inmates in the camp or in Auschwitz, coupled 
with assaults by guards and civilians, were the main causes of death. The two “invisi-
ble” groups of Jews were affected by neither the Nazis’ annihilatory policies nor the 
excessive violence exerted against visibly marked Jewish prisoners on the OHW con-
struction site.

Malnourishment, combined with insufficient clothing and poor hygiene, contin-
ued to cause physical deterioration and diseases. However, the permanent supervision 
by an SS medical orderly (Sanitäts-Dienstgrad, SDG), who reported to the chief phy-
sician of Auschwitz III, Horst Fischer, and the area chief physician (Standortarzt) of 
Auschwitz, Eduard Wirths, added a further ramification to the already difficult work 
of the Jewish doctors of Blechhammer. 101 As was standard practice in Auschwitz since 
winter 1941, the SDG regularly murdered severely ill or injured prisoners using phenol 
or cyanide injections. 102 Up to three times a month, he listed prisoners not expected to 
recover within a couple of days for Auschwitz transports. The working prisoners were 
selected in three-month intervals during roll calls. 103

Notwithstanding the high death tolls, Jews represented one-third of the total OHW 
workforce in 1944 and continued to be the largest group among the unfree laborers. At 
the time, Jews were the only category of workers that could be replaced immediately by 
drawing on the enormous reservoir of people who were deported to Auschwitz from 
across Europe. 104 Diametrically opposed to the paramount importance of Jewish labor-
ers in Silesia and Speer’s alleged economic “rationalization” efforts stood the OHW 
management’s connivance and active collaboration in their atrocious treatment. Un-
der the leadership of deputy director Dr. Heinrich Schlick, the works police relentlessly 
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reported Jewish inmates to the SS under trumped-up charges. A leading role in this was 
played by Blechhammer’s Political Department, which was superintended by Monow-
itz and headed by SS Unterscharführer Otto Ewald Albin Schmidt (Großberndten, 
1906). Schmidt was responsible for filing penal reports to the RSHA in Berlin, via the 
Political Department at Monowitz, to request permissions for floggings, or executions. 
He was infamous for pressing the inmates into making false “confessions,” and some 
died under his torture. 105 The first hanging of a Blechhammer prisoner took place in 
September 1944. It was staged as an “exemplary” punishment by the SS, and the sur-
viving witnesses of this execution were so deeply traumatized that they remained un-
able to render a precise account of the event and of the other hangings that followed. 106 
Therefore, it was impossible to construct a historical narrative on this crucial phase in 
Blechhammer. Instead, the memory fragments have been used to circumscribe the ex-
ecutions, as Saul Friedlander has suggested. 107

Lower echelon SS men frequently murdered prisoners on the construction site and 
instigated more violence toward Jewish inmates among the civilian workers. More-
over, newly enacted decrees on plundering permitted civilian foremen and the OHW 
works police to lynch Jewish inmates on the spot. 108 The temporary work deployment 
of Ukrainian auxiliary policemen at the OHW plant, who had participated in mass 
shootings of Jews in Kharkiv, led to further brutal killings. 109 The prohibition against 
using shelters cost the lives of hundreds of Jewish prisoners when the fuel facility be-
gan to be targeted by strategic Allied air raids beginning in summer 1944. Bombing vic-
tims received no medical treatment but were gassed in Auschwitz. 110 By order of Hitler, 
Jewish prisoners were forced to clear delay-action bombs and combat dangerous fires. 
Such “suicidal” work details invariably suffered heavy losses. 111

Scholarship on the industrialists’ motives for exploiting Jewish labor mostly assumes 
that companies expected to save wage costs, but low productivity coupled with addi-
tional financial obligations toward guards had made them unprofitable. 112 Two years 
into employing Jewish laborers, the OHW nonetheless explicitly stated that they were 
utilized to have a wide profit margin, and because they could not leave their place of 
work at will. A crucial aspect, which has been overlooked by most scholarly works on 
the subject, is that wages were substantially lowered by reduced output factors (Mind-
erleistungsfaktoren). They offered a legal loophole for entrepreneurs to circumvent the 
Labor Front’s stipulation that standard wages had to be paid to foreign and unfree la-
borers to prevent them from becoming more attractive than German workers. Reduced 
output factors are common practice in the construction sector to compensate delays 
caused by unforeseeable adverse events. In Nazi Germany, the industrialists set fixed re-
duced output factors that always applied to specific groups, often even before the start 
of their work deployments. The factors corresponded to their status in the Nazi racial 
hierarchy. The companies thus paid 60 percent of the standard wages for British POWs 
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and 40 percent for Jewish prisoners. Silesian entrepreneurs adopted the reduced out-
put factors set by the Reich Highway Company, whose dominant role in shaping the 
conditions of Jewish labor is stressed here once more. 113 The utilization of Jewish work-
ers was indubitably initiated by the Nazi regime, but it would not have been realized 
without the industrialists’ consent. Although the contracts with the SS euphemistically 
stated that unfit prisoners would be sent back to Auschwitz, it was an open secret at the 
OHW that they were killed. 114 Richard Overy fittingly described this as an “unavoid-
able complicity” in the Nazi regime’s crimes from which both sides drew their benefits. 115

The deadliest cooperation between the OHW factory guards and the SS occurred 
during the evacuation of Blechhammer on January 21, 1945. Under the command of 
OHW deputy director Schlick, the works policemen shot ninety Jewish prisoners who 
refused to go on the march. Most of them were prisoners from the Jaworzno and Glei-
witz subcamps who had been rerouted to the camp. In the following days further mas-
sacres by the SS and retreating Wehrmacht soldiers ensued. 116 These events illustrate 
the close intertwining of the industrialists with the Nazi regime’s genocidal policies, 
especially during the final phase of the war. 117 Notwithstanding the atrocities commit-
ted in Blechhammer, camp leader Klipp decided to disobey superior orders by HSSPF 
Schmauser to murder the three hundred infirmary patients, and they were eventually 
liberated by the Red Army on January 28, 1945. 118 The rapid Soviet advance likewise 
prevented the murder of the sick in other subcamps like Monowitz. 119 However, Klipp’s 
motives for sparing the infirmary remain obscure. The Blechhammer case nonetheless 
shows the leeway for action available to SS leaders during the chaotic evacuation phase, 
and it refutes Blatman’s concept of “local liquidation units” purportedly sent into the 
deserted camp to carry out Schmauser’s order belatedly. 120

Some historians posit that the paramount goal of the death marches had been to 
secure workers for the armaments industry. 121 Others, like Yehuda Bauer, classify the 
death marches as a continuation of the genocide by other means after the gassings 
had ceased. 122 Both contentions hold true for the Blechhammer death march, albeit 
from a gendered perspective. Although one-quarter of the male prisoners died on the 
two-week march to Gross-Rosen and Buchenwald, they were still regarded as a la-
bor force that could be allocated anew to war work in the west. 123 All of the approx-
imately seventy female inmates of the march reached Buchenwald alive but were no 
longer deemed necessary as workers. Their subsequent transfer to Bergen-Belsen fully 
subjected them to an extremely agonizing form of mass murder by neglect, starvation, 
or typhus. 124

The prisoners of Blechhammer responded in complex ways to the unprecedented 
circumstances of their internment. During both the Schmelt camp and the Auschwitz 
phases, almost identical survival strategies were applied. The most central, and the most 
contentious, collective strategy was the bribing of the German camp leadership and 
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guards by the Jewish elder Demerer. At times he succeeded in saving the lives of indi-
vidual prisoners, but he could not avert the Nazis’ genocidal plans, nor the omnipresent 
camp brutality. Bribery was ubiquitous in camps and ghettos alike and defined the re-
lations between the representatives of Jewish communities, or Jewish camp elders, and 
the Germans. Bribery was always Janus-faced, as the camp leadership also coerced the 
Jewish elder to pay bribes under threats of committing further atrocities. Corruption 
was thus used as another form of spoliation by the Germans. Both the Schmelt camp 
leader and the SS demanded a fixed monthly “salary” from the prisoners, in addition 
to extra benefits, such as alcohol, cigars, and even a car. 125 About 5 percent of the pris-
oners were able to procure lifesaving extra food, clothes, or medicines through barter 
with other workers at the plant. Some construed their bartering as a form of resistance, 
as securing their physical survival defied the annihilatory policy of the Nazis. 126 Brib-
ery and bartering were invariably intertwined, as the required sums of money and lux-
ury items had to be acquired through large-scale trafficking operations under the aegis 
of the Jewish elder. 127 Another important lifeline was contacts with foreign and un-
free laborers ready to share food or pass on letters and parcels from family members at 
home. 128 A small fraction of the inmates managed to escape or survived in other Blech-
hammer camps under an assumed identity. 129

Mental strategies, also known as “spiritual resistance,” also played a role in coping 
with the camp conditions. The term refers to attempts to counterbalance dehumaniza-
tion and degradation in Nazi camps and ghettos through religious, nonreligious, cul-
tural, or educational activities. 130 However, its generalized assumption of inmate soli-
darity does not sufficiently reflect the sharp dividing lines within the highly stratified 
camp population, as these practices were not always available to a broad mass of prison-
ers. Moreover, drawing on inner resources to survive was a very personal affair, which 
took on different shapes in different individuals and depended on their previous life 
experience. 131 Political activists, like the members of a small communist cell in Blech-
hammer, found it easier to integrate their suffering into a broader narrative of the col-
lective struggle against Nazism. They taught juvenile inmates to increase their survival 
chances by showing solidarity. 132 The firm belief in a speedy Allied victory likewise of-
fered a form of escapism from the grim realities of the camp and helped many to keep up 
their morale. 133 The Germans prohibited any form of religious practice and deliberately 
staged executions and collective punishments on Jewish high holidays. Observant Jews, 
who were a minority among the inmates of Blechhammer, still found ways of keeping 
their prayer routines, often with the assistance of nonpracticing functionary prisoners. 
By keeping track of holidays, they restored a sense of time in the other prisoners. 134 It is 
often assumed that religious Jews coped better with the atrocities they experienced, as 
they accepted them as a “divine punishment.” 135 However, the Nazis’ annihilatory ide-
ology did not discern between practicing and secular Jews, and some lost their faith 
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while witnessing the horrors of the camps. Others returned to religion to find conso-
lation or to reconnect to their former lives. 136 The manyfold facets of religious practice 
indubitably played a crucial role in the struggle for survival of individuals and groups. 137

Blechhammer was one of the most important camps in Schmelt’s system at a time 
when the Final Solution began to be fully implemented in Eastern Upper Silesia. It is a 
shocking example of how a private enterprise put its infrastructure and personnel at the 
disposal of Nazi authorities to facilitate mass murder. This book seeks to illuminate the 
central role played by so-called forgotten camps outside of the concentration camp sys-
tem in the Shoah. Just as for the Schmelt camps, the diverse perpetrators involved in the 
genocide are all too often overlooked. The book endeavors to further the general under-
standing of the scope of their crimes, the new killing methods they introduced and pro-
liferated, and their remarkably smooth interchangeability. Moreover, it urgently calls 
for the integration of these perpetrators into Holocaust scholarship. Blechhammer ex-
emplifies how the exploitation of Jewish workers under Schmelt and Auschwitz alike 
was invariably intertwined with the policy of “annihilation through labor.” The exor-
bitant mortality of the Blechhammer prisoners defied alleged “rationalization” efforts 
and was rooted in the regime’s unchanged genocidal plans against the Jews.

Himmler infamously prided himself on the fact that the Nazis’ obliterated crimes 
would forever remain an “unwritten page of glory” in German history. Writing the 
truly inglorious history of Blechhammer hopefully will contribute to plucking the 
Schmelt camps from scholarly oblivion and to including their victims in Holocaust 
remembrance.
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BU I L D I N G T H E 
“ TOWE R O F BA B E L”

The Oberschlesische Hydrier werke as 
a Beneficiar y of Jewish Forced Labor

K andrzin (today Kędzierżyn-Koźle) was a sleepy little town sit-
uated between Breslau (Wrocław) and Gleiwitz (Gliwice). Most of its seven 
thousand inhabitants were railroaders. The region had seen a quick succes-

sion of Polish, Bohemian, Austrian, and German rule since the foundation of a royal 
seat in the neighboring village Slaventzitz (Sławięcice) by the Piast duke Wladisław 
in 1245. The Prussian princes of Hohenlohe-Öhringen, distant relatives of the British 
queen Victoria, rose to power in the mid-eighteenth century. They intensified the lo-
cal production of sheet metal, iron, and tin. Blechhammer (Blachownia Śląska), a vil-
lage south of Kandrzin, was the site of a sheet metal works.

After the First World War and the ensuing downfall of the tsarist Russian Empire 
and imperial Germany, the Silesian borderlands were claimed by the reemerging Polish 
state and the newly established Weimar Republic alike. Both used a local ethnic group 
with a mixed Polish German background as a lever. They either saw themselves purely 
as Upper Silesians (Pojęcie Górnoślązak) or identified themselves with Poles or Ger-
mans. They spoke an ethnolect of Polish with borrowings from Czech and German that 
was never standardized in written form. Also known as “Water Poles” (Wasserpolen) 
because they lived by the River Oder, their allegiance often fluctuated between Poland 
and Germany, depending on which side was more influential at a given time. Between 
1919 and 1921 the political struggle between Germany and Poland led to three upris-
ings on Silesian territory. In March 1921 a plebiscite was finally held, in which a narrow 
majority of 59 percent of Upper Silesians voted to belong to Germany. The Polish na-
tionalist camp questioned this result and started a military campaign to gain Silesian 
territory under the leadership of Wojciech Korfanty. In November 1921 the League of 
Nations decided to divide Silesia into a German part and a Polish part. Poland received 
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29 percent of the area, containing 46 percent of the population and 75 percent of the 
coal mines. The eastern parts of Silesia with the addition of Silesian parts of Ciezyn 
thus formed the autonomous voivodship Silesia. The western areas formed the Ger-
man province Upper Silesia, with Oppeln as an administrative center. Kandrzin and 
Blechhammer therefore remained under German rule. 1

The Weimar Republic required the princes of Hohenlohe to have their property 
administered by a trust. Between 1932 and 1942 the trustee sold one-fifth of their vast 
woodland territory to private owners and the state. 2 Twelve hundred hectares of this 
land were acquired by the regional administrator (Landrat) of Cosel in summer 1939, 
who offered it to the OHW, a synthetic fuel plant being planned. 3 It was projected to 
increase the population of Kandrzin, which the Nazis had renamed Heydebreck, to 
eighty thousand by way of industrialization. 4

These steps pertained to the Nazi regime’s Germanization program in Upper Silesia, 
which fused economic incentives with ideologically loaded population policies. Infra-
structural developments, such as the construction of the Oder-Danube canal, were cou-
pled with the concept of increasing Upper Silesians’ birthrates and attracting German 
workers to the region to form a “stronghold” against Poland. The strategy was equally 
intended to gain more control over roughly half a million Upper Silesians, whose fluid 
national identity (schwebendes Volkstum) was viewed with suspicion. 5

The production of synthetic fuel was a cornerstone of the Third Reich’s striving for 
autarky from imported goods, such as crude oil. Representatives of the IG Farben con-
cern had sponsored Hitler’s 1933 election campaign in return for a ten-year price guar-
antee for the synthetic fuel produced in its Leuna plant. They also convinced the dic-
tator that economic autarky was crucial to the preparation of war. Carl Krauch, one 
of IG Farben’s chief chemists, was installed as the general plenipotentiary for special 
questions of chemical production at the Reich Office for Economic Development. 
He played a leading role in the drafting of the Second Four-Year Plan of 1936 and its 
amended six-year version of 1937. The plans called for an increase in the production of 
goods relevant to the war effort, most importantly fuels, artificial rubber (Buna), alu-
minum, and explosives. Consequently, new hydrogenation plants were built; among 
them was Blechhammer. 6

In March 1939 the Nazi regime conceptualized the OHW (initially also known as 
Schlesien-Benzin) as Germany’s largest hydrogenation plant with an expected annual 
output of over one million tons of fuel. The goal was to fully privatize the concern; 
however, the Office for Economic Development’s search for investors was complicated 
by the requirement to pay a high stock capital, as well as the plant’s borderland loca-
tion. The Upper Silesian Hard Coal Syndicate (Oberschlesisches Steinkohlesyndikat) 
thus blatantly refused to become a shareholder until Polish coal mines had been con-
quered. Its spokesperson, Dr. Alfred Pott, who represented the Upper Silesian Min-
ers’ Association, had already indicated in March that the borderlines would be drawn 
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anew soon. 7 When the invasion of Poland granted access to these resources six months 
later, the syndicate played a decisive role in their exploitation and the transfer of coal 
from the annexed Polish parts of Silesia to western Germany. 8 The syndicate held 30 
percent of the OHW shares, and Pott chaired the company’s supervisory board. The 
syndicate’s initial reluctance had prompted Hermann Göring to threaten that his en-
terprise would completely take over the OHW. Reichswerke Hermann-Göring even-
tually only acquired 30 percent of the shares; and another 15 percent were held by Pre-
ussische Bergwerks- und Hütten AG (Preussag). 9 IG Farben was only a minor investor, 
but the OHW used its patent hydrogenation techniques and drew on the experience 
of some of its leading scientists, who became OHW employees. IG Farben simultane-
ously set up a chemical plant in Heydebreck for refining the by-products of the OHW 
facility’s coal to fuel hydrogenation, like phenols. 10 The construction of the OHW be-
gan in June 1939 under the building supervision of Mineralöl-Bau, an IG Farben asso-
ciate specializing in the design and engineering of fuel plants, which also functioned 
as a holding corporation until full privatization was achieved. 11 Contracts between the 
OHW, the German Navy, and the Luftwaffe foresaw the annual production of up to 
two hundred thousand tons of fuel oil and kerosine. 12 Although the planned output was 
never fully reached, the plant’s decisive role in the German war effort is underlined here.

The OHW’s managing director was Max Josenhans (Wildbad, Germany, 1893–
St. Petersburg, Florida, 1966), who had been a chief engineer at IG Farben’s Leuna hy-
drogenation plant. Josenhans was known for giving public speeches in praise of Hitler 
to his employees, but he avoided to join the Nazi party proper through his member-
ship in affiliated organizations, such as the German Labor Front (Deutsche Arbeits-
front, DAF). 13 The Nazi regime did not make it a requirement that senior executives 
be party members until 1942. Josenhans is a good example of the smooth integration 
of industrial elites into the Nazis’ command economy, whose hierarchy and abolition 
of trade unions gave them almost unlimited control over their workforce. 14 He was not 
immediately in charge of the work deployment of foreign and unfree labor. Therefore, 
his name did not appear on relevant documents, which made it fairly easy for him to 
claim after the war that he had resisted discriminatory treatment of them due to an ad-
verse attitude to Nazism. 15 The following facts rebut this self-exculpatory contention.

Josenhans spearheaded the industrialization of the territory around the newly built 
Auschwitz concentration camp. Following a field trip to the area in fall 1940, he chose 
Auschwitz as an “ideal” location for an additional OHW synthetic fuel facility specifi-
cally because of the nearby camp complex. His account indicates that the industrialists 
not only knew of the planned eviction of the local Jewish and Polish population and 
their transfer to camps but welcomed the opportunity to seize their property. Josenhans 
also alluded to the medieval “eastern colonization” (Ostkolonisation) by Germans that 
the Nazis used as a pretext for claiming Polish territory. This notion is further under-
lined by his derogatory description of the Polish parts of Silesia and their inhabitants:
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The inhabitants of Auschwitz, especially the children, make a very miserable impres-
sion. Apart from the large marketplace, the town itself makes a very wretched im-
pression. . . . The Jews and Poles, if industry is established here, will be turned out, so 
that the town will then be available for the staff of the factory. For this reason, it will 
not, at least at first, be necessary to build many dwellings, because an adaption of the 
existing houses, at least to a certain extent, will probably be possible. A concentra-
tion camp will be built in the immediate neighborhood of Auschwitz for the Jews 
and Poles. . . . While the territory around Auschwitz cannot, from a scenery point 
of view, be described as bad, it is of course from a cultural and civilizational point 
of view entirely unopened. Every German who goes there is, therefore, a colonist. 16

The Reich Office for Economic Development had required IG Farben to build a 
synthetic rubber (Buna) plant in Silesia in return for permitting it to construct an-
other facility in western Germany. IG Farben at first considered a site near Breslau 
and then presented a plan to Carl Krauch in July 1940 to install two Buna plants in 
Upper Silesia, one adjacent to the OHW in Blechhammer, the other next to its own 
chemical plant in Heydebreck. Combining the two facilities was deemed efficient and 
cost-effective, as the Buna production relied on certain by-products of coal hydrogena-
tion, such as hydrogen. Krauch, who curiously doubted that Silesia would remain un-
der German control in the long term, postponed the undertaking. 17 Meanwhile, both 
IG Farben and the OHW contemplated an expansion to Auschwitz independently of 
one another. In January 1941 a conference was held in Ludwigshafen to negotiate their 
possible collaboration. IG Farben’s Dr. Ambros, who knew the area only from study-
ing maps, had Josenhans outline the results of his exploratory tour. IG Farben eventu-
ally opted for the Auschwitz site and proposed financial participation in the OHW’s 
Blechhammer and future Auschwitz plants of 30 percent. 18 Krauch supported these 
plans; however, the Ministry of Economic Development prioritized the production 
of Buna and postponed the construction of a second OHW hydrogenation works 
in Auschwitz-Monowitz due to labor shortages. 19 The extra facility envisaged by the 
OHW did not materialize in the end. Archival sources nevertheless corroborate the 
close cooperation between the two concerns and clearly refute Bernd Wagner’s conten-
tion that IG Farben had attempted to eliminate a competitor by expanding to Monow-
itz. 20 Historians hold conflicting views on whether IG Farben specifically chose Aus-
chwitz as a production site to utilize concentration camp prisoners or for logistical 
purposes. 21 Prison labor was not crucial to Josenhans in 1940–1941 at any rate, but he 
certainly was a driving force behind IG Farben’s decision to move to Monowitz, the 
future site of Auschwitz’s largest subcamp.

The OHW maintained close relations with IG Farben’s Monowitz plant, which was 
admired as an ideal by the management. When Dr. Dürrfeld of IG Farben Monowitz 
reported power shortages in September 1943, Josenhans offered at once to supply the 
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plant with electricity from Blechhammer’s own power station. 22 Indirectly, the OHW 
thus also supported the Germanized town of Auschwitz itself, which relied on the elec-
tricity and water provided by IG Farben. 23

By recommendation of Carl Krauch, Josenhans was awarded the war service medal, 
first class with swords (Kriegsverdienstkreuz), for his contribution to the war effort in 
July 1942. 24 Josenhans’s opportunistic conformity with Nazi ideology is likewise illus-
trated by the fact that he regularly made use of a Jewish prisoner from the Blechham-
mer camp to have a shave and a haircut. 25 His loyalty to the Nazi regime ended abruptly 
when the Red Army approached Blechhammer in January 1945. Feigning illness, he 
made for the west with a company car, while the rest of the OHW management had 
been ordered to defend the factory. A former employee saw him cross the River Neisse 
(Nysa): “The vehicle was stacked with alcohol, tobacco, butter, a large wireless etc. 
Dr. Beyer and I checked the vehicle, we were threatened with revolvers by the personal 
employees of the director, they were intoxicated.” 26

Josenhans headed back to his old workplace at Leuna in Saxony, where he was ear-
marked as an expert for the construction of demo oil plants by the American scientist 
Dr. L. L. Hurst in spring 1945. To avoid capture by the Soviets, he moved to Ulm in 
the American sector and filed for denazification. The court ruling declared him a fol-
lower of the Nazi regime, and he was fined US$400. In August 1947 Josenhans, to-
gether with the chemists Otto Ambros and Walter Dürrfeld from IG Farben Monow-
itz, was brought to the United States under the Joint Intelligence Objectives Agency’s 
Paperclip program, which permitted one thousand German scientists enter the coun-
try under temporary military custody in return for lending their support in the “arms 
race” with the Soviet Union. 27 Josenhans denied his membership in Nazi Party organi-
zations and claimed that he had always held democracy in high esteem. 28 After working 
for fuel plants in Louisiana and Pittsburgh, his military custody ended, and Josenhans 
was screened by the Federal Bureau of Investigation for his suitability as a Komitet Go-
sudarstvennoi Bezopasnosti (KGB) double agent in October 1951. 29 He retired in 1958 
and resettled to Florida with his second wife. They both died in 1966. 30

Dr. Heinrich Karl Schlick (Karlsruhe, 1905–Mannheim, 1977) was a corporate law-
yer who joined the OHW in 1941 as a proxy and head of the personnel office and be-
came deputy director in August 1944. 31 He was at the top of a perfidious surveillance 
network set up by the Nazi regime to suppress resistance and to ensure compliance at 
the workplace. Contrary to Josenhans, Schlick showed an early commitment to the 
Nazi Party, which he joined in 1938. Ironically, it was his over-eagerness to please Nazi 
leaders that brought him to Silesia against his will. Shortly after starting a job at the IG 
Farben affiliate Hoechst AG in Frankfurt in fall 1940, Schlick denounced a colleague 
and confidant of the district leader of Hesse, Jakob Sprenger, for procuring goods on the 
black market, allegedly to protect the Nazi Party’s reputation. His intrigue backfired 
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and led to his dismissal in January 1941. Moreover, Sprenger was so infuriated that he 
banned Schlick from the district of Hesse. 32 Schlick consented to relocating to Upper 
Silesia to work at IG Farben’s Heydebreck plant in February 1941 but was seemingly 
placed at the OHW straight away. IG Farben still paid him until April 1942; however, 
his salary in Silesia was significantly lower. Schlick played up this incident after the war 
to portray himself as a “victim” of Nazi persecution and claimed that he had been con-
stantly scrutinized by Nazi authorities. In his denazification trial, the mayor of Lud-
wigshafen even stated that Schlick had put up “active resistance against the Hitler dic-
tatorship.” 33

The OHW files prove otherwise: Schlick hardly acted like an intimidated victim 
of political persecution but in fact was directly in control of the oppressive apparatus 
installed by the Gestapo and the Nazi Party in enterprises, and he maintained excel-
lent relations with higher echelon functionaries and SS men. As the Nazi Party’s of-
ficial representative at the plant, he organized ideological schoolings; distributed the 
viciously anti-Semitic pamphlet Parole der Woche (Slogan of the week), issued by Goeb-
bel’s Ministry of Propaganda; and coordinated the activities of all party members in 
the workforce. 34 He closely cooperated with the propaganda office of the Upper Sile-
sian district leader in Ratibor, whose newsletter he passed on to the management. To-
ward the end of the war, the office also broadcast radio propaganda to lull the OHW 
workforce into a false sense of security. 35

Schlick administered all camps housing foreign and unfree laborers. He was fre-
quently invited to SS comradeship evenings in the Auschwitz subcamp at Blechham-
mer from 1944. Apparently the SS leadership was eager to foster their relations with 
the industrialists they supplied with unfree labor. On such evenings, they were enter-
tained by the Jewish camp orchestra. 36 Schlick received a special invitation to a New 
Year’s Eve party from camp leader Klipp. The card cynically read: “Do you have the in-
tention to spend the last hours of the year laughing? Would you like to welcome the 
New Year with a smile? Then you shall be our guests on our comradeship evening on 
New Year’s Eve.” 37

Despite his close connection to the Blechhammer subcamp, Schlick conspicuously 
avoided visiting Auschwitz. He declined several offers by IG Farben executives to ac-
company them to Monowitz, such as the one from Dr. Bertrams of IG Leuna who, in 
June 1944, planned to make a stopover in Blechhammer before proceeding to Aus-
chwitz. On his return, Dr. Bertrams strongly advised Schlick to see the barrack camps 
at Monowitz and use them as an inspiration for Blechhammer. 38

As a “politically reliable” senior executive, Schlick was appointed as counter-
intelligence officer. These officers served as Gestapo auxiliaries from 1939 to avert al-
leged sabotage, espionage, and revolts. They illustrate the intensified collaboration be-
tween industrialists and the Nazi regime during the war. 39 A former OHW employee 
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related that Schlick had constantly monitored the staff ’s conduct for ideological con-
formity and had thus been known as “the greatest Nazi intriguer” at the plant. 40 His 
primary victims were nonetheless foreign and unfree laborers, and especially the Jews. 
Under Schlick’s command, the OHW works police (Werkschutz) reported countless 
non-German workers to the Gestapo or the RSHA in Berlin for punishment. By ini-
tiative of IG Farben, factory guards were equipped with machine guns by the Wehr-
macht to combat espionage and sabotage from 1937 and were eventually subordinated 
to Himmler’s Sipo in 1943. 41 The OHW works police comprised 150 men under the 
leadership of Kurt Karl Schumann, a baker born in Lauchstadt (Merseburg) in 1903 
and a member of the Nazi Party and the SS. They were authorized to interrogate sus-
pects before handing them over to a branch of Gestapo Oppeln in Heydebreck for rep-
rimanding. 42 A decree issued in summer 1944 permitting the factory guards to lynch 
alleged looters on the spot led to numerous killings out of hand. 43 The works police-
men’s collaboration in atrocities climaxed during the evacuation of the OHW. Un-
der the command of Schlick and Schumann, they assisted SS units in shooting at least 
ninety Jewish prisoners in the Blechhammer subcamp, who refused to go on a death 
march on January 21, 1945. On January 23, they liquidated twenty-five Polish peniten-
tiary prisoners who had dodged a forced march to the Gross-Rosen concentration camp. 
Both Schlick and Schumann were held in British remand custody in 1947, but a trial 
did not take place, as key witnesses residing in the Soviet sector could not be heard. 44 
These incidents exemplify the fusing of senior executives and auxiliaries with the Na-
zis’ genocidal policies: a lethal relationship that became more and more pronounced 
toward the end of the war. 45

Notwithstanding his record, Schlick managed to be denazified in 1948, but he re-
mained unemployed until 1951. He coerced IG Farben into allotting him a generous 
pension and compensation for his enforced relocation to Blechhammer by threaten-
ing to disclose compromising information about the concern’s complicity in the Nazi 
regime’s crimes. Despite his Nazi past, Schlick was appointed as a judge in postwar 
West Germany. 46

T H E DE PL OY M E N T OF FOR E IG N A N D 
U N F R E E L A B OR AT T H E OH W

From the outset, the construction of the OHW plant required more manpower than 
was realistically available at the time. Labor shortages had ailed the German economy 
well before the outbreak of war. It is estimated that by 1939 the economy was short over 
one million workers. The Nazi regime opted to import foreign labor into Germany to 
replace men conscripted to the front rather than calling up German women for work, 
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as had been done in the First World War. By 1945 approximately 9.5 million foreign and 
unfree workers had been deployed in Germany. 47 Only a small minority of these labor-
ers voluntarily rendered their services to Nazi Germany. The level of coercion and their 
overall treatment varied fundamentally depending on their country or region of origin 
and the latter’s current diplomatic relations with Nazi Germany, the course of the war, 
and their status as defined by Nazi racial policies.

Non-Germans eventually constituted 60 percent of the OHW’s workforce. The 
multitude of foreigners speaking many languages, coupled with the high chimneys, 
evoked allusions to the biblical Tower of Babel not only among the Jewish prisoners. 48 
A POW from New Zealand also drew parallels to the bondage of the Jews in Egypt: 

“This is how Pharaoh built his ruddy pyramids. There’s all sorts — British, German Army 
prisoners, French Army P.O.W.s, French civilians, Dutch, Russians, Jews, Poles, Italians, 
Palestinians — a pukka Tower of Babel it is!” 49

Next to foreign workers from Axis states and Nazi-occupied territories, the OHW 
utilized unfree laborers. The term “unfree labor” generally characterizes different types 
of involuntary work carried out under the threat of punishment. This includes inden-
tured labor imposed by states, such as prison labor or work deployments of prisoners of 
war. 50 The groups that the OHW referred to as “guarded work details” (überwachte Ar-
beitskolonnen) belonged to this category in Blechhammer: British (including Jews from 
Palestine), French, and Soviet prisoners of war, penitentiary prisoners (among them 
Polish Jews), “night and fog” prisoners from western Europe, German Wehrmacht 
prisoners, and Jewish inmates. 51 Their mortality rates were ten to three hundred times 
higher than those of Germans and ethnic Germans, and groups of foreign workers with 
a similar status. British and French POWs had the lowest death toll with 3 percent, fol-
lowed by penitentiary prisoners at 14 to 20 percent. Soviet POWs had an estimated 
mortality of 60 percent. The Jewish inmates’ death rate was disproportionately high, 
at 87 to 95 percent. 52 The major underlying causes were malnourishment, overcrowd-
ing coupled with a lack of sanitary facilities, maltreatment, outbreaks of infectious dis-
eases, bombings, and hazardous work. Selections for Auschwitz and camp killings in-
variably intertwined the industrial work deployment of Jews with the Final Solution.

The OHW management did not name reasons for employing Jews. However, com-
pany files corroborate that they explicitly used unfree laborers, as they were cheap and 
unable to leave their workplace at will. OHW executives argued that these benefits out-
weighed the stricter regulations on their upkeep and guarding. 53 Contracting compa-
nies, whose own staff was usually restricted to a handful of experts, were obliged to ac-
cept the foreign and unfree workers provided by the plant. 54

The wage costs were significantly lowered by reduced output factors (Minderleis-
tungsfaktoren). Normally these are applied in the construction sector to avoid paying 
overtime for work delayed by unforeseeable events. Nazi-era entrepreneurs used them 
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as a legal loophole to circumvent the Labor Front’s stipulation to pay standard wages 
to non-Germans to prevent foreign and unfree workers from becoming more attrac-
tive than Germans. Each year the industrialists set fixed reduced output factors for dif-
ferent categories of laborers, which always applied and were determined by Nazi racial 
ideology, not the actual work performance. The reduced output factor indicated the 
percentage of the wages still payable by companies. British POWs had the highest fac-
tor among the unfree laborers at 60 percent. Within the three years of their deploy-
ment, the reduced output factors for Jewish inmates steadily declined, from 60 percent 
in 1942 to 40 percent in 1944. Jewish labor was thus assigned the lowest economical 
value, analogous to Jews’ status in Nazi ideology. The Silesian entrepreneurs usually ad-
opted the factors set by the Reich Highway Company, which played a dominant role 
in the utilization of unfree labor. 55

The OHW’s own German and ethnic German workforce never exceeded twenty- 
five hundred. Contractors added another ten thousand workers. The influx of foreign 
and unfree labor into Blechhammer started in 1940 and peaked at twelve thousand in 
late 1943. Their number remained constant throughout 1944, while more and more 
Germans were drafted to the front. Consequently, the total workforce dropped from 
24,000 to 20,790, turning non-Germans into a majority with almost 60 percent. 56 Jew-
ish prisoners represented the largest group among all foreign and unfree workers, with 
nearly six thousand in 1944. In parallel to the large-scale mass murder at Auschwitz, 
Jews were the only type of laborers still allocated to the OHW at the time. The grow-
ing importance of Jewish unfree labor is exemplified here. 57

T H E H IG H WAY COM PA N Y A S A C ATA LY S T FOR 
T H E OH W ’ S U T I L I Z AT ION OF J E W I SH PR I SON E R S

The OHW’s comparatively late use of Jewish unfree labor was indelibly linked to the 
transfer of the building supervision from Mineralöl-Bau to the RAB in spring 1942. The 
RAB had drawn on Eastern Upper Silesian Jews from mid-1940 to complete segments 
of thoroughfare IV (Durchgangsstrasse IV), a fast-track road to the Ukraine built in 
preparation for the planned attack on the Soviet Union. 58 The nature of the RAB’s ex-
ploitation of Jewish workers was shaped by swift policy swings in the region.

In the wake of the invasion of Poland in September 1939, Germanization plans for 
the annexed Silesian territories foresaw the expulsion of the approximately 120,000 
Jewish inhabitants to the Polish-Soviet borderlands in the General Government, as 
was done with Austrian and German Jews. Objections by General Governor Hans 
Frank, coupled with logistical impediments, led to a change of course in February 1940. 
The Jews were forced to relocate to the so-called eastern strip, a stretch of land formed 
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by the western parts of Lesser Poland that had been annexed to the Kattowitz (Kato-
wice) district, and the southwestern part of the Kielce administrative district. The area 
was considered unsuitable for German settlement, as it was mostly inhabited by Poles. 
Large parts of the Jewish population were concentrated in the three cities Sosnowiec, 
Będzin, and Dąbrowa. 59

The “Aryanization” of Jewish property and unemployment caused pauperization, 
even more so as the Jewish communities had to shoulder the costs of health-care facili-
ties and social services alone. Unlike in ghettos like Warsaw and Łódź, the Germans did 
not pursue a starvation policy in Eastern Upper Silesia, in order to maintain a certain 
work productivity. Hunger was nonetheless commonly experienced. 60 By order of the 
leader of the RSHA, Reinhard Heydrich, Jewish councils (Judenräte) had to be estab-
lished in every community from September 1939. The term Judenrat derived from the 
heads of Jewish religious communities (kehillot) in the Middle Ages. Dan Michman 
argues that the Nazis deliberately revived this expression to allude to the diminished 
status of Jews before the emancipation. The councils were mere puppet institutions 
pressured to execute Gestapo orders under the threat of death. 61 Criminal inspector 
SS Hauptsturmführer Hans Dreier, who led the Gestapo Kattowitz’s department of 
Jewish affairs, 62 oversaw the Jewish councils. In January 1940 an umbrella organization, 
the Central Office of the Jewish Councils in Eastern Upper Silesia, was formed. It was 
headed by Moshe (Moniek) Merin (1906–43). 63 The commercial broker and represen-
tative of the Revisionist Party in his hometown, Sosnowiec, was a controversial person 
and reputedly a highly indebted gambler. 64 Most former communal representatives re-
fused to work with the Germans, and those who did were typically perceived as “trai-
tors” and “collaborators” by their contemporaries. It should, however, be acknowledged 
that their leeway for action was minuscule. 65

Labor deployments were central to both the Germans’ anti-Jewish policy and the 
Jewish councils’ survival strategy. Gestapo and police forces frequently rounded up 
ghetto inhabitants following the introduction of general labor conscription in Octo-
ber 1939. Regional employment agencies began to establish special Jewish labor divi-
sions. The Jewish councils were obligated to provide specific contingents of laborers on 
demand and were punished if the respective quotas were not met. Initially, it was possi-
ble to buy oneself out of labor conscriptions. Consequently, it was the less resourceful 
parts of the ghetto population that were predominantly affected by forced labor duties. 
The workers received 35 percent of their earnings; the rest was intended to finance the 
work of the Jewish councils. However, as the money was transferred to a fund admin-
istered by German authorities, the councils only received negligible sums. 66

Merin maintained close contacts to the Jewish elder of the Łódź ghetto, Chaim 
Rumkowski. They both embraced the (illusionary) strategy of saving parts of the Jew-
ish population through labor deployments at the cost of sacrificing the “unproductive.” 
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This contentious preemptive cooperation with the Nazis was supported by most East-
ern Upper Silesian rabbis but provoked the vehement resistance of Zionist youth or-
ganizations. 67 Merin initiated the establishment of ghetto workshops manufactur-
ing goods vital to the German war effort. As the main beneficiaries of its output, the 
Germans were usually interested in a thriving ghetto economy. Merin, like Rumkow-
ski, hoped to defer mass deportations in this way. 68 On September 12, 1940, Himmler 
nonetheless ordered the concentration of the able-bodied Eastern Upper Silesian Jews 
in labor camps to make them work in quarries and build roads. This order pertained 
to the construction of thoroughfare IV and presumably resulted in the formation of 
a special SS agency that was delegated the management of all future Jewish work as-
signments in the area: the Office of the Special Commissioner for the Deployment 
of Foreign Labor in Eastern Upper Silesia (Dienststelle des Sonderbeauftragten des 
Reichsführers-SS für den fremdvölkischen Arbeitseinsatz in Ostoberschlesien). 69 The 
Office’s staff mainly comprised former police officers, who had become members of 
the SD by joining the SS. The conspicuous fact that most of them had previous service 
times in “settlement centers” of the SS Race and Settlement Main Office (Rasse- und 
Siedlungshauptamt) indicates that they were concerned not primarily with labor af-
fairs, but with the removal of the local Jewish population, euphemistically referred to as 

“desettlement” (Aussiedlung) by the Nazis. 70 On October 15, 1940, Himmler appointed 
SS Brigadeführer Albrecht Schmelt as head of the Office, which was henceforth infor-
mally called Schmelt Office. 71 Born in Breslau in 1899, the radio operator of the mer-
chant Navy joined the Nazi Party in 1930 and jump-started his career after Hitler’s rise 
to power. He became the police president of Breslau in 1934 and, having entered the 
SS in June 1939, worked for an ethnic German resettlement office (Einwandererzen-
tralstelle) in Cracow from October 1939. Two of his coworkers in Cracow, chief inspec-
tor Hentschel of the police administration and the order policeman Lieutenant Baesler, 
later also joined the Schmelt Office. From July 1942, Schmelt was simultaneously in-
stalled as chief administrator (Regierungspräsident) of Oppeln. 72 His visits to the Of-
fice, located in a private house in Sosnowiec already occupied by the Gestapo, were rare. 
The most prominent member of the Office was Schmelt’s deputy SS Obersturmban-
nführer Heinrich Lindner. Born in Breslau in 1893, he was the superior of the police 
guards and responsible for the training of the civilian camp leaders. Lindner was infa-
mous for his fervent anti-Semitism and cruel treatment of Jews. When speaking to Jews, 
he either turned his back to them or covered his mouth. 73 Helen Israel, one of two Jew-
ish secretaries employed by the Schmelt Office to translate the letters of Polish labor-
ers for censorship, described him as “a pit bull, a man-eater.” 74 His pre–Schmelt Office 
activities are largely unknown; however, two Jewish survivors stated that he had com-
manded SS units that shot five hundred Jewish POWs from the Soviet-occupied parts 
of Poland in Biała Podląska near Lublin in February 1940. 75 He was mainly in charge of 
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providing the industrialists with Jewish workers and played a paramount role in selec-
tions in camps and during ghetto liquidations. 76 The work deployment of female pris-
oners was managed by SS Hauptsturmführer Alfred Ludwig, who was transferred to 
the Schmelt Office from a resettlement commission for ethnic Germans in Sosnowiec 
in June 1941. Born in Kreuzburg (Kluczbork), Upper Silesia, in 1902, the criminal po-
lice officer joined the Nazi Party in 1921, the Sturmabteilung (storm troopers; SA) in 
1928, and the SS in 1931. 77 Furthermore, an ethnic German schoolteacher from Roma-
nia, Friedrich Karl Kuczinsky, headed the Office’s division of Jewish affairs. 78

After a brief period of collaboration with a regional employment agency, the head-
quarters of the RAB’s building supervisory board at Breslau (Oberste Bauleitung Re-
ichsautobahnen, OBR) immediately connected with the newly founded Schmelt Of-
fice in fall 1940. Dr. Werner Schulz, who had been entrusted with managing the RAB’s 
Jewish work deployment, frequently met with Lindner and Hentschel. In October 1941, 
Schulz was replaced by Walter Tschechne, a senior civil servant formerly employed by 
the Breslau Rail directorate. 79 Gruner’s and Steinbacher’s assumption that the Schmelt 
Office was created to serve the RAB’s interests is confirmed by the fact that employees 
of the Highway Company assisted Schmelt’s staff in crucial tasks. The OBR Breslau’s 
social ombudsman Albert Hitschler selected Jewish women for the Highway Com-
pany together with Alfred Ludwig. 80 An elderly RAB employee with a limp named 
Haunschild oversaw the recruitment of male Jewish workers. His identity could never 
be verified, but as he constantly combed camps for laborers with Heinrich Lindner, 
he was widely known by the inmates, who referred to him as “the slave trader” or “the 
horse dealer.” 81

Hitschler’s postwar claims that Jewish workers had been treated like Germans in 
RAB camps until Schmelt took over were false. 82 Albert Youra, who had been con-
scripted to build up the RAB camp Auenrode (Osiek Grodkowski) in October 1940, 
reported hard physical labor, scanty food rations, and a lack of sanitary facilities. The 
only noticeable difference after the transfer of authority from employment agencies to 
the Schmelt Office was that the camp was fenced in, and the sign reading “RAB camp” 
was changed to “forced labor camp for Jews.” 83 The Jewish laborers were then urged to 
send letters home pretending that everything was “fine.” 84 The RAB’s building super-
visory board at Breslau continued to administer their camps for Jews with its own staff. 
The civilian camp leaders simultaneously rendered their services to Broemel & Sohn, 
a grocery wholesaler. 85 Wilfried Broemel, born in 1901, became a wealthy man when 
he expanded his father’s shop in Breslau in 1940 and began to specialize in supplying 
Nazi Party institutions and labor camps with food. Twenty RAB-run camps, among 
them Blechhammer, as well as IG Farben in Auschwitz-Monowitz, were clients of his. 
The company thrived thanks to generous loans from the petrochemical industry, in-
cluding from Mineralöl-Bau and Benzol-Vereinigung des Ostens (Eastern Benzole 
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Association). In 1943 Broemel’s profits amounted to 1.5 million RM. His success was 
not even hampered by a temporary arrest for poisoning customers with rotten spinach. 86

Coinciding with the Schmelt Office’s foundation, at least one able-bodied member 
of a Jewish family had to work in a camp. As word of the horrific conditions in these 
camps had spread in the ghettos and people were reluctant to sign up for such deploy-
ments, this order was soon followed by enforced mass conscriptions. All Jewish men 
of Chrzanów aged between eighteen and fifty years, for instance, had to register for la-
bor camps in November 1940. By the end of the year, approximately twenty-eight hun-
dred people were being held in Schmelt camps. 87 In February 1941, Schmelt ordered the 
Central Office of Jewish Councils to muster all men between eighteen and fifty-five 
for their ability to work and to create a card index with their personal details. Employ-
ment in one of the ghetto workshops Schmelt set up in parallel to the camps only tem-
porarily exempted young people from camp internments. 88 The pressure on Moshe Me-
rin grew as Schmelt urged him to withdraw food stamps from the next of kin of those 
evading labor conscriptions, while the ghetto population branded him a “traitor” for 
luring people into camps. Majer Brzeski, who ran the Central Office’s labor division, 
publicly resigned in protest against Merin in spring 1941. 89 The Nuremberg Laws were 
implemented in the annexed territories in June 1941, and from September, the Eastern 
Upper Silesian Jews were required to wear the yellow Star instead of the white arm-
band with the blue Star of David. The Gestapo used any violations of the new laws as a 
pretext for sending ghetto inhabitants to Schmelt camps. 90

A former Jewish secondary school in Sosnowiec served as a central transit camp 
(Durchgangslager), from where able-bodied women and men were distributed among 
Schmelt camps after a medical examination by members of the Sosnowiec SD. Judging 
peoples’ age only by their looks, they often picked under sixteen-year-olds. The Ger-
mans held the families of those evading labor conscriptions in an in-between camp 
(Zwischenlager) next to the transit camp and transferred them to Schmelt camps if 
their relatives failed to show up. 91

In January 1942 the infamous Wannsee Conference marked the formal beginning 
of the Final Solution. The protocol stated that Jews doing important war work were 
to be exempted until they could be replaced by Soviet POWs. However, the assump-
tion that the majority of these workers would die while “building roads” unmistak-
ably underlined the lethal character of Jewish labor assignments and the collaboration 
of the Highway Company that was in charge of road construction. 92 As a result, the 
Schmelt Office announced that people employed in ghetto workshops were no longer 
freed from conscription to labor camps and that the workshops would soon be closed. 93 
On February 15, 1942, Jews from Bytom were among the first victims of the gas cham-
bers of Auschwitz. 94 In April the Schmelt representatives Lindner and Kuczinsky de-
manded a list of ten thousand “unproductive” ghetto inhabitants from Merin for the 
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first wave of deportations to Auschwitz in May. Merin was made to believe that this 
measure would save the working Jewish population. 95 Inadvertently, the Central Of-
fice of Jewish Councils thus contributed to the Nazis’ preliminary goal of liquidating 
the unfit while concentrating the young and the able-bodied in Schmelt camps. This 
ensured that resistance was contained and eased the planned mass deportations. 96 By 
August 1942 about thirty-five thousand Eastern Upper Silesian Jews had been mur-
dered in Auschwitz. 97 Hans Dreier, Heinrich Lindner, and Friedrich Kuczinsky were 
predominantly responsible for the selections. They frequently maltreated or killed espe-
cially the smaller children in the process. They were also present during a mass roundup 
of twenty-two thousand Jews in sports fields in Sosnowiec, Będzin, and Dąbrowa on 
August 12, 1942, during which numerous people died of exhaustion or mistreatment. 98

The disbanding of workshops and selections forced more and more able-bodied 
ghetto inhabitants into Schmelt camps. The Highway Company benefited from this 
drastic development, as it could draw on a growing reservoir of Jewish laborers at a 
time when it increasingly turned to the supervision of crucial armaments projects un-
der construction, such as the OHW at Blechhammer. Notwithstanding its growing de-
mand for Jewish workers, the RAB only considered them as temporary replacements 
for the Soviet laborers that they expected to keep more permanently. In the second 
half of 1941, Eastern Upper Silesian Jews were thus required to set up transit camps for 
Soviet POWs that were managed by the RAB. 99 The Highway Company nonetheless 
received a reimbursement of 800,000 RM from Schmelt for the training and upkeep 
of Jewish construction workers in a camp in Klettendorf (Klecina) in winter 1941–
1942. It also augmented its Jewish workforce to approximately 5,128, indicating an in-
crease of 1,205 by late 1942. 100 As one of the Schmelt Office’s most important clients, 
the Highway Company exploited roughly 10 percent of the Jewish women and men 
interned in these camps then. 101 However, it is important to remember its role in dec-
imating the able-bodied Jewish population through labor implied by the protocol of 
the Wannsee Conference.
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E S TA B L I S H I N G A 
R E I G N O F T E R RO R

The First Schmelt Camp in Blechhammer, 
March–September 1942

I n November 1941 the OHW announced the expected arrival of fif-
teen hundred Jewish builders provided by the Breslau section of Organisation Todt, 
a multinational pioneer organization founded by Fritz Todt in 1938 and merged 

with the Highway Company in spring 1942. 1 However, it was not until March 10, 1942, 
that the first group of about seventy Jewish boys and men was transferred to Blech-
hammer from the RAB-run camp Gogolin. The first camp for Jews initially consisted 
of three barracks in the proximity of a provisional settlement area for the plant’s for-
eign workforce, called a Dorflager (village camp). One barrack accommodated the Ger-
man camp personnel; the other two were gradually filled with the newly arriving Jewish 
prisoners, whose number soon reached about 200. 2 By July 1942, the prisoner popula-
tion had increased to 1,410. 3

The camp had a dual leadership. It was administered by a civilian RAB camp leader 
and guarded by members of the German order police. The policemen were under the 
command of a guard duty officer (Wachhabender), who reported to Schmelt’s deputy, 
Heinrich Lindner. Both authorities closely collaborated, thereby blurring the bound-
aries of individual culpability.

The order police (Ordnungspolizei) were founded in 1936 by the newly appointed 
chief of the German Police, Heinrich Himmler. Owing to the color of their uniforms, 
they were also known as the “green police” (Grüne Polizei). Their commandant, Kurt 
Daluege, was committed to achieving Himmler’s goal to merge the police with the SS. 
The order policemen received intensive ideological indoctrination to this effect. An-
other important role in this respect was played by the HSSPFs, who were installed in 
every German district from September 15, 1938, to coordinate joint operations of the 
SS and the police. By 1941, 65 percent of all order police officers had joined the Nazi 
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Party, and 30 percent had become members of the SD by entering the SS. From Sep-
tember 1939, the order police participated in the racial war against Jews and Slavs. They 
reinforced SD killing squads (Einsatzgruppen); were involved in mass shootings, ex-
ecutions, and “resettlements”; and guarded deportation trains, camps, and ghettos. 4

The order police units deployed in the annexed Polish territories had systematically 
been prepared for carrying out mass killings by SS “experts” from 1940. 5 Those assigned 
to guard duties in Schmelt camps underwent further training in SD schools, whose 
head instructor was Heinrich Lindner. 6 The police guards of Blechhammer belonged 
to a unit of the police administration of Sosnowiec created by Himmler in November 
1940 to control Jewish communities in the “eastern strip.” They were under the com-
mand of Heinrich Schmauser, the HSSPF of Silesia. In April 1942, 169 police veterans 
and 233 active police officers were at his disposal for guard duties in Silesian forced la-
bor camps. Their immediate superiors were Schmelt’s deputy Heinrich Lindner and a 
high-ranking member of the order police in Sosnowiec named Raszewski. 7 The Blech-
hammer guards comprised eight police officers. They were reinforced by ethnic Ger-
mans from Bessarabia, who spoke Yiddish with the inmates and broken German among 
each other. 8 To mitigate their escalating personnel shortages, the chief of the order po-
lice, Daluege, had been permitted to recruit six thousand ethnic German auxiliaries 
into their ranks in 1940. 9 Several hundred of them were allocated to the police chief of 
Sosnowiec to guard ghettos and Schmelt camps. 10 They predominantly stemmed from 
Bessarabia and Bukovina and had been imported into the annexed territories during 
the so-called Buchenland-Aktion of fall 1940. Only a small fraction of the 250,000 eth-
nic Germans from these areas was sent to Upper Silesia under the regime’s Germaniza-
tion program. This was partly due to Silesian district leader Josef Wagner’s opposition 
but was equally linked to the region’s high level of industrialization, disqualifying it for 
agrarian resettlement projects. 11 Extended stays in transit camps for ethnic Germans left 
many disillusioned. The men were either conscripted into the Wehrmacht or signed up 
for the Waffen-SS, the SS, or the order police. 12 They served as guards in concentration 
camps and supported local police units in rounding up and killing Jews. Although the 
exact numbers of ethnic German collaborators in Nazi crimes cannot be arrived at, his-
torians assume that the Holocaust could not have happened without their assistance. 13

The commanding guard duty officer (Wachhabender) of Blechhammer was Walter 
Rettinghausen (also Rettinghaus), a police officer and member of the SD Sosnowiec, 
whose identity could not be verified. He supervised the police guards and was autho-
rized to punish the prisoners. 14 Alluding to the Jewish ritual bath mikvah, the inmates 
cynically nicknamed the man in his mid-thirties Mikvenik, due to his key function in 
murdering prisoners by way of the so-called death bath procedure (Totbadeverfahren). 
He also used the washroom for brutal beatings that most of his victims did not sur-
vive. 15 Moreover, Rettinghausen terrorized the prisoners at nights by forcing them to 
stand outside in the cold for hours. 16
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“A BE A S T I N H U M A N SH A PE ”: 
C A M P L E A DE R E R ICH HOF F M A N N

Dr. Erich Walter Fritz Hoffmann, a lawyer and agricultural engineer, born in Breslau 
on June 24, 1897, and executed by Poland in 1948, served as camp leader of Blechham-
mer for almost two years, until the Auschwitz takeover ended his reign of terror. It was 
not only due to his comparatively long and continuous tenure that his name was etched 
into the memories of Blechhammer survivors. Described as a “beast in human shape,” 
Hoffmann was notorious for his vicious temper and sadistic acts of cruelty. 17 The pris-
oners gave him the Yiddish nickname Moishe Huhn (Moishe the chicken), as his an-
tics and high-pitched voice reminded some of a mentally disturbed boy in their village 
who believed he was a rooster. Hoffmann knew of his nickname and set his dog on the 
inmates whenever he overheard it. 18

Interestingly, Hoffmann was neither a fervent Nazi nor a member of the SA or the 
SS. On the contrary, he had been banned from membership in the Nazi Party and its 
branch organizations, in addition to being declared unworthy of serving in the armed 
forces (wehrunwürdig).

Hoffmann started his career by joining a voluntary Catholic labor service (Frei-
williger Katholischer Arbeitsdienst) in 1932, but he automatically became part of the 
National Socialist Reich Labor Service (RAD), which took over the church’s institu-
tion in 1933–34. He joined the Na-
tional Socialist Party (NSDAP) in 
April 1936. Three months later, Hoff-
mann’s alleged “Catholic attitude” 
prompted him to make derogatory 
remarks about the RAD and the 
party. He was dismissed and sen-
tenced to two years in prison. His 
cousin later claimed that the Hoff-
mann family had had “a strong dis-
like” of the Nazi Party.

Hoffmann served his full prison 
term in Breslau-Kletschkau and 
was released in 1938. He remained 
excluded from party organizations 
and the Wehrmacht henceforth. Be-
ing considered persona non grata by 
the NSDAP nevertheless posed no 
significant obstacle for recruitment 

Camp leader Dr. Erich Hoffmann, Munich, 1946. 
(Source: StA M SpkA K 739)
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into Fritz Todt’s ambitious highway project. 19 Thus, Hoffmann was placed at the RAB 
by his local employment agency in summer 1938. By 1941 he had worked his way up 
from simple office clerk to camp leader, apparently without encountering any faith- or 
ideology-related conflicts. He had already gained some experience as an RAB camp 
leader when he was assigned the administration of the camp for Jews at Blechham-
mer in July 1942. He remained an employee of the RAB throughout his tenure, while 
rendering his services to the family-run grocery wholesaler Broemel & Sohn, which 
supplied the camp with food. Hoffmann’s immediate superior was the RAB’s Walter 
Tschechne. 20

The use of Jewish unfree labor fundamentally changed the position of RAB camp 
leaders from plain administrators to powerful arbiters over life and death. Their surpris-
ingly swift transformation into accessories to genocide and murderers in their own right 
was carried out by members of the SD branch of Sosnowiec. In SD schools, like the one 
established in Blechhammer in fall 1942, male and female camp leaders attended prepa-
ratory courses. 21 Although camp leaders and guard duty officers were equals in hierar-
chical terms, the influence of the police on the behavioral patterns of the RAB admin-
istrators should not be underestimated. As Himmler’s “police-soldiers,” who had been 
drilled to wage a merciless war against “inferior” peoples, they fostered the indoctri-
nating work of the SD training and, above all, introduced office clerks like Erich Hoff-
mann to maltreatment, torture, and manslaughter. 22 In his Munich trial in 1947, Hoff-
mann obviously lied when he claimed his designated job had merely been to manage 
the distribution of food to the inmates and to coordinate their work deployment at the 
OHW. 23 In addition to his participation in and initiation of killings, he was involved 
in selecting inmates for Auschwitz. 24

Hoffmann’s deputy, Wilhelm Pfeiffer (born in 1911), was chiefly responsible for food 
allocations. 25 In stark contrast to Hoffmann, Pfeiffer was described as a good-natured 
and generous person, who often handed out extra food portions to weak prisoners. The 
fact that he did not participate in camp atrocities or selections indicates that there was 
no pressure on the civilian camp personnel in this respect. However, Pfeiffer report-
edly played on his status to molest young, male inmates. 26

T H E F I R S T C A M P AT D OR F L AG E R

Inmates assigned to building up Schmelt camps from scratch generally had to endure 
very harsh conditions. 27 The prisoners setting up the future camp for Jews at Blech-
hammer were driven to clear trees and erect barracks at a rapid pace, while being con-
stantly beaten by the police guards. In the first weeks, they had to sleep outdoors on 
plain wooden boards, and there was no running water, sanitary facilities, or electricity. 
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Still lacking a camp kitchen, they only sporadically received a bowl of unwashed spin-
ach. Later the daily rations amounted to about two hundred grams of bread, some er-
satz coffee, and soup. 28 The food was of poor quality, and the allocations were almost 
half of those handed out to concentration camp prisoners. Hoffmann was infamous for 
selling off the better part of the prisoners’ food rations, leaving merely the unpalatable 
portions for their consumption, such as rotten vegetables and horse meat. 29

Efforts by Jewish “Palestinian” prisoners of war held near Ehrenforst to aid the starv-
ing inmates were radically stopped by guard duty officer Rettinghausen. The POWs 
used to throw food to the inmates when they were driven past the camp on a truck. 
One day Rettinghausen shot at the soldiers and apparently forced the truck driver to 
take a different route henceforth. 30

When the camp had been set up, there were two types of wooden barracks, identi-
cal to the ones used by the Highway Company for its German workers. The smaller bar-
racks had six chambers and the larger ones twelve. Each chamber was five meters long 
and four meters wide and equipped with two-tier bunk beds and lockers. Owing to 
Todt’s order to operate camps for Jews at three times above capacity, up to thirty pris-
oners slept in one chamber, and three men had to share a bed. 31

The inmates wore civilian clothes and were initially permitted a limited number 
of spare shirts and underwear, as well as some toiletries. Higher quality garments and 
most of their other possessions were confiscated by the camp leader and guards upon 
arrival. German camp personnel reportedly pocketed valuables and clothes from the 
inmates’ luggage. 32 A white Star of David was sewn on their jackets and trouser legs. 
Schmelt camps had their own system of prisoner numbers, consisting of a letter and a 
number. The numbers were not tattooed, but merely attached to the prisoners’ clothes. 
It is unclear whether the inmates received a new number in each camp or retained a 
specific number throughout their imprisonment. The letter might have corresponded 
to the first letter of the camp’s name. Only two Blechhammer survivors stated their 
Schmelt camp number in testimonies. The initial letter was a “B” as in Blechhammer, 
but it could also have referred to the first letter of their surnames. 33 Eastern Upper Sile-
sian Jews were allegedly marked by the letter “O” for Ostjude. 34

Until fall 1942, Jewish prisoners were still allowed to write and receive letters and 
parcels. The mail was censored, and valuables were mostly seized by the Germans. In-
mates who had been sent money therefore tried to sew it into their clothes before the 
guards could confiscate it, and they destroyed the relevant letters immediately. The ex-
change of letters and postcards nevertheless provided an opportunity to keep in touch 
with family members in the ghettos and other Schmelt camps for a certain time. 35 Grun-
er’s contention that the Schmelt Office had prohibited the reception of mail from 
spring 1942 is refuted by a report by the Sosnowiec police department of May 1942. 
The report states that Schmelt representative, Alfred Ludwig, instructed the police to 
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prevent the relatives of inmates from handing over parcels themselves. He did not ob-
ject to the delivery of mail as such, but excoriated the unrest stirred up by such visits. 36

The so-called self-administration of the prisoners (Häftlingsselbstverwaltung) im-
plemented in the Schmelt camp system was analogous to that in concentration camps. 
It was a crucial tool in the hands of the German camp leadership to split up the solidar-
ity among the inmates by giving privileges to a small fraction of them. On top of the hi-
erarchy were the Jewish elders, who like the Jewish councils in the ghettos often faced 
ethical dilemmas. They were unable to truly represent their comrades’ interests, as the 
Germans forced them to carry out orders directed against the prisoners. 37 Through-
out the camp’s existence, the position of Jewish elder was held by Karl Demerer. Born 
in Vienna in 1901, the merchant relocated to Katowice in Poland in 1928. While visit-
ing his mother-in-law in Sosnowiec in 1940, he was arrested in the street. His wife and 
two children remained in Sosnowiec. Having passed through several Schmelt camps, 
he joined a transport of 350 men from camp Ottmuth (Otmęt) that was assembled to 
build up Blechhammer. Guard duty officer Rettinghausen appointed him as Jewish el-
der due to his good command of German. Demerer was very popular among fellow in-
mates and was renowned for his “diplomatic” way of dealing with the camp leadership. 
Bribery was his favored strategy for mitigating the guards’ violence and saving the lives 
of individual prisoners. 38

While most regular inmates struggled for sheer physical survival, the function-
ary prisoners were granted access to 
music and entertainment. As in the 
concentration camps, this privilege 
symbolized their higher status and re-
flected the extreme hierarchy delib-
erately created by the Nazis to split 
up the inmate solidarity in camps. 39 
On Friday and Saturday nights, Dem-
erer organized so-called soirées in the 
office block (Schreibstube) featuring 
recitations, arias performed by an op-
era singer from Warsaw, and Yiddish 
theater plays. On Sunday afternoons, 
an impromptu show was put on by 
some of the inmates who were able 
to play an instrument, sing, or dance. 
The artists also performed in the bar-
racks of the regular inmates afterward. 
Unlike the SS, neither camp leader 

Jewish elder Karl Demerer. (Source: YVA 
photo archive 3883_3505.jpg)
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Hoffmann nor the police guards let themselves be entertained by prisoners. Hoffmann 
thus permitted the soirées and impromptu shows but never attended them himself. 40 
They were not used for singing or composing revolutionary songs. Unlike Brande and 
Seibersdorf (Zebrzydowice), Blechhammer had no camp song. 41

Camp leader Hoffmann oversaw the prisoners’ work deployment. At the OHW 
plant, the building supervisory board of Breslau, represented by the building techni-
cal department (BTA) on site, and OHW deputy director Dr. Heinrich Schlick coor-
dinated their allocation to contractors. Each detail had a head of column (Kolonnen-
führer), the equivalent to an Oberkapo in the Schmelt camp system. 42 A typical day 
in summer started at 3:00 a.m., and a roll call was held half an hour later. At 4:00 a.m. 
the police guards marched the details to the factory, where they were assigned to liter-
ally backbreaking jobs, such as carrying cement sacks. A survivor recalled: “We simul-
taneously carried one sack on our backs, and another under our arms. It required su-
perhuman strength. We poured the cement into buckets, while balancing on narrow, 
shaky scaffolds, or moving along steep riverbanks, sometimes we fell into the water.” 43

Consequently, a juvenile prisoner suffered from hernia. The prisoners received no 
protective clothing, such as gloves, when having to unload bricks, whose sharp edges 
cut their hands. The weight of iron poles they had to transport on their bare shoulders 
caused bleeding wounds. 44 While the order policemen guarding the prisoners were 
quite restrained on the OHW site, German, and particularly ethnic German, overseers 
frequently maltreated or even killed them. Ethnic Germans, who represented 17 per-
cent of the total OHW workforce, 45 reputedly exerted more brutality against Jews than 
German foremen. The survivor Israel Rosengarten assumed that they had been driven 
by an inferiority complex, a constant urge to prove they were equal in value to the Ger-
mans. 46 One of the Water Polish masters was nicknamed lopotka, Polish for “shovel,” 
as this was his preferred object to maltreat prisoners with. Another one was known as 

“the Murderer” among the inmates. 47

Medical treatment was very limited. Prior to the ghetto liquidations, the few Jew-
ish physicians permanently allocated to Schmelt camps often commuted between sev-
eral camps to tend to inmates. Although Schmelt’s system operated outside the con-
centration camp system, an SS area chief doctor (Stabsarzt) from Auschwitz regularly 
supervised the Jewish physicians. Until fall 1942, severely ill patients could be referred 
to the Jewish hospital in the Sosnowiec ghetto depending on the Schmelt Office’s con-
sent. Camps without a Jewish physician appointed so-called paramedics. In Blech-
hammer, this position was held by the dentist Simon Wallner from Wadowice. 48 Stan-
dard drugs had to be ordered from the Schmelt Office, which usually delivered only a 
small fraction of the required medicines. Surgical instruments were likewise rare. An 
estimated 30 percent of the prisoners were temporarily or permanently unfit to work. 
However, as Schmelt only tolerated a sick rate of 2 percent, most of them received no 
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treatment. This rate also could be lowered at the camp leaders’ discretion; in Blech-
hammer, it was not to exceed 1 percent, and there even was a “zero-sick-policy” in camp 
Seibersdorf. Admittance was restricted to those unable to stand or having a tempera-
ture above 39°C. The others were urged to continue to work and often died on the con-
struction site as a result. The infirmary’s reputation as an “antechamber to Auschwitz” 
also deterred many from seeking medical aid. 49

The initial practice of permitting emaciated or ill Schmelt camp inmates a short 
period of recovery back in the ghettos was abandoned at the turn of the year 1941–
42. 50 Evidently this option was no longer available to the prisoners of Blechhammer, 
to whom selections for the gas chambers of Auschwitz had already become a terrify-
ing routine in spring 1942. 51

Himmler’s directive of April 1941 to murder sick and unfit concentration camp pris-
oners, code-named 14f13, reverberated throughout Schmelt’s system. Schmelt camps 
were never visited by the physicians involved in the program to “euthanize” disabled 
and mentally ill patients in German health-care facilities known as Aktion T4, who be-
gan to select unfit prisoners in the concentration camps and subsequently gassed them 
in the same “sanatoriums” at Sonnenstein, Hartheim, and Bernburg that were used for 
the T4 murders. From December 1941, nonmedical camp personnel were authorized 
to make selections in support of the premeditated deployment of T4 physicians in the 
death camps of Aktion Reinhardt, Sobibór, Bełźeć, and Treblinka. 52 Despite the appar-
ent similarities, the tendency to draw a line of continuity between T4, 14f13, and the 
Holocaust is increasingly put into question. 53 Recent studies point to the prevalence 
of economic aspects in Aktion T4 murders, as opposed to the ideologically motivated 
killings of 14f13 and the Holocaust. 54

Auschwitz started to create independent structures for murdering sick prisoners 
from August 1941. A single transport of 575 mainly non-Jewish Polish prisoners left 
the camp for Sonnenstein (Saxony) on July 28, 1941. Following first experiments with 
lethal injections and gassings with cyanide pellets, a sick transport to Sonnenstein was 
retained in Auschwitz to be gassed along with six hundred Soviet POWs on Septem-
ber 3, 1941. 55 The September gassings marked the beginning of frequent selections in 
the Auschwitz camp infirmary. 56 In spring 1942 the SS Economic Administration Main 
Office (WVHA) ordered the extension of selections to working prisoners and the kill-
ing of those who were emaciated and weak. In Auschwitz the first selection of this kind 
was made on May 4, 1942. Prisoners in the subcamps were regularly selected by SS per-
sonnel from the main camp. 57

Historians assume that Schmelt camp inmates were among the earliest victims of 
gassings in Auschwitz. 58 However, the precise start of selections in Schmelt’s system has 
never been verified. 59 The police guard duty officers were authorized to select prison-
ers for Auschwitz transports, and they increasingly drew on the civilian camp leaders’ 
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assistance. Schmelt’s deputy, Heinrich Lindner, and Haunschild equally scrutinized the 
prisoners during their weekly visits: “Those looking lackluster, and who were unable to 
stand upright, or look straight into the ‘slave trader’s’ eyes, disappeared as ‘Muselmen’ 
and were never seen again.” 60

Lindner, who rated illness as “sabotage,” often shot sick or weak prisoners on the 
spot on these occasions. 61 The Schmelt Office’s staff had long been familiarized with 
selection processes due to their involvement in “racial” screenings and the expulsion 
of Jews and Poles while working for SS “settlement centers.” As members of the SS and 
the SD, they underwent regular ideological training. 62 Following their deployment in 
the annexed territories, the order police units had been prepared for carrying out mass 
killings by SS “experts” from 1940. 63 Together with the civilian camp leaders, the po-
lice guards were further instructed in special SD schools. 64

In parallel to the gassings, unfit Schmelt camp inmates were murdered by way of the 
death bath procedure. They were exposed to cold water until heart failure set in, were 
drowned, or died of hypothermia. In Blechhammer, guard duty officer Rettinghausen 
mainly carried out these despicable killings. He also targeted inmates he intended to 
punish. 65 This killing method most likely originated from the Mauthausen subcamp 
Gusen, where unfit inmates were disposed of in this way between September 1941 and 
January 1942 due to the temporary suspension of transports to the T4 gassing facility in 
Hartheim. 66 Unlike in Gusen, water-induced murders remained a constant in Schmelt’s 
system and were further intensified in 1943. To keep the sick list numbers low, inmates 
were also strangled or battered to death. 67

The camp killings produced large numbers of bodies. Unlike concentration camps, 
the Schmelt Office did not use crematoria but instead buried the deceased in commu-
nal cemeteries or in designated places in the vicinity of camps. In the first half of 1942, 
dead Blechhammer inmates were interred in a Polish cemetery adjacent to an OHW 
camp for foreign laborers in a forest (Waldlager) that also included a communal grave 
for seven Soviets. 68

T H E F E M A L E PR I SON E R S

Unlike in Auschwitz, where females represented only one-third of all registered pris-
oners and were not assigned to work deployments until 1942, Schmelt had Jewish 
women from the Eastern Upper Silesian ghettos conscripted for forced labor from late 
1940 and established special camps for them. 69 Some were held in camps for men, like 
Blechhammer, to do household chores. 70 On April 9, 1942, the first one hundred Jew-
ish women were transferred to Blechhammer from the RAB-run camp Klettendorf 
(Klecina), where they had been sewing uniforms for the Wehrmacht. They were housed 
in a single barrack in a fenced-off area of the camp adjacent to the Jewish elder’s office. 



43ESTABLISHING A REIGN OF TERROR

Because there were so few of them, they could sleep in a bed of their own and were even 
forbidden to share a bed. During the winter this apparent privilege proved disadvan-
tageous, as it was harder to stay warm at night. The women’s daily routine started with 
the cleaning of the barracks in the mornings, before they split into groups to work in 
the scullery and the laundry or to sweep the streets. The women in the laundry washed 
the male prisoners’ clothes, which they handed in once a week. Another barrack was set 
apart for sewing and mending. The kitchen staff had to prepare cabbage for the lunch of 
camp functionaries not going out to work. In the evening they got the men’s hot meals 
ready. 71 The women spent comparatively short times in Blechhammer before being re-
located to production sites specifically created or modified for women, while new ar-
rivals took their place in the kitchen and the laundry. Haunschild also sent women to 
Blechhammer who had become too weak to work in factories. 72

Gender is increasingly perceived as a decisive factor in determining the treatment 
and survival chances of male and female Holocaust victims. 73 Women in Schmelt camps 
appeared to have been at higher risk of being selected for Auschwitz transports, even if 
they were able to work. Several survivors related that “excess” women in transit camps 
had been sent to Auschwitz, and there were gender-specific selections in the camps 
targeting fit women. 74 Another factor was rape by German camp personnel. Sexual vi-
olence against women, men, and children was ubiquitous in Nazi camps. 75 However, 
unlike male victims of sexual assaults, Jewish women were typically killed to prevent 

“racially undesirable” offspring endangering the “purity of the Aryan race.” 76 As the of-
ficial crime of raping those considered “racially inferior” could be concealed by the on-
going genocide that legitimized the murder of these women, Steven T. Katz posits that 
the Nazis’ annihilatory policy was a catalyst for assaults against female prisoners. 77 The 
subject of rape is often excluded from narratives on the Holocaust, based on the erro-
neous assumption that Nazi laws on “race defilement” (Rassenschande) prevented Ger-
mans from sexually assaulting Jewish women. 78 Numerous survivor testimonies and 
judicial interviews corroborate the abuse and ensuing murder of female inmates of 
Blechhammer who had become pregnant. Himmler’s 14f13 directive of 1941 stipulat-
ing that pregnant concentration camp prisoners should die was likewise implemented 
in Schmelt camps and sealed the victims’ fate. 79

As access to the women’s secluded quarters was restricted to a small fraction of the 
male personnel, they were the key perpetrators. One of them was the Czech German 
chef A. Alois, an employee of the Highway Company who supervised the women in the 
kitchen. He habitually coerced younger female prisoners into having a relationship with 
him. If the respective woman did not obey, he punished the others, such as by forcing 
them to stand outside in the snow. 80 At times the victims were ostracized by their female 
comrades, who misconstrued the abuse for a genuine affair. When Alois once overheard 
a woman scolding one of his victims for her “relationship,” he almost beat her to death. 
A tall, sturdy man in his early twenties, Alois also mistreated male inmates. When he 
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dished out the evening soup to the starving men and they pushed forward too much, 
he occasionally emptied out the soup bowls into their faces or hit them with a frying 
pan. 81 His behavior toward men nevertheless had a different quality, and he tended to 
reconcile with his male victims by giving them some extra food or cigarettes. 82 Accord-
ing to a postwar statement by Erich Hoffmann, he had saved Alois from being arrested 
by the police several times, but he did not mention for which allegations. 83

The teenage girls formed a group distinct from the female prisoners in their twenties 
and thirties, who were mostly married with children. 84 Erich Hoffmann, whose wife 
and sons lived in Breslau, preyed on these inexperienced young women, especially if 
they were pretty and spoke German. He frequently came into the scullery asking for 

“very proper” girls to tidy up his apartment. When Hoffmann picked seventeen-year-old 
Rosa Schwarzberg and her friend Sala Fischel one day, Rosa fainted, terrified of what 
awaited her. Rosa fled from his apartment when her friend had suddenly disappeared, 
but she was dragged back inside by a furious Hoffmann. He wiped off the dust from a 
table and angrily smeared it onto her face. In the following weeks, Rosa was forced to 
clean for Hoffmann, assisted by Sala’s sister, as Sala refused to carry on the work. Rosa 
was so desperate that she volunteered for another camp but had to return to Blechham-
mer a year later. Hoffmann immediately recognized her and threatened that she would 
stay for good this time. She then learned that Hoffmann had raped Sala Fischel and 
had ordered her sent to Auschwitz, as she became pregnant with his child. The Jew-
ish elder Demerer facilitated Rosa’s permanent transfer to a camp in Schatzlar the next 
day. 85 More “cleaning girls” shared Sala Fischel’s fate after a few weeks in Hoffmann’s 
service. Officially, they were selected for being “sick,” but it was an open secret that they 
had become pregnant from rape. One way to avoid being targeted by Hoffmann was 
lacking knowledge of German. The Polish-speaking inmate Gucia Ferst thus refused 
to learn German, even if this put her at risk of being punished for not following orders 
promptly because she did not understand them. 86

“ SE N T OF F TO A N U N K NOW N DE S T I NAT ION ”: 
T H E M A S S K I L L I NG S OF DY SE N T E RY PAT I E N T S

Shortly after the start of Hoffmann’s tenure in July 1942, dysentery broke out in the 
Jewish camp and in a neighboring camp for Soviet POWs. During his Munich trial 
in 1947, Hoffmann blamed his alleged predecessor, whose identity remains unclear, 
for the outbreak. He also claimed that the disease had been caused by a lack of hy-
giene on the OHW construction site, not by the adverse sanitary conditions in the 
camp. OHW files nevertheless corroborate that the dysentery had spread from the two 
camps in question. 87 Public health authorities quarantined the inmates of both camps 
from mid-August. 88 On the day the quarantine was put into effect, the Jewish work 
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details had already set out for the construction site. Around noon they were abruptly 
marched back to the camp, following orders by the Schmelt Office to liquidate them. 
The guards first made the prisoners exercise in the washroom barrack before ordering 
them to dig graves. They were narrowly saved by the intervention of the SS medical of-
ficer from Auschwitz, who routinely supervised the Jewish prisoner physicians’ work. 
He demanded that Dr. Ritter, a Jewish head surgeon interned in camp Königshütte 
(Chrzanów), be transferred to Blechhammer immediately. Dr. Ritter apparently man-
aged to convince the Germans that the dysentery had spread from the Soviet POW 
camp, not the Jewish camp, and that it would suffice to isolate those carrying the dis-
ease. The sick were held in a fenced-in compound, and the forest surrounding the camp 
was disinfected with lime. 89

The events in Blechhammer seem to correspond with the likewise averted plans for 
shooting Jewish Schmelt prisoners, who had contracted typhus during their deploy-
ment with Organisation Todt in Russia in 1941. 90 Schmelt’s radical killing policy was 
doubtless in line with the Nazi concept of annihilating those considered “racially in-
ferior” and “endemic carriers” of contagious diseases. 91 However, even by SS standards 
it was considered inappropriate to wipe out the entire prisoner population of a camp. 
In both cases, Schmelt was thus urged to adopt a more selective method practiced in 
Auschwitz during outbreaks, which primarily targeted those among the infected who 
did not recover within a given time. 92

Nevertheless, the prospects of Blechhammer inmates who had contracted dysen-
tery were bleak, as they received no proper medical treatment. Among the few survi-
vors was sixteen-year-old Sol W. He related how the Jewish prisoner physicians had to 
improvise to compensate for the lack of medicines, like dispensing charred bread to 
their patients as a remedy. 93 When the quarantine had been lifted, a list of the names 
of all remaining dysentery patients was drawn up, and they were successively removed 
from the camp. The inmates were made to believe that they would be taken to the Jew-
ish hospital at Sosnowiec. Healthy inmates hoping to escape from Blechhammer in this 
way even bribed camp orderlies to get their names on the list. A survivor later disclosed 
the true fate of the prisoners on these transports: “Two cars with fifty to sixty people 
(among them one woman, Dr. Trammer’s wife) drove off. Two hours later, the cars re-
turned with all their belongings, their boots, and coats. As it turned out, all these peo-
ple had been taken to the nearby town of Cosel, the central point for the segregation 
of transports of western Jews. I later met Dr. Trammer’s wife, who was on that trans-
port, in another camp. She told me that she had been the only one to get out alive, as 
she was an office worker. The others had been sent off to an unknown destination.” 94

This “unknown destination” was Auschwitz. The source indicates that the dysen-
tery victims were added to deportation convoys from western Europe, which were fre-
quently stopped in Cosel at the time to extract able-bodied men for Schmelt camps. 
The unfit prisoners were then sent on to Auschwitz with the elderly, the women, and 
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the children on board to be killed. 95 At least another 120 prisoners were sent to their 
deaths in this way. Moreover, Erich Hoffmann tricked thirty emaciated inmates into 
volunteering for transports by claiming that they would go to a “convalescent camp.” 96 
Rosa Schwarzberg, one of Hoffmann’s unfortunate “cleaning girls” desperate to leave 
the camp, followed the Jewish paramedic’s advice to join a transport purportedly head-
ing to Sosnowiec. Rosa was confined in an isolation barrack for one week, until enough 
dysentery patients had been gathered for a transport. Before the transport went off, the 
barrack was inspected by Hoffmann. On seeing Rosa, he went pale and exclaimed in 
surprise, “You, too?” but did not keep her back. In her video testimony, Rosa Schwarz-
berg did not go into further detail about what happened to that particular transport. 
As she eventually went to camp Eichthal (Dąbrówka Górna), there must have been an-
other selection for fit prisoners. 97

By September 1, 1942, 409 prisoners out of the 1,410 still accounted for in July had 
died. 98 When the quarantine was lifted six weeks after the outbreak, another 700 in-
mates were relocated to Schmelt camps in Sudeten. Approximately 300 prisoners re-
mained in Blechhammer to build up a new camp. 99
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B RU TA L I T Y

I n September 1942 the first Jewish camp at Dorflager was disbanded, 
and a new one was set up on the grounds of the so-called Bahnhoflager (“railroad 
camp”), situated a few hundred meters from the Ehrenforst train station. The deci-

sion to relocate the camp was not, however, related to the dysentery outbreak, but had 
been contemplated from the outset. Postwar, self-exculpatory claims by camp leader 
Erich Hoffmann that he had initiated the inmates’ transfer to a “better” camp were 
false. 1 Negotiations on the lease of land for new barrack camps between OHW direc-
tor Riedmüller, Dr. Urbanek of the OHW social department, and Dr. Carstaedt, who 
acted on behalf of the Hohenlohe Trust, had already taken place in February 1942. Hav-
ing long run out of building space on the territory previously acquired from Prince Ho-
henlohe, the OHW now found itself under increasing pressure to comply with General 
Plenipotentiary Krauch’s directive to construct barracks for another eight thousand 
people by the middle of the year. The allocation of laborers was tied to the provision 
of adequate housing facilities, and an increase in the workforce was deemed necessary 
to meet Göring’s recent demands for an increase in the production of synthetic fuel. 
Therefore the relocation of the new, enlarged Jewish camp was not just a logistical re-
quirement, but was regarded as an important contribution to the Third Reich’s large-
scale war effort. 2

It was soon agreed to use a stretch of 4.2 square kilometers of forested land situated 
east of the road leading from the Ehrenforst railroad station to Ehrenforst village. Yet 
only the southern part of what was to become the Bahnhoflager, comprising approxi-
mately one-third of the total camp area, was designated as a camp for Jews ( Judenlager). 
Prince Hohenlohe’s concerns about prisoners trespassing on his hunting grounds were 
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only short-lived, as head engineer Otto Stoltzenburg, who represented the Highway 
Company’s building supervisory board at the OHW, was quick to assure him that the 
camp for Jews would be surrounded by a 2.5-meter-high barbed wire fence. 3

The ranks of the severely decimated Blechhammer inmates were augmented by ap-
proximately six hundred Jewish men from the Netherlands, Belgium, and France, who 
began to arrive in the camp between October and December 1942, after the quaran-
tine had been lifted. Owing to a request for ten thousand additional Jewish laborers 
for industrial sites in Silesia by the Ministry of Armaments and War Production un-
der Albert Speer, Himmler authorized Schmelt to extract men from western depor-
tation convoys en route to Auschwitz. 4 Following the launch of mass deportations of 
Dutch, Belgian, and French Jews, Speer apparently sought new ways of supplying the 
war economy with skilled workers from western Europe. His intention to replace the 
Polish Jews with deportees from western Europe possibly led to the transfer of seven 
hundred Eastern Upper Silesian Blechhammer prisoners to Sudeten when the first 
camp was disbanded. 5 During the so-called Cosel period, 6 deportation trains were 
stopped by Schmelt representatives in the freight depot of Cosel (Koźle), a town situ-
ated about forty miles northwest of Auschwitz, to take off able-bodied men aged be-
tween about sixteen and fifty-five. 7 Those over fifty were taken off when there were few 
younger men and sent back to the train when there were plenty. As a rule, Schmelt rep-
resentatives only judged the men’s age by their looks, so that younger and older persons 
were taken, or those younger looking were not. 8 An estimated 9,015 western deportees 
were thus selected by Schmelt Office staff between August 28 and December 10, 1942. 
A mere 700 of these men survived. There were no female survivors, even though a small 
number of the women were selected for work when the trains had terminated in Aus-
chwitz. 9 As Schmelt camps operated independently from Auschwitz and its subcamps, 
the men were selected in Cosel, not on the ramp of Birkenau. The Cosel stops thus fa-
cilitated the unprecedented import of western deportees into a secluded camp system 
designated for Eastern Upper Silesian Jews.

The Cosel period was divided into three phases. The first involved Himmler’s offi-
cial permission and ended on October 7, 1942. The second phase was illicitly carried 
out by Schmelt representatives on their own initiative between October 18 and Decem-
ber 10, 1942. A third phase ensued in fall 1943. 10

Between August 28 and November 9, 1942, seventeen transports from France were 
stopped in Cosel, and approximately thirty-five hundred men were made to get off. 11 
Jewish emigrants from Austria and Germany, who had fled to southern France, rep-
resented a majority in the eight convoys departing from Drancy between August 31 
and September 16, 1942. They had fallen victim to a raid on foreign Jews carried out 
in the unoccupied part of France between August 26 and 28 with the Vichy regime’s 
approval. 12 Among them were numerous artists or members of political resistance 
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movements. They had often endured imprisonment in the early Nazi concentration 
camps and had fled to the South of France after the invasion to avoid capture by the 
Germans, and in the hope of reaching a safe destination from Marseille. Some rendered 
their services to the American Emergency Rescue Committee, initiated by German 
writer Thomas Mann in 1940 to enable those on the Gestapo blacklist to immigrate to 
the United States. Owing to their artistic talents and previous camp experience, they 
typically played leading roles in the prisoner administration or camp theaters and or-
chestras in Schmelt camps. 13 On the last French train stopped in Cosel on November 
9, 1942, were mainly Jews holding citizenships previously excluded from deportations. 
This predominantly affected 609 Romanian Jews, who had been arrested in a major raid 
on September 24, 1942, and Greek Jews rounded up on November 5, 1942. On April 
1, 1944, 1.6 percent of Blechhammer inmates held Romanian citizenship and presum-
ably stemmed from these final roundups in France. 14

Between August 31 and October 12, 1942, six Belgian convoys from Mechelen/Ma-
lines had a stop in Cosel, and an estimated 1,975 men were seized by the Schmelt Of-
fice. Most of the people on board had been arrested between July and September 1942 
as a result of major roundups in Antwerp and Brussels. The deportations were tempo-
rarily suspended in October 1942, as the Belgian police ceased to collaborate in any 
further arrests. 15

An estimated 3,540 male deportees from the Netherlands were taken off in Cosel 
between August 28 and December 10, 1942. They represented the largest group among 
the “Cosel men.” 16 The August and early September transports had a halt in Liegnitz 
(Legnica), where the deportees were tricked into writing postcards to their relatives. 
The messages were intended to keep up the myth of Jews being “resettled” to the east 
and to prevent resistance to the deportations. This perfidious method was widely prac-
ticed by the Nazis. The order police guards escorting the trains collected the mail and 
posted it on their return to the Netherlands from Auschwitz. Most of the senders had 
already been murdered in the gas chambers by then. 17

The Dutch and Belgian deportees were still boarded on passenger trains. They usu-
ally arrived in the early mornings and were torn from their sleep by Schmelt’s staff, who 
entered the compartments demanding that all younger men should step out. They re-
moved those who did not obey at once from the trains by force. They were assisted by SS 
men and order police guards escorting the trains. Up to three hundred men, one-third 
of an average convoy, were extracted in Cosel. Schmelt’s deputy Heinrich Lindner made 
a first selection on the station’s platform. Then the men had to squat on their luggage 
with raised arms, until trucks took them to transit camps. 18 The separation of families 
caused turmoil and was occasionally met with resistance. On the Westerbork transport 
of August 31–September 2, a woman approached an SS man and demanded her hus-
band back. The SS guard began to whip her without responding to her request, and she 
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dared to slap him in the face. Stunned by her unexpected reaction, the SS man permit-
ted her husband to return to the train. 19 Schmelt camp leaders evidently attended the 
selections when they required workers, and they supervised the male deportees on the 
platform. Erich Hoffmann was thus seen in Cosel on October 5, 1942, when the first 
Westerbork deportees destined for Blechhammer arrived. 20 French convoys consisted 
of cattle cars, and deaths or suicides commonly occurred on these transports. In Cosel, 
the younger male deportees were rounded up in a field next to the freight station. The 
SS and Schmelt representatives encircled them with utmost brutality, ordering them 
to lie flat on their faces. 21 The survivor Jules Fainzang later described the ensuing selec-
tion process, which reminded him of depictions of a slave market: “Three German of-
ficers thus approached us, headed by a civilian with a limp, carrying a notebook in one 
hand and a little cane in the other: “‘Mund aufmachen’, ‘open your mouth’, the civilian 
told one of our comrades, and he inspected his teeth using his cane to hold his mouth 
open. A scene from a movie I had watched in Anvers before the war came to my mind, 
Capitaine Blood with Errol Flynn. On a slave market a slave trader made the same ges-
ture. However, here, unlike in the film, it was not done to see if the slave was in good 
health, but only to check if he had gold teeth!” 22

The “official” phase of the Cosel period ended on October 7, 1942, when Auschwitz 
commandant Hoess cabled to Eichmann that deportation trains from Westerbork were 
to be routed straight to Auschwitz henceforth to prevent Schmelt from meddling in 
the transports. 23 However, the Schmelt Office did not comply with Hoess’s demands 
and continued to extract male deportees. Both the Dutch convoy of October 5–7 and 
the one of October 16–18 carried a record number of men in the appropriate age group. 
An estimated 1,120 men were taken off these two transports alone. 24 The October peak 
pertained to the concerted disbanding of all fifty Jewish labor camps on Dutch soil on 
October 2 and 3, 1942. The camp inmates and their next of kin were transferred to West-
erbork to be deported. An additional five thousand Jews arrested in a large-scale raid 
in Amsterdam constituted a major “reserve” for deportations in the following weeks. 25 
In his postwar trial, Hoess stated that he had objected to the Cosel stops, as they de-
layed the trains and allegedly enabled escapes. 26 Given the growing pressure on concen-
tration camps to put ever larger numbers of prisoners at the disposal of the war indus-
try, he presumably also began to perceive Schmelt as a rival skimming off potentially 
fit men. 27 Along the same lines, the Schmelt Office was compelled to find ways of cir-
cumventing these restrictions to satisfy the demands of industrialists, whose produc-
tion sites operated outside of the concentration camp system. One of the most influ-
ential clients in this respect was the Reich Highway Company.

Apart from two transports from Malines and Drancy, the illicit Cosel stops carried 
out between October 18 and December 10, 1942, mainly targeted Westerbork deport-
ees. As Lindner could no longer draw on the large-scale support of SS and police units, 
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he picked fewer men in the desired age group. His staff applied various strategies to 
prevent any unrest during the separation of families. The selected men were now as-
sured that they would be reunited with the women and children later. Young men were 
tricked into leaving the trains under the false pretense that everyone would receive re-
freshments, and they were served first. Immediately after they got off, the trains de-
parted. 28 Unlike before, Schmelt’s staff politely asked for volunteers for labor camps 
instead of removing the men by force. Those who declined the offer were permitted 
to stay on the trains. 29 The most crucial — and disturbing — new development was the 
exchange of healthy men for sick, emaciated, and even dying Schmelt camp inmates. 30 
The camp leaders now simply transported their unfit prisoners to Cosel on trucks and 
added them to the trains. The victims of the dysentery outbreak in Blechhammer were 
among the first to be affected by this practice. 31 Westerbork deportees were shocked to 
see prisoners being loaded onto the train they had just been taken off on October 18, 
1942, the start of the unauthorized stops. Among them were Dutch inmates who, like 
themselves, had been made to step out in Cosel only weeks before and were now about 
to be murdered in Auschwitz. They gave them the last advice to eat up all the food pro-
visions they still had before the guards in the transit camps could take them away. Two 
weeks later a Dutch survivor witnessed how twenty “ghastly looking” Jews were put 
on the train. 32 The Schmelt camp inmates added to the trains presumably warned the 
other deportees what awaited them in Auschwitz. Three young women who had been 
on the first Westerbork transport with an unauthorized Cosel stop on October 16–18, 
1942, thus refused to enter the gas chamber, and pleaded for their lives. They were shot 
on the spot by SS men. 33 A British POW and medical officer placed on a deportation 
convoy in Cosel to return to the Blechhammer POW camp gave a disturbing account 
of the despair of the women, children, and elderly people on board, who had suddenly 
realized that they would be killed. 34

The Schmelt Office’s efforts to obfuscate the ongoing Cosel selections by replacing 
the missing men with equal numbers of unfit prisoners were nonetheless futile, as the il-
licit extraction of deportees was noticed in Auschwitz. Hoess’s complaints to Eichmann 
eventually prompted HSSPF of Silesia Schmauser to act against Schmelt’s staff. 35 Survi-
vors of the last stop of December 10, 1942, testified that a large part of the able-bodied 
men already selected for Schmelt camps had been ordered to return to the train and 
travel on to Auschwitz. This was likely the result of Schmauser’s intervention. 36

Evidently the unauthorized Cosel stops were resumed in the late summer and fall of 
1943. 37 From March to July 1943, convoys from Westerbork rode to Sobibór. Between 
August 24, 1943, and November 16, 1943, seven trains were rerouted to Auschwitz. 38 Nu-
merous interrogation reports by former policemen guarding these transports in 1943 
corroborate selections by SS men in Cosel, who exchanged fit men for sick and emaci-
ated prisoners. 39 Camp leader Erich Hoffmann seized on the renewed Cosel stops for 
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sending sick Blechhammer inmates to Auschwitz. He added 350 prisoners to a Wester-
bork convoy on September 1 and an unknown number of typhus convalescents on Sep-
tember 16, 1943. 40 The modus operandi established during the Cosel selections appar-
ently served as a model for similar stops in stations near larger camps situated along the 
major deportation routes toward Auschwitz in late 1943. Again, Westerbork convoys 
were primarily targeted. A Czech SS unit thus pulled out fit men from a train stopped 
in Königshütte. The same was done in Sosnowiec, and sick inmates were added to re-
place the missing men. During a stop near Kattowitz, younger women were selected 
with the men. 41 It is unclear whether the Schmelt Office carried out the unauthorized 
stops of 1942 and 1943 entirely on its own, as Hoess had claimed. The office must have 
been informed of the incoming deportation trains beforehand by either the Gestapo 
or HSSPF Schmauser. Possibly Schmelt was notified of the transports as part of his 
function as chief administrator of Oppeln. It is also unknown who instructed the Op-
peln Rail Directorate to bring trains to an unscheduled halt in Cosel. The numbers of 
fit men extracted during the stops of 1943 are impossible to arrive at. There were either 
no survivors or none who gave testimony.

The unauthorized phases of the Cosel stops reflect the crude reality of the policy 
of “annihilation through labor,” as Schmelt representatives disposed of sick and ema-
ciated inmates while simultaneously drawing on a reservoir of fresh workers. Except 
for a small fraction, most of these men succumbed to the murderous conditions in 
Schmelt camps. Many of the unfit prisoners taking their place on the trains had been 
made to step out of such convoys only weeks before, when they were in good physical 
shape. The Cosel men, and particularly the Dutch deportees among them, had stag-
gering death tolls of up to 95 percent and often did not even make it through their first 
winter in Silesia. Survivors linked this extreme mortality to the traumatic, sudden sep-
aration from their families in Cosel, which profoundly impacted their will to perse-
vere. 42 The Cosel selections were the first face-to-face encounter with the Germans. The 
brutality exerted by Schmelt representatives while forcing men off the trains not only 
was humiliating, but suddenly made the deportees grasp the disturbing realities of the 
Final Solution. Dutch Jews typically had no previous knowledge of the death camps 
or did not believe in their existence. 43 The Westerbork deportee Gabriel Zvi Lifschitz 
had even employed a former Buchenwald inmate in his household before the occupa-
tion of the Netherlands. This encounter had prompted him to read books about Ger-
man concentration camps. He nonetheless felt that nothing could have prepared them 
for the ordeal of the labor camps that was to follow. 44 During the unauthorized Co-
sel stops, a young man deported from Westerbork thus unsuspectingly decided to stay 
on the train. It was only at the ramp of Birkenau that he suddenly realized that most of 
his fellow deportees were about to be gassed. Panic stricken, he nevertheless found a 
way of hiding in the camp and smuggled himself onto a transport to Buchenwald three 
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days later. 45 Similarly, French deportees often opted to ignore reports about Nazi con-
centration camps and mass killings spread by Communist underground papers such 
as Unzer Wort and J’accuse. 46

Some survivors remained unable to integrate the Cosel selections into their mem-
ories for the rest of their lives. The Viennese cartoonist Bil Spira, whose Drancy con-
voy was stopped in Cosel on September 6, 1942, completely omitted the selection in 
his autobiography penned over fifty years later. He merely described his arrival in the 
Sakrau (Zakrzów) transit camp. Ernest Koenig, who also was on this transport, wrote 
his memoirs around the same time. Contrary to Spira, he gave a detailed account of 
the SS men’s crude acts of violence, which culminated in the murder of a little girl who 
had accidentally gotten off the train during the selection process. Spira, like many oth-
ers, seems to have suppressed his traumatic memories. 47

The testimony of Léon Zyguel is an even more tragic example. The then teenage 
boy was pulled out of a Drancy convoy with his brother and father. Decades later, he 
went into schools to tell his story. He related the unscheduled stop, but then immedi-
ately jumped to the tattooing of his number in Auschwitz or one of its subcamps. He 
apparently fused the memory of the Cosel selection with that of his registration as an 
Auschwitz prisoner, which must have taken place two years later. He seemingly had no 
active recall of details of the Cosel stop and the internment in Schmelt camps that fol-
lowed, but nevertheless stressed that this had been a turning point in his life:

When we arrived in Poland, the doors were thrown open. To my fifteen-year-old 
mind, my life had been turned upside down. I didn’t know where I was. The inter-
preters arrived and told us: “All men aged between sixteen and fifty get off the train.” 
My father and my brother got off. I got off with them, and the train continued, carry-
ing off the elderly and the children, the women too. My sister, who had been arrested 
with us, was on that train that left for Auschwitz. We never saw her again. Like I was 
told, I went into the hut where the prisoner was, who was going to tattoo my num-
ber. I stepped up to him to tell him that I was Zyguel. I laid my arm down on the ta-
ble, like this, as he was looking at his lists and numbers. He told me “From now on, 
you’ll be 179084.” 48

The missing memories in both Bil Spira’s life writing and Léon Zyguel’s oral history 
report illustrate the destructive force of the Shoah and make the ongoing struggles 
of survivorship palpable. They were the result of a coping mechanism found in many 
Holocaust survivors, who repressed their traumatic memories for the sake of rebuild-
ing their lives. 49

Various camps administrated by the Reich Highway Company served as collection 
points for those selected in Cosel. The men traveled up to fifty miles on open trucks 
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driven by Dutchmen who had volunteered to work in Germany. The most frequently 
used transit camps were Sakrau (Zakrzów), Annaberg (Góra Świętej Anny), Johanns-
dorf ( Jaśkowice), and Ottmuth (Otmęt). 50 The western deportees were conspicuously 
kept off the usual transit points for Eastern Upper Silesian Jews in the ghettos of Sos-
nowiec and Będzin. The crucial role of the RAB as a key facilitator of the exploitation 
of Jewish forced labor is underscored here once more. The Highway Company’s rep-
resentative, Haunschild, visited transit camps on the same day, or the day after, trans-
ports had passed through Cosel, to register the men according to their professions. He 
had all the men lined up in front of him and made them walk. When asking for their 
professions, Haunschild ridiculed those with “typically Jewish” occupations, prompt-
ing some to state that they were farmers. Most of the deportees were distributed among 
Schmelt camps within the next few days or weeks. 51

The first group of Cosel men in Blechhammer stemmed from the transport that had 
left Westerbork on October 3 and was stopped in Cosel on October 5, 1942. Two hun-
dred men had been split between the Annaberg and Sakrau transit camps. The Sakrau 
group was transferred to Blechhammer on October 11, followed by the one from Anna-
berg on October 15. The first French deportees arrived in the beginning of the month via 
Ottmuth. Haunschild allocated 25 out of the 175 men extracted from the thirty-eighth 
convoy that had left Drancy on September 25, 1942, to Blechhammer. Haunschild to-
gether with Erich Hoffmann selected 150 carpenters in Niederkirch (Dolna) on Oc-
tober 14 and an extra 350 men from Johannsdorf on October 19. With the arrival of 
further Dutch Jews from Eichthal (Dąbrówka Górna) and Klein-Mangersdorf (Mag-
nuszowice) on December 4 and 5, the number of prisoners reached 900 in late 1942. 52 
Only a few barracks had been erected when the first groups arrived, and some of them 
were still inhabited by non-Jewish Polish and French laborers, who were gradually 
moved to Dorflager. One of the Jewish inmates’ first tasks was to fence in the new camp 
with barbed wire fetched from the deserted old camp for Jews. Under constant beatings 
by the guards, they built additional barracks and beds and made footpaths in the camp. 53

Especially the Dutch Jews had staggering death tolls in the first winter, not only due 
to the hard labor, but also because they could not adjust to the camp conditions men-
tally. A decisive factor was their lack of Polish language skills, which inhibited their in-
tegration into social networks the Polish Jews had established, for example to acquire 
and share extra food. The Dutch often felt discriminated against by Polish Jewish func-
tionaries and by the ethnic German overseers on the construction site, who tended to 
give out instructions in Polish. Unlike Polish Jews, who were still allowed to receive 
parcels from their relatives, the western Jews were barred from this lifeline. 54 Blech-
hammer was no exception in this respect. The Degussa plant at Gleiwitz, which had set 
up a Schmelt camp in spring 1942, canceled its plans for replacing Eastern Upper Sile-
sian Jews with western Jews, as most of the “Cosel men” were rated as unfit for work 
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by March 1943. They were removed from the camp and presumably murdered in Aus-
chwitz. Jews from the Sosnowiec ghetto replaced them. 55

P OL ICE GUA R D V IOL E NCE A N D I T S PROL I F E R AT ION 
T H ROUG H T H E S D SCHO OL BL ECH H A M M E R

Guard duty officer Walter Rettinghausen was assigned a deputy, whose identity remains 
unclear. He was a tall, gaunt man with bowlegs and a blunt face with a moustache, who 
came to Blechhammer from camp Ottmuth (Otmęt). The inmates called him “The 
Blue Angel,” as his face had become bluish from alcohol abuse, and “to be blue” in Ger-
man also means “to be drunk.” When he was intoxicated, he ferociously maltreated the 
inmates. 56 He often flogged prisoners to death. One of his victims was a former medi-
cal student from The Hague, whom he killed in this way because his body was covered 
in lice. When the prisoners returned from work, he stood at the camp gate dealing out 
blows “like a clockwork.” At night he chased them out of their barracks to check on 
the “cleanliness” of the beds. He had a peculiar habit of lowering his voice, rather than 
screaming, when addressing prisoners. 57

In late 1942, a so-called SD school (SD-Schule) was set up in Blechhammer. It 
served as a training center for order police guards and future male and female civilian 
camp leaders. The theoretical instructions were given in a barrack near the Jewish camp-
kitchen. The training, which lasted up to six weeks, also included “field lessons” in the 
camp. The main instructors were Schmelt’s deputy, Heinrich Lindner, and a police of-
ficer named Knauer. 58 Knauer’s identity could never be verified, but he was closely con-
nected to Lindner, with whom he regularly inspected camps. In early 1943 Knauer was 
replaced by SS Sturmbannführer Knoll, a member of the SD and the Schmelt Office. 59

The survivor Salomon Lierens related his encounter with a class of policemen who 
were led around Blechhammer: “There was a special barrack, the Lehrschulbaracke, 
where the gentlemen were instructed how to get the highest productivity out of us on 
the smallest food rations. They made excursions around the camp with twenty to thirty 
men of the Grüne Polizei. People were dying like rats, but they had enough human ma-
terial to replace them immediately.” 60

The expansion of the Nazi apparatus of oppression, coupled with men being drafted 
to the front, increasingly caused the regime to draw on women, especially after the col-
lapse of the eastern front in 1942–43. 61 The Schmelt Office thus began to install female 
camp leaders in camps for women. One of them was Margarethe Neugebauer. Born 
in Breslau in 1906, she had been conscripted to Luftwaffenbaupark Ost by an employ-
ment agency in June 1943 and accepted the offer to become the camp leader of Klet-
tendorf. Prior to her appointment, she attended a three-day course in Blechhammer’s 
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SD school. In a court hearing in 1962, Neugebauer stated that Knoll had advised his 
students to treat the inmates with absolute ruthlessness, irrespective of their physical 
state. Camp leaders were to list inmates for Auschwitz transports if they were ill, were 
unfit for work, or had transgressed rules. Neugebauer professed ignorance of the fate 
of the female prisoners she had selected for Auschwitz. It can nonetheless be gleaned 
from her statements that female camp leaders were equally familiar with the practice 
of water-induced murders. Although it was hardly the place for a budding romance, 
she started an affair with Heinrich Lindner during the training in Blechhammer, and 
they eventually got married. Her career went smoothly, and she soon took over camp 
Güntherbrücke (Swojczyce). 62

The SD schools are an entirely unexplored field. Therefore, it is unknown how 
many schools existed, when they were introduced, and whether they were restricted 
to Schmelt’s system. In addition to fostering the police guards’ collaborative function-
ing in the Holocaust, the training of civilians in selections and murders seems to have 
been a preparatory step in the planned withdrawal of the order police from the Schmelt 
camps to make them available for newly formed rapid response units. 63 By training ci-
vilian camp leaders, the school propagated the police guards’ violence. Blechhammer’s 
role in the recruitment of civilians for tasks directly connected to the Final Solution 
is exemplified here.

The establishment of the SD school also exacerbated the guards’ brutality, who had 
license to punish or kill prisoners without permission from a superior authority. The 
school’s instructor, Knauer, was placed in Blechhammer permanently. He mistreated 
the prisoners during work and encouraged Hoffmann to attain high productivity by 
laying into work details. 64 The prisoners were often beaten for petty infractions, such as 
not having shined their shoes or wearing filthy clothes, even though it was well known 
to the guards that they had neither shoe polish nor soap. One inmate was flogged sim-
ply because he had forgotten to put on his cap when queuing for the evening soup. 65 An 
average forty prisoners had to report to the police guards each night for alleged trans-
gressions during work. They were dealt up to one hundred whip lashes. By contrast, typ-
ical floggings under the Auschwitz administration did not exceed twenty-five lashes. 66 
Work details were also collectively punished, for example if individual prisoners had 
been caught smoking at work. 67 In October 1942 newly arrived inmates were ordered 
to empty a latrine with buckets. One of the inmates slipped while holding a full bucket 
in his hands, and a supervising police guard was soiled. Infuriated, the guard tossed the 
inmate into the open trench of the latrine, from which he was unable to extricate him-
self. Rescue attempts by a fellow prisoner were stopped by the guard, and the inmate 
slowly drowned in the excrement. 68

After schooling in violence in Blechhammer, a police guard named Pietsch was ap-
pointed guard duty officer of a new Schmelt camp in Seibersdorf by Lindner in fall 1942. 
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The grocer from Neisse (Nysa) was a member of the Sipo and an officer of the reserve 
army. The inmates described him as a “fanatic anti-Semite” and nicknamed him “The 
One with the Whip,” as he incessantly made use of his riding whip. In Seibersdorf, he 
was infamous for ill-treating the sick. 69 The police veterans tended to be more lenient. 
The inmates even had a laugh with a sixty-three-year-old police guard with a hunchback, 
who shouldered an old-fashioned rifle that appeared bigger than himself. To tease him, 
the inmates marched along very fast, as the old man could hardly keep up. 70

Rettinghausen prepared Hoffmann for the time after the police’s departure by let-
ting him assist in the water-induced murders committed in the washroom barrack each 
night. 71 The camp leader was nonetheless susceptible to bribery. The Jewish elder thus 
managed to save five prisoners Hoffmann intended to murder for having written let-
ters about the conditions in the camp. 72

T H E E X PA NS ION OF T H E C A M P ’ S 
I N F R A S T RUC T U R E DU R I NG T H E “FA L L PE A K ”

In preparation for the camp’s projected enlargement it was staffed up, and the infra-
structure was adjusted accordingly. The Cosel stops and the start of deportations in the 
ghettos led to a massive influx of new prisoners into Schmelt’s system, which Gutter-
man referred to as the “fall peak.” Blechhammer’s inmate population doubled, from 
nine hundred in December 1942 to about two thousand in spring 1943. 73

The Jewish elder was given a deputy named Ems. The German Jewish veteran of the 
First World War had fled to the Netherlands after the Nazi rise to power. He was pulled 
out of a Westerbork convoy in Cosel and came to Blechhammer via Annaberg on Oc-
tober 16, 1942. The Schmelt Office staff appointed him because they liked his military, 
Prussian-style attire. Ems reputedly was a well-mannered intellectual who despised 
bribery, which is why he did not hold his post for long. He was made the superior of all 
heads of columns instead and tirelessly drilled the prisoners like soldiers. This earned 
him the nickname Yeke Potz, “German fool” in Yiddish. 74 In December 1942, a Dutch 
Jew with Polish roots called Jozef Niewes (also Piet Nieuwes) became the new deputy. 
Niewes, born in Slachzince in 1894, had emigrated to the Netherlands and became a 
renowned manufacturer of hats in Amsterdam. When the Germans invaded the coun-
try in 1940, his factory was expropriated, and he fled to southern France. Niewes was 
deported from Drancy to Auschwitz in August 1942. When the train was stopped in 
Cosel, Heinrich Lindner first appointed him as Jewish elder of camp Annaberg, then 
sent him to Blechhammer. He was put in charge of all camp personnel and the kitchen, 
while Demerer oversaw the prisoners’ work deployment. 75 Niewes was a polarizing fig-
ure described by a survivor as “a combination of a merchant and a thief.” 76
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Niewes replaced the previous Jewish cook, who was blamed for reselling camp 
provisions to local farmers, with two new ones, Grynzeiger and Szmulek Band from 
Oświęcim. Especially Band was infamous for his short temper and authoritarian lead-
ership style toward the female kitchen staff.  77 Both cooks infuriated fellow inmates, 
who called them “murderers,” as they sold the margarine intended to be used in the 
soup to certain prisoners for money. 78 A new camp kitchen comprising three barracks 
was ready in October 1942. It could only be accessed via a neighboring camp for female 
Soviet workers. Until it had been completed, the prisoners, much to Hoffmann’s dis-
like, enjoyed a short period of high-quality meals allocated by a German staff canteen. 
Later their diet consisted of unpeeled potatoes in a soup made of spinach and pearl bar-
ley. 79 The bread rations were raised from two hundred to three hundred grams, served 
with a topping of margarine or molasses. Apart from a fortnightly distribution of milk, 
no dairy products were handed out, even though butter and soft cheese were made in 
the camp. In fall, pumpkins, white cabbage, and beetroots supplemented their diet. 
On special occasions, like Hitler’s birthday, the soup contained pieces of meat. 80 As 
in most camps, the bread rations for the following day were handed out with the eve-
ning soup. As only few had enough self-discipline to retain some of that bread for the 
next day, most inmates were marched to work on an empty stomach and devoured the 
lunchtime soup the OHW had introduced in July 1942 to boost work performance. 
Made of rotten vegetables, the OHW’s “bunker soup” notoriously caused digestive 
problems and edema. Instead of increasing the prisoners’ productivity, the extra meal 
thus merely exacerbated their physical state. This notwithstanding, the OHW charged 
contracting firms, who were obligated to supply their Jewish workers with the broth, 
0.10 RM per portion. 81

Hoffmann aggravated the food situation by mismanagement and embezzlement. 
He often procured large quantities of perishable goods, which soon began to decay, 
and not only resold food but misappropriated ration stamps the OHW issued to the 
prisoners. 82 Low wages and poor accommodation made the Highway Company an 
unattractive employer; thus those who signed up as camp leaders often had previous 
convictions or were alcoholics. The RAB was forced to dismiss a camp leader for embez-
zlement or permanent intoxication practically every month. Their dishonesty further 
diminished the survival chances of the prisoners, who depended on the rations. Most 
companies nevertheless refrained from reporting them to the police to avoid public 
scandal. 83 In one exceptional case, the Gestapo arrested the camp leader of Sackenhoym 
for distilling alcohol from the prisoners’ sugar allocations. 84 Under the Auschwitz ad-
ministration, the Blechhammer inmates not only received higher standard rations on 
paper, but they were also more likely to find them in their bowls. 85

Mimicking the Jewish ghetto militia, the Schmelt Office used Jewish policemen 
(Lagerpolizisten) to supervise the prisoners. Blechhammer’s two Jewish policemen, 
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Dennenbaum and Rauch, wore caps with a white band and were armed with whips. 
In the “gray zone” between the German camp leadership and the prisoners, they each 
chose a different path. 86 Jumbo Dennenbaum was one of the few Jewish survivors of 
the railroad construction works in Russia organized by Organisation Todt in winter 
1941–42. 87 After his recovery, he was sent to Blechhammer in fall 1942 to serve as a 
shoemaker and camp policeman. Jumbo was popular, as he used his controversial po-
sition to help other inmates. When he was ordered to flog a prisoner in the washroom 
barrack, he only pretended to hit him. By whipping the sink, Jumbo created a typical 
noise for the German police guard, who usually waited outside. He told his victims to 
scream as loudly as possible and to hold their backs as if they were in great pain after-
ward. 88 Rauch, by contrast, dealt out real blows and was considered a “sadist” by fel-
low inmates. 89 In the evenings he punished those he caught queuing for a second help-
ing of soup. 90 The teenage inmate Wolf W., who served as Rauch’s calfactor, reported 
that he had mistreated him. 91 Rauch also assisted the police guards and Hoffmann in 
water-induced murders and was ordered to strangle a female inmate. 92 He was installed 
as a head of a column in camp Landeshut (Kamienna Góra) in spring 1944. After the 
war, Rauch was allegedly put on trial, and he was executed in Paris. 93

Toward the end of 1942 the construction of the OHW plant had progressed, and 
more and more contracting companies were demanding to be allocated Jewish work-
ers. A new detail was formed in response to each of these requests. The work details, 
comprising about fifty men, were supervised by Jewish heads of columns (Kolonnen-
vorstände), equivalent to head Kapos in the concentration camp system. They were as-
sisted by foremen (Schieber) and were installed or dismissed by the Jewish elder and 
the camp leader. A certain percentage of the prisoners were offered this position due to 
their formerly privileged social status. All heads of columns donned riding breeches and 
boots and carried a whip. Demerer tried to keep beatings to a minimum and occasion-
ally took away their whips. Nevertheless, the pressure to maintain a high pace at work 
under the scrutiny of German overseers left most heads of columns no other choice than 
to maltreat their comrades. Their dilemma was an intrinsic part of the Nazis’ strategy 
to break up solidarity among the prisoners. Therefore, some declined such positions. 94 
On Sundays, the heads assembled for a special roll call parade in particularly elegant 
clothing. To the ordinary inmates, whose civilian clothes had been reduced to filthy 
rags, this demonstration exemplified the vast social divide within the camp population. 95

However, individual heads of columns, like Joseph (“Jopie”) Braasem, gained the 
sympathy of their comrades. Born in Amsterdam in 1919, he had been deported from 
Westerbork on September 7, 1942. He came to Blechhammer in October 1942 from 
Ottmuth and was soon appointed as the head of a column. Braasem had been a boxer 
and was a real muscleman, whose strength even impressed the Germans. He succeeded 
in making them believe that he was very tough on fellow inmates when, in fact, he only 
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pretended to hit them. Like Jumbo the policeman, Braasem told his victims to scream, 
while hardly touching them. 96 His way of tricking the Germans inspired others and, 
contrary to the intended dehumanizing effect of the floggings, this particular “whip-
per” renewed their moral strength: “He managed to satisfy the sadistic Nazi supervi-
sors with a deceptive display of flogging which did not harm the victim badly. He always 
managed to build up a sweat and pretended to breathe heavily during the whipping acts 
to deceive the Nazi supervisors that he applied the full force of the whip.” 97 Only a few 
of the punishing functionary prisoners could act as convincingly as Braasem. This of-
ten resulted in collective punishment by Hoffmann or Knauer. 98

The sanitary facilities remained primitive, with only three washroom barracks fitted 
with basins, and no showers. At least three hundred men were forced to share a wash-
room, and it was of little use that two medical orderlies were ordered to check on the 
prisoners’ personal hygiene in the mornings, since the men could barely clean their up-
per bodies. As the growing number of inmates overburdened the laundry, their clothes 
were only irregularly washed and propelled the spread of body lice and fleas. Despite 
frequent disinfection, the latrines remained a source of infectious diseases. 99 Every 
Sunday the prisoners, usually those considered “intellectuals,” had to empty them us-
ing buckets. 100

Following the dysentery outbreak, Dr. Ritter was permanently installed as camp 
physician. His predecessor, the dentist and “paramedic” Wallner, was transferred to 
Brande (Prądy). Wallner was deported to Auschwitz when the Jewish hospital in Sos-
nowiec, where he had been a patient, was liquidated in summer 1943. 101 Blechhammer’s 
small dental practice was taken over by Maurice Perlman, a Romanian Jew from Paris, 
who was among the first French “Cosel men” imported into the camp in early Octo-
ber 1942. 102 Dr. Ritter was loathed for making use of the riding whip handed out to all 
Jewish physicians by the police guard duty officers to force inmates in need of treat-
ment out of the infirmary. 103 The physicians were under no obligation to comply with 
Schmelt’s instructions to hit their patients. In Brande, for instance, the Jewish doctors 
only used their whips for beating dust out of jackets. 104

The infirmary continued to suffer from a chronic lack of medicines and equipment. 
Camp leader Hoffmann deemed the bandaging of injured prisoners a “waste of mate-
rial,” as they were about to “go to the ovens” anyway. A newly arrived Westerbork de-
portee thus offered 300 RM to Demerer so he could clandestinely procure dressing 
material. 105 Similarly, when three female prisoners asked for painkillers in the infir-
mary, Hoffmann and guard duty officer Rettinghausen used this as a pretext for flog-
ging the women and the medical staff. Surgical instruments were extremely rare in 
Schmelt camps and were not even provided in urgent cases. In Blechhammer, a prison-
er’s crushed leg had to be amputated with an ordinary saw and an axe; the patient died a 
few days later. 106 In camp Markstädt (Laskowice), a kitchen knife was used for surgery. 107
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With the launch of mass deportations from the Eastern Upper Silesian ghettos 
in 1942, the referral of Schmelt prisoners to the Jewish hospital of Sosnowiec was no 
longer permitted. 108 In late October 1942, the Schmelt Office purported that admit-
tance to the hospital was impossible due to “overcrowding.” 109 Around the same time, 
Haunschild instructed prisoner physicians in Brande that treatment in the Jewish hos-
pital was now out of the question. This order meant certain death for critical patients, 
who were simply taken to Auschwitz henceforth: “Anyone who does not get back to 
their feet here, must die. If anybody needs surgery you cannot perform in the camp, dis-
card of them, we have got plenty of that stuff !” 110

In October and November 1942, so-called camps for the sick and convalescent 
(Kranken- und Erholungslager) were established in some Schmelt camps like Ottmuth 
and Annaberg, which were meant to partly take over the Jewish hospital’s functions. 
Admittance was restricted to sick or injured prisoners expected to regain their full abil-
ity to work within a short span of time. As those not recuperating fast enough were 
killed in Auschwitz, only a small fraction survived these facilities. 111

The prisoners who died in Blechhammer, mostly as a result of camp killings by Ret-
tinghausen and Hoffmann, were now buried in a spot in the forest about 500 meters 
from the new camp. The owner of the land, Prince Hohenlohe, permitted the estab-
lishment of a designated Jewish cemetery that was marked by a sign with the Star of 
David. Next to Abram Blachinskzi, a camp shoemaker commonly known as der shis-
ter, three “Cosel men” from the Netherlands volunteered for the burial detail: Arthur 
Salomons, Salomon Lierens, and Hartog Ereira. The detail was free to perform burial 
rites and was not supervised at the graveyard. The men wrapped the bodies in a blanket 

Jewish “graveyard” in the forest near Blechhammer after the war. 
(Source: “The Jewish Graveyard,” APMO)
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before lowering them into a 1.8-meter-deep excavation with a foundation of sand and 
pine branches. They also placed pine branches on the faces of the deceased and then 
covered them with earth. Finally, the grave was marked by a wooden board with the 
person’s name, date of birth, and date of death. 112 When a Polish War Crimes Commis-
sion inspected the graveyard after the war, many name plates were still legible and facil-
itated the identification of the victims. 113

“ NO SP ORT FOR T H E M A L NOU R I SH E D”: 
L A B OR I NG ON T H E OH W S I T E

Construction at the OHW synthetic fuel plant was 30 percent complete in late 1942. 
Jewish prisoners predominantly cleared forests for new buildings, paved roads, and con-
structed fuel tanks and railroad lines. Due to personnel shortages, the OHW required 
them to work on two Sundays a month. They typically had to unload building material 
then. 114 While working winter hours, they rose at 4:00 a.m. and were allocated to de-
tails during the roll call one hour later. Many weakened prisoners seized this opportu-
nity to slip into a different detail assigned to lighter work. 115 Details performing piece-
work especially had high death tolls, as the unloading of cement sacks and other heavy 
material was strictly supervised by the police guards and foremen, who demanded a 
fast pace. There were no breaks until the task had been finished, which caused many 
inmates to collapse. Teenagers in particular were at high risk of dying of exhaustion. 116

Skilled workers were in great demand. The Highway Company’s representative, 
Haunschild, and camp leader Hoffmann frequently combed other Schmelt camps for 
such experts, who were promised cigarettes and better clothes. The latter consisted of 
old Czech military uniforms, worn by members of Organisation Todt since the out-
break of war. Later they were clad in black uniforms with a sewn-on white Star of Da-
vid. 117 Regular prisoners often pretended to be skilled laborers, as the latter had more 
favorable working conditions and received larger food rations. Contractors like AEG 
therefore tested the inmates’ work before accepting them. A Jewish crane operator 
even oversaw one hundred British POWs and Wehrmacht prisoners, until a works po-
liceman complained to the OHW about the inappropriateness of a Jew commanding 
non-Jews. The prisoner was sent to a penal commando unit as a result. 118

Altogether, the treatment and workload of skilled and unskilled Jewish laborers did 
not differ significantly. As the French Jewish survivor Etienne Rosenfeld pointed out, 
even skilled work was “no sport for the malnourished.” Rosenfeld fought a fruitless bat-
tle with his German overseer to treat him more respectfully. He ignored the master’s 
orders when he addressed him as a “bloody Jew,” only to be viciously maltreated each 
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time. His courage notwithstanding, he had soon earned himself the dubious reputa-
tion of being “the most beaten man” in the camp. 119

German engineers were entitled to have Jewish calfactors for stocking stoves and 
cleaning their offices. Regular German workers also required them to heat up their 
lunch and do their dishes in return for food leftovers. This practice exemplifies the low 
status of Jewish prisoners, who were considered “servants” or even “slaves” by the Ger-
man workforce. 120 Calfactor jobs were occasionally offered as a “reward” to prisoners, 
as they involved only light work. The Dutch “Cosel man” Jonas Pampel, who was ac-
claimed for his enormous physical strength, was one of them. With unease he noted 
that “while I sat there, I saw the others perishing, and I only had to stock the stove and 
heat up the soup.” 121

“G ET R I D OF T H I S T R A SH! ”:  T H E I N T E NS I F IC AT ION 
OF AUSCH W I T Z T R A NSP ORT S

In late 1942 Rettinghausen and Hoffmann sent an average of two hundred prisoners 
to Auschwitz each month. They added fit prisoners to the sick for alleged “transgres-
sions.” When a transport left Blechhammer, Rettinghausen once drily remarked: “Get 
rid of this trash!” 122

When Schmelt’s deputy Lindner was in the camp, he also listed female prisoners 
he deemed unfit, or “bad” workers for Auschwitz. Ida Frydman, who worked in the 
kitchen, narrowly escaped this fate. Like many other women, she suffered from edema 
in her legs, as they had to stand all day. Barely able to walk, she had remained in her 
barrack one day, when Linder suddenly inspected the camp. She was saved by fellow 
inmates, who immediately carried her into the kitchen and concealed her swollen legs 
with a potato sack. 123 On another occasion, Lindner supervised a roll call in the women’s 
camp and made every tenth female prisoner step forward. The women were sent to Aus-
chwitz despite being fit for work. These murders must be classified as gender-specific, 
as there were no selections of this kind in the men’s camp. 124

In stark contrast to Auschwitz subcamps, a private driving company called Hancke 
was hired to take the selected prisoners to Auschwitz. The drivers received a list with 
the names of the prisoners they should hand over to the Auschwitz administration. In 
winter, many emaciated inmates froze to death during the ride on open trucks, as their 
shoes and clothes had been taken away. 125 The drivers thus invariably became accessories 
to their murder. This practice underscores two characteristics of the Schmelt camp sys-
tem: first, the large-scale involvement of civilians in the genocide, and second, a rather 
careless, overt demonstration of the ongoing mass murder of the Jews.
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A novel development was the addition of unfit prisoners to western deportation 
convoys during the illicit Cosel stops between October and December 1942. Blech-
hammer seized this opportunity to transport infirmary patients to Auschwitz on De-
cember 5, 1942. 126 They were exchanged for male deportees on a Westerbork convoy 
reaching Auschwitz in the early hours of December 6. Danuta Czech stated that out of 
the 811 listed passengers on the train, 795 were instantly murdered in the gas chambers. 127 
However, it is important to keep in mind that during this particular time, Schmelt in-
mates died in Auschwitz alongside or instead of those named on the deportation lists.
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“R AT I O NA L I Z AT I O N ” 
O R A N N I H I L AT I O N?

The Camp at the Intersection of Two 
Conflicting Policies in 1943

I n 1943 the Schmelt camps were at the intersection of Speer’s “ratio-
nalization” efforts to gain more Jewish workers for the war economy and the full-
scale implementation of the Final Solution in Eastern Upper Silesia. These seem-

ingly conflicting policies, on the one hand, led to a concentration of Schmelt prisoners 
in Blechhammer, while most other camps were disbanded. On the other hand, Blech-
hammer began to play a decisive role in the organized mass murder of the Jewish ghetto 
population and the killing of sick and unfit Schmelt camp inmates. The exchange of 
the police guards for Wehrmacht soldiers applied to both developments. The police-
men were needed to carry out ghetto liquidations and deportations, whereas the sol-
diers facilitated the continuing exploitation of Jewish labor.

T H E W I T H DR AWA L OF T H E OR DE R P OL ICE GUA R DS

In February 1943 Wehrmacht soldiers replaced the police guards of Blechhhammer to 
make them available for new tasks. Their guard duty in Schmelt camps had only been 
an episode in the police forces’ long-standing collaboration in the Holocaust.

Special police battalions were formed in Poland in September 1939, comprising ac-
tive and veteran order police officers. They carried out mass shootings and executions 
alongside the SD killing squads (Einsatzgruppen), escorted deportation convoys, and 
guarded camps and ghettos. 1 In an effort to augment their ranks, Hitler decreed the 
establishment of police training battalions. As policemen were not conscripted to the 
front, there were many volunteers. An astonishing twenty-six thousand men joined 
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the training battalion set up in Silesia in October 1939 alone. After one year of mili-
tary drill and ideological schooling, outstanding marksmen among them were drafted 
into the police battalions. Starting in September 1941, Himmler replaced SS police di-
visions supporting Waffen-SS units with police battalions. In the annexed territories, 
auxiliary police forces were included in this policy. In addition to front service, the po-
lice battalions were once more involved in mass killings of civilians. 2

Preserved fragments of correspondence between HSSPF Schmauser and Himmler 
in April 1942 corroborate that they had plans for assigning the 233 policemen, and 169 
veterans currently on guard duty in Schmelt camps to these battalions. Schmauser went 
to great lengths to withhold his police guards, arguing that their authoritarian leader-
ship style could not be exuded by civilians in a comparable manner and that their with-
drawal would not merely sabotage German war production in general but Minister 
Speer’s “giant” new project at Blechhammer in particular. 3 Schmauser eventually suc-
ceeded in retaining the police guards for almost another year.

The chief of the order police, Daluege, called for the transformation of police battal-
ions into rapid response units, so-called police guard battalions (Polizei-Wachbataillone). 
They should facilitate more flexible deployments in areas considered vital to the war ef-
fort, such as combating sabotage and espionage and hunting down escaped POWs. At 
the same time, normal policing was to be reduced to a minimum. Daluege ordered ev-
ery inspector of the order police to set up at least one guard battalion in his district by 
drawing on all available police officers, the students of police academies, and Eastern 
European auxiliaries. On September 29, 1942, Schmauser reported to Schmelt the for-
mation of guard battalion number I of Silesia, commanded by Major Zauner of Kat-
towitz. Its four divisions were recruited from staff of the police administrations of Sos-
nowiec, Gleiwitz, Oppeln, Troppau, and Breslau, as well as the police veterans’ academy 
of Bunzlau. Altogether, there were 109 men equipped with eighty-five rifles, six sub-
machine and machine guns, and twelve bicycles. They had already been sent to Lem-
berg (Lvov) and Tarnopol to carry out raids and suppress “revolts” in POW camps. 4

In a meeting between Schmauser and Schmelt on November 28, 1942, Schmelt in-
sisted on deploying one section of the Oppeln division of the guard battalion in the an-
nexed regions Warthenau, Loben, and Blachstädt from December, to reinforce local po-
lice combating partisans. 5 The training of new recruits had been adapted to the altered 
requirements. Curricula now included the subject of “evacuations,” a euphemism for 
deportations of the Jewish population. 6 In February 1943 the Silesian guard battalion 
was transferred to Warsaw and Marseille, the first of several deployments outside Sile-
sia. 7 It was then that Schmauser’s policemen were finally pulled out of Blechhammer to 
serve in the guard battalion. In October 1943 they were sent to the former Warthenau 
(Zawiercie) ghetto, which had been liquidated on August 20, 1943, to protect confis-
cated Jewish property against “looting partisans.” 8 Fighting alleged “partisans” was usu-
ally a pretext for mass killings of civilians. In total, at least 130 police and police guard 
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battalions are known to have existed during the Second World War, and it is estimated 
that they participated in the murder of up to half a million people. 9

To Speer’s Ministry of Armaments and War Production, finding replacements for 
the police guards became a top priority. The Schmelt Office promptly required new 
personnel, not only to ensure the continued work deployment of Jews in the already 
existing industrial camps, but also to realize Speer’s plans for intensifying the exploita-
tion of Jewish labor even further. Speer’s idea to use convalescents and veterans of the 
Wehrmacht did not resonate well with Himmler. He nevertheless received Himmler’s 
permission to try out the new scheme in Schmelt camps, as they operated outside of 
the concentration camp system. The Schmelt camps thus spearheaded the use of sol-
diers as guards. By December 1943 Speer had convinced Himmler to deploy soldiers in 
concentration camps to mitigate the increasing lack of SS personnel in the rapidly ex-
panding subcamp systems. 10

Contrary to the policemen, the Wehrmacht guards were not to interfere with the 
internal affairs of the Schmelt camp administrations. In Blechhammer they were not 
permitted to enter the camp compound, but merely oversaw the territory from watch-
towers to prevent escapes. Direct contacts with the prisoners only occurred when the 
soldiers escorted them to the factory and supervised work details. They were not autho-
rized to reprimand the inmates. 11 A single police representative nonetheless remained 
in the camp. Seemingly the concept of a dual camp leadership split between a police 
guard duty officer (Wachhabender) and a civilian administrator was not affected by 
the police’s general withdrawal. This presumably pertained to the police’s monopoly 
on all Jewish affairs. Similarly, the presence of a Gestapo officer was obligatory in con-
centration camps. 12

Blechhammer’s previous guard duty officer, Rettinghausen, was promoted to 
inspector-general of the Schmelt camps in Silesia. Unlike Rettinghausen, who had been 
infamous for torturing prisoners to death, his successor, Hauptwachtmeister Mareck, 
was very restrained. Therefore most Blechhammer inmates perceived the exchange of 
the order police as a considerable improvement. Aside from camp leader Erich Hoff-
mann’s outbursts of violence, life in Blechhammer became notably quieter and more 
predictable. 13

The Wehrmacht guards were either aged veterans or convalescents, who went back 
to the front as soon as they had recovered. Owing to their relatively short tenure in 
the camp, the names of individual guards were rarely corroborated by survivor testi-
monies. The soldiers’ attitudes toward the prisoners varied markedly, ranging from in-
difference to supportiveness to hostility. Some reportedly mistreated prisoners during 
work. However, in contrast to the policemen’s overt brutality, assaults by soldiers were 
not the rule. 14 The elderly, physically impaired veterans tended to be more passive, ex-
cept for an eighty-year-old who, despite having difficulties walking, dealt out blows 
incessantly. 15 The guards’ swift relocation to the front usually prevented them from 
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reporting prisoners for infractions. Notwithstanding the prohibition against maltreat-
ing prisoners, some soldiers reprimanded transgressions on the spot by forcing the Jew-
ish heads of column to mete out the punishment. 16 The soldiers also found themselves 
under considerable pressure to maintain a high level of productivity in their details. If 
they appeared too lax, German foremen could report them. 17

A certain proportion of the guards openly demonstrated their opposition to the 
Nazi regime. When soldiers escorting prisoners to work overheard them saying that the 
acronym for Oberschlesische Hydrierwerke, OHW, stood for Ohne Hoffnung weiter 
(continue without hope), they comforted the prisoners by changing it to Ohne Hitler 
weiter (continue without Hitler). 18 Two survivors independently confirmed that a com-
manding Wehrmacht officer intervened in the collective flogging of Jewish camp phy-
sicians ordered by Hoffmann in summer 1943. He instructed the camp leader that the 
Wehrmacht would not tolerate the ill-treatment of prisoners. Two days later he was re-
moved from his post. 19 It is hard to generalize about the knowledge soldiers deployed in 
Schmelt camps had of the Holocaust. Contrary to the SS and police forces, Wehrmacht 
soldiers received no ideological training. Therefore, this category of guards demon-
strated a wide behavioral spectrum. 20 Dr. Wollenberg, a German Jewish physician and 
veteran of the First World War who served as a “paramedic” on the construction site, 
dared to discuss the Final Solution with a group of soldiers. During work breaks, they 
sat together in a hut Wollenberg was supposed to heat. One day the guards spoke of 
their apprehension about returning to the front and remarked to Wollenberg how lucky 
he was to lead a “carefree life” in the camp. When he told them about the selections for 
Auschwitz, the soldiers became quiet. 21

“ T H E M A I N T H I NG I S  TO K E E P T H E CH I M N E Y S 
SMOK I NG ”:  E N FORCI NG A H IG H E R PRODUC T I V I T Y

From 1942 Speer endeavored to boost the war production by reorganizing resources 
and manpower. 22 His “rationalization efforts” palpably reverberated throughout the 
OHW’s work routines.

As of spring 1943, the engineer Otto Stoltzenburg managed the deployment of 
foreign and unfree labor at the OHW on behalf of the Highway Company’s build-
ing supervisory board in Breslau. He acted as an intermediary between camp leader 
Hoffmann and the OHW personnel office headed by Dr. Schlick. The group leader 
of the Nazi Party, who followed the credo that the most important thing was “to keep 
the chimneys smoking,” was infamous for his cruel treatment of foreign and unfree 
workers. 23 Moreover, the sweeping order to draft all German masters and foremen 
into the voluntary works police increased the pressure on these laborers, whose work 
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performance and overall conduct were constantly monitored. 24 In April 1943 Stoltzen-
burg informed the OHW that it would be allocated five hundred Jewish electricians 
and electrician helpers, who were deemed crucial to the progress of construction works, 
from the General Government. As the Jewish electricians had to be detained separately 
from the “western” Jews, the OHW negotiated with Prince Hohenlohe the lease of an 
extra 6.2 hectares of woodland adjacent to the present camp. He agreed but prohibited 
complete deforestation. 25 The prisoners therefore called this camp section “Abessynia,” 
as it was so densely forested. It comprised barracks twenty-six to thirty-two. 26 There 
were now about twenty-five hundred prisoners in the Bahnhoflager compound for Jews. 
The rest of the area was inhabited by Polish and Italian workers. 27 Blechhammer held 
approximately 5 percent of the 50,570 Jewish prisoners in Schmelt camps accounted 
for in early 1943. 28 In the course of the year, the influx of further inmates from dis-
banded Schmelt camps increased Blechhammer’s Jewish prisoner population to about 
thirty-two hundred, making them the largest group of foreign and unfree laborers, rep-
resenting 16 percent of the total OHW workforce. These figures stress the growing im-
portance of Jewish labor in the Silesian war economy. 29

The daily workload of all laborers increased significantly. In late 1943 Dr. Urbanek 
of the OHW social department noted that the forty-eight-hour week had largely been 
replaced by a sixty-hour week, plus overtime. He added that entrepreneurs in Aus-
chwitz had introduced the sixty-hour week from the start. 30 The Jewish inmates worked 
up to twelve hours daily. They were granted a twenty-minute lunch break, providing 
there was no urgent work to be done. Visits to the latrines required the permission of 
the Wehrmacht guards, who checked how long the prisoners were absent and some-
times refused to let them go at all. Occasionally heavy rainfalls provided a welcome in-
terruption of the work. When the rain set in while they were at the plant, the inmates 
were allowed to shelter in buildings under construction. If bad weather conditions pre-
vented the details from leaving the camp, they were assigned to alleged “maintenance 
work,” while Hoffmann lived out his sadistic urges, such as by forcing them to crawl 
in the mud. 31 A newly introduced roster required the Jewish prisoners, inmates of the 
work education camp (AEL), and French POWs to alternately work on one Sunday 
every three weeks. 32 However, instead of granting the prisoners some urgently needed 
rest on those Sundays off work, they were given chores around the camp. In June 1942 
the SS WVHA decreed that concentration camp prisoners should work part-time on 
Sundays. If companies ran no regular Sunday shifts, they were to do maintenance work 
in the camp. Schmelt camps seem to have complied with this stipulation. In addition 
to giving them the extra work, Hoffmann seized every opportunity to maltreat them. 
On one Sunday the intoxicated camp leader was exasperated to see a group of inmates 
sunbathing in front of their barrack. He started to chase them with a club, yelling, “So, 
you bloody gits think I will let you become fat from being idle!” Whoever could not 
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run away fast enough was severely beaten, and numerous emaciated inmates died of 
exhaustion in the process. 33

The amount of work inexorably consumed the strength of the malnourished pris-
oners. Many developed hunger edemas, which made every step painful and put them 
at great risk of being sent to Auschwitz. During the morning roll call, the heads of col-
umns encouraged weakened inmates to leave their detail, not out of sympathy, but 
rather to rid themselves of the burden of driving them on all day and attracting the 
guards’ attention. 34 The Jewish elder Demerer at times placed convalescents in columns 
with a lighter workload. He thus saved the life of a prisoner suffering from pneumonia 
who had been urged to leave the infirmary after only two days due to an impending se-
lection. 35 Prospects were bleak for inmates in a state of physical and mental deteriora-
tion who were unable to leave a heavy workers’ column, especially if they had a ruthless 
German overseer. They simply collapsed from exhaustion. The survivor Leo Weiniger 
delineated how he saw his comrades being worked to death while struggling for his own 
life: “With a clear mind and a bleeding heart, I registered this indescribable misery and 
suffering. But I was helpless myself, and too weak to lift my feet, shuffling along, bent 
with back pain. My age was estimated at forty years, and I was twenty-four years old. 
But I was not ready to die like a dog, and without a grave, not before I had witnessed 
the defeat of the monsters who, slowly but surely, let us perish.” 36

During an annual meeting of Silesian industrialists in November 1943, the output 
factor for Jewish labor was lowered to 50 percent, 10 percent less than in the previous 
year. 37 Around the same time, Oswald Pohl of the WVHA instructed the commandants 
of concentration camps to support the war effort by increasing the food rations and 
ameliorating the overall conditions for the prisoners. He nevertheless made it clear that 
this was not done on humanitarian grounds, but simply to exploit their bodies more 
effectively: “We need to be concerned about the prisoners’ well-being, not out of false 
mawkishness, but because we require them with their arms and legs, because they must 
contribute to enabling the German people to win a great victory.” 38

It is obvious that Pohl merely paid lip service to Speer in this matter. Moreover, as 
commandants could reshape or ignore superior orders at their discretion, these im-
provements largely remained on paper. 39 In the Schmelt camps, the food allocations 
stayed below the standard rations of concentration camp prisoners. 40 In Blechhammer, 
mismanagement led to a temporary abundance of food in spring 1943. Having cut down 
the potato allocations in the year before at the expense of the prisoners’ lives, Hoffmann 
suddenly had great contingents left when new potatoes were delivered. For two weeks 
he granted unlimited access to the potato cellar. Tragically, many prisoners died as a re-
sult of hyperphagia during this time. 41 Toward the end of the year the nutritional value 
of the already thin Blechhammer soup further decreased. It was made of unpeeled beet-
roots, and even the starving prisoners could hardly eat it. 42 The malnourishment caused 
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a pronounced obsession with food. If a prisoner happened to find solid particles in his 
soup, he showed them to the others, and they were counted and closely examined. The 
most talked about subject was nevertheless bread, as in most camps. 43

The winter of 1942–43 was particularly severe, and the death tolls soared due to a 
chronic shortage of clothes and shoes. The prisoners’ worn-out civilian clothes hardly 
offered any protection against the biting cold, and they were issued no gloves. More-
over, most of them were short of one piece of clothing or another. 44 The only source of 
fresh clothes was Auschwitz, whose administration put the belongings of murdered 
Eastern Upper Silesian Jews at the Schmelt Office’s disposal. The Highway Company 
encouraged its camp leaders to make use of these goods. 45 Leo Weiniger recounted 
the agony of being exposed to extreme weather conditions, which caused many of his 
comrades to die:

I had underpants, a vest, no socks, shoes with broken soles; I stood in the snow like 
that all day with my bare feet. To go along with this, I had a torn pair of trousers one 
could see my knees shining through, and a ripped shirt with missing sleeves. This is 
how I spent an entire Upper Silesian winter. All winter, day after day, we stood out-
doors in the snow and ice-cold wind, nearly frozen; the sensation of the soaking wet 
rags went through marrow and bone. Hundreds more stood there like me, but few 
are still alive to tell their story. 46

The gradual process of freezing to death typically started with a numbness in the 
extremities, and the victims ultimately collapsed. Their fate was sealed by the Wehr-
macht guards who, under constant beatings, forced them up and made them work un-
til they died. 47

The camp hierarchy imposed by the Germans was designed to divide the prison-
ers by giving functionaries certain privileges. 48 A widely visible, distinctive feature of 
functionary prisoners was their proper appearance. The two Jewish elders Demerer 
and Niewes wore tailor-made riding costumes and high-quality fabrics. In view of the 
life-threatening wintry conditions, these inequalities did not resonate well with the reg-
ular inmates. 49 Warm indoor workplaces were sought after and easier to find outside the 
OHW plant. In January 1943, for instance, Blechhammer prisoners helped to set up the 
brothel (Bordell-Baracke) the OHW had been required to establish for Polish labor-
ers. 50 Until the Auschwitz takeover in April 1944, Blechhammer prisoners were equally 
assigned to housing projects for IG Farben and OHW employees in Heydebreck. IG 
Farben’s close cooperation with the Auschwitz administration regarding the allocation 
of prisoners for the Monowitz and Fürstengrube subcamps notwithstanding, its chem-
ical plant at Heydebreck never made use of Jewish labor. Consequently, the Blechham-
mer inmates did not work on IG Farben’s construction site itself. A former IG Farben 
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executive’s statement on the purported rotation of Auschwitz prisoners between the 
sites at Heydebreck and Monowitz was erroneous. 51 A detail of fifty Blechhammer in-
mates worked for the Polish contractor Tills & Blume in Heydebreck. As the site was 
too remote from the camp to march, they commuted by truck. Alongside Polish and 
Italian laborers, they had to unload bricks and sacks of cement. 52 While decorating 
houses in Heydebreck, some of the prisoners encountered the spouses of OHW and 
IG Farben staff, who often secretly passed on food to them. When their guard had be-
come ill and they were left almost unsupervised, an engineer’s wife extended her help to 
Dutch Jewish inmates. She asked her neighbors for spare food to make them lunch and 
chatted for hours about her hometown, Hamburg. When one of the prisoners learned 
that her former home there had been bombed, he wrote a Dutch saying on a tile in her 
house that moved the woman to tears: “Even when there’s storm and rain outside now, 
one day the sun will be shining again.” 53

Additional rationalization measures at the OHW, like the policy of “warlike build-
ing” (kriegsmäßiges Bauen), posed a lethal threat especially to the Jewish inmates. In-
troduced by the Reich Office for Economic Development in July 1941, this policy stip-
ulated that the amount of material and manpower used for constructing buildings 
should be reduced to a minimum. By order of the head of the RAB building supervi-
sory board of Breslau, Müller, the OHW further radicalized this instruction by opt-
ing out of standard safety precautions, such as using scaffolds and installing handrails. 54 
Even if this practice seemed to affect all workers, it was predominantly Jewish prison-
ers who fell victim to foreseeable accidents of this kind. Unlike other workers, they 
could not refuse such “suicidal” jobs. The survivor Hessel Goldberg gave a harrowing 
account of the deadly conditions they had to work in: “The four of us were painting 
a roof in building 56. The British, French, and Italians had all refused to do the job, as 
the Germans did not want to set up a scaffold, because they needed everything done 
in a hurry. . . . The work was life-threatening, and Reuter [one of the four inmates] fell 
off, and was killed immediately.” 55

Missing handrails caused several casualties among the prisoners. When two pris-
oners had to carry a beam up an unsecured staircase, one of them slipped and fell three 
floors to his death. 56 Similarly, a young inmate was killed by a fall from the fifth floor of 
the OHW power station while carrying a steel girder up a narrow staircase. Salomon 
Staszewski, the column’s Jewish head, had tried in vain to dissuade the German master 
from letting the prisoners work in these conditions. Staszewski was removed from his 
post by the Jewish elder, but the German personnel on the construction site were not 
made accountable for the boy’s death. Demerer seems to have projected the blame onto 
the functionary prisoner, as he had no control over the German overseers. This certainly 
contributed to the postwar phenomenon of incriminating functionary prisoners for in-
justices ultimately committed by Germans. 57 Prisoners working at great heights, such 
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as welders, often sustained fractures by falling off scaffolds. They were rarely given the 
time to heal but were murdered in Auschwitz. Thus, even if they survived the accident, 
their injuries equaled a death sentence. 58

Accidents at work became rampant, due to the increased pace demanded by the 
Germans. Consequently, injured, dying, or dead inmates had to be taken back to the 
camp on a wheelbarrow each day. 59 A similar development was noticeable on several 
construction sites of Mineralöl-Bau, an affiliation of IG Farben in charge of supervis-
ing the OHW site until 1942. When confronted with the soaring number of prisoners 
who had died in work accidents due to a lack of safety precautions, one of the compa-
ny’s engineers bluntly remarked that considering the many soldiers killed at the front, 

“victims of work” (Arbeitsopfer) behind the lines did not count. 60 In October 1943 a par-
ticularly terrible accident cost the life of a juvenile inmate from Rotterdam, who was 
burned over three-quarters of his body after falling into a condenser. The infirmary staff 
could do nothing to alleviate his agony. 61 Having to work without protective gear, like 
gloves, invariably led to injuries. During the winter months the inmates carried metal 
poles with their bare hands in temperatures below the freezing point, and pieces of 
skin stuck to the metal. Unloading bricks in a human chain without gloves also caused 
severe cuts and wounds. The prisoners of work detail number fourteen (Isolierbetrieb 
Fuchs) were predominantly occupied with insulating tubes with glass wool. As they 
had not been provided with protective clothing, they all suffered from skin irritations, 
and some became unfit for work because of abscesses. 62

Maltreatment at work was another underlying cause of prisoners becoming unfit 
or dying. The Wehrmacht guards were supposed to protect the prisoners against “il-
licit” assaults by German civilians. However, they mostly turned a blind eye to the 
German overseers’ ubiquitous brutality or even instigated violence themselves. 63 An 
eighteen-year-old Wehrmacht soldier thus cold-bloodedly worked two Jewish inmates 
to death. He and an Upper Silesian foreman forced them to shoulder a four-meter 
steel girder around a building, until they both collapsed dead. The killings seemed to 
have been carried out as a kind of sadistic pastime, as one of the perpetrators checked 
his watch and coolly remarked to the other that the whole procedure had only taken 
twenty-five minutes. 64

In the prisoners’ perception, the Germans tended to divert their aggression against the 
Jews if things did not work according to plan. 65 Next to ill-treating the inmates, German 
masters and foremen evidently committed murders on their own initiative. In the win-
ter of 1943 a Jewish prisoner assigned to the OHW contractor Kies AG was thrown into 
a river and pushed underneath its frozen surface until he drowned. The victim, an anti-
quarian from Amsterdam, was killed for dropping two of the four rocks he was carrying. 66

The Upper Silesian overseers at the plant exhibited a broad behavioral spectrum to-
ward Jewish prisoners. Owing to their “fluid” national identity, they often fluctuated 
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between assaulting prisoners and offering their support. Many reportedly shared food 
with Jewish inmates, facilitated escapes, or smuggled letters — especially if prisoners 
spoke Polish or originated from the same area as themselves. 67 Their efforts to appear 

“German” were perceived as comical by the inmates. One foreman was even portrayed 
in a cartoon by the Austrian Jewish artist Bil Spira. 68 His name was unknown to the 
inmates, but he was easily identified by the word he used the most: pierunje, Polish for 

“damn.” This man, a member of the Highway Company, was intoxicated most of the 
time and kicked the inmates with his boots. 69 Despite having been classified as “Ger-
mans,” the position of Upper Silesians remained vulnerable, allowing some Jewish in-
mates to fend off their vicious attacks. The Jewish head of column Joseph Braasem, for 
instance, dared to stop an Upper Silesian from beating a juvenile prisoner in his detail 
with an iron bar without incurring punishment himself. 70

The harsh treatment of the Jews at the plant was a well-known fact even to the fam-
ily members of employees. The wife of an OHW engineer once complained to Otto 
Stoltzenburg about the maltreatment of Jewish inmates, and his only reply was that 
they had to be treated this way, as they were Jews. 71 The Highway Company’s social om-
budsman in Breslau Hitschler was aware of the frequent assaults on Jewish prisoners by 
German guards and foremen on virtually all construction sites under the company’s su-
pervision. Hitschler nevertheless claimed that he had been unable to restrain the ubiq-
uitous violence. 72 Curiously, camp leader Erich Hoffmann, who was notorious for his 
cruelty himself, once made a stand against a certain German master who incessantly 
mistreated prisoners. As the master had ignored his numerous warnings, Hoffmann 
withdrew all Jewish work details from the construction site and retained them in the 

Depiction of a notorious Upper Silesian overseer by Bil Spira. (Source: IWM ART 17123)
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camp for several days, until the man had been rebuked. This was the only known pro-
test by camp personnel against assaults on Blechhammer inmates. Yet Hoffmann’s par-
adoxical reaction was unlikely to have been based on sympathy with the Jews. 73 Physi-
cal violence remained integral to the work deployment of Jews in industrial camps and 
was often the cause of their deaths. 74

T H E R E I N FORCE M E N T OF J E W I SH M E DIC A L 
PE R SON N E L A N D T H E F I R S T T Y PH US OU T BR E A K

The influx of inmates from liquidated Schmelt camps into Blechhammer steadily in-
creased the number of Jewish physicians, who came along with them, to twelve. Their 
capacity to provide genuine aid was limited by the camps’ intrinsically annihilatory na-
ture, and there was hardly any leeway to protect the patients from selections or other 
forms of murder. Those refusing to carry out killing orders put their own lives in the 
balance. When faced with the dilemma of adhering to the Hippocratic Oath or being 
compliant to save their own lives, different physicians made different decisions. 75 As 
Primo Levi pointed out, those inmates whose positions put them into a “gray zone” be-
tween the perpetrators and the victims should not be judged for their involvement in 
events beyond their control. 76 In areas where there was less external pressure, individual 
behaviors may nonetheless be evaluated. 77 The increase in physicians in Blechhammer 
in 1943 made the prisoner patients much more aware of the marked differences in the 
treatment they received, and they often excoriated the medical personnel for their al-
leged or actual shortcomings. The most common accusations against the doctors were 
centered around the issues of gratuitous violence, embezzlement, and corruption — all 
of which were generated by the inherent logic of the Nazi camp system.

On January 26, 1943, the inmates of a disbanded camp at Seibersdorf (Zebrzydo-
wice) arrived in Blechhammer, together with their camp physician, Dr. Isaac Cohen-
sius from the Netherlands. Cohensius was about to graduate from medical school when 
his wife was called up for deportation in mid-August 1942. He followed her to camp 
Westerbork and received special permission to take his final exams in return for join-
ing one of the first deportation convoys to the east. He was one of thirteen Jewish phy-
sicians deported in 1942 who were denied the right to stay in Westerbork granted to 
most senior medics. He passed the exams and swore the Hippocratic Oath on August 
28, 1942. On the evening of their wedding on August 31, he and his wife were deported. 
It was the second Dutch convoy stopped in Cosel. He was pulled out of the train and 
separated from his wife, who died in Auschwitz. Cohensius served as a camp physi-
cian in the Niederkirch transit camp until October 1942, when he was sent to a newly 
formed camp in Seibersdorf, along with two hundred fellow Westerbork deportees. 78 
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The Blechhammer inmates disliked Cohensius, as he, like Dr. Ritter, whipped patients. 79 
In his postwar memoirs, Cohensius related the inner conflicts plaguing him as an inex-
perienced doctor who tried to fulfill his medical obligation to care for his patients while 
being coerced to comply with Seibersdorf ’s “zero-sick-policy.” To him, the camp infir-
maries were nothing but a “show” the Germans put on for the Red Cross, and the Jew-
ish physicians had no choice but to cooperate in the mass murder of their comrades. 80

Shortly after Cohensius arrived, Dr. Moses Auerhahn was sent to Blechhammer. He 
became head surgeon and treated female inmates. In stark contrast to Ritter, he had a 
kind personality, showed compassion for his patients, and tried to admit as many of 
them to the infirmary as possible. Despite the limited means available, survivors stated 
that Auerhahn was eager to provide the best care that he could. 81

In April Dr. Jerzy Iwanter arrived with inmates from Laurahütte (Siemianowice 
Śląskie). Having converted to Catholicism, the general practitioner from Warsaw had 
reputedly avoided contacts with Jews before his internment in Nazi camps. As in Lau-
rahütte, he was very hard on the sick in Blechhammer. Some inmates described him 
as a “terrible man” and even as a “beast.” Iwanter exploited the system of corruption 
prevailing in the camps for his own benefit and only admitted patients for treatment 
in return for several pounds of butter and other delicacies. In marked contrast to his 
emaciated comrades, Iwanter had a corpulent figure, and he was nicknamed “the el-
ephant.” His progressive obesity even prevented him from using a stethoscope prop-
erly. For every extra week a patient stayed in the infirmary, he demanded more goods, 
such as butter, cigarettes, apples, or tomatoes. Those lacking the means to procure these 
coveted items from “second economy” markets were denied medical treatment, even 
if they were gravely ill. These inequalities further deepened the divide between the in-
mates. Less resourceful prisoners felt that while the needy “died like rats,” those who 
paid the most were helped first. On the other hand, there were extraordinary acts of 
solidarity among some of the prisoners, who collectively gathered the sums to cover a 
comrade’s treatment. 82

Ironically, some functionary prisoners were permitted to use the infirmary as a “ho-
tel” when they wanted a break from work. Thus, for the price of one diamond a head 
of column was allowed to take a fourteen-day “vacation” in the infirmary, as he dis-
liked the rainy weather outside. 83 Just like the kitchen staff, the medical personnel fre-
quently embezzled the patients’ food, which consisted of one liter of mashed potatoes 
or semolina. The regular inmates were outraged about doctors taking advantage of the 
most vulnerable among them: “They stole food from people unable to eat bread any-
more, and who depended on this tiny liter of food. Are these thieves not murderers act-
ing on bad intentions? Who should we have complained to? To the guard shouldering 
his rifle, the posts with machine guns or to the commandant who always had his whip 
ready? To the functionaries who always wished these things did not happen? . . . Our 
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hatred of the functionaries within our own enclosures was greater than of those plan-
ning our annihilation from outside.” 84

Despite the growing number of camp physicians, the medical supplies remained 
wholly insufficient. As one doctor put it, the only “medicine” available to them was 
to encourage their patients to go on living. 85 Treatment in the strict sense of the word 
was only possible by procuring the required medications from “second economy” ven-
dors on the construction site. Again, this option was primarily available to more re-
sourceful prisoners, as illustrated by the following example. A French Jewish inmate 
in a mixed marriage still maintained contacts with his wife in France with the help of 
French Service Travail Obligatoire (STO)workers. This connection proved lifesaving 
when he suffered a total physical breakdown in June 1943. The camp doctors advised 
him to take insulin and offered to acquire the respective doses for 400 RM from a clan-
destine source. His wife promptly forwarded the money to pay for the injections, and 
he made a full recovery. 86

With the reinforcement of the infirmary staff, medical orderlies began to be re-
cruited as well. These were usually prisoners with no prior medical training. Help-
ing in the infirmary was a way of receiving long-term treatment without payment. 
Sixteen-year-old Kurt Klappholz was on the brink of suffering a breakdown due to the 
heavy work on the OHW site. As a last resort, he asked for admission into the infir-
mary to recover for a few days. Dr. Iwanter at first rejected him and warned him of an 
impending selection. Even though he grasped the true implications of the selections 
for the first time, Klappholz insisted on being taken in for treatment. Iwanter offered 
to make him an orderly to protect him from being selected but demanded sexual fa-
vors in return. From then on, Klappholz was frequently abused by Iwanter. Incredibly, 
he still decided to keep his “superb job,” as it provided him with extra food, and he did 
not have to set out to the construction site anymore. His daily chores included wak-
ing the sick and distributing bread and water. He also had some messenger duties, and 
while handing out sick lists to the barrack elders, he often managed to steal some of their 
food to keep alive. 87 It was usually younger men and boys who were forced into sexual 
relationships with functionary prisoners. The case of Kurt Klappholz is a good exam-
ple of how more “privileged” inmates took advantage of the juvenile prisoners in their 
desperate struggle for survival and exposed them to various forms of sexual violence. 88

Twenty-year-old Jules Fainzang from Belgium had already been Iwanter’s orderly 
in Laurahütte, and he continued to assist him after their transfer to Blechhammer. He 
nonetheless opted to work on the construction site during the day and only helped out 
during the nightly admission. In return, Fainzang received some extra food and the priv-
ilege of a “room” of his own: a tiny, windowless cubicle in the infirmary used as a stor-
age closet for bandaging material. Unlike Klappholz, he did not report any sexual as-
saults by Iwanter in his autobiography. 89
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Three female auxiliary nurses worked in the women’s ward in return for a double 
soup ration. Hoffmann, who seldom interfered with the male infirmary staff, was a reg-
ular visitor to the women’s ward. One of the nurses, Fanny Pillersdorf from Będzin, had 
dyed her hair blonde before being arrested, and Hoffmann was friendly to her when 
he patrolled the infirmary. However, as soon as the dye began to grow out, his behav-
ior changed completely. He frequently screamed at her for alleged shortcomings and 
once even had her flogged for not having made the beds neatly enough. 90

In May 1943 two inmates contracted typhus. They were kept isolated until the 
Schmelt Office ordered camp policeman Rauch and a paramedic to strangle them, as 
there was no time to take them to Auschwitz. 91 The Schmelt Office often used such bla-
tantly violent methods to conceal outbreaks of infectious diseases in order to prevent 
quarantines and subsequent loss of income. Haunschild thus shot ten prisoners, eight 
of whom had typhus, while recruiting workers in camp Gräditz (Grodziszcze). 92 By Au-
gust, Blechhammer nonetheless was in the grip of a full-fledged typhus outbreak, and 
a quarantine became inevitable. The inmates were disinfected in a barrack normally 
used for delousing blankets, and those who had contracted the disease were isolated in 
a fenced-off part of the infirmary. 93

In the middle of the outbreak, another crisis concerning Dr. Ritter emerged, which 
ultimately led to his murder in Auschwitz. Survivor testimonies rendered two different 
versions of what happened. In the first version, mainly corroborated by Dutch Jewish 
witnesses in the early postwar years, Dr. Ritter purportedly had a fight with Demerer 
and attempted to have him killed by swapping his blood sample with that of a typhus 
patient, so he could become Jewish elder himself. The sample tested positive in the labo-
ratory, but Demerer could prove that Ritter had manipulated the samples with the help 
of an SS medical officer who was called into the camp. Ritter and his wife were then de-
ported to Auschwitz, along with the physician Dr. Simons and several paramedics. 94 The 
second version originated from the Munich trial of Erich Hoffmann in 1946, in which 
Karl Demerer appeared as a key witness for the prosecution. He and the other witnesses 
unanimously blamed Hoffmann for Ritter’s assumed death. They stated that Ritter’s 
wife had rejected sexual advances by Hoffmann, and both had been deported. The wit-
nesses named Dr. Ritter’s refusal to carry out Hoffmann’s orders to kill patients as an ad-
ditional reason. Before sending him on a transport to Auschwitz with Dr. Simons, two 
paramedics, and several blind prisoners, Hoffmann allegedly searched his quarters for 
valuables. 95 Ritter’s brother-in-law Ezriel Rabinowitsch also testified in the Munich trial. 
He learned of Ritter’s presumed death from relatives transferred to the camp after his dis-
appearance but made no statement about the circumstances leading to his murder. 96 In 
video testimony, he later accused Demerer of having sent the Ritters to their deaths be-
cause Demerer’s alleged mistresses were jealous of Mrs. Ritter’s good looks. As Rabinow-
itsch was not present at the camp himself, this scenario does not seem very credible. 97
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It is difficult to judge the veracity of the other two conflicting narratives. The first 
version construed Ritter’s death as the result of a power struggle between function-
ary prisoners. Ritter’s penalty for challenging the Jewish elder was self-inflicted, while 
Dem erer was portrayed as the victim. However, the fact that he turned to an SS physi-
cian to intervene for him and to reprimand Ritter and his spouse in this drastic way also 
made Demerer partly responsible for their murder. Lethal conflicts of this kind were a 
ubiquitous phenomenon in Schmelt camps and concentration camps alike. They were 
fueled by the unfair hierarchy imposed on the inmates by the German camp leader-
ship. 98 In Brande, a Jewish camp physician tried to get rid of an unwanted colleague by 
adding him to a list for Auschwitz. This was averted by the camp leadership, and the 
physician was brutally killed in the end. 99 The second version, told by Demerer himself, 
completely omitted him from the course of events. Hoffmann was accused of molest-
ing Ritter’s wife, issuing killing orders for sick prisoners, and stealing his property. The 
camp leader had undoubtedly committed numerous crimes of this kind. Nevertheless, 
the witnesses possibly intended to emphasize his “base motives,” which were a prereq-
uisite for indicting Nazi perpetrators with murder in western German courts. 100 More-
over, Hoffmann tried to call Demerer as a witness for the defense and invited him to his 
apartment several times before the start of the trial. He could have played on Demer-
er’s inadvertent entanglement in the developments leading to Ritter’s murder to black-
mail him. 101 In the immediate postwar era, there was a tendency to incriminate Jew-
ish functionaries for their alleged collaboration in the Holocaust, which might have 
led Demerer to fear for his life. The alternative narrative of Hoffmann’s trial fully vin-
dicated Demerer and permitted him to make a damning statement, which ultimately 
brought the former camp leader to the gallows. 102

However, the shadows of the past did not disappear with Hoffmann’s death. Two 
decades later the fate of the second physician deported with Dr. Ritter was the focus of 
criminal investigators. Dr. Simons, a veteran of the First World War, had been a camp 
doctor in Gleiwitz (Gliwice). He was sent to Auschwitz via Blechhammer for the at-
tempt to save a female inmate by concealing her pregnancy. 103 In November 1963 a rela-
tive of Dr. Simons charged Karl Demerer with the murder of Dr. Ritter and Dr. Simons. 
In March 1963 Demerer had abruptly left his place of residence in Germany. The Ger-
man attorney general found out that he was living in Israel on a tourist visa. The Israeli 
police department offered to press charges against him, but no legal steps ensued, as 
the claimant was deceased. A year later, Demerer gave testimony on his time in Blech-
hammer to the Israeli police. The Ritter affair was not addressed. 104 The repercussions 
of Ritter’s murder reverberated throughout most of Demerer’s life after the camps, ir-
respective of the actual or assumed degree of his involvement. Despite his unquestion-
able popularity among Blechhammer prisoners, Demerer experienced the common di-
lemma of functionary prisoners, on whom some survivors took their revenge for crimes 
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committed by German perpetrators, who in turn attempted to project the blame on 
the functionaries. 105

During the epidemic, three more camp physicians arrived. The first was Dr. Bernhard 
Littwack from a Schmelt camp near Katowice, who started out as a paramedic before 
taking over Ritter’s position as chief physician. 106 In August he was joined by Dr. Wolf 
Lajtner, a survivor of the railway construction works carried out by Jewish inmates for 
Organisation Todt (OT) in Russia in the winter of 1941–42, and Dr. Wollenberg from 
Berlin. 107 Dr. Lajtner had asked to be transferred to Blechhammer from Parschnitz, a 
camp for women, to meet his parents there. Police guards escorted him and four girls 
from Parschnitz on the train journey. He then learned that the female prisoners were 
about to be murdered, as they had contracted tuberculosis, and two suffered from a men-
tal disorder. Screaming incessantly, the mentally ill girls were locked into a washroom 
barrack, and Hoffmann finally ordered Lajtner to kill them by noon. As he refused to 
do this, they were strangled by a Jewish camp functionary. For having disobeyed his or-
ders, Hoffmann added Lajtner and his wife Erna Ellert, who had followed him to Blech-
hammer as a nurse, to a sick transport to Auschwitz on September 1, 1943. 108

It was the first of four transports taking the victims of the typhus outbreak to Aus-
chwitz. 109 Altogether, Hoffmann selected 350 prisoners, among them typhus patients 
as well as elderly people, children, and pregnant women from the transit camp oper-
ated by Blechhammer at the time. Trucks took them to a railroad station to be added 
to a deportation train. As the date of the transport corresponds with the third phase of 
the Cosel stops, it may be assumed that the sick were taken to the freight depot of Co-
sel to wait for a Westerbork convoy carrying 1,004 deportees. When the train arrived, 
Lajtner and his wife carefully laid those unable to walk in the cattle cars. Hoffmann, 
who had personally accompanied the trucks in his own car, was infuriated by their ten-
der treatment of the prisoners. In a fit of rage, he got on one of the trucks, threw some 
of the sick on the ground, and brutally trampled them to death. The convoy reached 
Auschwitz-Birkenau at midnight. 110 It is unclear how many fit men had been taken off 
in Cosel in exchange for the 350 Blechhammer inmates. Some 502 people of this trans-
port were selected for work in Auschwitz; the others, including 160 children, were im-
mediately killed in the gas chambers. 111 Some of the women deported from Blechham-
mer were among the 247 females selected for work in Auschwitz. They were brought 
into the bunker of the main camp and were led into Block 10 in the afternoon, where 
their hair was cut. Afterward they received prisoner uniforms and tattoos. The women 
then learned that they were in a block for medical experiments. 112 The SS physicians 
Carl Clauberg, Horst Schumann, and Eduard Wirths experimented with different 
forms of sterilization in Block 10, exposing the women to high doses of X-rays, injec-
tions in the fallopian tubes, or ovariectomies. Many of their victims died in extreme 
pain or suffered from health problems for the rest of their lives. 113
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Erna Ellert and her husband were among those shuttled toward the killing facilities, 
and she later gave a harrowing account of what she experienced there: “We were im-
mediately led into the gas chambers after having been forced to get undressed. We owe 
our lives to the lucky coincidence that I managed to convince Hauptsturmführer Wirt 
[Wirths] that my husband and I were not sick but had accompanied the transport as 
nurses. I had hardly put my clothes back on when I heard the no longer human wailing 
of the approximately 350 suffocating inmates from Blechhammer.” 114

Having narrowly avoided the same fate as Dr. Ritter and Dr. Simons before him, 
Dr. Lajtner was first allocated to an execution commando unit in Auschwitz as a phy-
sician and was later transferred to Monowitz. 115

The last transport with typhus patients left in mid-September. The victims were 
locked in the isolation ward the night before. A young convalescent desperate to save 
his life made an escape attempt early in the morning. Hoffmann collectively blamed 
the camp physicians for his disappearance and had all medical personnel flogged. He 
then threatened that five doctors would be sent to Auschwitz if the missing boy could 
not be retrieved by 11:00 a.m., the trucks’ scheduled time of departure. The boy was fi-
nally found in a barrack. He was beaten and forced to climb onto one of the waiting 
trucks. The transport was probably added to a Westerbork convoy of 1,005 people on 
September 15, 1943. 116

On September 16, 1943, Dr. Gossner of the Public Health Board instructed the 
OHW to have all workers, including Jews, inoculated against typhus. The OHW con-
tractors nevertheless considered it a gratuitous waste of their time and money to have 
foreign laborers vaccinated during work. Their demands to deduct the missing hours 
from the laborers’ payrolls were rejected by the OHW, which reiterated that precau-
tionary measures of the Health Board were beyond its control and also affected the Ger-
man workforce. 117 The vaccine probably derived from one of the plants maintained by 
the Wehrmacht in Cracow and Lemberg (L’viv). The Polish biologist Rudolf Weigl 
had developed a typhus vaccine during the First World War and was forced to ren-
der his services to the Nazis after the invasion of Poland. He used his position at the 
Behring-Institute in Lemberg to save Jewish scientists from deportation by offering 
them employment and to smuggle doses of typhus vaccine into the Warsaw ghetto. 
The so-called Weigl vaccine nevertheless only provided partial immunity to the dis-
ease, causing milder and less fatal attacks. Some of the jabs destined for the SS and the 
Wehrmacht were manipulated, offering no protection at all. 118 The Jewish prisoners of 
Blechhammer were inoculated by their camp physicians. As some of them contracted 
typhus afterward, a survivor suspected that the Germans had meddled with the vac-
cines in order to kill them. Despite prisoner experiments with typhus in Auschwitz 
and Buchenwald, it seems nonetheless unlikely that the inmates of Blechhammer were 
deliberately infected. Apparently these cases occurred due to “vaccine failure” or to 
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“breakthrough disease” caused by a wild type of virus despite an inoculation. The out-
break was contained in the fall. 119

Despite the reinforcements, only four doctors were allowed to work in the infir-
mary along with the head physician Dr. Littwack. The others were forced to set out 
to the construction site as paramedics. 120 When typhus erupted in camp Gräditz in 
mid-February 1944, Dr. Littwack, Dr. Rosenthal, Dr. Jakubowitsch, Dr. Cohensius, 
and Dr. Wollenberg were sent there to help. In postwar testimony, Dr. Littwack al-
leged that the Schmelt Office had transferred the Jewish physicians to this camp with 
the intention of killing them by way of a typhus infection. All Blechhammer physicians 
sent to Gräditz did indeed contract typhus, and Dr. Rosenthal died of it. The vaccina-
tion of September 1943 had obviously failed, or the OHW had received the doses ma-
nipulated by Weigl. 121

T H E DE L EG AT ION OF WAT E R-I N DUCE D 
M U R DE R S A N D T H E I N T E RV E N T ION OF 

AUSCH W I T Z I N T H E SE L EC T IONS

The new guard duty officer, Mareck, oversaw the selections in the infirmary together 
with Erich Hoffmann. Their primary victims were patients unfit for work for more 
than four to six weeks. This policy also targeted inmates who had had several shorter 
stays in the infirmary and went back to work in between. They could be put on a trans-
port list even though they were working full-time again. The infirmary was often emp-
tied of all patients, unless the camp physicians managed to warn individual prisoners 
or discharged them in time before a selection. 122 Inmates saved by untimely discharge 
often reproached the medical staff for the abrupt termination of their treatment, un-
til they realized that it had been done for their own good. A prisoner electrician with 
a severe leg injury incurred by a fall from a scaffold, for instance, was sent back to work 
after seven days in the infirmary, despite requiring the assistance of comrades to walk. 
His initial anger with the camp physicians turned into gratefulness the following day, 
when he found the infirmary almost empty. 123

Mareck delegated the water-induced murders his predecessor Rettinghausen had 
carried out excessively to Erich Hoffmann. The camp leader had been familiarized with 
this cruel killing method by the SD and had gained more practical experience by assist-
ing Rettinghausen in 1942. Now that the police guards were no longer available, Hoff-
mann increasingly drew on the enforced collaboration of Jewish functionary prison-
ers. The Jewish elder Demerer was thus required to attend up to fifty murders of this 
kind. 124 The survivor Aron Schlos witnessed numerous murders in the washroom bar-
rack through the window of his room and had to remove the bodies the next morning. 
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He stated that Hoffmann had randomly chosen three to five prisoners each day. During 
the postwar trial of Hoffmann, Schlos described the killing procedure in painful detail: 

“The respective prisoners had to get fully undressed, and were then hosed with cold wa-
ter, until they were dead. The torment of taking them from life to death usually lasted 
for two hours. The hose was inserted into the mouth of those who had survived this 
procedure, until the water pressure caused their organs to rupture, or their head was 
held into a water-filled barrel, until they had drowned.” 125

At the end of 1943, Hoffmann had two inmates from a newly arrived transport from 
Königshütte (Chorzów) killed in this manner for an escape attempt. He purportedly 
offered one hundred cigarettes to any prisoner ready to assist him. 126 Using prisoners 
as their own comrades’ henchmen was part of a perfidious strategy commonly pursued 
in Nazi concentration camps, which aimed to drive a wedge between the inmates. 127 As 
there were no public executions in Schmelt camps, the intended effect was somewhat 
diminished. However, most of the prisoners were pressed into cooperating and had to 
continue with their gruesome tasks even if they were relocated to different camps. A 
former camp policeman of Brande (Prądy), Icek Rosenzweig, was appointed head of 
column when he came to Blechhammer in late 1943. Just like the camp leader of Brande, 
Hoffmann coerced him into drowning or strangling inmates under threat of sending 
him to Auschwitz. 128 He was feared by the other prisoners, who reproached him for 
his role as an alleged accessory. His status as a half-Jewish German further contributed 
to the negative image of him. The child survivor Leo B. recounted how Rosenzweig 
nearly killed him in a fit of rage by hitting his fist against his heart, while the two Jew-
ish elders stood by helplessly. 129

Coinciding with the WVHA’s order to delegate selections at the ramp and in work 
details at Auschwitz from SS block leaders to physicians to increase the number of pris-
oners that could be made available to the war economy, SS doctors from Auschwitz be-
gan to intervene in the selection process in Schmelt camps. 130 As of spring 1943, they 
visited Blechhammer in three-month intervals to select working prisoners and encour-
aged Mareck and Hoffmann to participate. 131 All work details had to run in front of the 
SS physicians, who checked the blood circulation of those unable to keep up by pierc-
ing their legs with pencils. Some among the selected were sent to a convalescent camp 
and returned to Blechhammer alive. However, most of them were murdered in Aus-
chwitz. 132 The Wehrmacht guards were required to list prisoners they found to be un-
fit or working slowly. Survivors reported that they were reluctant to earmark prisoners 
and preferred to swap weak inmates between details to conceal their lower productiv-
ity for a while. The pressure to maintain a high pace at work nonetheless cost the last 
reserves of emaciated prisoners, and they were prone to fall victim to one of the next 
selections. 133 In winter 1943 female inmates in their forties and fifties had to step for-
ward during a roll call. They were collectively added to a sick transport to Auschwitz 
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despite being fit to work. 134 Gender-specific decimations of healthy women were com-
mon in Schmelt’s system. The order to murder the middle-aged women appears to 
have been part of the preparations for the Auschwitz takeover, analogous to the trans-
fer of one hundred younger female prisoners to Peterswaldau, a future Gross-Rosen 
subcamp, in January 1944. 135

Occasionally women were taken to Schmelt camps to work despite being pregnant. 
Others became pregnant while in the camps, due to either rape or consensual relation-
ships. The Schmelt Office complied with the WVHA directive to murder pregnant 
women that had been introduced in the concentration camps in spring 1941. In a revised 
version issued in mid-1943, the WVHA demanded the babies be killed but the moth-
ers be kept alive. 136 Schmelt nonetheless continued to have pregnant women murdered 
either directly in the camps or by sending them to the gas chambers. No intervention 
by Auschwitz physicians ensued. 137 Schmelt’s unrestrained killing policy resulted in a 
particularly tragic incident in Blechhammer. In early 1944, a pregnant woman and her 
husband, who had been hiding in the liquidated ghetto of Sosnowiec, were arrested 
and transferred to Blechhammer. The woman worked in the kitchen at first but was 
added to a sick transport to Auschwitz as soon as her pregnancy was noticed. When 
the transport had left, her husband immediately hanged himself. 138

Parallel to the growing number of prisoners and victims, the already existing burial 
detail was staffed up. In January 1943 Jonas Pampel and Levie Barmhartigkeid from the 
Netherlands were transferred to Blechhammer from Seibersdorf, where they had also 
acted as gravediggers. The two friends worked on the construction site during the day 
and helped to bury the dead in the evening. They usually performed a ritual washing of 
the bodies and said Kaddish, the traditional prayer for the dead. 139 The deputy Jewish 
elder Niewes, who also carried out Jewish burial rites, temporarily had the same func-
tion. 140 Even though every other form of religious practice was strictly prohibited, the 
German camp personnel did not interfere with the burials. The dead of the Schmelt 
camps therefore could still be laid to rest with a certain dignity compared to camps like 
Auschwitz. Curiously, the members of the burial detail were rarely observant Jews them-
selves. However, practicing the rites for the dead obviously drew a line of continuity 
to religious traditions the Nazis aimed to eradicate along with the Jewish people and 
represented a particular form of spirituality that could still be upheld in the camps. 141
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B L E C H H A M M E R’S N EW 
RO L E I N T H E H O L O C AUS T 

I N E A S T E R N U P P E R S I L E S I A

O n May 21, 1943, Himmler decreed that by June 30, 1943, all Jews 
still living in the German Reich and in the Protectorate of Bohemia and 
Moravia had to be taken to “the east,” or to Terezín. This new policy also 

targeted Jews working in crucial sectors of the war economy, who had previously been 
exempted from deportations. However, special arrangements were to be made for the 
inmates of Schmelt camps. According to the former Auschwitz commandant Rudolf 
Hoess, Himmler ordered Schmelt’s ghetto workshops closed down and brought the 
most important of his labor camps under the administration of either Auschwitz or 
Gross-Rosen. Camps not vital to the war effort were to be liquidated, and the prison-
ers should be killed in Auschwitz. 1 Approximately one-fifth of the Schmelt camps were 
thus preserved. Contrary to Hoess’s claims, a small fraction of the inmates of the dis-
banded camps was distributed among the remaining Schmelt camps. Schmelt’s dep-
uty Heinrich Lindner and RAB representative Haunschild selected an average 20 to 30 
percent of the prisoners for work. The others were sent to their deaths, irrespective of 
their physical state. Lindner and Haunschild still made them believe that they would 
be transferred to a “sanatorium” in camp Annaberg. 2

By contrast, networks of labor camps in East Galicia and the Warthegau similar to 
those set up by Schmelt in Silesia were all liquidated by fall 1943, and almost none of the 
inmates were left alive. 3 This deviating strategy reflected Upper Silesia’s paramount im-
portance in arms production and Speer’s call for an increase in the economic output and 
the rationalization of manpower and resources. Speer demanded that Himmler should 
raise the number of inmates in concentration camps and put them at the disposal of 
the war industry to an even greater extent than before. Consequently, Schmelt camps 
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not involved in vital war work were disbanded, and a certain percentage of the inmates 
were relocated to industrial sites considered crucial to the war effort. Between Septem-
ber 1943 and July 1944, forty-three Schmelt camps were taken over by Auschwitz and 
Gross-Rosen. Both significantly expanded their subcamp system in the process of com-
plying with the war economy’s apparent need for workers. However, Himmler failed 
to reach his envisaged target of having an extra two hundred thousand prisoners trans-
ferred to concentration camps. 4

Adolf Eichmann was delegated to schedule the deportations of the Jews of Eastern 
Upper Silesia with Gestapo Kattowitz, headed by Rudolf Mildner at the time. 5 Doc-
uments on the respective agreements between Eichmann and Mildner have not been 
preserved, but Blechhammer obviously began to play a crucial role in the Holocaust 
in Eastern Upper Silesia. As one of the remaining camps, Blechhammer was not only 
enlarged, but it simultaneously facilitated the selections and subsequent murder of 
parts of the ghetto population, as well as the transfer of sick and unfit inmates from 
disbanded Schmelt camps to Auschwitz.

T H E T R A NS I T C A M P (DU L AG)

Following Himmler’s May order, the ghettos were liquidated, and a new wave of trans-
ports to Auschwitz set in. But not all of them went straight to the death camp. Next to 
able-bodied young women and men, whole families were sent to Blechhammer. During 
the uprising in the Sosnowiec ghetto, Schmelt’s central transit camp (Durchgangslager, 
Dulag) became unavailable for selections. Therefore, Blechhammer temporarily took 
over its functions between June and August 1943. A fenced-off section with two bar-
racks was used to segregate those still deemed fit for work from their children, younger 
siblings, or elderly relatives. The able-bodied were distributed among Schmelt camps, 
whereas the others were murdered in Auschwitz after a few days or even hours in Blech-
hammer. Simultaneously, weakened inmates of the camp were added to the Auschwitz 
convoys. 6

The first transport of this kind originated from the ghetto of Strzemieszyce. The Ger-
mans had ghettoized the local Jewish inhabitants, who mostly worked in nearby camps, 
in 1940. In June 1942, four hundred people were deported to Auschwitz. The head of 
the Central Office of the Jewish elders in Sosnowiec Moshe Merin conducted a census 
among the remaining population and issued new working papers to approximately one 
thousand people. One year later, on June 15, 1943, all ghetto residents were deported 
to Auschwitz, except for some able-bodied young men, who were sent to Blechham-
mer by passenger trains. On arrival, they had to hand in their valuables, take a shower, 
and exchange their clothes for worn-out rags. The Highway Company’s representative, 
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Haunschild, came the next morning to take down their names and professions. Those 
who remained in Blechhammer were very supportive of one another and continued to 
form a group of their own. 7

The town Kłobucko in the district of Kielce had a Jewish population of about sixteen 
hundred in prewar times. After the German occupation, it was first part of the Gen-
eral Government but then incorporated into Eastern Upper Silesia in November 1939. 
Many Jews from bordering communities fled the General Government to seek refuge 
in the town, as the conditions there seemed more tolerable. By March 1940, Kłobucko’s 
Jewish population had reached over two thousand. In October 1941 a ghetto was estab-
lished, and the inhabitants were required to work in camps the Germans set up in the 
vicinity. One of these camps, located in the village Zagórze, was regarded as a “safe ha-
ven.” It attracted volunteers not only from Kłobucko but also from nearby towns like 
Zabrze. Between June 21 and 22, 1942, the ghetto of Kłobucko was liquidated, and all 
but seven skilled workers and their families were marched to Krzepice to be selected 
and deported to Auschwitz. As a great number of people had gone into hiding before 
the liquidation, the Germans set up tailor’s and shoemaker’s workshops in the former 
ghetto and its surroundings to lure those in hideouts back into closed settlements. For 
want of alternative options, they returned to the workshop camps. The Zagórze camp 
soon numbered five hundred workers. It was disbanded in July 1943, along with the 
rest of the workshops and camps in and around Kłobucko. All remaining Jewish in-
habitants, including children and the elderly, were taken to Blechhammer by train. 8

The families spent the night together in barracks, which were so crowded that some 
had to sleep outside. When Blechhammer prisoners came to the fence of the transit 
camp to beg for bread, they got a first impression of what awaited them. A survivor 
recalled that there was a cynical poster reading “Arbeit macht das Leben süß   ” (“work 
makes life sweet”). The next day Haunschild arrived for the selections. He was accom-
panied by “a very choleric Obersturmbannführer,” possibly Heinrich Lindner. The se-
lection process was extremely stressful, as it took place in the summer heat and the 
deportees had no access to water. The men were separated from the women, and preg-
nant women, those over forty years old, and little girls were pulled out. In the end, six 
hundred men from Kłobucko were selected for work, twenty-six of whom stayed in 
Blechhammer. When they learned that the unfit women and children would be sent to 
Auschwitz, the situation escalated. Crying and screaming for each other, families des-
perately tried to stay together, while the Germans set their dogs on them. 9 Smaller chil-
dren were taken away from their mothers so the women could be sent to work camps. 
Wailing for their mothers, the children were retained in Blechhammer for up to a week, 
until the next trucks left for Auschwitz. Not only the women were confronted with 
the “choiceless choice” of either dying with their children or leaving them to their fate 
alone. 10 A father from Kłobucko was likewise forced to hand his little son over to an 
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elderly woman he knew from his hometown in order to survive. Both the little boy and 
the woman perished in Auschwitz. Some of the pregnant women gave birth in the tran-
sit camp. Their babies were drowned immediately. 11

In this desolate situation, people offered jewelry to the Jewish elder Karl Demerer 
and his deputy Jozef Niewes, imploring them to save their children or other relatives. 
By bribing camp leader Hoffmann, Demerer succeeded in rescuing about thirty boys 
below the age of sixteen out of a total of two hundred children who passed through 
the transit camp. The Jewish functionary prisoners of Blechhammer knew all too well 
where the transports were going, as Demerer had been to Auschwitz two or three times 
with Hoffmann, and they did their best to save as many as possible. With Hoffmann’s 
permission, the children were hidden until the transports had left. They later served as 
calfactors in the camp, where they stoked stoves, made coffee, or ran errands. 12 Those 
lacking the means to pay bribes occasionally made daring attempts to protect their 
next of kin. Thus, a woman from the Zagórze work camp approached a Schmelt rep-
resentative directly after her former Jewish elder had declared that he could do noth-
ing for her twelve-year-old nephew. She gave the boy shoes with high heels, so he ap-
peared taller, and showed his hands to the German official, arguing that he could work. 
Thanks to his aunt’s intervention, the boy was indeed allowed to remain in Blechham-
mer, as a cleaner. 13

At times older siblings succeeded in saving their younger brothers or sisters. Two 
adult sisters from Kłobucko smuggled their eleven-year-old sister through the selec-
tion by having her wear boots with high heels and a long skirt, so she looked older. All 
three were sent to a Schmelt camp together. However, their thirteen-year-old brother 
Art was not selected for work. When he realized that he was about to be separated from 
his sisters, he threw himself on the ground and pleaded with Demerer to be given a job. 
The Jewish elder took pity on him, remarking that someone with so much courage and 
will to live deserved to be saved. Together with four other rescued boys, Art was hidden 
in a washroom barrack until the transport had gone. Demerer persuaded Hoffmann to 
make the boy a messenger between his and the camp leader’s office, and he survived. 14

The Jewish population of Sosnowiec was among the last to be ghettoized, on March 
15, 1943. The Germans’ plans to fully liquidate the ghetto by June 23–24, 1943, were 
hampered by an uprising of Zionist resistance fighters under the leadership of Vebek 
Śmetana. Twelve thousand people, including Moshe Merin and his assistant, had been 
taken to Auschwitz in a first wave before the deportations were brought to a halt. The 
ghetto was held against the Germans until the beginning of August, when SS and po-
lice units were reinforced. The crushing of the revolt resulted in the deportation of an-
other thirty thousand residents of Sosnowiec and its twin city Będzin to Auschwitz. 15 
Some of the younger ghetto inhabitants were shipped to Blechhammer in cattle cars to 
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be selected for Schmelt camps. There were also children and pregnant women among 
the able-bodied. On arrival, they had to take a shower and exchange their own clothes 
for used ones. The pregnant women were led into a separate washroom barrack. A sur-
vivor reported that she had heard their screams and suspected that they had been mis-
treated. Possibly they were even murdered, like a group of unfit women who passed 
through Blechhammer in winter 1943. The ensuing selection was carried out by two 
men. One of them must have been Lindner, assisted by someone with a missing eye, 
who meted out blows to those not standing up straight. The men and women consid-
ered fit for work spent between one day and several weeks in Blechhammer before be-
ing transferred to various Schmelt camps. The others were sent to Auschwitz. 16

The inmates of at least seven to eight disbanded work camps passed through the 
transit camp in parallel to the ghetto inhabitants. A transport of about one thousand 
women from Bautrupp Saybusch arrived in Blechhammer, but only two hundred of 
them were selected for a camp in Neusalz (Nowa Sól). 17 The proportion of inmates from 
liquidated camps rated as “fit” was typically very low, implying that the majority were 
murdered in Auschwitz irrespective of their physical ability to work. 18

Fifteen-year-old Sara Chrapot was transferred to Blechhammer from a dissolved 
camp in Ziechenicze with her brother and sister. Recalling what a cousin had told her 
about Treblinka, she expected to be gassed on arrival. When they all had to line up in 
rows of five to be selected, Sara hid in the back. She and her sister were held in one of 
the transit barracks, together with elderly people from the ghettos. In her postwar tes-
timony, she mentioned that one of the men in the barrack had offered her bread in re-
turn for sexual favors, to which she agreed. Consensual sexual barter was a common 
phenomenon in ghettos. However, the practice was discontinued in the Schmelt camps, 
as men and women were strictly kept apart. Sara was sent on to Neusalz after a few days, 
while her sister managed to escape from the transit camp. Her brother, who had been 
taken to a different barrack, was presumably murdered in Auschwitz. 19 Altogether, ap-
proximately six hundred women considered fit for work passed through the transit 
camp, but only a small fraction stayed in Blechhammer. 20

From August 2, 1943, a permanent new transit camp was established in camp An-
naberg (Góra Świętej Anny), the place the Schmelt Office had been relocated to from 
Sosnowiec. It operated until the end of March 1944, when the Schmelt camp system 
was largely dismantled. 21 The use of Blechhammer and Annaberg, which were both ad-
ministered by the Highway Company, exemplifies the intense collaboration of Speer’s 
private enterprise in the Holocaust. In these camps, perpetrators not directly linked to 
Auschwitz made selections and condemned the greater part of those passing through 
them to death in the gas chambers. Blechhammer evidently also served as an entity 
where newborn babies and individual groups of women were immediately murdered.
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T H E U N PL A N N E D FOR M AT ION OF A 
CH I L DR E N ’ S DETA I L I N T H E A F T E R M AT H 

OF T H E G H ET TO L IQU I DAT IONS

Resulting from Blechhammer’s temporary role as a transit camp, a small group of 
under-sixteen-year-olds were held in the camp who had either erroneously been selected 
by Schmelt representatives, because they looked older than they were, or had been smug-
gled in through bribery. The total number of children in Schmelt camps is unknown.

By contrast, hundreds of thousands of children and teenagers were deported to 
concentration camps. However, the majority were almost immediately murdered, like 
the first Jewish children arriving in Auschwitz in early 1942 from Eastern Upper Sile-
sia. As the demand for more laborers grew, deportees on certain transports from Slova-
kia and France, including children, were registered as workers without prior selections. 
Their survival chances were nevertheless minuscule. With the introduction of regular 
selections at the ramp in summer 1943, children were gassed upon arrival. An unknown 
number of unregistered teenagers had nevertheless been smuggled into work details of 
adult prisoners. In 1944 children were temporarily held in the transit camp of Birke-
nau with their parents to await their deaths. Occasionally another selection was made, 
and a few older children were assigned to work details or were sent on to other camps. 
Some of the children were abused for medical experiments. Out of an estimated 6,700 
Jewish children registered in Auschwitz, a mere 451 survived. 22

The first children in Blechhammer were the Jewish elder’s son and daughter, Hein-
rich and Halina Demerer. They lived in the Sosnowiec ghetto with their mother until 
the liquidation commenced in May 1943. Karl Demerer had pleaded with the Schmelt 
Office for a long time to be granted permission to take his family to Blechhammer. The 
Schmelt representative, SS Obersturmführer Alfred Ludwig, eventually offered to save 
his wife and children from being deported as a “reward” for his service as Jewish elder. 
Amid the ongoing mass deportations to Auschwitz, the Demerers were escorted to the 
Schmelt Office’s headquarters in Sosnowiec to have lunch with Ludwig. Later, an SS 
guard boarded a passenger train to Ehrenforst (Sławięcice) with them, from where they 
were driven to Blechhammer by car. 23 The Demerers were nevertheless not allowed to 
live together as a family. Thirteen-year-old Halina and her mother had to move to the 
women’s camp section, and twelve-year-old Heinrich was accommodated in a barrack 
with functionary prisoners, the cook, the hairdresser, and a shoemaker. During the day 
he assisted the shoemaker in his workshop. In a postwar memoir, he delineated how 
a profound sadness had overcome him when he learned that his former friends from 
Sosnowiec had all perished in Auschwitz. Curiously, he never mentioned the arrival of 
dozens of other children from the ghettos in Blechhammer. 24
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The thirty boys rescued from the transit camp by the Jewish elder in summer 1943 
were between eleven and fifteen years old. The children had calfactor jobs in the camp 
and later also worked on the OHW construction site. When the inmates of camp Rei-
gersfeld (Birawa) were transferred to Blechhammer in 1943, the number of children rose 
to fifty. 25 Teenagers deported from Drancy and selected for work by Haunschild during 
the “Cosel period” in 1942 were also taken to Blechhammer in the course of 1943. In 
August 1943 a group of twenty-two boys aged between eleven and seventeen from the 
Będzin ghetto had been selected to work in Karwin, a Schmelt camp in a part of Mora-
via incorporated into Upper Silesia. When it had become clear after a few days that they 
could not cope with the heavy labor, they were sent to Blechhammer as well. 26 The boys 
formed a detail of their own and lived together in a room of a barrack. The child sur-
vivor Gunter Faerber, who was in the group from Karwin, recalled that they were so 
exhausted from the work that they did not even start fights among each other. They 
usually communicated in Yiddish, as other languages, such as German or Polish, were 
considered undesirable. Those unable to speak Yiddish thus quickly had to learn it. 27

The growing pressure on concentration camps to support the war effort resulted in 
an order by Himmler that all juvenile prisoners should learn a trade. In 1942 a school for 
masonry was established in Auschwitz-Birkenau to train Jewish and non-Jewish boys. 28 
Similarly, a small fraction of teenagers from Blechhammer were sent to a trade school 
to attend five-week programs. However, the children put at the disposal of contract-
ing companies at the OHW free of charge as alleged “apprentices” were mostly allo-
cated to menial jobs, such as unloading cement sacks, instead of being trained. 29 About 
twenty of the boys aged eleven to fourteen were deployed in a work detail of their own 
to fetch firewood from the forest surrounding the camp. They also had to clean tree 
roots of soil after a tractor had pulled them out. 30 They were supervised by a Wehrmacht 
guard who, according to Jewish camp physician Wollenberg, was “a well-meaning and 
good-hearted person,” who cared for the boys “like a father.” As soon as the detail had 
reached the forest, he would make a little shelter for the children and let them sleep in 
it while he collected the firewood himself. Later the children were distributed among 
adult work details as calfactors. Wollenberg felt they were being “spoiled” by everyone, 
and especially by the British POWs, who showered them with chocolates and sand-
wiches. He apparently underrated the paramount importance of the extra food to the 
children’s survival. Above all, Wollenberg excoriated their lack of education and man-
ners and the fact that none of the adult prisoners ever reprimanded them for their “in-
appropriate” behavior. To survive, many of the children had started to pilfer, and they 
bartered on the construction site, just like the adults. 31 More than anyone else, the 
children seemed to reflect the effects of the enforced change of paradigms in the Nazi 
camps, where moral values had become corrupted and previous notions of good and 
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evil had been reversed. At second glance, Wollenberg’s criticism was not so much di-
rected against the children as against the adult prisoners, whose struggle to stay alive 
had compelled them to adapt to the new, gruesome realities. The adults were too pre-
occupied with the heavy work and their own existential crises to organize clandestine 
teaching for the young inmates, as was done in ghettos like Terezín and the “family 
camp” at Birkenau. 32

Even worse, the adult prisoners were unable to protect the children from moles-
tation by the German camp personnel. The sexual abuse of children in concentration 
camps was commonplace, and evidently the Schmelt camps were no exception. 33 Hoff-
mann’s deputy Wilhelm Pfeiffer often handed out extra food rations to the boys. How-
ever, Pfeiffer’s generosity was not based on altruism, but merely a trick to lure the young 
prisoners into his apartment so he could abuse them. His “appetite for boys” was well 
known among the adult inmates. He had a habit of going into barracks in the evenings 
to distribute biscuits and prunes among the children, and he invited some of them to 
his place in the old camp kitchen for free meals and “some fun.” One of them was Art 
G., then fourteen years old, who had accepted Pfeiffer’s invitations several times, along 
with his friends. It was only after a while that he realized that some of his friends were 
being molested on these occasions, and he stopped going there. The fifteen-year-old 
messenger Kurt Moses was frequently abused by Pfeiffer. One time a fellow inmate 
on night guard duty found his bed empty and had the camp searched for young Kurt. 
At 2.30 a.m. he was finally seen coming out of Pfeiffer’s quarters. He pleaded that he 
not be punished for his absence, asserting that he was “a powerless slave.” The juvenile 
prisoners avoided speaking about the abuse among each other. 34 Wilhelm Pfeiffer ap-
peared as a witness in the postwar trial of Erich Hoffmann in Munich but was never 
charged himself. 35

T H E T R A NS F E R OF F E M A L E PR I SON E R S 
TO F U T U R E G ROS S-ROSE N S U BC A M PS

In preparation for the beginning of the dissolution of Schmelt’s system, large numbers 
of female Blechhammer prisoners were relocated to camps for women, which were 
gradually taken over by the Gross-Rosen concentration camp. As of spring 1943, female 
Blechhammer inmates were transferred to Schatzlar (Žacléř) in Sudeten to work in a 
spinning mill. In the summer others were sent to a newly opened camp for women in 
Langenbielau (Bielawa), comprising a spinning mill and an ammunition factory. The 
latter claimed very high death tolls due to exposure to toxic explosives. Some of the 
women passing through the Blechhammer transit camp in the late summer were also 
transferred to a spinning mill in Neusalz (Nowa Sól) in Lower Silesia. By the end of 
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the year, fifty-five hundred female inmates of former Schmelt camps had been incor-
porated into the Gross-Rosen satellite system. They represented about two-thirds of 
Gross-Rosen’s total female prisoner population. 36

Shortly before the takeover of Blechhammer in January 1944, the Auschwitz admin-
istration demanded that 100 of the camp’s 160 female prisoners leave. As the destination 
was unspecified, none of the women volunteered. The Jewish elder thus took the pain-
ful decision to put the names of his own wife and daughter on top of the transport list 
to gain the other women’s trust. There was a strict selection for young women with good 
eyesight and apt hands, as they were supposed to regulate timers for bombs. The camp 
they were taken to was Peterswaldau (Pieszyce), an ammunition factory with a newly 
established camp for women, which was about to become a subcamp of Gross-Rosen. 
The takeover was finalized in April 1944. One of the women from Blechhammer was 
appointed Jewish elder in Peterswaldau. However, Karl Demerer only learned that his 
wife and daughter were still alive and where they had been taken when Schmelt rep-
resentative Alfred Ludwig came by for an inspection several weeks later. 37 On the very 
morning of the women’s departure, one hundred young females from Będzin replaced 
them. 38 They were transferred to Blechhammer from a camp set up after the liquidation 
of the ghetto of Będzin in August 1943, which had just been disbanded. 39

T H E C A M P FOR T H E S ICK A N D CON VA L E SCE N T 
(K R A N K E N- U N D E R HOLU NG S L AGE R)  A N D 

T H E PU N I SH M E N T C A M P (ST R A F L AGE R)

Following the launch of ghetto liquidations in the summer of 1942, the Schmelt Of-
fice no longer permitted the referral of critically ill prisoners to the Jewish hospital of 
Sosnowiec. Alternatively, special units for the sick and convalescent were set up in sev-
eral Schmelt camps from late 1942. Their function was highly ambivalent. At first they 
undoubtedly reflected the WVHA’s short-lived attempts to comply with Speer’s de-
mand to support the war economy by boosting the prisoners’ output. However, within 
several months they were transformed from care units providing limited medical aid 
into mere collection points for Auschwitz transports and additional killing facilities. 40

The first sick camps were established at Ottmuth (Otmęt), Annaberg (Góra Świętej 
Anny), and Sakrau (Zakrzów). Initially there was a triage of the patients into convales-
cents and emaciated prisoners likely to regain their full ability to work after some “feed-
ing up,” those expected to recuperate within a given period of time, and gravely ill or in-
jured inmates. The latter were invariably murdered in Auschwitz, while the other two 
groups stood a certain chance of returning to labor camps alive. Especially Annaberg, 
which served as a sick camp from November 27, 1942, until June 1943, still had a fairly 
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good reputation among the inmates. 41 In Parschnitz (Poříčí, Sudeten), a sick camp be-
gan to be built on the grounds of the Alois Haase factory in 1943. It was only completed 
on February 4, 1944, one month before the takeover by Gross-Rosen. 42

Brande (Prądy) exemplifies the gradual transformation of a sick camp into a killing 
center. With the cessation of highway construction, the former RAB camp was turned 
into a camp for the sick in December 1942. Guard duty officer Kurt Bruno Pompe, to-
gether with a civilian camp leader named Thien, selected prisoners who had not recov-
ered after six weeks for transports to Auschwitz. The victims were isolated days before 
a transport without receiving any medical care. Pompe and Thien frequently exposed 
them to very cold water, which caused fatalities. The practice of water-induced mur-
ders was intensified from April 1943, when Schmelt’s deputy Heinrich Lindner was de-
ployed in Brande. Almost every night, unfit prisoners whose beds had been marked 
with a red cross were drowned in the washroom by Pompe or died of hypothermia. 
Under threats of sending them to Auschwitz, he coerced two Jewish functionaries, the 
camp policeman Icek Rosenzweig, and a head of column to collaborate. When Brande 
was dissolved at the end of August 1943, Pompe, Rosenzweig, and the Jewish medi-
cal staff were relocated to Blechhammer. 43 From then on Rosenzweig, a half-Jewish 
German, was forced to commit murders for Hoffmann. Thus, he and the camp police-
man Rauch once had to strangle a young female prisoner. After the war, Rosenzweig 
was charged with murder before a Jewish Honor Court in a displaced persons’ camp. 44 
These courts primarily had a cathartic function to alleviate the moral dilemma facing 
Jewish communities by having to integrate former functionary prisoners, who were per-
ceived as “collaborators.” Rosenzweig’s case is a drastic example of the German perpe-
trators’ attempts to incriminate their victims, whose leeway for action was minuscule. 45 
Forcing prisoners to assist in the murder of their comrades was also part of a perfidious 
strategy in Nazi camps to break up their solidarity. 46

Blechhammer operated a sick camp from September 1, 1943, until the Auschwitz 
takeover in April 1944. In stark contrast to its predecessors, Blechhammer was merely 
used as a collection point for transports to Auschwitz. The incoming prisoners were no 
longer segregated by triage and received no medical attention. 47 This signaled the end 
of the Schmelt Office’s feeble concessions to Speer’s call for higher work productivity. 48 
The camp infirmary compound was extended to barracks thirteen and fourteen. The 
adjacent washroom barrack was stripped of all sanitary facilities and transformed into 
a gruesome isolation cell for prisoners from Blechhammer and other Schmelt camps 
who had been selected for Auschwitz. 49 Tragically, some prisoners “volunteered” for 
the sick camp, as they had lost their will to live entirely. The sick were kept naked on 
straw bedding in despicably unhygienic conditions. Once a day, half a food ration was 
thrown in through a window. Their ordeal often lasted for weeks, until sufficient num-
bers had been gathered for a transport. An average of four hundred prisoners were sent 
to Auschwitz on each of these occasions. 50 Nobody was permitted to enter the barrack. 
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Individual prisoners nonetheless tried to catch a glimpse of their friends or relatives 
through the window and were horrified by what they saw: “Locked up like wild ani-
mals, they did not wash, defecated in the room, and touched the smaller part of our ra-
tions. On visiting them, I had the impression of being in a zoo. Their facial expressions 
were really savage and made them look even worse.” 51

Reprehensibly, the inmates were still made to believe that they would be transferred 
to the Jewish hospital of Sosnowiec and could go home later, even though the hospi-
tal had already been liquidated in June 1943. Blechhammer survivor Gucia Ferst, who 
worked in the kitchen, became a firsthand witness to several incidents in the sick camp. 
She related how, one day, a group of girls arrived in that camp section who were over-
joyed, thinking they would return to their homes. They were all murdered in Auschwitz 
a few hours later. Camp leader Erich Hoffmann committed a series of atrocities in the 
sick camp. One of the victims was a prisoner selected for Auschwitz who managed to 
hide under a barrack roof until the transport had left without him. Hoffmann started 
a feverish search, and when he finally found the man, he killed him in an utterly brutal 
fashion. Ferst could see from the kitchen window how the prisoner’s skull split open un-
der Hoffmann’s boots, and his brain was splattered over the ground. 52 Hoffmann also or-
dered Pompe to strangle two pregnant women immediately after his arrival from Brande. 
During his brief tenure in Blechhammer, Pompe supervised the female inmates. 53

Unlike in Brande, mass killings of the unfit in the camp itself were an exception. One 
such case occurred in winter 1943, when a transport of sick female prisoners arrived. 
Sensing what was in store for them, the women started to panic. The camp personnel ap-
parently decided to murder them on the spot by using the death bath procedure. Gucia 
Ferst saw how the female prisoners were led into a washroom barrack, where they were 
sprinkled with cold water. For some time she heard their screams, then the women be-
came quiet. Later some of the prisoner physicians were called to confirm their deaths. 54 
Similar ad hoc killings are known to have taken place in Auschwitz, whenever individ-
ual deportees tried to warn others about entering the gas chambers. 55

The events in the sick camp made the reality of the Shoah palpable to the other 
prisoners: “We could not believe what happened in Auschwitz in the beginning, then 
we saw transports with naked people from other camps going through Blechhammer, 
they had no dignity left. . . . Those transports made their mark, we finally realized this 
was no joke.” 56

The sick camp began to be used for sending up to two-thirds of the prisoners of dis-
banded Schmelt camps passing through Blechhammer to Auschwitz. They were killed 
without necessarily being unfit for work. 57 Their large-scale murder complied with 
Himmler’s May order to liquidate the majority of the Schmelt camps, and Blechham-
mer facilitated these final steps in the annihilation of the Eastern Upper Silesian Jewry. 58

The sick camp had an added function as a punishment camp (Straflager). This was 
a new development in the Schmelt camp system. The prisoners usually were sent to 
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punishment camps for a limited time to be reprimanded for various offenses by way of 
hard labor, and they subsequently returned to their regular workplaces. However, the 
punishment section at Blechhammer only served to detain inmates supposed to be sent 
to Auschwitz for transgressions, such as escape attempts. On average, up to one hun-
dred prisoners were held in the camp for this purpose. Hence, two formerly separate en-
tities in Schmelt’s system, camps for the sick and punishment camps, were fused into a 
single facility with the sole purpose of murdering the respective inmates. 59 In rare cases, 
another selection for the fit was made in the sick camp, when there was an urgent need 
for laborers. A Schmelt representative with a limp, probably Haunschild, once pulled 
out a considerable number of prisoners from the roughly four hundred men about to 
be sent to Auschwitz. This saved the life of a healthy prisoner from camp Sackenhoym, 
who was supposed to go to Auschwitz for punishment. 60

Similar to the transit camp, the modified variant of a sick camp set up in Blech-
hammer was intrinsically linked to the implementation of the Final Solution in East-
ern Upper Silesia. Instead of providing medical care to sick and unfit prisoners, its only 
purpose was to have them killed in the gas chambers in great numbers. The sick camp 
was simultaneously used for sending up to two-thirds of the inmate population of dis-
banded Schmelt camps to Auschwitz, regardless of their condition. 61 Along the same 
lines, prisoners sentenced to punishment camps were now simply added to the sick to 
be gassed in Auschwitz. 62 Blechhammer was placed at the end of a continuum mov-
ing from genuine aid to the sick to their large-scale, unspecific murder. The sick camp 
turned Blechhammer into a major cog in the wheel of the genocidal machinery of death 
at Auschwitz, annihilating not merely the ghetto population, but increasingly also the 
inmates of labor camps.

CONCLUS ION: T H E CL OS I NG 
CH A P T E R — BL ECH H A M M E R DU R I NG T H E 

F I NA L PH A SE OF T H E SCH M E LT C A M P S Y S T E M

Owing to the OHW’s significance in the war economy, Blechhammer was among the 
forty-three Schmelt camps about to be incorporated into the satellite systems of Aus-
chwitz and Gross-Rosen. On the eve of the Auschwitz takeover in spring 1944, 13 per-
cent of the twenty-five thousand Schmelt prisoners who were still alive were detained 
in Blechhammer. Despite the apparent increase in the camp’s inmate population, it is 
strikingly obvious that the overall number of Schmelt camp prisoners had decreased 
by 50 percent compared to the previous year. 63 The percentage of prisoners who per-
ished between January 1943 and April 1944 must have been even larger than suggested 
by the aforementioned figures, if one takes into account that the last able-bodied men 
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and women from the liquidated ghettos were forced into these labor camps on top of 
the existing inmate population. Altogether, the number of Schmelt prisoners could 
have reached seventy-five thousand (including nine thousand “Cosel men” imported 
from western Europe), implying a total death toll of fifty thousand. Considering that 
an estimated fifty-five thousand people were deported from the Eastern Upper Sile-
sian ghettos, it must be concluded that camps like Blechhammer were responsible for 
the murder of nearly half the Jewish population in the area. 64

Speer’s pressure to enforce higher productivity contributed to an increase in the 
mortality of the Jewish prisoners, whose general living conditions deteriorated, and 
who were subjected to violent assaults as well as a hazardous work environment. The 
intensification of the murders of sick and unfit inmates was facilitated by the perpetra-
tors’ interchangeability. The delegation of killings and selections from authorities such 
as the SS or the Gestapo to civilian auxiliaries was a typical development linked to the 
intensifying lack of personnel toward the end of the war. 65 Interestingly, the Schmelt 
Office did not draw on the Wehrmacht guards to commit these atrocities.

Following Himmler’s decision to liquidate the ghettos, Blechhammer’s transit camp 
became a key point for segregating the Jewish population. Utilizing the infrastruc-
ture of a privatized industrial concern, members of the Schmelt Office and the Reich 
Highway Company, who were not directly connected to the Auschwitz concentration 
camp, selected children, pregnant women, and the elderly for death in the gas cham-
bers. The camp for the sick and convalescent, with its added function as a punishment 
camp, merely served as a collection point for Auschwitz. Both the transit camp and 
the sick camp were used to send most inmates of disbanded Schmelt camps to their 
deaths. Evidently, Blechhammer was integral to the implementation of the Shoah in 
Eastern Upper Silesia in 1943. The purportedly “economically” motivated exemption of 
a small fraction of Schmelt camp inmates from the deportations to Auschwitz in sum-
mer 1943 was by no means lifesaving. With mortality rates of up to 95 percent, camps 
like Blechhammer were not “sanctuaries” but part and parcel of the annihilatory policy 
relentlessly pursued against the Jews. 66 Countless young, able-bodied men and women 
had perished in these camps long before the onset of mass deportations decimated the 
ghetto inhabitants. Their exorbitant death tolls were just not in line with the German 
economy’s alleged need for Jewish workers. Rather than supporting the war effort in a 
meaningful way, the Schmelt camps served to concentrate, weaken, and eliminate those 
among the Jewish population who were the most likely to put up resistance. 67 The ac-
tive role played by Schmelt’s staff in selections and murders in camps and ghettos in 
1942 and 1943 clearly refutes the common narrative that the Schmelt Office had slowed 
down or even resisted the Nazis’ genocidal plans in the region to extract more prof-
its from Jewish labor. 68 In summary, Jewish work deployment in Schmelt camps and 
the Holocaust were not conflicting policies, but closely correlated with one another. 69
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B E C O M I N G 
“L I T T L E AUS C H WI T Z”

The Takeover of Blechhammer 
in April 1944

T he Auschwitz administration started negotiations regarding 
the takeover of Blechhammer on December 15, 1943, during an official visit by 
Heinrich Schwarz, the commandant of Auschwitz III. 1 Over the following 

months Schwarz, the Gross-Rosen commandant Hassebroek, and HSSPF Schmauser 
prepared for the incorporation of up to twenty-five thousand Schmelt inmates into 
their subcamp systems. In the end, Auschwitz gained fifteen new satellites and Gross-
Rosen twenty-eight. 2 On March 12, 1944, Gerhard Maurer, the head of the WVHA’s 
work deployment department, came to Blechhammer to discuss the future use of prison 
labor with the industrialists. 3 At the end of March the first inmates from disbanded 
Schmelt camps arrived in Blechhammer, among them Borsigwerke, Malapane, Peiskret-
scham (Pyskowice), and Bobrek. 4 On Saturday, April 1, 1944, Blechhammer was trans-
formed into an Auschwitz satellite. Heinrich Schwarz personally attended the first roll 
call, remarking to the prisoners that he had never seen so much misery and dirt. Inter-
estingly, Schmelt’s deputy, Heinrich Lindner, was present during the takeover. 5 The 
Schmelt Office’s headquarters had been relocated to Annaberg after the liquidation 
of the Sosnowiec ghetto in 1943. With the final dismantling of its camp system, the 
Schmelt Office turned to the management of Polish labor until January 1945. Anna-
berg was still used for sorting and mending the shoes of murdered Eastern Upper Sile-
sian Jews. Schmelt was forced to retire in 1944 under allegations of embezzlement. He 
committed suicide in 1945. Lindner was arrested after the war and killed himself be-
fore his impending extradition to Poland in 1949. Some of their coworkers were tried 
in 1967 but received no prison terms. 6

The Highway Company’s administration of the camp was also terminated in April 
1944. Both camp leaders left Blechhammer within the first month of the takeover. Erich 
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Hoff mann allegedly had ten trucks fi lled with food supplies removed from the camp 
before the SS arrived. He returned to his hometown, Breslau, until January 10, 1945, 
when he fl ed to southern Germany with his family. He then worked as a truck driver for 
the police in Pasing near Munich. Hoff mann fi led for denazifi cation before a Munich 
court in April 1946, but moved to Nordhorn, Lower Saxony, a few months later, hop-
ing to be denazifi ed quicker in the British sector. His second denazifi cation in North-
ern Germany went smoothly, yet the Munich court, which was still probing his case, 
issued an arrest warrant in November 1946. Hoff mann was tried in absentia on July 23, 
1947. Karl Demerer and other former Blechhammer prisoners were called as witnesses, 
and Hoff mann was sentenced to ten years in a penitentiary. Meanwhile, Hoff mann was 
arrested in the British sector and was extradited to Polish authorities on October 14, 
1947. On May 25, 1948, the Polish District Court of Gliwice sentenced him to death. 
Hoff mann was hanged in Gliwice on November 13, 1948. 7

Th e organizational structure of Blechhammer was adapted to that of the Auschwitz 
concentration camp, resulting in the implementation of an almost identical adminis-
trative apparatus and a massive increase in camp personnel. Among the SS, Blechham-
mer soon became known as Little Auschwitz (Klein-Auschwitz). 8 Altogether, six de-
partments were established.

Th e fi rst one was the Commandant’s Offi  ce (Kommandantur), represented by the 
camp leader, SS Hauptsturmführer Otto Brossmann. Th e schoolteacher from Sudeten 

(born in Brawin in 1889) joined the Nazi 
Party and the SS in November 1938. Un-
til the start of his tenure in Blechhammer 
on April 1, 1944, he had served in Aus-
chwitz and the Jaworzno subcamp. 9 Sur-
vivors described Brossmann as a “sadist,” 
who frequently mistreated the prisoners 
and carried out fl oggings himself. 10 He 
was arrested by Poland in December 1948. 
A death sentence by the district court of 
Cracow was converted into a prison term, 
leading to his acquittal on January 4, 1950. 
He died in Lohr/Main in 1957. 11

Brossmann was replaced by Unter-
sturmführer Kurt Klipp on November 9, 
1944. Th e merchant (born in Cologne in 
1907) and cavalry and infantry sergeant 
of the reserve entered the SS in October 
1936 and joined the Nazi Party a year later. 
He had a successful career, with deploy-

SS camp leader Otto Brossmann. 
(Source: IPN Kr-11-1-261-1-1)
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ments in the Dachau and Flossenbürg concentration camps. In June 1942 he was ap-
pointed camp leader of an SS POW camp in Lublin and later held the same position 
in the SS labor camp Truppenübungsplatz Heidelager in Dębica. Oswald Pohl of the 
WVHA paid out a 500 RM bonus to Klipp in December 1943 for “loyal services,” and 
he received a “Yule candelabra” from Himmler. He was also awarded the war service 
cross (Kriegsverdienstkreuz) with swords. The thumb and index finger of his left hand 
were missing. Klipp, who was married and had a daughter, was a member of the SS Leb-
ensborn. From August 1944, he spent a brief period in Auschwitz, before coming to 
Blechhammer. After the evacuation, he served as a camp leader in Bergen-Belsen. Klipp 
was arrested by the British in April 1945 but died of typhus in the Oerbke internment 
camp before being put on trial. 12

All camp leaders of Auschwitz satellites reported to the commandant of Monow-
itz (Auschwitz III) Heinrich Schwarz, whose superior was SS Gruppenführer Richard 
Glücks of the WVHA in Berlin. 13

The camp leader commanded the seventh SS Death’s Head Battalion (Totenkopf- 
Bataillon) of Blechhammer, one of seven battalions formed in May 1944 by Schwarz 
to serve in larger Auschwitz subcamps. The Blechhammer guards were overseen by SS 
Oberscharführer Klingberg, a sixty-year-old from Breslau. 14 Conscriptions of SS men 
to the front, coupled with rising prisoner numbers, led to the utilization of foreign col-
laborators and Wehrmacht soldiers in concentration camps. Following the successful 
deployment of soldiers in Schmelt camps, Speer convinced Hitler to make ten thou-
sand convalescents and over-forty-year-olds from an Army unit retreating from the 
Crimea available for guard duties in spring 1944. The influx of soldiers increased when 
Himmler gained control over the reserve army in October 1944. The soldiers were only 
incorporated into the SS in September 1944 and eventually represented more than half 
of all camp guards. 15 The Wehrmacht guards already stationed in Blechhammer since 
early 1943 were taken over by the SS and reinforced with newly assigned soldiers, who 
had undergone a few days’ training in Auschwitz. 16

The camp leader had a deputy, the second-in-command or Rapportführer, whose 
superior was Obersturmführer Vinzenz Schöttl, the leader of the protective custody 
camp department (Schutzhaftlager) of Auschwitz III. The department managed the 
prisoners’ work deployment, prepared daily strength reports, and was authorized to 
carry out punishments. 17

The first second-in-command of Blechhammer was Unterscharführer Hans Stefan 
Olejak, born in Kunzendorf, Upper Silesia, in 1918. His career in the SS was the result 
of an early commitment to ethnic German political organizations. He joined the eth-
nic German party Deutsche Partei at age seventeen and volunteered for a paramilitary 
unit, the Volksdeutscher Selbstschutz, 18 which the Germans established on Polish soil 
when war broke out. The unit assisted the SS and SD in raids and executions before 
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Himmler had its members recruited into SS and party organizations in November 1939. 
Olejak, then an unskilled worker without employment, thus joined the Waffen-SS in 
December 1939. Due to cardiac insufficiency, he was transferred to the SS and served 
as a block leader in the men’s quarantine camp in Auschwitz-Birkenau from May 1940. 
In January 1942, Olejak was decorated with the war service cross, second class with 
swords and got promoted to Unterscharführer eight months later. He was appointed 
second-in-command of the Jaworzno subcamp in June 1943, until his transfer to Blech-
hammer in April 1944. He left Blechhammer together with Otto Brossmann to be-
come the camp leader of the Tschechowitz subcamp in November 1944. In May 1945 
he was captured by British troops while serving in an SS tank artillery battalion; he was 
released in June 1948. In July 1976 he was put on trial for crimes committed on the Ja-
worzno death march but was acquitted by a West German court due to lack of evidence. 
He had mood swings spiraling into “ravaging fury” at times. 19 He could be very hard on 
the prisoners but also had a lenient side. 20 A Jewish survivor, who had worked in a spin-
ning mill with Olejak before the war, rated his behavior as “correct” but intimidating. 21

Olejak was replaced by Oberscharführer Karl Czapla, who arrived in mid-October 
1944 from Auschwitz-Birkenau, where he had held the position of second-in-command 
of the men’s quarantine camp BIIa. Czapla, an unskilled laborer born in Bismarckhütte, 
Upper Silesia, in 1911, had worked in the subscription office of a local newspaper, the 
Oberschlesischer Kurier, before joining the SS in April 1940. After only two months, kid-
ney disease terminated his deployment in the SS Death’s Head Regiment Ostmark in 
Prague, and he took up guard duties in concentration camps in Ebelsberg, Oranien-
burg, Hinzert, and Fallersleben. In August 1942 he was appointed second-in-command 
of the Dębica labor camp and came to Birkenau in April 1944. Czapla spent three years 
in Allied custody after being captured in June 1945. He was tried before a French Mil-
itary Court in Rastatt for crimes committed in Blechhammer and Birkenau but was 
acquitted in May 1948. He also walked out of the Frankfurt Auschwitz Trials as a free 
man and died during another trial in 1976. 22 Czapla is a good example of the rapidly 
advancing careers of ethnic Germans in the SS during the war years. 23 He was not asso-
ciated with atrocities in the camp itself but reportedly shot prisoners during the evac-
uation in 1945. 24

The second-in-command was assisted by several block leaders. Block leaders, usu-
ally with the rank of Unterscharführer, were located at the bottom of the SS hierarchy. 
They had the most direct contacts with the prisoners, as they counted them during roll 
calls, dealt out punishments, and oversaw the blocks. One of them, SS Rottenführer 
Karl Masseli, managed the prisoners’ work deployment and acted as the main interme-
diary between the camp leadership and the OHW plant. He reported to the indepen-
dent subdepartment IIIa for work deployment at Auschwitz. 25 Born in Stephanshain/
Gross-Strehlitz (Strzelce Opolskie), Upper Silesia, in 1907, the blacksmith joined the 
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Waffen-SS in 1940 but then served as a concentration camp guard in Sachsenhausen 
and Auschwitz. From early 1942, Masseli was responsible for work deployments in Jaw-
ischowitz and later Lagischa. He claimed he had been transferred to Blechhammer due 
to a dispute with the cook, which had also earned him three days of detention in Aus-
chwitz. He admitted to having smacked prisoners in the face. Masseli was captured by 
the Soviets, extradited to Poland, and sentenced to five years in prison for having been 
a member of the SS and an Auschwitz guard. In 1958 he and his family moved to West 
Germany. He appeared in two trials about Blechhammer, in 1973 and 1977. 26

Blechhammer had one of five detachments of the Political Department (Politische 
Abteilung) of Auschwitz. It was headed by SS Unterscharführer Otto Ewald Albin 
Schmidt, born in Großberndten in 1906, whose superior was Johann Taute of the de-
tachment in Monowitz. Political departments represented the police in concentra-
tion camps and were subordinated to the Gestapo and the Reich Security Main Office 
(RSHA). They kept prisoner records, led interrogations, filed penal reports to Berlin, 
and oversaw executions. 27 Schmidt was infamous for torturing prisoners until they 
signed alleged “confessions” or died from his abuse. 28 He was involved in the shooting 
of stragglers on the death march of January 1945. After the war, the butcher from Go-
slar was recognized by a Blechhammer survivor who lived in the same town. The wit-
ness stated that Schmidt had avoided capture by pretending to be a regular soldier. 29 
However, as Schmidt had officially been reported as missing and was eventually de-
clared dead, investigations regarding his case were soon closed. 30

Auschwitz and its satellites were supplied with food by the wholesaler Deutsche 
Lebensmittelwerke, which replaced Blechhammer’s previous supplier, Broemel & Sohn. 
The camp kitchen was overseen by an SS man of small stature, nicknamed “Napoleon” 
or “Bonaparte.” His real name could have been SS Sturmmann Johann Repczuk, a for-
mer guard who joined the Auschwitz administration in December 1942. 31

The clothes depot of Blechhammer was headed by Adolf Schindler, born in Einsie-
del, Sudeten, in 1921. Due to a head injury he incurred while serving in the Waffen-SS 
in Russia in 1942, he was allocated to managing clothes and furniture in Oranienburg, 
Dachau, and Auschwitz. From spring 1944, Schindler was housing manager (Unter-
kunftsverwalter) in Blechhammer and supervised the shoemaker’s, carpenter’s, and tai-
lor’s workshops as well as the clothes and furniture supplies. He was infamous for let-
ting prisoners freeze to death. 32 He was captured by US troops in Austria but released 
from custody three and a half months later. 33

Apart from Monowitz, there were no SS physicians in the subcamps. Their tasks 
were partially taken over by SS medical orderlies or Sanitäts-Dienstgrade (SDG), who, 
except for a short introductory course at the SS Sanitätsschule in Oranienburg, re-
ceived no medical training. They supervised the prisoner physicians and admission into 
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the infirmary, made selections, and administered lethal injections. The SDG reported 
to the chief physician of Monowitz, whose superiors were the area chief physician 
(Standortarzt) of Auschwitz, Eduard Wirths, and Enno Lolling of the WVHA’s Of-
fice for Sanitation and Camp Hygiene in Berlin. 34 Four SDGs were installed in Blech-
hammer in quick succession. The first was Oberscharführer Herbert Scherpe (1907, 
Gleiwitz) who only stayed for one month. The butcher, who had been an SDG in Aus-
chwitz, purported that he had asked to be transferred to the subcamps after experienc-
ing a “moral dilemma” while carrying out an order to murder children with phenol in-
jections. He was sentenced to four and a half years in prison by a Frankfurt court as an 
accessory to murder in at least seven hundred cases. 35 His successor until September 
1944 was Sturmmann Peter Quirin (1902, Fischbach), a miner and early member of the 
Nazi Party, who enlisted in the SS in 1937 and in the Waffen-SS in 1942. He started to 
train as an SDG in Oranienburg in March 1943 and spent a short time in Auschwitz. 
Quirin later claimed he had tended to SS guards in Heydebreck between November 
1943 and November 1944. He denied not only his deployment in Blechhammer but 
also his ensuing transfer to Jawischowitz. Blechhammer inmates described him as par-
ticularly cruel. He was captured after the war and held in custody until February 1948. 36 
It seems that Quirin changed places with the acting SDG of Jawischowitz, the Bavar-
ian Sturmführer Kaufmann, who filled the gap until the arrival of Hauptscharführer 
H. Müller in November 1944. 37

The utilization of non-Jewish criminal Kapos, so-called Berufsverbrecher (BVer), 
was novel. Marked with green triangles, they had volunteered to serve in the Sach-
senhausen concentration camp in return for an early release from prison. From May 
1940, they were also placed in Auschwitz. 38 One of the Kapos, Walter Redock (Lieg-
nitz/Leszno, 1906–Osterode, 1973), who assisted Schindler in the clothes depot and 
the crematorium, had been imprisoned in Darmstadt for murder since October 1939. 39 
He showed excessively violent behavior toward the Jewish inmates. Another murderer, 
the Polish Kapo Felix, supervised the SS kitchen. There was a single Roma among them, 
whose name was Manni or Mouni. Sentenced to twenty-five years in prison for forgery, 
he was a gifted musician, a talent he had in common with the other two Kapos, who all 
performed in the Jewish camp orchestra from fall 1944. 40

“AUSCH W I T Z C A M E TO US ”:  T H E I M PL E M E N TAT ION 
OF AUSCH W I T Z RU L E I N BL ECH H A M M E R

The announcement of the impending Auschwitz takeover stirred up fears in the pris-
oners that they would all be murdered. The then teenage inmate Israel Rosengarten 
was relieved to learn that they would not be taken to Auschwitz, “but Auschwitz came 
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to us.” 41 Others viewed the change in leadership with indifference: “Both pursued the 
same goal: our disappearance. It did not make a difference to me whether their uni-
forms were yellow or green.” 42

On April 8, 1944, the Saturday before Easter, a van with thirty prisoners, who were 
experts in tattooing and normally worked in the reception office (Aufnahmebüro) of 
the Political Department of Auschwitz, came to Blechhammer. The order that all pris-
oners were to take a shower caused a panic, as rumors had spread of the gas cham-
bers in Auschwitz being camouflaged as showers. The prisoners calmed down when 
the first cohorts returned from the washroom barracks alive. Later, they were clad in 
blue-and-white striped uniforms that had been sent over from Auschwitz. The new 
uniforms also came with a fresh set of underpants, a shirt, and a piece of cloth instead 
of socks. The barracks were thoroughly cleaned, and the old straw mattresses were 
burned to get rid of the lice. The regular inmates noted with satisfaction that the Jew-
ish elder and prisoner functionaries were now required to wear the same uniform as 
themselves and had their heads shaved. 43 The female inmates received blue-and-white 
striped dresses and headscarves but retained their hair. 44

The prisoners were then called up in alphabetical order to be tattooed. Blechham-
mer inmates were issued general Auschwitz numbers and numbers of the A-series. From 
preserved Auschwitz documents, 3,970 numbers of male prisoners could be retrieved: 
3,946 of the general series between 10435 and 201142, and 24 of the A-series between 
A-35 and A-17530. On the day of the actual takeover, 3,056 male and 200 female pris-
oners were in Blechhammer. The tattoos not only had a psychological impact by mak-
ing the inmates feel branded like cattle, but also diminished their chances of escaping 
and caused skin inflammations. 45

The tattoos almost proved fatal to the female prisoners, who had erroneously been 
given numbers already held by prisoners in another subcamp. The new camp leader’s 
radical plans to liquidate them all in Auschwitz to set the records straight could nar-
rowly be averted by the Jewish elder. Brossmann eventually accepted Demerer’s bribes 
and had the women’s old numbers crossed out and replaced with fresh ones. 46 The ini-
tial numbers of 132 female prisoners tattooed in April 1944, ranging from 76330 to 
76462, have been retrieved. Danuta Czech assumed that not all of the two hundred 
women registered at the takeover received numbers, as they had been murdered in Aus-
chwitz for being “unfit for work.” On May 1, the second set of numbers of the lower 
79000 series was tattooed. As was common in Auschwitz, the numbers of deceased pris-
oners were reused. Some of the Auschwitz prisoners previously registered under the 
numbers later given to the female inmates had been murdered by phenol injections be-
tween October 1941 and August 1943. 47

Contrary to the Schmelt Office’s overt demonstration of violence, the SS took 
precautions to shield the inmates from public view. The work details were no longer 
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permitted to march along a main road to 
the OHW factory but had to use a newly 
paved footpath through the forest. 48

Moreover, fifty-four prisoners of the 
mason’s detail were ordered to build a 
four-meter-high concrete wall around the 
camp. The wall consisted of slabs the pris-
oners fabricated by filling concrete into 
special forms. Some inmates decided to 
seize this opportunity for a lifesaving act 
of sabotage. They manipulated the con-
crete so it would not harden properly and 
made “emergency exits” in strategic spots 
of the wall, which could easily be broken 
up in case of a mass evasion. The soft spots 
in the wall allowed prisoners to escape 
into the forest when returning SS units 
set the camp on fire during the evacua-
tion of January 1945. Finally, electric wire 
was fixed on top of the concrete wall, and 
a searchlight was installed above the en-
trance gate by the Dutch Jewish camp electrician, Maurits Bremer. 49

Rachel Brukner Frydrych with her 
husband, Arie Frydrych, showing the two 

numbers tattooed on her arm. (Source: 
YVA photo archive 3883_3617.jpg)

Camp gate and wall. (Source: APMO 10764.jpg)
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As the Auschwitz administration prohibited interments, a mobile crematorium 
with a capacity of three to five bodies was set up in early summer. Between the takeover 
and the crematorium’s delivery, the bodies were taken to Auschwitz. 50 The crematorium 
at Blechhammer was meant to relieve the crematoria of Auschwitz. 51 It was operated by 
a professional burner formerly employed by a Jewish cemetery in Vienna and his assis-
tant. Schindler and Kapo Walter Redock oversaw their work. 52 It is unclear why Schin-
dler, who represented the Administration Department, was delegated this function and 
not the Political Department, as was the rule in Auschwitz. 53 The ashes were first bur-
ied near the camp and then sold to local farmers as fertilizer. 54 The former burial detail 
and the orderlies of the infirmary were required to carry the dead to the crematorium. 55 
Witnessing the burning process was extremely disturbing to the then sixteen-year-old 
orderly Kurt Klappholz, but he later stated that the dead were still treated with dig-
nity. 56 In July 1944, young Kurt and his comrade Jules Fainzang were given the grue-
some task of cleaning out the oven, as the accumulated human ashes extinguished the 
flames. Fainzang recalled the harrowing procedure: “The conversation was held as if it 
had been about the oven of a bakery. . . . In the end, my throat was filled with the ashes 
of our comrades. By the time of the evening roll call, the oven was burning again. Life 
and death continued in the rhythm of the camp.” 57

The crematorium’s nauseating smell and widely visible flames made the passing of 
fellow prisoners more palpable than before. 58 The Jewish elder’s teenage son Hein-
rich even related that he and other inmates had been unable to eat when the oven was 
burning. 59

The mobile crematorium. (Source: APMO 4355.jpg)



114 FROM SCHMELT CAMP TO “LITTLE AUSCHWIT Z”

T H E A R R I VA L OF AUSCH W I T Z PR I SON E R S

Following the liquidation of the Eastern Upper Silesian ghettos, Blechhammer drew 
on Auschwitz prisoners. In March 1944 a group of Jewish men from Greece arrived. 60 
They had been deported to Auschwitz from Salonika and other German- and Bulgarian- 
controlled areas in Thrace and eastern Macedonia between March and August 1943. As 
the SS had projected that it would gain 10,000 Greek Jews as laborers, 8,025 men and 

4,732 women out of the 46,061 deportees were left alive. By 1944 their number had shrunk 
to 2,469; 517 of them were men detained in subcamps. Out of the approximately 18 per-
cent selected for work, 3 percent survived the Holocaust. 61 The exact number of Greek 
Jews in Blechhammer is unknown. Records show that in January 1945, two Greek sur-
vivors were liberated in Blechhammer, and the Auschwitz personnel file of one Greek 
Blechhammer prisoner could be retrieved. 62 As the anti-Jewish legislation in western 
Greece had only been implemented one month ahead of the first deportations of March 
1943, most people on the transports remained unsuspicious about their imminent murder. 
The surviving Greek Jews took longer to adjust to the realities of the concentration camps, 
and suicide rates were high. They also experienced communication problems, as most only 
spoke modern Greek and medieval Spanish. However, many had studied French in Alli-
ance Schools. 63 During the first evening roll call in Blechhammer, no one could make out 
where the newcomers were from, until a prisoner inquired whether anyone spoke French. 
An elderly Greek gentleman stepped forward, and they had a conversation. He still har-
bored the belief that he would see his wife and children again if he worked well, and the 
Blechhammer prisoner did not have the heart to tell him the truth. 64

On July 9 or 10, 1944, 528 men from the so-called family camp (Familienlager) BIIb 
at Auschwitz-Birkenau were sent to Blechhammer. They stemmed from two transports 
of Jews from Terezín (Theresienstadt), in December 1943 and May 1944. The family 
camp was the result of a propaganda campaign intended to keep the myth alive that 
Jews were put to work and not killed. The SS guaranteed these deportees from the 
Czech Protectorate, Germany, Austria, and the Netherlands that they would not be se-
lected and did not have to work for six months. They nonetheless faced terrible condi-
tions in Birkenau, with scanty food rations, a lack of drinking water, and poor hygiene. 
Five thousand Jews from an earlier transport in September 1943 were gassed in March 
1944 following the false announcement that they would be taken to a labor camp in 
Heydebreck. The members of the December transport witnessed their murder and ex-
pected to be killed as well when Mengele made selections for alleged work deployments 
in early July 1944. Altogether, thirty-five hundred men and ninety boys aged fourteen 
to sixteen were selected for subcamps like Fürstengrube and Blechhammer. The others 
were murdered on July 11–12, 1944, and the camp was liquidated. 65 Otto Deutsch was 
among those destined for Blechhammer. He related how they were driven past their 
camp in Birkenau and still could not believe that they had survived: “To the present 



115BECOMING“LITTLE AUSCHWIT Z”

day, it has never been explained to me why we (the December transport of 1943) were 
so lucky to have escaped alive from Auschwitz-Birkenau.” 66

Despite higher food allocations and slightly improved conditions, the new arriv-
als soon felt their physical strength dwindling and were wary of the risks posed by the 
frequent selections. 67 The survivor Oto Hostovsky described their ensuing misery in 
Blechhammer: “For here, the hunger is even worse than in Auschwitz, because we did 
not work so hard there. But here, we get up early, work very hard during the day and go 
to bed very late. Thus, we lose more and more weight each day.” 68

Two-thirds of those sent to labor camps from BIIb in July 1944 perished. Out of the 
family camp’s total population of 17,517, merely 6 percent survived. 69

In November 1944 the first and only non-Jewish prisoners arrived from Auschwitz. 
Up to eighty French resistance fighters arrested near Vosges for partisan activities in 
so-called Maquisards groups had been deported to Auschwitz via the Dachau con-
centration camp between October 25 and November 24, 1944. 70 Their commander, 
Henri Dolmaire, was taken to a POW camp for officers in Munster (Oflag VI). 71 The 
order to shoot all Maquisards upon capture issued by the German Army High Com-
mand in summer 1944 was not immediately carried out by all Wehrmacht and SS units. 
Therefore, some were still handed over to concentration camps. 72 In Blechhammer, 
the French, who were in a poor physical condition, were housed in a separate barrack. 
French-speaking Jewish inmates contacted them during roll calls to offer their support. 73 
One of the Maquisards reported that a Jewish prisoner had regularly passed on food 
and cigarettes to him, which he received from French POWs on the construction site. 
One day, however, the prisoner was caught and sent to a penal work detail. 74 When the 
Maquisards contracted typhus, the conductor of the Jewish camp orchestra, Czaczkes, 
helped some of them to recover by accepting them into the ensemble, where they ate 
better. 75 Owing to the Maquisards’ presence, Blechhammer presumably was the only 
Auschwitz subcamp ever inspected by the Red Cross. To prevent contacts between the 
inspector and the Jewish inmates, the SS sent everyone out to the OHW site. The soup 
was made thicker to evoke the impression that the inmates were “well-fed.” Immediately 
after the inspection, a Jewish prisoner was hanged. One witness stated that the victim 
had attempted to speak to the inspector; another related that a prisoner who normally 
worked in the camp had pilfered wire on the construction site. 76 According to a report 
by an inspector of the International Red Cross, Dr. Landolt, who visited the camp in 
January 1945, fifty Maquisards were still alive. Contrary to postwar claims by the Inter-
national Red Cross that they had been unaware of the ongoing genocide at Auschwitz, 
Dr. Landolt’s report corroborates his knowledge of the atrocious treatment of the Jew-
ish inmates of Blechhammer and the mass killings of those unfit for work. 77 The Ma-
quisards were separated from the Jewish prisoners when the evacuation trek reached 
the Gross-Rosen concentration camp in February 1945. Some of them hid in the camp 
and were liberated by the Red Army. 78
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“F ROM H E L L TO H E AV E N ”? A L L EG E D A N D AC T UA L 
I M PROV E M E N T S TO T H E L I V I NG CON DI T IONS

Increased food rations and more hygiene after the Auschwitz takeover deceived many 
inmates, including the Jewish elder Demerer, into believing that life in Blechhammer 
would improve. 1 One survivor even thought that they had come “from hell to heaven.” 2 
However, these changes were only short-lived, and the stricter Auschwitz drill posed 
additional dangers. 3 The food allocations were initially raised to four hundred grams 
of bread and one and a half liters of soup a day but were soon reduced to pre-Auschwitz 
standards of three hundred grams of bread and one liter of watery soup accompanied 
by three boiled potatoes, or three-quarters of a liter of thick soup. The prisoners also re-
ceived small quantities of either molasses, margarine, or sausage, and some milk once ev-
ery two weeks. In the mornings a half-liter of unsweetened ersatz coffee was distributed. 
Sugar was usually put into the soup or disappeared entirely. 4 The WVHA’s instructions 
of fall 1943 to issue “nutritious dishes,” not soups, remained on paper. 5 Moreover, the 
soup was now prepared with a dry mix of kohlrabi peels and nettles that came in bags 
labeled “For Jews and Russians Only.” Given the mixture’s poor quality, the prisoners 
joked that the SS should have written “For Pigs Only” on the packages. 6 As the aver-
age daily rations did not exceed fourteen hundred calories, those unable to procure ad-
ditional food quickly declined and developed hunger edema. 7 Sofsky places the root 
of the SS’s failure to genuinely improve the prisoners’ living conditions in concerns 
that they would put up resistance if they regained their physical strength. 8 The take-
over only made a difference to skilled laborers, who became eligible for heavy workers’ 
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rations amounting to 600 grams of bread on workdays, and 400 grams on weekends, 
plus weekly allocations of 250 grams of margarine, 100 grams of butter, and 300 grams 
of canned meat. 9

The barracks were now called blocks, and each had a Jewish block elder who re-
ported to an SS block leader. The block elders distributed all meals in the barracks, so 
that the prisoners no longer had to queue and endure the kitchen staff ’s chicanery. The 
mental effects of starvation nonetheless still made some believe that they were receiv-
ing less food than the others, and they projected the blame onto the block elders, who 
allegedly skimmed off the margarine and fished out the potatoes while fetching the 
soup barrels from the kitchen. 10 Admittedly, block elders, as in most camps, withheld 
food in order to hand out second helpings to individual prisoners who bribed them 
or did them favors. 11 In Blechhammer, the Jewish elder was even forced to intervene 
when some block elders procured ladles holding less than the prescribed liter and pre-
tended they were handing out full rations. Some prisoners were so infuriated that they 
started fights with their block elders. Consequently, Demerer installed a head block 
elder to ensure even soup distributions. 12 A bakery in Heydebreck that delivered the 
inmates’ bread also embezzled loaves. When an SS man discovered that each batch of 
one hundred loaves was short one, he required them to add half a loaf extra for every 
prisoner at Christmas. 13

The fact that not all prisoners possessed bowls and spoons further complicated the 
food distribution. Having to eat their soup out of washbasins with four to six others, 
these unfortunate prisoners viciously struggled for their proper share. 14 Scales were 
built to cut the bread loaves into six even pieces. The procedure was watched intently 
by all inhabitants of a barrack, who often fought over morsels of bread. 15 The starva-
tion prompted some to eat garbage. A prisoner once even caught an SS man’s cat and 
devoured it after steaming the animal in one of the plant’s hot tubes. 16 In August 1944 
the OHW constructed a new potato cellar and a luxurious stable for pigs, chicken, and 
rabbits for the SS. The work was done by twelve Soviet POWs, who for several weeks 
slept in the cellar’s foundation. Jewish inmates later tended to the animals and often 
seized the opportunity to have some of their food, which was significantly better than 
the prisoners’. 17

In summer 1944 the Blechhammer prisoners were subjected to a food experiment 
with artificial sausages that were to be tested before being offered to the German pop-
ulation. The Auschwitz administration’s central laboratory at Rajsko took samples 
from those who developed adverse intestinal reactions. 18 Since 1939, the BioSyn Soci-
ety had striven to fabricate a protein-rich meat replacement from yeast grown on sul-
fite wastewater, a by-product of the viscose rayon industry. The project had been closely 
linked to the SS from the outset, and Himmler had the first sausages tried out on con-
centration camp prisoners in Mauthausen, Dachau, Buchenwald, and Sachsenhausen 
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between summer 1943 and 1944. The tests were halted due to severe gastroenteric in-
fections caused by mycotoxins. The Blechhammer prisoners probably received the sau-
sages that came from a rayon-producing plant in Hirschberg, Upper Silesia, operated 
by Phrix works of Wittenberge. 19 It is unclear why they were the only Auschwitz pris-
oners to be included in this experiment. As Wirths, the area chief doctor of Auschwitz, 
only tried out baker’s yeast on malnourished prisoners, a connection to the artificial 
sausage experiments seems unlikely. 20

The newly established clothes depot under the SS man Schindler and Kapo Walter 
Redock distributed prisoner uniforms and shoes that were fetched from Auschwitz by 
truck. Schindler also allocated furniture procured by the OHW plant. About twelve 
prisoners worked in the camp’s tailor’s, shoemaker’s, and carpenter’s workshops. They 
led a comparatively privileged life, living in two-bedroom quarters with mattresses and 
receiving better food. 21 Schindler notoriously acted out his sadistic urges by sprinkling 
prisoners with cold water and letting them freeze to death outside. In December 1944 
he forced a whole block to spend the night kneeling naked in the snow to reprimand 
them for “untidiness.” At least twenty inmates died as a result. 22 Swinging from one ex-
treme to another, he once gave a new prisoner a job in the shoemaker’s workshop sim-
ply because he had the same surname as him. 23

Parts of the prisoners’ new uniforms were soon lost, either because they bartered 
them for food or they disappeared in the camp laundry. 24 Pneumonia became rampant 
in the winter, when the inmates had to endure endless roll call parades in their thin and 
often wet clothes. 25 The WVHA half-heartedly recommended precautions against the 
cold, like keeping roll calls as short as possible, not shaving the prisoners’ hair, and al-
lowing them to insulate their coats and caps with newspapers, but these were not im-
plemented. 26 The prisoners of Blechhammer were even punished for using empty ce-
ment sacks from the construction site as insulation underneath their coats and in their 
shoes. The SS, who considered this practice “sabotage,” hit them with bamboo sticks to 
detect the rustling of cement sacks and flogged those who wore them. Most prisoners 
were nevertheless ready to take this risk to have some lifesaving protection against the 
cold. Another negative side effect of the sacks was that they aggravated the symptoms of 
scurvy, a skin condition caused by malnutrition. 27 As no gloves were issued, the prison-
ers tried to warm their hands in their pockets, until the SS ordered that they be stitched 
up in winter 1944. 28 The survivor Philip Venetianer was severely maltreated by Kapo 
Walter for fabricating a pair of gloves and a headband from the seam of his blanket. 29

The wooden soles of the textile shoes issued to the inmates tended to split, causing 
painful sores and edema that could lead to septicemia. 30 The use of pieces of cloth in-
stead of socks, known as “Russian socks,” as Soviet POWs were required to wear them, 
further exacerbated the problem. As the prisoners had to hand in their shoes to the 
block elders at night, the “socks” frequently disappeared. Auschwitz only replaced 
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broken shoes when they were sent in, not missing ones. 31 Marching and working in bad, 
or even without, shoes put the inmates at great risk of being selected for Auschwitz due 
to limping and injuries. The child survivor Arno Lustiger lost his father, a very tall man, 
only because there were no shoes in his size in Blechhammer’s depot, and he was sent 
to the construction site barefooted. He was admitted into the infirmary due to sore 
feet and fell victim to a selection. 32 Only skilled or functionary prisoners were entitled 
to wear shoes with a leather sole, like the carpenters who worked at great heights. They 
were not just safer, but permitted a normal gait, whereas the prisoners wearing wooden 
shoes shuffled along painfully. 33

The same standard RAB barracks continued to be used, but the bunk beds received a 
third tier. All prisoners of a work detail were housed in the same barrack, whose cham-
bers had to be cleaned by two inmates, the so-called Stubendienst, each morning. As 
the SS provided no brooms, the prisoners fabricated some out of birch twigs. 34 Blech-
hammer had central heating powered by the OHW plant since late 1943. The radia-
tors were briefly put on in the mornings and in the evenings. Some prisoners therefore 
turned them back on for more warmth. When the OHW power station was destroyed 
by bombs in fall 1944, the barracks remained unheated, at the cost of prisoners’ lives. 35 
The SS ordered that all barracks be painted to combat lice but left it to the inmates to 
clandestinely procure the paint from the OHW construction site. The block elders 
promised extra food to those who brought them paint. As a result, the barracks were 
decorated in many different colors, and the beds were even adorned with images, like 
fruit or swans. By order of the SS, the name and number of each prisoner had to be 
written on the respective bed to make it easier to punish those hiding forbidden items 
in their straw mattresses. 36

The overall hygiene was improved considerably by the presence of more washroom 
barracks and the construction of a bathhouse with showers. During the summer, make-
shift outdoor showers were also used. Supervised by a functionary prisoner, all work 
details were to wash themselves once a fortnight. However, as there were only four-
teen shower heads for details of an average thirty prisoners, they barely got wet. Af-
ter the shower, they were treated with a disinfectant ointment and a barber shaved 
off their body hair. As their clothes were laundered on shower days, the prisoners had 
to spend the night in their shirts and underwear. Although the laundry had been en-
larged and staffed up to twenty-five female prisoners, the clothes were seldom returned 
clean. The OHW were required to build a disinfecting chamber to eliminate body lice 
from the prisoner uniforms and blankets with cyanide gas. Nevertheless, the prisoners 
were covered in lice and typically spent the evenings removing them from the seams 
of their clothes. 37 Most inmates nonetheless welcomed the improved hygiene. Being 
able to wash more often was perceived as a return to civilization and a factor contrib-
uting to their survival. 38 Others found the confrontation with their emaciated bodies 
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unbearable. Two brothers thus avoided looking at each other while they were naked 
under the shower. 39

Several barbers were appointed to shave their comrades and were given extra bread. 
As they continued to work on the construction site, some offered their services to Brit-
ish POWs and German civilian laborers for additional food. 40 One of the barbers, Si-
mon Blein from the Netherlands, even gained such a good reputation among German 
workers that OHW director Max Josenhans called him into his office, requesting a 
shave and a haircut in return for cigarettes. 41

The quest for more cleanliness was foreseeably misused by the SS. Each night an SS 
block leader patroled the barracks to find prisoners with unwashed feet. Most fell into 
this category due to broken shoes, and they were severely punished, such as by having 
to stand outside all night. 42

WOR K ROU T I N E S

On April 20, 1944, the new camp leader, Brossmann, instructed the OHW employees 
and contractors about changes regarding the work deployment of Jews. He and OHW 
deputy director Dr. Schlick reiterated that the Jewish details were no longer to be super-
vised by guards to facilitate their more flexible use and to increase their productivity. 43 
However, it would be misleading to believe that the SS left the prisoners alone during 
work. Next to the chain of guards surrounding the OHW factory, several SS patrols 
on bicycles were on the lookout for prisoners transgressing the rules or not seeming to 
work fast enough. Calling them the “Flying Brigade,” the inmates used the code word 

“six” to warn each other of their presence. 44

One of the SS block leaders specifically screened the construction site for barter-
ing prisoners. Unterscharführer Paul Veittes (Neuss, 1903), who had been transferred 
to Blechhammer from the Monowitz subcamp, was infamous for his excessively cruel 
punishment of those he caught trading goods. 45 If he found on prisoners bread other 
than the type distributed in the camp, he dried it and then knocked out their teeth 
with it. 46 He caused the inmate Sam Weinstock to lose his hearing simply because he 
had been given a bread roll by his foreman. 47 He regularly invited himself to drinks 
with Jewish functionary prisoners and confided to them that he had been a convict: 

“He was the worst of them all. . . . He told us that he had been in jail for one and a half 
years in normal times. He came at eight p.m. and left at four a.m. With watery eyes 
and a foamy mouth, he would sit there and tell us of all his crimes. We fell asleep, but 
it did not bother him.” 48

The prisoners of Monowitz gave him the nickname “The Lion of Buna” due to his 
flaming red hair and predator-like behavior, and that name spread to Blechhammer. 49 
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Veittes apparently knew of his nickname and even had a picture taken of himself pos-
ing with the head of a stuffed lion. According to some functionary prisoners, his pre-
mature return to Monowitz in spring 1944 resulted from Jewish elder Demerer offer-
ing Brossmann a considerable sum of money to have him removed. Paul Veittes was 
executed by Poland on November 14, 1949. 50

Veittes’s replacement, nicknamed “Tom Mix” by the inmates because he reminded 
them of a cowboy, was no less cruel than his predecessor. He was a hollow-faced, tall, 
and slender man in his thirties with bowed legs, who always carried a pistol on each 
hip and a riding whip. Obsessed with firearms, he loved to let his pistol spin around 
his finger. While patrolling the construction site, he sneaked up behind prisoners with 
his whip. Many died from his vicious beatings. When he spotted a prisoner not stand-
ing up straight and aligned at roll call, he simply shot him. 51 Tom Mix was infamous 
for his overly meticulous searches for contraband goods and even made work details 
stand naked in public: “On the construction site, one had the impression of being in a 
western movie. While working quietly among the others, suddenly an SS man would 

Prisoners working in a shop at Blechhammer in 1944. 
(Source: YVA photo archive 44BO9.jpg.)



123LIFE UNDER THE SS

appear and command us to raise our arms and stand with our backs to each other, then 
he searched us. We often had to get completely undressed, irrespective of the male and 
female civilians passing by the road. ‘Tom Mix’ enjoyed this the most. Woe to the pris-
oner he found money on, or anything else.” 52

These scenes were also registered by British POWs, who were appalled by the SS 
man’s behavior. 53 Tom Mix was never officially identified. As he had a good command of 
Dutch, he might have originated from a western German borderland region. 54 The sur-
vivor Heinz Joseph stated that his Kapo knew the SS man from the Rhineland, where 
he had been in the stock-trading business in his civilian life. 55 Some Blechhammer sur-
vivors as well as the SS man Masseli suggested his name had been Hermann Leinken-
jost. 56 The Unterscharführer was born in Langendreer (Bochum) in 1903 and was killed 
by a bullet through the head in Schmiedefeld near Breslau on April 19, 1945. Masseli 
considered Leinkenjost a fervent anti-Semite and a “very bad character” on the verge 
of insanity. Before his transfer to a unit defending Breslau, Leinkenjost indicated that 
he preferred suicide over being taken prisoner and thus always carried two hand gre-
nades. 57 It is unclear whether Blechhammer’s Tom Mix was identical with an SS man 
with the same nickname who participated in the second experimental gassing of unfit 
inmates and Soviet prisoners in Auschwitz in September 1941. 58

Another block leader in addition to Masseli, Veittes, and Tom Mix was an ethnic 
German from Romania. 59 In marked contrast to his SS comrades, he encouraged the 
prisoners when they marched out of the gate by shouting in Yiddish “es geit tsu nile,” 
indicating that the war would soon come to an end. 60 The leader of block eight was 
fifty-year-old Oberscharführer Rieger, who the prisoners called “Grandpa.” He was 
also known as Bettenbau, for he checked whether the beds were made according to 
rule. An SS man nicknamed “The Boxer” almost knocked out a prisoner’s teeth with a 
knuckleduster when he found a scrap of newspaper on him that he had used as a hand-
kerchief. 61 Further names of block leaders corroborated by testimonies were Neumann, 
Kesler, and Emil Taubert. 62

Due to their marked heterogeneity, it is difficult to generalize about the collabora-
tion of the Wehrmacht soldiers, who largely made up the camp guards and surrounded 
the OHW territory during work. Unlike the order police or SS men, the soldiers were 
not systematically indoctrinated with Nazi ideology, and many would not have been 
eligible to enter the SS by previous standards. Nonetheless, while serving in the Wehr-
macht they had been familiarized with the Judeo-Bolshevism narrative, and parts of the 
Army evidently participated in the Holocaust. 63 Several studies show that the number 
of shooting incidents involving soldiers in concentration camps commonly did not ex-
ceed that of the SS, who had become a minority. 64 The only reported shooting in Blech-
hammer was carried out by SS Unterscharführer Johann Trunz, who killed two prison-
ers during an escape attempt on June 1, 1944. 65 The prisoners perceived the convalescent 
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or veteran soldiers as less dangerous than the SS: “They were a far cry from the Aus-
chwitz SS thugs — they were decrepit, elderly soldiers shambling under the weight of 
their basic rifles, clearly unfit to serve the Fatherland in active service at the front in any 
of the many theatres of war.” 66

A few soldiers tried to help by handing out food to the prisoners or starting a friendly 
conversation. 67 One such man was Heinrich Schäfer (Wartenberg, Sudeten, 1891), who 
had been drafted into a Landesschützen battalion in May 1944 and was incorporated 
into the SS only one month later. After one day in Auschwitz, Schäfer was deployed in 
Blechhammer and remained there until the evacuation. A Blechhammer survivor testi-
fied that his wife had been half-Jewish, and he had been very sympathetic. Nevertheless, 
Schäfer evidently participated in the shooting of prisoners after his transfer to Daut-
mergen, a satellite camp of Natzweiler, in February 1945. 68 Two Blechhammer survi-
vors recounted that they had visited a guard named Hermann Täuser from Rheinbach 
after the war out of gratitude for his support. He reportedly had warned the prisoners 
of the SS he was about to join against his will. 69

To thwart such undesirable relations, the SS rotated the soldiers continuously. 70 
Most Blechhammer guards were thus exchanged monthly. 71 More importantly, expe-
rienced SS men were to set a practical example of brutality. SS Oberscharführer Claes-
sen, presumably a police officer from Hamburg, was sent to Blechhammer from Aus-
chwitz to drill the guards accordingly. They later stated that he had been utterly cruel 
and sadistic and had frequently rifle-butted the inmates. A similar role was played by 
SS Sturmmann Heinrich Tille (Schossendorf, Bohemia, 1893), who came to Blechham-
mer in June 1944. 72 One of the guards regularly had his dog attack prisoners. When the 
person was lying on the ground, he would act out his sadistic urges, such as by showing 
the prisoner bread he was not allowed to have. 73

Jewish Kapos were urged to drive their comrades at a great pace during work and 
faced severe punishment if their details were “unproductive.” A Kapo was thus kicked 
between the legs by a German master simply because he had allowed his detail a short 
rest. Many weakened prisoners collapsed, dead, as a result of the constant overwork-
ing. 74 As under Schmelt, Ems oversaw all Kapos. A non-Jewish criminal named Bick 
was one of three head Kapos. 75

Skilled workers were in huge demand, and their slightly better living conditions 
prompted some prisoners to pass themselves off as professionals despite the risk of 
punishment. 76 Strength reports to Auschwitz suggest a sudden increase in skilled la-
borers at the OHW from 150 to 300 in early December 1944. 77 One of their privileges 
was permission to wear company overalls. After the takeover, the SS insisted that Jew-
ish skilled laborers had to be clearly distinguishable from the civilian workers to pre-
vent escapes. As a result, they were clad in Italian military uniforms, so-called Badoglio 
dresses, that had been left behind after the Italian surrender. 78 Contracting companies 
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tended to treat prisoners with coveted qualifications more respectfully and were inter-
ested in keeping them. The Dutch Jewish survivor Louis Waterman was a sought-after 
expert in the construction of pipelines. The Pollems company went to great lengths to 
win him back when he and five other skilled prisoners were retained in the camp as a 
punishment for having worked unsupervised in a place beyond the chain of SS guards. 
Pollems managed to be allocated an SS guard just for the six experts, so they could con-
tinue working for the company. Considering the SS personnel shortage at the time, this 
was a remarkable achievement. 79 By contrast, IG Farben’s chemical plant at Heydebreck 
discontinued the use of Jewish Blechhammer prisoners for constructing a housing es-
tate. In a postwar statement, IG Farben claimed it had been unable to comply with Aus-
chwitz’s requirement to erect a four-meter-high fence around its industrial site due to 
a lack of barbed wire. 80

The significant impact of companies on the conditions of Jewish work deployment is 
exemplified by the case of the Czech contractor Smely from Prague. In spring 1944 the 
company began to construct three firehouses for the OHW and was assigned the newly 
formed Jewish work detail number thirty-eight. The Czechs collectively sabotaged the 
building project in resistance against the Nazi regime and thereby transformed the Jew-
ish prisoners’ work from deadly peril into lifesaving bliss. Having erected a few brick 
walls to shield them from view, the Czechs mainly bartered goods that were rationed 
in Silesia but still available in the Protectorate. They invited the Jewish prisoners to 
free meals and played cards with them. They only had to pretend that they were work-
ing when German overseers came along. The Czech Jewish survivor Ernest Koenig as-
sisted a mason in the peculiar task of building a brick wall and deconstructing it at the 
same time to prolong the construction period of the houses. To Koenig, the Czechs’ 
sabotage was reminiscent of the legendary tales of the soldier Schwejk. To the prison-
ers’ regret, their detail was assigned to a different contractor building air-raid shelters in 
June 1944. The months with Smely had provided them with fresh reserves of strength 
to endure the renewed hardships to come. 81

The takeover made Blechhammer prisoners eligible for productivity bonuses (Prä-
mien scheine), which the WVHA had introduced in May 1943 pertaining to Speer’s calls 
to boost the war economy. Entrepreneurs were expected to acquire bonuses worth up 
to 10 RM from Auschwitz to reward prisoners who demonstrated above average pro-
ductivity and took no sick leaves. 82 The prisoners perceived the bonuses as cynical, as 
the goods they were able to purchase with them were of little use: “We got mustard, for 
example, and you had to imagine the piece of meat to go along with it; then also sham-
poo for washing our hair, probably to annoy us, as our heads were as bald as a snooker 
ball. Rarely, it was Russian tobacco or cigarettes.” 83

During a meeting of Silesian entrepreneurs using Auschwitz prisoners and the in-
spectorate of the military district VIII B in Kattowitz on December 11, 1944, the indus-
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trialists eventually demanded that the bonuses be abolished. Their radical idea to split 
the prisoners into three categories according to their productivity and reward those in 
the first two groups with more food, which would be deducted from the third group, 
with the lowest output, was rejected, as even by SS standards the allocations to the last 
group would have been insufficient. Auschwitz nevertheless tolerated the companies’ 
lowering the reduced output factors for concentration camp inmates from 50 to 40 
percent. At a time when prisoners reported that they had been pushed to their abso-
lute physical limits, the entrepreneurs were obviously intent on further reducing wage 
costs. In the case of the OHW, another underlying reason was bankruptcy. The plant 
had already stopped paying out wages to regular German employees in November 1944 
but seemingly still made its payments to Auschwitz. During the same meeting, the in-
dustrialists terminated the piecework system for concentration camp prisoners. 84 They 
normally worked on a time-rate but were occasionally assigned to piecework when un-
loading goods. However, unlike POWs, Jewish inmates were not permitted to return 
to their camp when a specific task had been completed. The highly paced work also 
led to increased mortality, as emaciated prisoners used up their last physical reserves. 85 
German overseers were often behind such cases of overworking. Notwithstanding the 
Jewish inmates’ obvious malnourishment, they expected them to show the same pro-
ductivity as British POWs, who almost exclusively had performed piecework since 1943 
and were eager to leave the factory early. A German master thus promised the Kapo of 
a Jewish detail that his men would be allowed to rest if they finished a job as swiftly as 
the British. However, when the exhausted inmates lay down as agreed, a German en-
gineer alerted a guard, who beat them for being “lazy.” Even worse, the master insisted 
on a higher work pace the next day, arguing that the piecework experiment had shown 
that the prisoners were capable of higher productivity. 86

Despite soaring mortality rates, Jewish prisoners made up one-third of the total 
OHW workforce of approximately fifteen thousand and had become the largest group 
among the unfree laborers by late 1944. 87

N E W FOR M S OF PU N I SH M E N T

Unlike Schmelt, Auschwitz required the WVHA’s formal authorization of all punish-
ments. Penal reports sent to Berlin via the Political Departments of Blechhammer and 
Monowitz had an average turnaround of four weeks. The Auschwitz commandant Ru-
dolf Hoess named the following standard forms of punishments: floggings, detention, 
collective punishments, transfer to a penal commando unit, and executions. Floggings 
normally took place in the blocks and typically did not exceed twenty-five lashes. They 
were thus significantly more lenient than under Schmelt. 88 The practice of prisoners 
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being appointed to flog their comrades continued under Auschwitz. The names of the 
Dutch Jewish prisoners Joseph Braasem and Maurits Broeks frequently appeared in 
penal reports in this context. Braasem was known for only pretending to hit and re-
mained very popular among fellow prisoners, whereas Broeks did not refer to his con-
troversial task in his postwar testimony. 89

Blechhammer had a detention cell, and prisoners were similarly transferred to Aus-
chwitz’s infamous Block 11. Contrary to Hoess’s claim that detentions did not exceed 
forty-five days, the Blechhammer prisoner Szaja Finkelstein was sentenced to five 
months of detention in Auschwitz for smoking near petrol tanks. His fate remains un-
clear. 90 Collective punishments affected either work details or blocks and took on dif-
ferent forms. The inhabitants of a block once had to hit each other for emptying the la-
trine bucket during the night, for example. 91 Work details were often subjected to penal 
exercising coupled with constant beatings and long nocturnal roll calls for bartering 
or alleged low productivity. Escapes were punished by penal exercising and the with-
holding of the evening soup for the whole camp. 92 Penal work details (Strafkomman-
dos) were first introduced in Auschwitz in 1940 and generally equaled a death sentence. 
The respective inmates had to perform hard labor on the run under the strict supervi-
sion of extremely vicious guards and Kapos. 93 In Blechhammer, the SS predominantly 
made penal commandos toil in the factory’s smoldering section (Schwelerei), where 
brown coal was refined to tar and middle oil. At a depth of 150 meters, the inmates had 
to unload coal without any protection against the dust. Most died of respiratory dis-
eases in a matter of weeks. 94 The child survivor Israel Rosengarten, whose life was saved 
because a Jewish Kapo helped him to change into another detail, related his ordeal in 
this commando unit: “The Meister there were extremely cruel and, deep down under 
the earth, far away from the others, yelling frantically, they stood next to us like devils. 
We were beaten all day long.” 95

A special penal camp (Straflager) was operated by an Auschwitz subcamp estab-
lished at Bismarckhütte (Chrzanów) in September 1944. An unknown number of 
Blechhammer prisoners accused of pilfering or eating food reserved for Germans were 
taken to this camp on November 8, 1944, along with 120 men from other Auschwitz 
subcamps. The penal camp’s approximately 200 prisoners did construction work, while 
the guards set their dogs on anyone not moving fast enough. The penal prisoners were 
transferred to Monowitz before the evacuation of Bismarckhütte on January 18, 1945, 
and some were liberated by the Red Army. 96 Eliazer Content, who was caught stealing 
a V-belt he intended to exchange for food, recounted how Blechhammer’s Political De-
partment under Schmidt pressed him into “confessing” a more serious infraction that 
brought him to the penal camp: “He asked what I wanted to do with that belt, and I 
answered, ‘Swap it, because I was hungry.’ Then Schmidt said: ‘You were going to sell it 
to the Poles for cigarettes, of course!’ A Jewish boy, who worked in his office as a typist, 
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told me to just say ‘yes.’ I did not trust him, said ‘no’ and was beaten until I finally said 
‘yes.’ A few weeks later, I was sent on Straftransport to Bismarckhütte.” 97

In addition to the “official” forms of punishment authorized by the WVHA, spon-
taneous violence against the prisoners was commonplace. 98 In an especially brutal pub-
lic demonstration, several prisoners who had attempted to escape were forced to lie flat 
on their stomachs with bound hands. Water bowls were placed in front of their heads, 
and they slowly drowned in them. 99 During the winter, many prisoners died of hypo-
thermia or pneumonia when the SS made them stand naked outside their barracks. 100

T H E I N F I R M A RY

The infirmary was now under the control of an SS medical orderly (Sanitätsdienstgrad, 
SDG) who constantly monitored the admittance of patients and the Jewish physicians’ 
work. The SDGs were primarily concerned with what Hoess referred to as “nonmedi-
cal activities,” namely selecting unfit prisoners and murdering sick prisoners with phe-
nol or cyanide injections. 101

A new Jewish chief doctor was appointed. Dr. Alfred Hyrsz, formerly the chief phy-
sician of a hospital in Prague, had been incarcerated in Dachau and Auschwitz for being 
a Communist. His extremely emaciated body shocked the other physicians, but Hyrsz 
predicted that they would soon look the same. 102 Shortly afterward, Abram Szeftel ar-
rived with two hundred prisoners from the disbanded Schmelt camp Markstädt. He 
had worked in the Jewish hospital in the Sosnowiec ghetto until it was liquidated on 
June 24, 1943. Having tried in vain to hide his ten-year-old son in the hospital, Szeftel 
was arrested, and the boy perished. He first served as a paramedic, before being put in 
charge of the female prisoners’ ward. Dr. Iwanter remained chief physician of the in-
terior medical section, and Dr. Auerhahn continued as head surgeon. Altogether, fif-
teen prisoner physicians tended to almost four thousand inmates. However, only seven 
of them were permitted to work in the infirmary, while the rest had to go out to the 
construction site as paramedics. 103 All of the infirmary staff nevertheless had access to 
higher quality food prepared by their own cook, and Dr. Hyrsz was even served break-
fast in bed by the orderlies. 104

The orderlies Kurt Klappholz and Jules Fainzang were reinforced by two comrades. 
Maurice Moshe Szmidt, who had been transferred to Blechhammer from Borsigwerke 
in March 1944, contracted scabies and was admitted into the isolation ward. As he re-
quired long-term treatment, he was offered a job in the infirmary to prevent him from 
being sent to Auschwitz. He thus scrubbed the floors, emptied latrine buckets, bathed 
patients, and distributed bread and water. He also took the bread rations of severely ill 
prisoners into his safe keeping, until they had regained their appetite. If they died, he 
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was entitled to their ration. In addition, he got an extra half liter of soup. 105 The second 
was Efraim Roseboom, a Dutch Jew, who had become so weakened that he tried to 
avoid work on the construction site by pretending to faint during the march-off. After 
seven months, he decided to help in the infirmary instead. 106 Iwanter took on the juve-
nile prisoner Kurt Baum as his clerk, who later considered him a “war criminal” for de-
nying treatment to patients who were unable to bribe him. 107

From July 1944, Jindřich Flusser, a medical student from Prague who had been 
among the five hundred prisoners sent to Blechhammer from the liquidated “family 
camp” at Auschwitz-Birkenau, served as Dr. Iwanter’s assistant. Initially selected for the 
gas chambers by Mengele due to emaciation, Flusser’s determination to live prompted 
him to smuggle himself into a group of prisoners bound for Blechhammer. Shortly be-
fore the transfer he contracted dysentery, and he was immediately admitted into the in-
firmary upon arrival. He made a quick recovery, and Iwanter offered him a post. Flusser 
assumed that Dr. Iwanter, who was on bad terms with his colleagues, had chosen a stu-
dent like him because he did not perceive him as a competitor. Although Flusser had 
not completed medical school, the Blechhammer patients greatly benefited from his 
participation in research on the effects of malnutrition undertaken by a group of Jew-
ish scientists in Terezín. He discovered that a vitamin B deficiency caused swollen sal-
ivary glands, a phenomenon he later called “Terezín symptom.” He also diagnosed 
so-called Bitot’s spots, lesions on the conjunctiva in the shape of a triangle caused by 
a lack of vitamin A, in many Blechhammer prisoners. His efforts to aid the prisoners 
soon clashed with Dr. Iwanter’s harsh methods, who claimed that dysentery resulted 
from “overeating” and prescribed his patients a strict fast. Their food rations were eaten 
by Iwanter who, weighing 240 pounds, became “pink as a fattening pig.” During his 
internment in Terezín, Flusser had studied the use of sulfonamides in the treatment of 
dysentery. He turned to Kurt Bachmann, a prisoner in the clerk’s office (Schreibstube) 
who had contacts with communist foreign workers at the OHW plant, to procure the 
medicine. There were only enough doses to treat three patients daily, and Flusser de-
cided to administer it to young prisoners in the early stages of the disease, whom he ex-
pected to have the highest survival chances. Eventually all patients benefited from the 
sulfonamide treatment of the few. In return for curing the non-Jewish criminal Kapo 
of the neighboring SS kitchen, Felix, of dysentery, Flusser was permitted to “steal” veg-
etables from the SS compound during the daily lunchtime nap of Felix’s guard. Flusser 
took advantage of each of Dr. Iwanter’s absences from the infirmary to distribute cab-
bage and carrots to dysentery patients, and the vitamins helped many to recover. Flusser 
was henceforth called “Dr. Zelinka,” derived from the Czech word for “vegetables.” 108

The dentist Dr. Perlman was assisted by a colleague from Berlin named Starepolski. 
The order issued by Auschwitz to extract the gold teeth of diseased prisoners increased 
their workload. The SDG passed the teeth on to a dental laboratory in Auschwitz, 
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where the gold was melted before being deposited in the German National Bank (Re-
ichsbank) by the WVHA. 109

The SDG further complicated the already difficult work of the prisoner physicians. 
Each morning when he entered the infirmary, the physicians had to stand to attention. 
On his first day in the infirmary, Dr. Szeftel was unaware of this rule and continued to 
tend to a prisoner patient when SDG Quirin appeared. Quirin hit Szeftel hard in the 
face, muttering that now he knew how to behave. 110 Chief doctor Hyrsz did his best 
to appease the SDGs, who frequently assaulted patients, by treating them to a special 
breakfast goulash that was prepared by the young orderly Kurt Klappholz according 
to a recipe of his mother’s. 111

The physicians only received medical supplies if they bribed the SDGs with cig-
arettes originally destined for the sick prisoners. 112 The medical services nonetheless 
slightly improved under the SS. 113 With the onset of Allied bombings in July 1944, the 
infirmary was enlarged by another barrack, and a makeshift operating theater was in-
stalled. According to instructions from Dr. Hyrsz, camp electrician Maurits Bremer and 
a fellow inmate built an operating table out of an old car. The vehicle was procured by 
the SS man Schindler, who in return demanded that furniture be made for him out of 
its remnants. The two prisoners were given sick leave to construct the table and were re-
warded with a two-week “vacation” in the infirmary on double food rations. The grim 
realities of the camp soon caught up with them when an impending selection, during 
which all patients were taken to Auschwitz, abruptly ended their stay after ten days. 114

The SDG made selections in the infirmary up to three times a month. The night be-
fore, he collected the patients’ medical records. The next morning, trucks arrived from 
Auschwitz, SS men blocked the infirmary’s entrance, and all patients still able to stand 
were lined up naked in front of their beds. The SDG inquired about their profession 
and when they expected to start working again. He retained the records of those who 
were sent to Auschwitz, usually prisoners requiring more than a few days’ treatment 
or with serious medical conditions. 115 Efraim Roseboom, who later became an orderly 
in the infirmary, saved his life during a selection by claiming to be a mechanic, a job in 
great demand, and by reassuring the SDG that he could return to work the next day. 
Roseboom and a boy with a fractured leg were the only survivors of the thirty-two pa-
tients then in the infirmary. 116

The physicians knew how the gassings were carried out from Jewish elder Karl De-
merer, who attended every selection and who had received details on the mass murder 
from the SS camp leader. 117 The Jewish doctors’ leeway in this respect was extremely lim-
ited. However, individual prisoners could occasionally be saved from the gas chambers 
by discharging them in time. Perniciously, such rescue attempts were often connected 
to bribery. 118 By contrast, Dr. Szeftel risked his life to prevent the admission of a friend 
into the infirmary before an impending selection under the very nose of the SDG. 119
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The SDG inspected working prisoners every two to three months during roll calls. 
Making them stand with bare upper bodies, he took down the numbers of those who 
looked emaciated. 120 Every roll call nevertheless posed the risk of being earmarked for 
Auschwitz: “During the roll call, the keen eye of the Sturmbannführer searched for 
those who appeared to be the weakest. Almost all of us were weak and undernourished. 
The feeblest usually stood in the back rows. Some were so weakened that they had to be 
supported by the prisoners standing next to them or behind them in order not to col-
lapse. If one was found to be too weak, he was listed for an Auschwitz transport. On 
Sundays, selections were even stricter.” 121

Therefore, the prisoners who had been transferred from Auschwitz warned the oth-
ers about the gassings and advised them to always present themselves as “strong” and 

“healthy.” 122 The machinery of death at Auschwitz ceased to operate in late November 
1944, resulting in the termination of selections in Blechhammer. 123

In parallel to the Auschwitz transports, the SDG murdered smaller numbers of 
sick prisoners with lethal injections. In July 1944 SDG Quirin, assisted by Dr. Iwanter, 
killed twelve male patients who were over fifty years old. 124 Another victim was a juve-
nile prisoner with a complicated leg fracture. He knew he was going to be murdered and 
said Kaddish for himself in front of the other inmates. 125 The killings intensified during 
a typhus outbreak in October 1944. As soon as the first cases had been confirmed by the 
SS laboratory in Rajsko, SDG Müller and Dr. Iwanter administered deadly injections 
to twenty infected inmates. During a staff meeting, Dr. Hyrsz reproached Dr. Iwan-
ter for collaborating in the killings and warned him that he would be held accountable 
for his deeds one day. 126

Contrary to the Schmelt camp phase, when the refusal to carry out killing orders 
had put the Jewish physicians’ own lives at stake, the administration of lethal injections 
was voluntary under Auschwitz. Dr. Iwanter’s motives for lending his assistance to the 
SDG remain unclear. A possible underlying reason could have been his early conversion 
to Catholicism and denial of his Jewish origins. 127 As he was under no coercion, his ac-
tions should be placed outside of Primo Levi’s “gray zone.” 128 The case of Aron Kremer, 
a journalist from Paris, who worked in the infirmary because he had done some medi-
cal studies, exemplifies the latitude for action available to Jewish medical staff in this is-
sue. When the SDG asked him one day to give lethal injections to bedridden patients, 
Kremer simply refused. 129

The murder of typhus patients did not prevent the spread of the disease. The SS 
turned to even more drastic measures by ordering the camp policeman, Rauch, to burn 
infected prisoners even if they were still breathing. 130 Following one of the last selections 
in November 1944, all but a few remaining typhus patients were taken to Auschwitz. 131 
The young prisoner Wolf W. narrowly avoided being added to the transport after hav-
ing spent eleven days in the typhus isolation ward by repeatedly telling the SS that he 
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was fit for work, until they let him go. 132 Similarly, Hermann Siegfried was discharged 
before a selection and survived a day at work with the help of a sympathetic German 
foreman. After his return to the infirmary, he fully recovered. 133

In a spectacular case in July 1944, SDG Quirin strangled a Jewish girl named Hirsch-
berg from Będzin. She was the only survivor of a brutal raid by the German police on 
her family’s hideout in a barn. The police took the profoundly traumatized girl to Blech-
hammer during a roll call. Before she was locked into the washroom barrack, she called 
out to the SS that they were all murderers. Dr. Auerhahn spent the afternoon with her 
and listened to her story — then Quirin murdered her. 134

The female prisoners were treated in a separate ward by Dr. Szeftel. The SS strictly 
prohibited other men from entering, and deputy camp leader Olejak once even at-
tacked Szeftel when he left the ward after his shift. When Szeftel explained himself in 
Polish, Olejak, who belonged to a mixed Polish German minority, had a violent fit that 
was seemingly rooted in his conflicting “fluid” national identities: “I replied in Polish 
for, as a Silesian, he spoke this language. In an outburst of anger, he threw himself upon 
me, but luckily, he restrained himself and merely uttered a curse and called me names. 
The SS man Olejak had the worst reputation in the camp.” 135

The Auschwitz takeover led to the introduction of Himmler’s modified directive 
to no longer kill pregnant prisoners but only their babies, which had not been imple-
mented under Schmelt. 136 The SS instructed the Jewish doctors to terminate pregnan-
cies whenever possible. They thus induced premature labor in one less advanced preg-
nancy, and the child was born dead. Another woman gave birth to a healthy baby but 
was forced to suffocate it in order not to be sent to Auschwitz. 137

T H E F E M A L E PR I SON E R S

The women sent to Peterswaldau in January 1944 were gradually replaced with female 
prisoners arriving along with the men from disbanded Schmelt camps. Their block el-
der, Witka, mistreated them so ferociously that Demerer had her replaced by the Czech 
Jewish inmate Irma. Within the women’s segregated compound were their key work-
places, the kitchen, the scullery, and the tailor’s shop. Supervised by male criminal Ka-
pos, the women worked for up to twelve hours daily. They were awakened for roll calls 
at 4:00 a.m., which, despite their small number, could last for up to three hours. Some 
female prisoners had to clean the SS quarters or did the gardening work for SS officers 
and also tended to their rabbits and poultry. The prisoners in the laundry were given 
clothes from the SS households to wash on Sundays. 138 The kitchen staff was overseen 
by the Jewish cook Band, who persistently ignored Dr. Auerhahn’s instructions to let 
the women sit down during work to prevent swollen legs. Many developed health prob-
lems, as they had to stand all day. 139
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At lunchtime, the female inmates received half a liter of soup, and in the evenings, 
half a liter of ersatz coffee and a piece of bread with some margarine, marmalade, or 
sausage. Those working in the kitchen often pilfered extra food, which they smuggled 
through the fence to help male prisoners. 140 A detail of eight women was assigned to 
fetch bread from a local bakery three times a week. While loading the loaves on a truck, 
they could secretly eat some of the bread, and they passed on their regular rations to 
fellow inmates. 141 There were no floggings or executions of female prisoners, perhaps 
because this would have required Himmler’s permission. 142 Nevertheless, the women 
were frequently maltreated, had their food rations taken away, were left standing in the 
cold, or were sent to Auschwitz as a punishment. Prior to going to their deaths, their 
heads were shaven. 143

The female prisoners continued to be exposed to various forms of sexual violence. 
Under Auschwitz rule, the perpetrators were non-Jewish criminal Kapos and the SS. 
Kapo Walter Redock, a convicted murderer, supervised the women in the clothes depot 
and the tailor’s shop. He assaulted female prisoners while they cleaned his room and 
had them punished if they were not compliant. He thus reported Rozka Kam to the SS 
for a trumped-up infraction after she had rejected his advances. She was told that she 
would be sent to Auschwitz and was forced to stand at the camp gate for a whole day. 
In the end, the transport left without her, but she had no explanation for her rescue. 144

Kapo Walter often harassed and beat the women when they were taking a shower 
and forced a female office worker to have an affair with him. Another cleaning girl, 
Sali Montag, stated that Redock deliberately left money and chocolate lying around 
in hopes of catching her stealing. He once accused her of having taken a perfume flask, 
although it was still in its place. One day the SS man Schindler sent her to pick berries 
in the forest. As her legs were too swollen to walk in clogs, she asked him for proper 
shoes. Schindler only gave her the shoes after beating her, and Kapo Redock severely 
mistreated her again the next day. As a result, she recurrently suffered from severe head-
aches and developed a facial paralysis. Unbeknownst to her, the long-term physical im-
pairment inflicted by Walter had sealed her fate. When she sought help in the infir-
mary, the prisoner physicians told her that they were no longer permitted to treat her, 
as she had already been put on a list for Auschwitz. The evacuation of the camp nar-
rowly saved her life, but she never recovered from the paralysis. 145

The SS men regularly forced the women to stand naked on roll call parade while 
making sexually offensive remarks about their looks. When the summer uniforms were 
distributed in early 1944, the female prisoners had to pick them up naked in front of 
the SS. 146 The head of the Political Department, Otto Schmidt, reportedly punished 
a girl renowned for her beauty in the washroom barrack by stripping her naked and 
beating her. Her injuries were so severe that she was added to an Auschwitz transport 
four weeks later. 147 Some female inmates consented to trade sexual favors for food with 
SS guards. They were not only ostracized by the other women but were at risk of being 
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sent to Auschwitz for their illicit contacts. These seemingly “consensual” relationships 
must clearly be characterized as a particular form of sexual violence. 148

T H E FOR M AT ION OF A CH I L DR E N ’ S WOR K DETA I L

The takeover augmented the number of children in the camp. Twenty boys under age 
sixteen were transferred from Auschwitz in spring, where they had merely spent two 
months. In July 1944, more boys from the liquidated family camp at Birkenau fol-
lowed. 149 Rumors that all children of Blechhammer would be gassed prompted the 
Jewish elder, whose teenage son also lived in the camp, to suggest the formation of a 
children’s work detail to the SS. The detail thus set out to the construction site with 
armed SS guards and three adult prisoners as Kapos. The adults were a certain Klapisch 
from Paris, a pianist from Warsaw named Borenstein, and the student Ernest Koenig. 150 
The children’s detail regularly caused an outcry among the foreign and unfree work-
ers: “Even in the realm of slaves we lived in, nobody had seen anything like it before. 
The columns of English and French prisoners of war we encountered on the way called 
out to the SS ‘shame’ and ‘boches’. All foreign laborers who saw us booed and cursed 
the SS. Even the German workers unambiguously demonstrated their contempt for 
what they saw.” 151

The hard labor on the OHW construction site caused many young prisoners to die 
of exhaustion. The Jewish elder’s son Heinrich and his friends had to leave the work 
detail after two days, as the fast four-mile march to the factory had already been too 
demanding. 152 Others were not that lucky. Only three of the twenty boys from Aus-
chwitz survived the first four months in Blechhammer. One of them was Ludwig Ham-
burger. In a harrowing account given during a postwar interview, he delineated how 
a friend died while working next to him. The boy complained about a bad headache, 
then became disoriented and collapsed. Hamburger pulled him to the roadside but was 
stopped by an SS man, who ordered him to just let the boy lie, adding that he would 
soon share the dead boy’s fate. Hamburger found it very disturbing to see the collapsed 
children being discarded “like sacks.” He related that many teenagers had been suicidal 
and that, unsure whether they would meet again, he had said goodbye to a friend each 
day. Next to being overworked, the children were also maltreated by SS guards. Ham-
burger was once stopped by an SS man who, asking what was three times seven, played 
a perfidious game with him. When he gave the correct answer, “21,” the SS man dealt 
out that number of blows to him for no apparent reason. 153

The young prisoners tried to alleviate their despair with happy childhood memo-
ries and stories about perseverance that they had once read in books. 154 These reveries 
apparently played an important role in their struggle for survival. 155
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Ernest Koenig, one of the adult prisoners who accompanied the detail, gave a rather 
euphemistic account of the children’s work deployment. In an autobiography penned 
fifty-six years later, he claimed that the children had only performed light work, on a 
voluntary basis. He recounted how a five-year-old boy of his detail allegedly started to 
play with an SS guard, who carved boats and planes out of wood for him. 156 However, 
neither this incident nor the presence of such young children in the detail were corrob-
orated by other testimonies. 157

During the summer, ten of the eleven- to fourteen-year-olds were temporarily sent 
into the forest to gather branches and tree rods. 158 The children’s detail was finally dis-
banded after twenty-nine of the fifty youths had been killed in an air raid in Septem-
ber 1944. The surviving boys were distributed among adult columns. The adult prison-
ers were aware of children working alongside them, but only a few still had the stamina 
to spare them the hardest labor. 159 The Blechhammer survivor and cartoonist Bil Spira 
was deeply moved by the working children, whom he documented in several drawings 
that he passed on to a British POW in 1944. 160

In late 1944 the SS planned to send the remaining boys to Auschwitz. The Jewish el-
der and his son Heinrich gave conflicting testimonies on how these plans were averted. 
In Karl Demerer’s version, the children had been rescued by a member of the Highway 
Company’s building supervisory board at Breslau, the engineer Hans Mertens. Demerer 
persuaded him to make the SS believe that the boys were urgently needed on the con-
struction site, and they were given little jobs. 161 Surprisingly, Mertens never confirmed 
the story, which could have eased his denazification. 162

Heinrich Demerer related that his father had arranged for the children to take over 
the chores of the block elders by arguing that the adult prisoners could thus support 
the German war effort in their full strength. 163 This version was supported by the testi-
mony of another child survivor, Art G., who stated that following a period of hard la-
bor on the OHW site, they only worked in the camp from fall 1944. 164
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E X P O S U R E TO A L L I E D 
B O M B I N G S A N D T H E 

E X AC E R BAT I O N O F 
V I O L E N C E I N S U M M E R 1944

I n May 1944 the Allies launched a campaign to destroy German oil 
facilities to diminish the German armed forces’ fighting power. The OHW was tar-
geted by strategic aerial bombings operated by the 15th wing of the US Army Air 

Force from July 1944. 1 The construction of air-raid shelters only began in June 1944. 
The OHW’s belated reaction to the imminent threat of air attacks put it under consid-
erable pressure, and the Jewish inmates assigned to this task experienced “catastrophic” 
conditions characterized by overworking and physical assaults. During this time more 
prisoners fell victim to selections or committed suicide than before. 2 The Blechham-
mer prisoners were reinforced by a Jewish masons’ detail from Birkenau that was meant 
to fortify the plant’s petrol tanks. 3

Jews, like the other non-German laborers, were barred from air-raid shelters. The 
OHW issued directives on scattering during daytime alerts in July 1944, stating that 
the Jewish prisoners were to seek cover in cellars, in buildings under construction, un-
der bridges, or in the open. 4 The company prohibited the entire workforce to seek shel-
ter before the second air-raid signal had sounded. 5 However, the Jewish prisoners were 
always the last group allowed to leave their workplace, which rarely gave them enough 
time to reach cover before the bombings started. 6 Full of contempt for this German 
policy, a British prisoner of war noted in his diary: “A shame the Jews have to stay and 
work during a raid.” 7 British POWs, who had secret radios, occasionally warned the 
Jewish prisoners of impending air raids. However, the information, often passed on in 
rudimentary German in the style “Today — boom, boom!,” was of little value given the 
limited protection available to both groups. 8
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Jewish prisoners trying to enter bomb shelters were forcefully driven out by the Ger-
mans. It seemed cruel to the Jewish prisoners that there were even shelters for tools at 
the OHW, while they were denied access to the buildings they helped to construct. 9 
During one of the first raids, on August 7, several Jewish prisoners were beaten out of 
a shelter reserved for the staff of the Highway Company. Minutes later a direct hit 
killed the seventy people inside. The prisoners construed this incident as a “divine 
punishment.” 10

At first the SS locked Jewish details into an unroofed, concrete enclosure. They saw 
the airplanes circling above them while their guards withdrew into shelters. 11 Some 
Jewish prisoners joined foreign workers taking cover inside the huge OHW chimneys 
that were in the center of the bombers’ target area. 12 Others crept into boats and pipes, 
fled into deserted houses, or used one-man shelters by the roadside. The most danger-
ous place was outside. One prisoner lying flat in a field was almost buried by the sandy 
ground thrown up by the impacts. Others were killed by shrapnel or the air pressure 
of detonating bombs. 13 Later, when most German workers left the OHW site during 
the raids, the SS permitted the Jewish inmates to use the empty bomb shelters and the 
lower floors of the plant’s power station. 14 The artist Bil Spira delineated the horror of 
enduring an air attack in an unfinished shelter without doors: “We were about one 
hundred men, tightly packed together. Suddenly, an immense air pressure pushed us so 
hard against the walls that we could not breathe. For half a minute, I stared into wide 
opened eyes and reddening faces, and I thought I would suffocate. Then the pressure 
was released, but this experience left a deep impact. On the same evening, I managed 
to depict the scene on a large piece of packing paper. I saw it before me as if the horror 
and fear of death had etched it into my senses like a photograph.” 15

While the bombings renewed the prisoners’ hopes of a speedy liberation, they also 
posed a deadly risk. The deaths of comrades inadvertently caused by the Allied air 
strikes were perceived as particularly tragic but nevertheless unavoidable. 16 The bomb-
ings claimed about 180 Jewish casualties. 17

The initial attacks of July 3, 7, and 9, 1944, merely targeted a railroad line. The first 
heavy raid came on August 7, when thirty B-24s and B-17s bombed the plant’s south-
ern part, killing at least fifty-four Jewish prisoners. Among them were twenty-nine boys 
of the children’s detail, who were buried underneath a collapsed roof. 18 On August 11 
the strikes were aimed at underground fuel tanks. Tragically, Jewish work details shel-
tered in the empty tanks, deeming them safe due to their air-tight doors. Twenty-four 
prisoners died when one of the tanks received a direct hit. 19 Another one hundred pris-
oners lost their lives during an attack on August 27. The main victims were the prison-
ers of the smoldering detail, who worked six floors underneath the OHW power sta-
tion. All of them were killed when the power station was destroyed. 20 Others perished 
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under the bombs, unable to find a place to take shelter in time. The survivor Oto Hos-
tovsky recalled this tragic day:

We are the last ones at work and watch everybody around us running and seeking 
cover. We go to “our” shelter nearby — “ours” because we have been working on it 
for almost two months. In the view of the Nazis already inside the shelter, this does 
not qualify us for entering it. They immediately chase us out with clubs and wooden 
boards. Swiftly, we run into the forest, barefooted as the wooden shoes are a hin-
drance. From afar, we hear the planes’ engines. We have not reached our destination 
yet, and the planes are already above us. Bombs are being dropped. One of them ex-
plodes fifteen meters away from me. The air pressure knocks me to the ground, I get 
buried underneath soil and clay. I gather all my remaining strength to dig myself 
out as quickly as possible and run to the nearby forest shelter. I hardly make it in-
side when a firework starts over Blechhammer. After two hours, it is all over. . . . On 
the way back to our place of work, we find our dead comrades. They faced the raid 
outside, and the air pressure caused by the bombs exploding near them has ruptured 
their intestines. They are mutilated beyond recognition — we can only identify them 
by their sewed-on numbers. 21

Two more major raids, on September 13 and December 18, were followed by ten lighter 
ones, in October and December. 22 While the non-Jewish workers hurt by bombs were 
tended to in local hospitals, the Jewish victims only received treatment in the camp in-
firmary or were taken to Auschwitz if they had severe injuries. 23 German paramedics 
denied them medical aid and even mistreated them: “During a raid, bombs fell on an 
unfinished building we sheltered in. Everybody jumped out of a window, and I was hit 
in the neck by a large brick and lost consciousness. Bleeding and twisted, I remained 
lying on the ground. A short time later, German paramedics arrived, asking what was 
wrong with me. When they realized I was Jewish, they started to hit me in the face and 
left me behind on the ground, due to my ‘treacherous’ blood.” 24

German orders that all missing prisoners had to be accounted for after bombings 
often kept the details at the factory until late at night. The dead were taken away on 
handcarts, covered with cement sacks. 25 Some were never retrieved, or only weeks later. 
As a result the OHW grounds were strewn with decaying bodies. Once a Jewish pris-
oner found a piece of striped cloth and could make out the silhouette of a body in a 
field, already swarming with insects. He then helped to unearth the unfortunate com-
rade’s remains. 26 British POWs, who were blamed for the air raids by the Germans, had 
to look for Jewish inmates who had perished. This experience left a mark. One of the 
POWs, George Didcock, wrote in his diary after finding a Jewish prisoner’s body: “I’ve 
got a bad, cold, miserable feeling.” 27 The Jewish medical orderlies were even forced to 
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search the debris for arms or pieces of skin on which the tattooed numbers could still 
be discerned. 28

However, not all missing prisoners were dead. Some escaped during the air raids, 
when the prisoners were left unguarded. In late August the OHW reported several es-
capes by Jewish prisoners facilitated by the carelessness of its German workforce, who 
left their civilian clothes and company ID cards in open lockers. 29

The Jewish prisoners had to carry out additional bombing-related tasks, most of 
which were highly dangerous. A small Jewish detail overseen by a Roma criminal Kapo 
assisted in the preparation of a smoke screen in a special laboratory. They worked to-
gether with Wehrmacht convalescents, who regularly passed on bread to them and 
whose German foreman was rather sympathetic. 30

In summer 1944 Blechhammer set up a Jewish fire brigade to combat fires at the 
plant caused by bombings. Similar fire brigades were established in Auschwitz, Sach-
senhausen, and Buchenwald from 1941. 31 Following several weeks of training, the Blech-
hammer brigade was permanently on call in a hut on the construction site. The first 
time the alarm was sounded after a heavy air raid, they decided to stay in their hut in 
an act of passive resistance, until a German sergeant threatened to have them shot for 
sabotage. 32 The prisoners were often sent into hazards nobody else dared to tackle. For 
instance, the directors of the OHW contractor AEG once demanded that the Jewish 
firefighters extinguish the flames in one of their buildings, where oxygen bottles were 
stored that already had begun to explode. 33 Similarly, an intoxicated SS man ordered 
the brigade to dismantle a wooden scaffolding around the burning power station after 
a direct hit on August 7. 34

The Jewish bomb-clearing detail experienced exorbitant death tolls. Following a de-
cree by Hitler of October 1940 that Jewish prisoners should clear delay-action bombs, 
such details were established in Auschwitz and other concentration camps. 35 In Blech-
hammer, a bomb-clearing detail existed from July 3, 1944. Perniciously, the SS asked 
for “volunteers,” who mostly signed up for this task because they were promised dou-
ble food rations. 36 Others felt they had nothing left to lose, like a boy sentenced to 
death for pilfering, whose last wish it was to have more bread. However, the extra ra-
tions were seldom handed out. Six Jewish prisoners were normally allocated to a Ger-
man expert to dig out the bombs, remove the detonators, throw them into a ditch, and 
destroy them in a controlled explosion. The Germans merely supervised this process 
from a safe distance. At least half of the detail’s sixty prisoners were killed by exploding 
bombs. 37 Jonas Pampel was the only survivor of a group of six prisoners digging out a 
bomb in December 1944. His life was saved because he went to the latrine shortly be-
fore the bomb detonated. Initially, he and his friend Levie Barmhartigkeid had found 
it amusing to scare their SS guards by handling the bombs in a rather reckless fashion. 
Following the death of his five comrades, Pampel asked to leave the detail, but he was 
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forced to continue. 38 Other prisoners, who were only temporarily assigned to the de-
tail, were lucky to get out alive. 39 The Blechhammer detail also had to remove bombs 
on neighboring industrial sites at Reigersfeld (Birawa) and IG Farben Heydebreck. 40

At the start of the air raids, it became apparent that the OHW plant’s three chim-
neys were not fully covered by the smoke screen. Therefore, the SS asked for Jewish 
volunteers to shorten the chimneys by thirty meters, in return for three bonus vouch-
ers a day. 41 The work, beginning on August 3, 1944, was closely monitored by British 
POWs, who were concerned about the Jewish inmates’ safety and even moved to tears 
by their plight. 42 All the Jewish volunteers survived the dangerous task, but they never 
received the bonus vouchers. Moreover, their demonstration of outstanding courage 
prompted the SS to allocate them to the bomb-clearing detail. 43

On a different note, Blechhammer’s Political Department was responsible for the 
ill-treatment and attempted lynching of two American pilots, who were captured after 
bailing out of their plane when it was shot down on August 22, 1944. Their lives were 
spared by a member of the Luftwaffe, who apparently objected to Hitler’s order of June 
1944 to kill Allied pilots who were shot down on the spot. 44

T H E E X ACE R BAT ION OF V IOL E NCE I N S U M M E R 194 4

The bulk of survivor testimonies corroborates a surge in violence against Jewish inmates 
after the Auschwitz takeover. An SS directive prohibiting the punishment of prison-
ers in public, and their maltreatment, led the SS men patrolling the construction site 
to conceal their clubs in briefcases, so they could unobtrusively carry out floggings in 
a special hut. 45 Nevertheless, brutal killings and assaults frequently took place in full 
view of the other workers. Prisoners were murdered when others in their detail escaped 
or for working too slowly, for instance. 46 The SS block leaders also took down the pris-
oner numbers of those reported by German foremen for infractions such as talking to 
civilians. They were punished upon their return to the camp and often died of their in-
juries. In one case, six inmates were nearly whipped to death for not saluting the Weh-
rmacht guard of French prisoners of war. 47 Regarding these direct punishments, Ger-
man masters’ reports were forwarded to the Political Department of Auschwitz and the 
WVHA in Berlin. The over one hundred preserved penal reports concerning Blech-
hammer give evidence of the ideologically loaded complaints accusing Jewish prison-
ers of being “obstinate and lazy” or “arrogant and provocative.” 48

From late 1943 the work deployment of sixty Ukrainian auxiliary policemen, who 
had participated in mass shootings of Jews in Kharkiv between 1941 and 1943, led to fur-
ther brutalization. Many of these men had belonged to the right-wing Ukrainian Peo-
ple’s Militia (OUN) supporting Stepan Bandera. 49 When the three thousand auxiliary 
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policemen of Kharkiv were temporarily released from service, they volunteered for em-
ployment in the German war industry. New laws were enacted that exempted such “po-
litically reliable” Soviet workers from the discriminatory Ostarbeiter decrees. 50 Several 
assaults on Jewish prisoners at the OHW correlate with the auxiliary policemen’s pres-
ence in Blechhammer. In early 1944 a Ukrainian killed a Jewish prisoner with an iron 
bar to extract his gold teeth. Shortly after this incident, two Ukrainians threw a Jew-
ish inmate off a scaffold for the same reason. All three were hanged in Blechhammer’s 
work education camp (AEL). The punishment was related to the theft of gold teeth, 
not to the murder of Jewish inmates. 51 Similarly, a Ukrainian welder working at great 
heights persistently nudged his young Jewish assistant Kurt Baum trying to make him 
fall off. 52 In fall 1944 the Ukrainian auxiliaries were once again drafted into German 
police units in Silesia. 53

After the onset of Allied air strikes in summer 1944, strict decrees on “plunder-
ing” and “sabotage” were implemented that gave license to lynching and shooting out 
of hand. 54 In addition to the SS, the OHW works police and German civilian work-
ers played a key role in these killings. The child survivor Ludwig Hamburger recalled 
the dangerously tense atmosphere at the OHW: “The foremen and supervisors were 
all murderers. They were the scum of Germany. They beat us at work . . . for everything, 
for the least. They said we were saboteurs. And many of my friends, many of our com-
rades have lost their lives. If they lost a screw, if they dropped something . . . it was too 
heavy for them, it was called sabotage and they were murdered.” 55

On October 27, 1944, a detail comprising one hundred prisoners was machine- 
gunned by the SS for sabotaging the war effort by working “slow.” Eddie Willner was 
the only survivor, as he sought cover and was pulled into a nearby hut by a Jewish para-
medic, who tended to his head injury. 56 Furthermore, an SS guard and a German fore-
man took the lives of two juvenile inmates, who had pilfered a piece of wire, in a partic-
ularly despicable fashion. Rating the minor theft as “sabotage,” they ordered the boys 
to sit in a huge cement mixer and killed them by switching it on. 57 On another occa-
sion, six hundred Jewish electricians were slightly reluctant to start their Sunday shift, 
and their German foreman instantly reported them to the SS for alleged “sabotage” and 
even “insurgency.” They were punished with hour-long penal exercises and floggings, 
causing many weakened inmates to die. 58

The works police, headed by OHW deputy director Dr. Heinrich Schlick, con-
stantly scrutinized the non-German workforce on the construction site. They did not 
hesitate to murder Jewish inmates on the spot based on trumped-up accusations under 
the new decrees. Nathan Prochownik was nearly shot for alleged “espionage” simply be-
cause he was waiting for a German worker outside his hut to exchange food with him. 
Prochownik’s life was saved through the intervention of his German foreman, who pre-
tended to beat him hard. Meanwhile, the works policeman reported him to the Political 
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Department for begging bread from German girls and “race defilement.” Despite be-
ing tortured by Political Officer Schmidt, Prochownik vehemently denied the accusa-
tions, and the works police’s fabricated story was dropped. 59 Similarly, Ernest Koenig 
narrowly escaped a public lynching after the works police and SS guards caught him 
transporting tin plates for German workers, unaware that the workers had stolen them. 
Preparations were made to hang him on the construction site. The ad hoc execution was 
stopped by concerns that the German workers would later also be charged for theft. 60

Plenipotentiary for the Work Deployment of Foreign Labor Fritz Sauckel decreed 
that extra shifts should be run to compensate work interruptions during air raids. How-
ever, as security concerns precluded late shifts, the SS still required the OHW to extend 
the full hourly payments for the Jewish prisoners. The OHW, in turn, instructed Ger-
man foremen to extract more productivity from the prisoners at a greater pace. Con-
sequently, cases of overworking became rampant. 61 An ethnic German master forced 
a prisoner detail to unload a truck containing twenty tons of rocks in three hours un-
der threat of being accused of sabotage. Three inmates died while trying to accomplish 
this impossible task. 62 A foreman from Sudeten intended to work two teenage prison-
ers to death. The two usually shouldered heavy pipes, with a Soviet POW holding up 
the middle. One day the foreman ordered the Soviet prisoner to let the boys carry a 
pipe alone, and they almost collapsed. A German overseer, who knew them, came to 
their rescue and placed them in another detail. 63

Most Germans working at the OHW knew that unfit Jewish prisoners were gassed 
in Auschwitz. 64 Despicably, some intentionally harmed prisoners so they would fall 
victim to a selection. 65 One of these prisoners was Lion Gosler, whose German fore-
man caused him a septic wound by deliberately dropping a rock on his foot. A Jewish 
physician luckily managed to warn him of an impending Auschwitz transport during 
his treatment in the infirmary. 66

Moreover, the German overseers urged the Jewish Kapos to constantly hit their 
comrades, while simultaneously beating and kicking the prisoners themselves. 67 The 
inmates’ deteriorating physical state triggered more violence. Leo Weiniger delineated 
the vicious attacks on those suffering from edema caused by malnutrition: “The pain 
was unbearable, especially the water in the legs, and in the swollen faces no human 
traits were recognizable anymore. The Meister made nasty remarks about these unfor-
tunate men, who were in a physical and mental shock. They did not have the strength 
to stand upright, let alone to work.” 68

Between late May and September 1944 the British POW George Didcock recorded 
in his diary several assaults by German civilians on Jewish prisoners: “One of the Jews 
beaten up and nearly killed this morning. . . . Saw a German knocking a Jew terribly to-
day.” 69 Karl Masseli, the SS man managing the prisoners’ work deployment, admitted 
their frequent ill-treatment by German overseers. His claims that some overseers had 
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been rebuked by the camp leader were nevertheless not corroborated by survivor tes-
timony. 70Auschwitz commandant Rudolf Hoess attributed the widespread brutality 
on industrial construction sites to the war-related decrease in skilled German workers 
and company directors losing control over their employees. 71 However, it is import-
ant to remember that it was senior executives like Dr. Schlick — who were at the top 
of a surveillance apparatus planted in all concerns by the Nazi regime and who com-
manded auxiliary forces, such as the works police — who cooperated in the maltreat-
ment, lynching, and mass killing of Jewish prisoners.

Richard Overy sees the Allied air raids and the ensuing deterioration of the overall 
living standards as being at the root of the growing German aggression against Jews and 
other foreign laborers in 1944. 72 In addition to the aforementioned factors, the esca-
lation of violence in Blechhammer in summer 1944 was notably fueled by the new de-
crees on looting and sabotage. These enactments provided a legal framework for man-
slaughter that evidently encouraged “ordinary” Germans to commit atrocities against 
other human beings, who had been labeled as “inferior.”
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H A N G I N G S WI T H O U T 
A WI T N E S S ?

On the Vicissitudes of Relating 
Traumatic Memories

P ublic executions by hanging were first introduced under the 
Auschwitz administration. Unlike the over one hundred penal reports on minor 
infractions, no evidence of even a single death sentence has been preserved. Due 

to the complete lack of official documentation resulting from the destruction of incrim-
inating evidence by the SS in early 1945, the only available sources for reconstructing 
the executions in Blechhammer are survivor testimonies and judicial interviews of per-
petrators. In addition, a British POW’s war diary corroborates some dates of hangings.

While largely providing consistent facts on most other aspects of the camp’s history, 
the bulk of witness accounts conspicuously produced extremely conflicting informa-
tion on the executions. The sudden distortion of testimony regarding the hanging in-
cidents points to a massive trauma inflicted on the survivors, who were forced to wit-
ness these atrocities. Trauma interferes with memory and often leads to the creation 
of “split-off ” fragments that cannot be integrated into one’s life story. Another typical 
reaction is to suppress such unwanted, painful memories. However, the longer these 
memories remain repressed, the more distorted they will become. As the Holocaust 
survivor and psychiatrist Dori Laub has pointed out, the Shoah was “an event without 
a witness.” Many former inmates failed to become witnesses to their own story because 
they remained incapable of embedding their traumatic experiences in their biographies. 
Moreover, the system of Nazi camps created a dehumanizing frame of reference, which 
contributed to the process of derealization and depersonalization. 1

The repression of memories or disjointed and ruptured recollections reflect the 
“ineffable” experience of the Holocaust. These testimonies preclude the usual gath-
ering of facts to create a coherent historical narrative. Instead, they convey the loss 
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and destruction effectuated by the Shoah. By following the accounts as they become 
tainted or cease to provide information at all, layers of what Lawrence Langer termed 
“deep memory” emerge that enhance our understanding of the immense and unprec-
edented breakage of a frame and the survivors’ desperate struggle to communicate the 
“incommunicable.” 2

When facing extreme emasculation, a group may start to recall as fact what they 
wished had happened. Such collective “myths” were prevalent in the testimonies of for-
mer Blechhammer prisoners. Holocaust memories also form part of a collective mem-
ory, and “myths” evidently played an important role as unifying symbols. Identifying 
these symbols thus tells us more about a specific group than about the event itself. 3 Sur-
vivors with repressed memories were particularly susceptible to integrating such leg-
endary complexes, deriving from the “conformist group memory” of their comrades, 
into their own stories. The group memory had attained greater credibility than their 
individual recollections, leading some to replace their, perhaps more accurate, recall of 
details with that of a particular group. 4

Most testimonies corroborate a basic storyline, such as recounting in many varia-
tions the execution of a young man who was hanged twice because the rope had bro-
ken, and the hanging of two prisoners whose Kapo was also hanged for having defended 
them. There were presumably more hangings, but the information was very incongru-
ent. The precise number of executions, the dates, and the victims’ identities are impos-
sible to arrive at.

The tainted memories of the Blechhammer hangings show that the Holocaust will 
never be fully explicable, and we can only attempt to circumscribe the void by analyz-
ing the trauma fragments from a multitude of angles. Distorted memories may bring 
to the fore what invariably will remain “indeterminate, elusive, and opaque.” They force 
us to accept the limits of the historical representation of the Holocaust, and that there 
will never be a “complete” narrative with a “redemptive closure.” 5 This apparent la-
cuna nonetheless symbolizes the most central, intrinsic element of the Shoah: the de-
struction. 6

The SS carefully planned and staged each of the hangings, and all staff members sup-
posedly were present at or actively participated in the executions. Of the few SS men of 
Blechhammer ever interrogated in courts, none gave identical information on the num-
ber of hanged prisoners and the circumstances of their deaths. Primo Levi felt that the 
need to repress the memories of atrocities united the perpetrators and the victims in a 
“paradoxical analogy.” Contrary to their victims, the perpetrators intended to suppress 
feelings of guilt. The widespread use of euphemisms created to cover up their crimes 
also helped to relieve the SS men’s consciences, along with the consumption of alcohol 
during and immediately after killing operations. 7 In a state of intoxication, humans gen-
erally show impaired perceptual judgment, awareness, memory, and decision-making, 
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and the amount of information they are able to recall is reduced. 8 Drinking follow-
ing acts of violence equally fostered camaraderie and cemented the alleged “righteous-
ness” of their collective moral transgressions. 9 Jewish prisoner artists were forced to 
stage theatrical performances on the very evening of executions in Blechhammer. 10 To 
the SS men, these events offered another opportunity for distraction and maintaining 
a self-image of being “cultured” and “civilized.” 11

The veridical memories still retained by the perpetrators were often manipulated by 
deliberate fabrications they told either to be acquitted or to blend into the postwar soci-
ety more easily. They typically applied a twofold strategy of feigning complete or selec-
tive amnesia and disclaiming personal responsibility for their actions by pleading that 
they were obeying superior orders. In the beginning, the falsifying of accounts was still 
done consciously, but the more often lies were told, the more the boundaries between 
truth and fiction became blurred. 12 Feigning amnesia and fabricating lies may both af-
fect the veridical memory. The unreported true information is likely to be repressed and 
replaced with the manipulated information over time. To create a false memory, the ve-
ridical memory is nevertheless needed to recall the correct information before altering 
it. 13 For reasons diametrically opposed to those of their victims, the SS men therefore 
equally failed to become witnesses of their own crimes. 14

Otto Brossmann and his deputy Hans Stefan Olejak were responsible for the first 
hangings in September and October 1944. Neither was interrogated about the execu-
tions. The second camp leader, Kurt Klipp, died before he could be tried. 15 Klipp’s dep-
uty Karl Czapla appeared in the Frankfurt Auschwitz Trials in 1960. He disclaimed all 
responsibility by claiming that staff from the Auschwitz main camp had carried out the 
hangings. The presence of external personnel was not corroborated by any other sources 
and appears to be a fabrication:

I witnessed two executions by hanging in Blechhammer. Two prisoners, who had 
made an escape attempt before my time and had been sent to the Political Depart-
ment of Auschwitz, returned in the beginning of December accompanied by three 
SS men from Auschwitz, and they were hanged in the presence of all inmates. The 
verdict was read out before the execution by an Oberscharführer, whose name I have 
never known, as he belonged to the Political Department of Auschwitz. The gallows 
had been especially set up for these two prisoners. This was the only execution I wit-
nessed during my whole time in Auschwitz. 16

Sixteen years later, Czapla was questioned again. By then most details of the exe-
cutions had sunk into genuine or feigned oblivion in his mind. It is noteworthy that 
he carefully avoided even mentioning the word “Auschwitz.” Rather than incriminat-
ing anonymous others, he changed his strategy and portrayed himself as an innocent 
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bystander. In his statements, he generally tried to create the impression that he had 
been a friend and benefactor of the prisoners, and he obviously succeeded in convinc-
ing the judges. He was acquitted twice and, had he not died, would probably also have 
walked away from his third trial as a free man. “I cannot remember precisely these days 
who read out the verdict and who carried out the execution. I only know that the whole 
camp was assembled during the execution. I was present, too, but had nothing to do 
with the execution.” 17

The former SS block leader Karl Masseli admitted that there had been one hang-
ing, connected to the smuggling of explosives. He did not mention the breaking of the 
rope and used the strategy of selective amnesia regarding any other hangings: “A pris-
oner was hanged, as he had brought gunpowder into the camp. I have no remembrance 
of any other executions.” 18

The guard Heinrich Schäfer had been in Polish custody immediately after the war 
but was never questioned about executions. In 1964 the Jewish Blechhammer survivor 
Erwin Lagus contacted Simon Wiesenthal, the famous Nazi hunter, urging him to start 
investigations into crimes committed in the camp. As Lagus had had friendly relations 
with Schäfer in Blechhammer, he wanted him to appear as a witness. Schäfer sent him 
a letter stating that he did not remember much about the camp and was unable to pro-
vide the names of SS men or details of executions. Taking the role of a mere bystander, 
Schäfer briefly recounted the hanging with the snapped rope: “I only witnessed a single 
execution as a guard, but the rope broke and [he] was hanged once more.” 19

The former SS man Adolf Schindler went into complete denial when he was con-
fronted with a Jewish witness’s accusation that he had supervised the second hanging. 
He not only claimed that there had never been any executions but also tried to pretend 
that the crematorium, where the bodies of the hanged were usually burned under his 
auspices, did not exist. 20

All other perpetrators conspicuously stressed that they had participated in a single 
hanging only, when they must have been involved in many more. This understatement 
was undoubtedly intended to downplay their culpability. The phenomenon seems to 
correlate with the overstating of numbers apparent in some survivor testimonies. To 
Dori Laub, the latter symbolized the “unimaginable breakage of a frame” experienced 
in the camps. 21 It is also known that the memory for traumatic events may amplify over 
time due to flashbacks. 22 Contrary to the victims, the perpetrators, in their quest for 
vindication, obviously produced a reverse effect by reducing their memories.

The perpetrators represented a “memory community” characterized by feigned (and 
partly genuine) amnesia, lies, and denial antithetical to that of the survivors. The nature 
of the trials, especially in Western Germany, permitted them to evade personal respon-
sibility and contributed to their exculpation from state-sponsored mass murder. 23 The 
almost total absence of truthful confessions on their part left the survivors as the only 
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witnesses, whose statements were often put into question by the culprits’ persistent and 
widely accepted denials. The trauma inflicted by the perpetrators complicated the act 
of witnessing for the victims or even made it impossible.

George Didcock, a British POW assigned to a Blechhammer working party in fall 
1943, kept a diary throughout his Italian and German captivity. From April 1944, he 
made regular diary entries about the treatment of Jewish prisoners he encountered on 
the OHW construction site. He noted the hangings of five prisoners on four occasions 
between September and December 1944. It was not unusual that British POWs gath-
ered information on what would later be called the Holocaust, but none of the other 
POWs in Blechhammer mentioned any hangings in interviews or autobiographies. 24 
It was impossible for any bystander to watch the executions with their own eyes, as the 
camp for Jews was surrounded by a massive concrete wall and was situated several miles 
from the British POW camps. However, many British POWs had clandestine contacts 
with Jewish inmates for bartering or simply offering their assistance. Didcock never dis-
closed who told him about the hangings, possibly to protect his contact person and 
himself in case his diary should fall into the hands of the Germans. What renders this 
diary so valuable is that in contrast to all other available sources, it is a contempora-
neous document. Whoever gave Didcock the information, it was still “raw.” He thus 
came closest to being what Dori Laub referred to as an “outsider-witness,” somebody 
detached enough to remain unaffected by trauma. 25 He did not provide ample details, 
but the dates are more likely to be accurate, as British POWs had access to calendars. 
The diary corroborates the hanging of one prisoner for the possession of explosives on 
Yom Kippur, September 27, 1944, during which the rope snapped. Interestingly, the en-
tries do not confirm the hanging of three other prisoners at the same time:

September 28, 1944: A Jew was hung last night, a detonator was found on him, the 
rope broke with his weight, so he had to wait while they found another, all the 
camp had to watch it.

October 15, 1944: Two of the Jews were hanged last night for pinching.
October 26, 1944: Another Jew hung last night.
December 3, 1944: Jew hanged last night for pinching rubber. 26

The historian Russell Wallis construes Didcock’s diary entries on atrocities against 
Jews as symptomatic of a particular “chatter culture” among British POWs, who had 
allegedly become increasingly desensitized to the ubiquitous acts of cruelty committed 
by the Germans. He suggests that there had been no direct contacts between Didcock 
and Jewish inmates. Didcock’s diary nonetheless clearly corroborates “second econ-
omy” barter, which presumably involved Jewish prisoners. As his writing was the only 
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archival source by British POWs documenting the hangings, this information was un-
likely to have been based on rumors spread in POW camps. 27

“A N E X E M PL A RY PU N I SH M E N T ”:  T H E 
T R AU M A OF T H E F I R S T H A NG I NG

The first public execution of a prisoner in Blechhammer was deviously conceived of by 
the SS as an “exemplary punishment” for alleged insurrection. However, many prisoners 
felt that the SS had merely sought a scapegoat following the onset of Allied air raids. 28 
What made this first execution so disturbing to watch was that the rope broke as soon 
as the young prisoner had been hanged. He was forced to climb up on a chair placed on 
a table, the noose was put around his neck, and the chair was kicked off, whereupon he 
abruptly fell to the ground. This traumatizing incident, corroborated by most of the tes-
timonies, was certainly no coincidence, but part of a cynical strategy applied by the SS 
to cause a maximum shock effect on the prisoners and the condemned person. A per-
fidious ingredient of the whole scenario was the sudden hope that the victim would be 
spared, as the execution had failed. Nearly all witnesses were convinced that this was 
stipulated by an international law or an old tradition. Jewish elder Demerer recalled 
how he had approached the camp leader to ask him to pardon the man. Numerous sur-
vivors confirmed his appeal for mercy. Two witnesses erroneously stated that Demerer 
had been a lawyer (he was a merchant), thus indirectly underscoring the rightfulness of 
his cause. 29 Others claimed that the victim had asked to be pardoned himself. 30

Curiously, such a law never existed. There is nonetheless a widespread ancient belief 
that an innocent person sentenced to death might be saved by divine intervention pre-
venting the execution. Despite some documented cases in Britain and the United States 
of condemned persons having been pardoned after multiple failed attempts to execute 
them, the principle of “double jeopardy” has at no time applied to death sentences. 31 
Nonetheless, the SS cruelly played on the prevailing assumption that the victim would 
be pardoned to torment the prisoners. According to several survivors, the camp leader 
sneered at Demerer and replied that international law did not apply to Jews. 32 Although 
there was no legal framework for pardoning the prisoner, the camp leader obviously in-
tended to demonstrate to the inmates that they had been deprived of all human rights.

Similar “failed” executions were staged in other Nazi camps, such as Pustków. In 
this camp, an escapee was hanged on a hook, which immediately broke off the wall. 
The assembled inmates also expected the condemned to be pardoned, but the hook 
was fastened once more, and he was hanged a second time. 33 These events underline 
the changed function of executions in concentration camps. Rather than deterring 
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prospective perpetrators from committing crimes, they primarily served as a means of 
total degradation. 34

The “failed” execution in Blechhammer plunged the prisoners from feelings of hor-
ror into tentative optimism and then, ultimately, humiliation and emasculation. An 
additional trauma was caused by having to witness the hanging for a second time. The 
extraordinarily traumatizing hanging likely contributed to the distortion of the survi-
vors’ memories and also impacted their recall of the following executions. Some pris-
oners decided to avoid watching the other hangings altogether.

Several survivors stated that the victim of the first execution was Jacob Fresco, a 
young man from the Netherlands they had known well. 35 According to information 
from the Dutch Red Cross and the Jewish Council gathered after the war by the Neth-
erlands’ Institute for War Documentation (RIOD), Jacob Fresco was born in The 
Hague in February 1922. He married Carolina de Wind on August 25, 1942. She was 
deported from Westerbork on August 28, 1942, and was murdered upon arrival in 
Auschwitz on August 31, 1942. The RIOD considered it an established fact that Ja-
cob Fresco was hanged for sabotage on the eve of Yom Kippur 1944. 36 However, there 
were also witnesses who stated that the hanged man had been the chemistry student 
Rudolph Raphaelson, a German emigrant to the Netherlands who had volunteered for 
the bomb-clearing detail in Blechhammer. His identity was not verified by institutions 
after the war. 37 These witnesses equally claimed to have known the victim well or even 
to have been friends with him. The survivor Jules Fainzang described the shocking mo-
ment when he realized that the condemned was somebody he believed to be an old ac-
quaintance of his: “I was trembling when I recognized Rafaelson, Ringel’s friend; the 
three of us had formed an inseparable trio in Laurahütte two years earlier. An SS offi-
cer read out the verdict. I do not recall having understood anything of it. I had to pull 
myself together in order not to faint at the sight of brave Rafaelson behind the dan-
gling noose, a table in front of him.” 38

The victim’s identity will remain elusive. To the survivors, a name nevertheless be-
came crucial when telling their story. As Henry Greenspan has pointed out, names 
are an indispensable tool to render a terrifying crime tellable to others by transform-
ing it into a human “tragedy” they can relate to. By restoring a victim’s identity, the in-
dividual is thus not only saved from oblivion but also stands out from the anonymity 
of mass atrocity. Seeing a friend die instead of a stranger implied closer emotional ties 
and evoked compassion equivalent to the shock the survivor experienced during the 
hanging. Being able to provide the victim’s proper name and his alleged traits of char-
acter likewise increased the credibility of one’s story — to oneself and to others. How-
ever, it is important to remember that the communicable parts of the “tragedy” only 
represent a fragment of what the witness experienced and that a sole, seemingly identi-
fiable, victim may symbolize the suffering of many others who remain nameless. 39 Along 
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these lines, several witnesses gave additional information about the victim’s personality. 
His youth and innocence were particularly emphasized. Most stated that he had been 
about twenty years old. 40 He was further described as tall, well-built, and brave, with a 
“childlike face.” His unusual calmness and docility at the gallows, where he stood “like 
a lamb,” prompted some to suspect that the SS had administered a drug to him before 
the execution. 41 A survivor, who thought the victim had been Raphaelson, recalled how 
that person had once shared a piece of bread with him. 42 A gesture like this constituted 
a supreme act of altruism in the universe of the concentration camps.

The memory for traumatic events may also amplify over time as a result of flash-
backs or reexperiencing. These memories are nevertheless prone to distortion, espe-
cially when the information is focused on perceptual details, such as colors or sounds. 43 
A good example of this is the statement given by the survivor Abram Stone in a pre-
trial investigation thirty years after the event. A part of his recollections of the hanging 
was a vivid mental picture in which the victim wore bright red socks at the gallows. 44 
Under the Auschwitz administration all prisoners had to use a piece of cloth instead of 
socks. And even if the victim had clandestinely acquired such socks, the SS would have 
confiscated them upon his arrest. Similarly, two other survivors recalled that the Jew-
ish camp orchestra had played during executions. One of them mentioned that it had 
played the popular tune “Lilli Marleen.” 45 Although the abuse of prisoner orchestras 
for such purposes was ubiquitous in many concentration camps, none of the other wit-
nesses corroborated the playing of music during hangings in Blechhammer. These sur-
vivors might have erroneously fused their memories of the hangings with those of the 
ensuing theatrical performances. Memory failure is often based on schematic process-
ing. Schemes are organized knowledge structures based on individual sets of beliefs, 
values, and expectations that the brain utilizes to interpret what we perceive. Due to 
the constructive rather than reconstructive nature of perception and comprehension, 
we add components to or alter what we perceive to render it more understandable. 46

Most testimonies corroborate that the condemned was caught with an explosive 
substance he had picked up from the construction site. This was independently con-
firmed by the diary of the British POW Didcock and the judicial interview of the SS 
man Karl Masseli. 47 However, the prisoners did not believe the SS’s story of a bomb-
ing plot. Instead, they described the victim as a person with a naïve curiosity about un-
usual objects, who probably did not even realize that he was carrying hazardous mate-
rial. 48 The head of Blechhammer’s Political Department, Schmidt, forced the prisoner 
under torture to sign a “confession” that he had intended to blow up the camp. 49 The 
testimonies were unclear about the length of the victim’s detention before Berlin con-
firmed the death sentence. 50 As the prisoners had typically lost their sense of time in the 
camps, they found it hard to keep track of specific dates. 51 The formal turnaround for 
reports sent from Blechhammer to Auschwitz and the WVHA in Berlin was usually 
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four weeks. A time frame of one month seems realistic, due to the likely connection 
between two major air raids on August 22 and 27 and the hanging. 52 On the day of the 
execution, the prisoners were confronted with a gallows on their return from work. 
Some recalled that the SS had led the condemned onto the assembly court when they 
had all lined up for the roll call. Others were convinced that he had stood in a row next 
to them and had been forced to step forward. 53 As the latter version would imply that 
the prisoner still went out to work, it was probably erroneous. The memory of the un-
suspecting victim being taken straight from their midst could have been evoked by the 
unexpectedness of the event. The notion of the seemingly random calling of his num-
ber further enhanced the feeling of total subjugation to an arbitrary power. This sen-
timent is exemplified by the following excerpt from video testimony by the survivor 
Ernest Koenig, who could only render a generalized account of the hangings: “Hang-
ing was particularly impressive, and it was intended to be so because it was always a big 
show. All the camp had to assemble and had to look at the persons. Very often, they did 
not know until their number was called up that they are going to be hanged, so it was 
very fear-inspiring, and the SS made a big show of it.” 54

Except for the SS block leader nicknamed Tom Mix, individual perpetrators par-
ticipating in the execution were rarely identified. Tom Mix reportedly kicked off the 
chair the victim stood on and attached a new rope after the first hanging had “failed.” 55 
Higher echelon SS personnel were only sporadically incriminated. 56 When asked for 
the names of SS men involved in the executions during a pretrial investigation in 1976, 
a witness pointed out that the prisoners had been too exhausted to focus on the per-
petrators: “One should not forget that these executions took place when we returned 
from the construction site, we were hungry and deadly tired. After having stood on roll 
call parade for over an hour, it is possible that one did not pay attention to the faces of 
SS men.” 57

Another possible explanation could be the effect known as “memory narrowing.” 
Witnesses to traumatic events tend to exhibit improved recall for central details, in 
this case the condemned prisoner at the gallows, and worse recall for peripheral ones. 58 
The assumption that SS men were seldom perceived as individual actors is affirmed by 
the statement of a survivor who argued that the SS had committed crimes collectively 
and it was hard to single out those more guilty than the others. “‘Tom Mix’ was usu-
ally present at executions, along with other SS men. The gentlemen had the executions 
carried out by prisoners. I cannot give you the name of an SS man I saw during execu-
tions. You must look at it this way that the SS had a collective guilt of these crimes.” 59

Several survivors explicitly named two Jewish Kapos who supposedly participated 
in the execution. Enforced collaboration in the killing of fellow prisoners was part of 
a commonly applied Nazi strategy intended to divide the inmates and turn function-
ary prisoners into accessories to their crimes. 60 In one version corroborated by two 
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testimonies, the victim’s block elder, a certain Schwarzbaum, put the noose around 
the boy’s neck the first time. He allegedly refused to hang him a second time, and thus 
Tom Mix took over. 61 In a second version, the Kapo in question was a Dutch prisoner 
named Jacques Presser. He hanged the boy both times but was said to have asked the 
camp leader to pardon the victim when the rope had broken. 62 Survivors judged such 
functionary prisoners differently. Some reproached them for having volunteered to par-
ticipate in the hanging process; others saw them as the victims of the SS perpetrators, 
who were ultimately responsible for these atrocities. 63

Trauma and humiliation were felt for different aspects of the first execution. The 
snapping of the rope was a shock to most witnesses. 64 The camp leader’s subsequent 
refusal to pardon the victim caused great moral anguish and a feeling of dehumaniza-
tion and emasculation, a state of mind in Holocaust survivors that Langer called the 
“diminished self.” 65 Jacques Grinband recalled: “We were there, . . . without a voice, 
with an empty stomach after a laborious day, incapable of saying a word. We pondered 
what we were in their eyes. No, not human beings, . . . I demand one minute of shame 
for humanity.” 66

The time between the first and the second hanging, while the victim was forced 
to wait for the new rope, was experienced as the most devastating. The victim was of-
ten portrayed rather idealistically as a hero, who went to his death with great calmness 
and bravery. This was doubtless intended to honor the condemned, who had suffered 
such utter humiliation at the hands of the SS, but it also made it easier for the survi-
vors to keep their emotional distance. Individual testimonies nevertheless corroborate 
a more realistic, albeit disturbing perspective. Ernest Nives delineated the agony of hav-
ing to watch the panic-stricken man die: “I saw gallows for the first time, we were sur-
rounded by machine guns, they made a show for us. . . . We were agitated, numb, saw 
the terror in Raphaelson’s eyes, we did not know what to do. . . . You were helpless hav-
ing to watch how your own friend is being killed because a guy behind you is pointing 
a machine gun at you.” 67

Estimates of the approximate time span between the first and the second hanging 
varied significantly, depending on the emotional strain inflicted by the situation. While 
to some the second hanging came in swift succession to the first, others stated that up 
to thirty minutes had elapsed: “The rope broke and the poor boy had to stand at the 
gallows and wait for half an hour until a stronger rope had been fetched. This was the 
most terrible thing I have ever experienced. He looked at us helplessly, and we could 
hardly bear the sight of him, as we were left standing helplessly around him. The situ-
ation was so unbearable to us that any minute during this waiting in silence, I feared 
to lose my nerve.” 68

Only one survivor rendered a harrowing account of the actual dying process: “Our 
unfortunate comrade clings to his life, he makes a few kicks into the air, then it is over. 
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He moves no more. It is horrible to watch: his violet face, his rolled back eyes, his tongue 
hanging from the opened mouth.” 69

The trauma of the hanging also caused psychosomatic symptoms. One witness stated 
that he had been unable to eat for several days afterward. 70 Heinrich Demerer, the Jew-
ish elder’s teenage son, fainted during the execution. 71 The survivor Bil Spira recalled 
that he and many other prisoners had wept. 72

Surprisingly, two witnesses immediately realized that the breaking of the rope was a 
fraud. Their narratives were thus much more distanced and downplayed the shock ef-
fect. The first account, written shortly after the liberation in 1945, emphasized the pris-
oners’ wish for revenge:

It was the first time I witnessed a hanging; I had often seen people being beaten to 
death, but this was something new. . . . I thought the rope did not look very strong 
and, as it turned out, it was not. He listened to the verdict quietly, then he was 
hanged, but not for long, the rope snapped. This had, of course, been a nasty trick 
by the SS. . . . It took at least twenty minutes until the new rope had been fetched. 
The young man must have departed from this world with awful thoughts. . . . We 
had to watch the last twitches of the guy and cadaver-to-be. He deeply impressed 
most of us, however hardened we had become by then. It was quiet in the rooms, 
and our thoughts went out to this young man with the childlike face, who had died 
so bravely and without uttering a sound. In many faces one could make out the wish 
for revenge. 73

In the second account, an excerpt from an autobiography published in 2013, the 
breaking of the rope was construed as a form of resistance against the SS of the Jewish 
functionary prisoners involved in the hanging. The attempt to rescue the victim was 
sabotaged by the Nazis’ violation of “international law”: “Evidently, the helpers must 
have tampered with the rope, on the assumption that no man can be hanged twice. They 
should have known that the Nazis would not recognize any such law.” 74

In contrast to this, a survivor who had mentally blocked out the executions but 
could not avoid registering the dead bodies the SS left hanging for at least another day 
kept suffering from recurring nightmares in his later life and showed signs of “survivor’s 
guilt”: “They left the bodies hanging there for days to teach us a lesson. A horrific sight 
that still haunts me. I have nightmares about them staring at me, asking, ‘Why did you 
make it? Why did I end this way?’” 75

Feelings of guilt and self-recrimination may indicate a failed attempt to recount 
traumatic memories. Through a narrative of guilt, survivors typically tend to make an 
incommunicable incident more “retellable” to others, as this is a feeling non-Holocaust 
victims can relate to. 76
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Several testimonies contained phrases characteristic of the normative urge to tell 
an “upbeat” story found in postwar settings of the United States and other Western 
countries. These survivors complied with their audiences’ expectation that they would 
transform their traumatic past into a positive message for the future. At the same time, 
it was considered undesirable to show any hostility toward former perpetrators or to 
be unforgiving of their crimes. 77 As a result, we often find statements loaded with gen-
uine contempt and anger, yet adorned with a more appeasing vocabulary, which in its 
violent clash with the rest of the sentence seems like an oxymoron. Survivors equally 
came under pressure to adapt their life stories to a mythology of martyrdom and hero-
ism based on the notion postulated by Emanuel Ringelblum that moral integrity had 
prevailed in the nihilistic universe of the camps. Moreover, they were portrayed as mes-
sengers from a “different world” that eludes our comprehension. 78 The testimony of Fe-
lix G., recorded by the Fortunoff Video Archive, illustrates his inner struggle to cope 
with the traumatic experiences and their psychological repercussions, the disdain for 
the Nazi atrocities that caused them, and the urge to satisfy external expectations to 
formulate a heroic, positive narrative: “I pitied the SS for their stupidity, for doing in-
comprehensible things. Hanging was a recreation to them, revolting. It was a world of 
folly and absurdity. I was a witness to this different universe. The Germans had taken 
everything except our inner liberty of judgement. I never cried in camps. I am no lon-
ger capable of shedding tears because of the camps!” 79

Similarly, having delineated his total impotence in the face of the renewed hanging 
of the first victim, the survivor Ernest Nives stressed how, contrary to the Nazis, the 
prisoners had succeeded in retaining their humanity: “But we still did not crack, the 
essential victory over the SS was being civilized, unlike the Germans.” 80

T H E FOR M AT ION OF A L EG E N DA RY COM PL E X : 
A H E ROIC SPE ECH AT T H E G A L L OW S

In response to the humiliation and dehumanization effected by the first execution, cer-
tain survivors subliminally started to construct a legendary complex which to them be-
came an alternative reality they firmly believed in. Other former prisoners, typically 
those with repressed memories, began to embed the legend into their own narratives. 
In extreme situations, in which humans feel overpowered, impotent, and exposed to 
a merciless, hostile, and unpredictable outside world, a group may construct a mental 
counterbalance by recounting as a true event what they hoped would have happened, 
but that never actually did happen. 81 For the Blechhammer inmates, this event pos-
sibly was a speech by the victim(s), relaying various messages in different languages. 
Some were patriotic and even anti-German, others encouraging or very personal. As 



156 FROM SCHMELT CAMP TO “LITTLE AUSCHWIT Z”

the speeches were related in so many variants and attributed to several prisoners, some 
or all might have been fictional. In the following, an attempt is made to show the broad 
spectrum of memories and possible ways of interpreting them without questioning the 
truth they doubtless held for the survivors.

The overwhelming majority of the speech’s patriotic versions referred to the Neth-
erlands, and most contained anti-German elements as well. The survivors who inte-
grated them into their testimonies were all Dutch Jews. The speech was delivered ei-
ther before the first hanging attempt or when the broken rope was replaced. Two 
testimonies given during a pretrial investigation in 1976, in which the German pros-
ecution specifically asked for information about Tom Mix, recounted a direct verbal 
and physical confrontation of the victim with this person. The following dialogues 
may therefore be the result of the effect known as “witness contamination,” the mo-
tivational distortion of memories intended to support other witnesses or investiga-
tors, or of false memories produced by leading questions. 82 “The boy cried, ‘Cheer up, 
boys, long live the Queen!’ As I said before, ‘Tom Mix’ had a good command of Dutch, 
and I had the impression that he understood the boy’s words. ‘Tom Mix’ leaped to-
wards the gallows, and I saw how he knocked over the chair; in the same instance the 
rope snapped.” 83

“After the first hanging, he called out, ‘Dutch comrades, have a safe trip back home!’, 
then ‘Tom Mix’ said, ‘Shut up, bloody git!’ He and the prisoners kicked off the chair 
and he suffocated.” 84

A third testimony, given between 1945 and 1947, posited a more daring conversa-
tion between the victim and the camp leader. Interestingly, the incident of the broken 
rope was omitted: “Before the hanging he said, ‘Boys, I hope you have a safe trip back 
to Holland!’ ‘Shut up,’ the Obersturmführer cried. He answered, ‘Die!’, having noth-
ing to fear anymore.” 85

An exceptional Zionist variant of the speech was rendered in the video testimony 
of a former Polish Jewish prisoner who had emigrated to the United States: “They was 
hanging a guy and he fell down two or three times, he fell down, the rope slipped off or 
whatever, but they still hanged him. I’ll never forget the words what he said, ‘Kinder-
lakh (kids), I’m just going haym (home), we should have a Yiddishe medine (a Jewish 
State).’” 86

The way he mixed Yiddish words with English may be regarded as typical of the 
postwar “multi-glossic” and no longer multilingual usage of the Yiddish language. A 
shift to Yiddish in testimony indicates that the survivor intended to emphasize the sym-
bolic value of the language rather than convey any relevant information. Sometimes 
Yiddish is deliberately used to commemorate those native speakers who perished or to 
enact one’s Jewishness. 87 Switching to other languages during an interview also implies 
that the survivor is literally going back to another time of his life in the past. 88



157HANGING S WITHOU T A WITNESS ?

Two purely anti-German speeches were attributed to the victims of later hangings 
by former Polish and Belgian Jewish inmates. The first was allegedly delivered by a Pol-
ish Jewish prisoner named Katz: “He behaved heroically, as he called out loud and in 
German while standing by the gallows, ‘Comrades, look at me, I am dying here as an 
innocent, but the Germans have lost the war and will soon be brought to the gallows 
themselves.’” 89

The second speech given by one of the victims during the “hanging of three” also 
included an obligation to commemorate and to testify, rendering the prisoners’ death 
more meaningful: “One said, ‘Brothers, bear witness and speak the truth. Hitler and 
the German nation will be damned forever. I love you, brothers!’” 90

All these speeches may be subsumed as “heroic memories,” diametrically opposed 
to what Langer defined as “unheroic memories.” The survivors who implanted this leg-
endary complex into their life stories mentally converted humiliation into courage and 
impotence into triumph. A peculiar addition was the patriotic element predominantly 
found in the testimonies of Dutch Jews who had resettled in the Netherlands after the 
war. Apparently they felt a need to affirm their allegiance to their country of origin and 
the royal family, while at the same time underlining that they had not been mere vic-
tims, but part of a joint resistance effort against the German oppressors. Along the same 
lines, the anti-German speeches seemed to express the hope of retaliation against the 
Nazis and that the hanging of their fellow comrade would be avenged by the Allies. Pa-
triotism was completely absent from Polish Jewish testimonies, which is probably why 
they fell back on anti-Nazi or Zionist speeches.

Testimony rendering nonpatriotic speeches either contained a universally encour-
aging phrase, in part identical with the those found in the patriotic accounts, or they 
assured the prisoners that the war would soon end. In the first category, the sentence 
“Have a safe trip back home” was used the most frequently, along with “Cheer up.” 91 
Both of these rather trivial lines may not seem very appropriate as someone’s last words 
before an execution; however, the survivors imbued them with a special meaning: “Be-
fore the second hanging the boy cried, ‘Have a safe trip back home, comrades!’ He will 
never return home himself — the tightening of the noose mutes his last words . . . words 
that will remain a constant memory and reminder of the unknown comrade to all of 
us who survived.” 92

The victim, whose life was about to be taken, thus appeared to convey a twofold mes-
sage. First, he reassured his fellow prisoners that they would eventually survive the con-
centration camps and return to their old lives. This kind of wishful thinking was likely 
connected to the secret hopes and daydreams of many a prisoner, despite the unbearably 
cruel reality surrounding them. 93 Second, and most important for postwar memories, 
his words either seemed to reinforce the “guilt” of having survived or served to relieve 
survivors of that very guilt. The latter effect is illustrated by the following testimony 
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from a Dutch survivor, who stressed that the victim had wished them well for their fu-
ture in liberty without any reproach or envy: “Before he died, Rafaels gave a speech, de-
spite having been ordered to stay silent. He wished us a speedy liberation and a happy 
reunion with our families.” 94

A highly unusual version of the speech that did not fit into the context of the others 
was rendered in Ernest Koenig’s autobiography. The victim’s last words allegedly were, 
“Say hello to my mother!” 95 As the author had almost become the victim of a lynching 
himself, he might have put the words into the condemned prisoner’s mouth that had 
been on his own mind then.

To others, the victim’s speech struck a different chord, namely that of the imminent 
ending of the war and liberation. The following variant was attributed to one of the 
three prisoners hanged at the same time. It becomes obvious how the message convey-
ing hope of liberation is given more credibility in the form of the speech. “The victim 
cried out, ‘The war will soon be over!’ We believed him.” 96

In an additional paragraph following his description of the first hanging, the sur-
vivor John Steiner aggregated a plethora of possible versions in a seemingly inexora-
ble succession of executions of victims, who all gave heroic, heartening speeches: “Al-
most every Sunday, these cruel and unskilled hangings took place. . . . The condemned 
comrades died heroically, without complaining or whining (in contrast to some of the 
major war criminals hanged in Nuremberg). Before being hanged, some of the com-
rades shouted encouragement to us: ‘Persevere, it will not last forever . . . be coura-
geous . . . keep your heads up, don’t despair . . . don’t forget us.’ These young men died 
as true heroes.” 97

Despite formulating a detailed narrative of the first execution, Steiner was clearly 
still incapable of integrating the emerging fragments of his traumatic memories. Over-
whelmed by the returning “split-off ” memories, it appeared to him that there had been 
an interminable routine of “failed” hangings. 98 The flow of disjointed trauma frag-
ments was stopped short by the imperative to tell a “positive” story. His obscured re-
call of numerous, faceless victims dying in agony was thus transformed into an ac-
count of “heroes,” whose bravery at the gallows elevated them above the “whining” 
Nazi perpetrators.

Juxtaposed with the legendary complex of “heroic memories,” there remained an 
almost equal number of recollections reflecting “unheroic” hanging scenarios. 99 The 
victim was described as intimidated, scared, and helpless. 100 Some survivors recalled 
that instead of giving a daring speech, he had “begged for mercy.” 101 Others empha-
sized that he had been very quiet, possibly even sedated, and had died “without utter-
ing a sound.” 102 Survivors reporting such bleak variants of the execution seem to have 
coped better with the traumatic experience. They felt no need to construct an “uplift-
ing” story but were able to integrate the shocking event into their narratives. There is 
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an obvious link between the trauma of the “failed” hanging and the belief in a heroic 
speech. Therefore, neither of the two survivors aware of the “trick” used that element 
of the speech in their accounts. 103

T H E I M P ORTA NCE OF YOM K I PPU R

The highest Jewish holiday, Yom Kippur, the Day of Atonement, was certainly not cho-
sen at random by the SS for staging the first and most traumatic hanging. Although 
only a few prisoners were observant Jews, most of their nonpracticing comrades were 
aware of the holiday and its meaning. 104 On this day, when according to Scripture the 
sins of the repentant are forgiven and it is decided whether they will be “written into 
the Book of Life” or not (Leviticus 16:30), the execution scenario resembled a symbolic 
act of “divine judgment.” Survivors often underscored the victim’s innocence by com-
paring him to a child and by pointing out that he had been a good person, who was “as 
docile as a lamb.” When the rope broke, there was a sudden chance that his life would 
be preserved. By not granting him any mercy, the SS literally put themselves in the place 
of the biblical God: a God who failed to intervene. Therefore, the hanging led some 
of the religious prisoners to doubt the divine existence: “When we returned from the 
roll call, I passed by a barrack in front of which a heated debate went on. They were re-
ligious Jews who had spent the day fasting as good as they could, for it was Yom Kip-
pur, the Day of Atonement. The Nazis had deliberately chosen this day for the execu-
tion. The people were crying: ‘Where is God? Where is God? How can he allow this 
to happen? Is there a God? If he lets this happen, is it a proof of his weakness, or of his 
indifference, or of his non-existence?’” 105

The survivor Dr. Alfred Meier wrote a poem about the first execution in which Yom 
Kippur was the central thread. He elaborated on the existential questions arising from 
the Day of Atonement in a concentration camp setting, when none of the prisoners 
could be sure to survive the next day or even the next hour, and they reflected on the 
obscure fate of their next of kin. In this pensive mood, the sight of the gallows by itself 
already tore apart their “heart and mind” with pain. The execution violently disrupted 
their inner, spiritual dialogue. The author also emphasized the innocence of the victim, 
whose only “crime” had been his Jewishness, and whose suffering was representative of 
that of all other prisoners. Although the breaking of the rope was omitted, he also in-
cluded a nonpatriotic variant of the speech that was fused with the religious compo-
nent of the prayer for the dead:

“Kommt Kameraden gut nach Haus” (“Comrades, have a save trip back home”)
Das Schma Jisroel alsdann; ( followed by the Sh’ma Yisrael;)
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Kein Laut der Klage, dann ist’s aus. (No sound of woe, then it is over.)
O, dass ein Gott dies ansehen kann. (Oh, that a God can watch this.)

Instead of recounting a legal dispute between the prisoners and the camp leader, 
Meier had the biblical God abstain from saving the victim on the Day of Judgment. 
The poem seems to reflect the characteristics of Langer’s “diminished self ” in the ag-
gravated state of theological, not merely psychological, crisis: 106

Nur langsam dann der Platz sich leert, (The yard empties only slowly,)
Das Herz ist krank von Leid, (The heart is sick with pain,)
Was dieser Tag an Weh beschert, (How much woe this day held for us,)
Gerichtstag war, Jom Kippur heut. (It was Judgement Day, Yom Kippur today.) 107

Aside from a handful of functionary prisoners who worked in the camp office (and 
clandestine “chroniclers of the Holocaust”), most inmates had no access to calendars 
and were consequently left with “no sense of time.” The prohibition against reading 
and writing also disrupted the traditional practice of literate societies of marking days 
and keeping a register of events. Religious Jews nevertheless managed to keep track of 
the holidays. Apart from the spiritual connotation, high holidays such as Yom Kippur 
thus served as a point of reference also to nonobservant Jewish prisoners when it came 
to dating important events in the camp. When asked for the date of the second execu-
tion, many survivors counted onward from the last fixed date they knew, Yom Kippur. 
Occasionally they placed both executions on this day. Sometimes other holidays were 
mentioned instead, such as Rosh Hashanah or even Christmas. 108 During the tempo-
rary, enforced “illiteracy” of the Holocaust, Jewish inmates fell back on a different form 
of mnemonic techniques typically found in cultural settings that bar access to writ-
ing, in which religious holidays or natural cycles are used to define times and events. 109

T H E H A NG I NG OF T H R E E PR I SON E R S

Most testimonies on the presumed second public execution corroborated a similar 
course of events. Two prisoners picked up a piece of wire on the construction site af-
ter an air raid, intending to use it as a shoelace, a belt, or a handle for their food bowls. 
They were caught, and an SS man forwarded a report to Berlin. When their Kapo tried 
to defend them, he was accused of being an accessory to sabotage. All three were taken 
to Auschwitz and returned one or two weeks later to be hanged in Blechhammer. None 
of the survivors gave a specific date for the executions. Some were convinced they had 
been carried out on Yom Kippur; according to others it had been on a Saturday in 



161HANGING S WITHOU T A WITNESS ?

October or November. 110 Th e British POW George Didcock noted in his diary that 
two prisoners were hanged on October 14, 1944. Th is was presumably the date of the 
second execution. 111

As during the fi rst hanging, the SS perpetrators were seldom identifi ed, as the pris-
oners focused on the condemned. One survivor stated that the execution had been su-
pervised by the leader of the Political Department, Schmidt. Another thought it had 
been Adolf Schindler, the head of the crematorium. 112 Th e fi rst camp leader, Otto Bross-
mann, reportedly oversaw the hangings, indicating that they took place before the 
change of leadership in early November. 113

Th e child survivor Kalman Landau (Niwka, Upper Silesia, 1928) was the only one 
to visually reframe the hanging, in a drawing made in a children’s home in Switzerland 
in summer 1945. His still very childlike artistic style clashes violently with the motif of 
the execution scene. He depicted second-in-command Olejak reading out the verdict 
in the foreground. Landau rendered a minute description of the peculiar type of gal-
lows used in Blechhammer. It was a makeshift  construction made out of two concrete 
pillars like the ones used in the camp wall and a steel rail. Only one other survivor re-
called this important detail. 114 Th e three condemned prisoners stood on chairs placed 

Kalman Landau’s depiction of the hanging of three prisoners in Blechhammer 
in 1944. (Source: AfZ, ETH Zurich, Kalman Landau, 3 Heft linge ferurteilt 

zum Galgen, drawing, 1945, S Biographien und Sachthemen/78)
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on tables. The hanging scene nevertheless stays in the background, and only one of the 
prisoners, possibly the Kapo, has distinct features. The other two victims are hardly 
distinguishable. 115

The rest of the testimonies also remained vague about the other two victims’ identi-
ties. The alleged nationalities attributed to them ranged from Dutch, Belgian, or Polish, 
to Turkish. Among the corroborated names were Izak Cohen, Napkowski, and Tuch-
schneider or Tuchenschneider from Będzin. 116 Most survivors were nevertheless certain 
that the Kapo executed with them had been a French Jewish lawyer from Paris named 
Roger Ochshorn, Oxhoorn, Oxon, or Ochs, and many provided details on his personal-
ity and appearance, describing him as a “charming guy” and a “noble person.” 117 In stark 
contrast to the relative anonymity of the two other victims, the Kapo was portrayed as 
a sort of a superstar: “Ochsen, a friend of mine, he was French and a real enigma. Tall, 
blond, handsome, he could have been an actor, but he was a lawyer.” 118 Unlike the func-
tionary prisoners who volunteered as helpers during the executions, the French Kapo 
was associated with virtues such as solidarity and courage. Once again, the survivors 
utilized alleged names, personality traits, and episodes from that person’s life to make 
the “tragedy” more tellable. 119

Unlike for the first hanging, most prisoners seemed to have been aware of the im-
pending executions and the transfer of the three men to Auschwitz for interrogation. 
When the gallows were set up, they were mentally prepared to face a “new nightmare,” 
as the survivor Nathan Prochownik put it. The hangings were carried out in an unspec-
tacular fashion, and there were few detailed descriptions. In both video testimony and 
his autobiography, Prochownik emphasized the rational calmness of the Kapo at the 
gallows, as opposed to the two other, allegedly Sephardic, prisoners, who turned to 
prayer in “apathy”: “One month later, three gallows were erected. I stood in the front 
and saw all details of this new nightmare. All three climbed on the table, without any 
resistance or cry, the two others seemed apathic, Oxon was very calm and controlled. 
When the guards put the noose on his neck, he demanded that they place it under the 
Adam’s apple and not above it, and they obeyed. This time no broken ropes. The bod-
ies were left hanging for several days, they took on a violet color.” 120 “The two Sephar-
dic Jews had no idea what was going on, they were reciting the Sh’mah.” 121

After the war, a surviving father and his sons related the Kapo’s story to the French 
Féderation des Internés, Resistants et Deportés in Paris. This was the beginning of 
a veritable personality cult. His presumed Auschwitz prisoner number was recon-
structed by fellow survivors tattooed at the same time he was and engraved on memo-
rabilia, such as medals and emblems designed by a certain Dr. Uzan. They were worn 
by a group of Blechhammer survivors to commemorate the Kapo and his sacrifice, his 
attempt to save two others. Later, members of this group tried to verify the alleged 
prisoner number, 178284, only to find out that it had belonged to a different person. 
The Kapo’s name showed up in neither deportation lists nor any other documents. 122 
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The group then refashioned him into a universal symbol of all the nameless victims 
who perished in the Holocaust. This process was reminiscent of the military tradition 
of erecting memorials to the Unknown Soldier: “He remains a mystery, what a great 
symbol of the phantoms we have become, of all the anonymous numbers who died 
with dignity and courage.” 123

The personality cult around the Kapo ultimately spread beyond the circle of Blech-
hammer survivors. Julian Hirshfeld, who had no connection to the camp, received a 
button cover with the Kapo’s presumed prisoner number in a displaced persons’ camp 
in Paris. He later stated that it had been made in honor of a certain Charles Oschkor, 
who had given his life to save two comrades. 124 Until the 1970s, a “heroic” narrative was 
the hallmark of the way the war was commemorated in France, and Jews were not per-
ceived as victims unless they had been involved in resistance activities. Jewish Holocaust 
survivors therefore adapted their remembrances to this paradigm. 125

The Kapo’s special commemoration as a unifying symbol notwithstanding, it is un-
clear whether the legendary “hanging of three” really took place in this way, or whether 
it was the result of a collective mythmaking process. 126 The war diary of the British 
POW Didcock, who noted down the execution on the day after it was carried out, 
conspicuously restricts the hangings to two prisoners at the same time. 127 As the two 
other victims could barely be described by the majority of survivors, it might be pos-
sible that there was only one prisoner at the gallows, and the Kapo was then hanged 
along with him.

P OS S I BL E A DDI T IONA L H A NG I NG S

The testimonies corroborating further executions were extremely conflicting and pro-
vided scanty details. Often the information was restricted to estimates of the number 
of possible hangings. These ranged from three to fifty. 128 In the most extreme version, 
fourteen prisoners were allegedly hanged in one night during a penal roll call as retribu-
tion for the murder of a German general. 129 The stating of much higher numbers than 
seem plausible is a phenomenon often found in survivor testimonies. To Dori Laub, 
this symbolizes the massive impact an event had on the witnesses. Beyond factual ac-
curacy, such apparent memory failures most disturbingly convey to us the shattering 
effects of exposure to acts of extreme violence. 130

A third execution of one or more prisoners for an escape attempt was corroborated 
by four survivor testimonies and a judicial interview by the second-in-command, Karl 
Czapla. Henri Kichka, who had only mentioned the hanging of three prisoners in his 
video testimony in 1994, delineated two more executions in an autobiography penned 
twenty years later. Next to the hanging with the snapped rope, he described how an es-
capee who was caught was made to stand on the assembly court with a card around his 
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neck reading, “I am back again.” Before being hanged, he had to crawl on all fours, cry-
ing “I am back again,” until he fainted. 131

The child survivor Walter Spitzer recalled that three prisoners were hanged for an es-
cape attempt. One of them died very slowly, as his neck did not break, and he strangled 
in a seemingly endless agony. 132 A prisoner’s suffering due to slipped gallows was con-
firmed by other testimony. 133 A third witness stated that two prisoners had been hanged 
for the escape of three others on a truck. The executions took place during a penal roll 
call that lasted for two days. 134Another survivor’s testimony confirmed the hanging of 
one escapee without providing any further information, and Czapla’s interview sup-
ported the hanging of two for the same reason. 135

Six testimonies described the hanging of a single prisoner for pilfering. This incident 
could be identical to the fourth execution of December 2, 1944, noted by British POW 
Didcock in his diary. 136 Four witnesses unanimously stated that the victim had been a 
certain Srulek Katz from Katowice. He was accused of sabotage for having picked up 
a piece of wire he used as a shoelace. 137 According to one of the testimonies, the vic-
tim allegedly gave a daring, anti-German speech by the gallows. 138 Heinrich Demerer 
confirmed the hanging of a Polish Jew for pilfering wire in his postwar autobiography. 
He remembered that the SS had whipped prisoners who tried to turn their faces away 
shortly before the execution. 139 A sixth testimony by Kurt Klappholz corroborated the 
hanging of a prisoner for pilfering wire to make a handle for his bowl. Klappholz par-
ticularly stressed the fact that the victim had been a Bulgarian deported from France 
and had been the first Sephardic Jew in the camp, who, unable to speak the common 
vernacular Yiddish, could not make himself understood. 140

In his autobiography, Maurice Obréjan listed two more hangings that were not 
confirmed by anyone else. He might have confused these incidents with executions in 
other camps. Both victims were allegedly punished for complaining about the condi-
tions in the camp. The first one stepped forward during a Red Cross inspection, and 
the second wrote a letter to the Hungarian ambassador. 141 Only one other testimony 
corroborated the hanging of a prisoner for pilfering wire immediately after a Red Cross 
inspection, which could have been scheduled on December 2, 1944, the date of the pre-
sumed fourth execution. 142

R E PR E S SE D M E MOR I E S V E R S US T H E 
OBL IG AT ION TO BE A R W I T N E S S

Often the brain’s first reaction to traumatic events is to erect a barrier against the over-
whelming information, rendering our psychological abilities ineffective. Trauma pre-
dominantly interferes with the process of forming a conscious, verbal narrative of an 
experience, thus preventing survivors from becoming “witnesses to their own story.” 
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Traumatic episodes are prone to become disconnected from memory by defense mech-
anisms such as amnesia, denial, splitting, derealization, and depersonalization. The 
knowledge of the trauma nevertheless lingers on in the subconscious, but it is usually 
fragmented and difficult to retrieve coherently. Unwanted memories may also be ac-
tively inhibited. The longer traumatic memories in a repressed state remain untold, the 
more distorted they will become. 143

At a certain time in their lives, Blechhammer survivors with repressed memories of 
the hangings felt compelled to testify about their experiences in the camp, either be-
cause they appeared as witnesses at a trial or were responding to the effects of unset-
tling sociopolitical developments, such as the rise of Holocaust deniers. They were faced 
with a twofold dilemma. First, the memories they had blocked from their conscious-
ness tended to surface in the form of isolated fragments or split-offs that were difficult 
to integrate into a comprehensive narrative. Second, they had to come to terms with 
the traumatizing effects of confronting the “demons of the past.”

During the demanding process of retrieving traumatic memories for the sake of bear-
ing witness, survivors were susceptible to incorporating information provided by other 
former prisoners into their narratives or to replacing their fragmentary memories with 
those of others. While it is normal that memories be continually revised, those with 
vague or missing recollections will compensate for their deficits with “conformist group 
memory.” Fellow survivors were regarded as a highly credible source, and adopting their 
memories, including the legendary complexes involved, rendered their own accounts 
more “acceptable.” 144 Implanting the memories of others might also have been a com-
promise between being able to tell a conformist narrative to an audience and not hav-
ing to confront the trauma. These survivors did not fully “own” their stories, and they 
only partly abandoned the realm of silence of many decades that had become “a fated 
exile, a home, a destination, and a binding oath.” 145

Testimonies of this kind rarely delineate the hangings concisely, but instead focus 
on situations and routines not directly linked to them, thereby circumventing the trau-
matizing memories as such.

The popular actor and Blechhammer survivor Robert Clary only began to speak 
about his experiences in 1980, with the intention of countering Holocaust denial and 
neo-Nazism, and he joined the Holocaust Education Program of the Wiesenthal Cen-
ter. When he gave video testimony to the Shoah Visual History Archive in 1994, he 
had told his story to schoolchildren numerous times before. He elaborated more on the 
second hanging, recounting how two prisoners pilfered wire and were executed with 
their “Belgian” Kapo. However, he did not focus on the “heroic” Kapo but on the SS 
man Tom Mix, whom he blamed for maltreating and killing the condemned prison-
ers. While the hangings remained peripheral to his account, the general personality, 
habits, and crimes of this particular SS man gained in importance. Clary seems to have 
had poor recall of the first hanging and chiefly reiterated that it had been preceded by a 
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two-hour-long speech, and that the body had been left hanging all night. He mentioned 
numerous other hangings without describing them. Traumatic memories abruptly 
started to interfere with the “conformist” storyline as Clary recounted how he had 
to watch the bodies of the hanged while on night guard duty: “Suddenly, there were 
corpses, I don’t want to see that, I’m frightened, Mama!” 146

In his autobiography, published seven years later, Clary added more details to the 
first hanging but still omitted central features, such as the breaking of the rope, Yom 
Kippur, and the speech. He nevertheless addressed the traumatic impact of this hang-
ing: “I stared with horror as the man’s hands and feet were bound. He was lifted onto 
a stool and the noose was put around his neck. The stool was kicked out from under 
him. A faint moan came from his throat the moment before his neck snapped. . . . That 
was the first time I saw it happen, and the shock was unbearable. I couldn’t sleep that 
night, and for days afterwards my mind kept replaying the horror of the hanging.” 147

Tom Mix continued to be at the center of his description of the second hanging. 
The number of hanged prisoners was increased to four. He added some character traits 
about the Kapo but was still unable to render his name and did not portray him as a 
“hero”: “Tom Mix ranted at us that these four dirty Jews had better be a lesson to all of 
us not to steal German property, or we would wind up like them on the scaffold. Stand-
ing there, we endured his abuse for two hours and then saw the stools being kicked out 
from under the feet of the men. That particular Kapo, unlike Goldberg, was loved by 
everyone. It broke our hearts to see this gentle man hanged.” 148

A similar example of implanted memories is Stanley B.’s version of the first hanging. 
He likewise gave few details on the hanging itself and did not include the speech. He 
mentioned that he had no personal recollections of the executions and that he had used 
a friend’s memories instead. Trauma fragments nonetheless penetrated the narrative, 
when Stanley indicated that he had seen the rope breaking three times: “The picture of 
this hanging, his falling down three times, is still on my mind, a horrible experience.” 149

A phenomenon often found in late testimonies and predominantly affecting sur-
vivors with repressed memories is that the (tainted) features of several different execu-
tions were mingled into a single event. Memory fragments of their own coalesced with 
“group memories,” relating the gist of the hangings disjointed from the normal succes-
sion of events. Such a chronological compression of incidents usually indicates that a 
collective process of mythmaking is at work. The two “legendary” victims, the Dutch 
boy and the Kapo, became unifying symbols of all other hanged prisoners. 150

Kurt Baum had repressed his memories of the camps for over forty years in order to 
be able to start a new life. Then, aware of “forces trying to rewrite history,” he felt com-
pelled to speak about his experiences. In his first video testimony of 1988, he suddenly 
brought up the topic of the hangings himself but was still incapable of rendering a pre-
cise account. He linked the hangings to the selections for Auschwitz held during roll 
calls, stressing that the victims had been executed for being unfit for work.
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Interviewer: “How long did you stay in Blechhammer?”
Kurt Baum: Yes, I can recall specifically, and I want to mention a couple more things 

about the camps. Roll calls were an additional torture after ten hours of work. Fre-
quently after a roll call, a few numbers were read, and we had executions right on the 
roll call. And we were supposed to watch while some poor comrade was executed 
by hanging for something that he supposedly did . . . like he refused to obey orders. 
Usually, he refused to obey orders because he collapsed, he couldn’t work anymore. 
And so, he was reported, and a few days later his number came back from HQ, ex-
ecute him to state an example. 151

Nine years later, he had incorporated a combined version of the hanging of three 
prisoners and the breaking of the rope in his narrative, while still referring to inmates 
dying of exhaustion. Most of the “conformist group memory” was derived from the first 
hanging in ample detail, yet without the heroic speech. He embedded the implanted 
memories into two camp routines, the march back from work and the distribution of 
the evening soup:

When you came back from work to assembly square, sometimes people did not make 
it back from work, and I saw a few executions and, somewhere, we had a surprise, and 
there was one gallows, two gallows, three gallows standing there, right in the center 
of the assembly square. And the camp commander would read some numbers, and 
then he would . . . a prisoner would come to the center, and then he would read some 
trumped up, ridiculous charges about sabotage or whatever it may be, and then the 
prisoner would be executed by hanging. . . . One day, a hanging took place of three 
people, and the prisoner stood on the stool, the stool was kicked away, and the rope 
broke. And in the Middle Ages, this was considered a God’s judgement, you know, 
the man wasn’t meant to go, he’s going free, but not in Blechhammer. The SS com-
mander got very mad and sent another guard to the kitchen, and he took about five 
minutes, the guy came back with a rope about that thick, and the man was executed 
a second time. This time the rope did not break, and we had to march by him, and 
then we had our soup distribution and our bread distribution. 152

In his autobiography published in 2004, the artist Walter Spitzer compressed the 
key elements of the first and second hanging even more. He made the French Kapo 
plead for the life of the Dutch boy to prevent him from being hanged anew. At the end 
of the account, Spitzer pointed out that he had not been able to eat or sleep after wit-
nessing the hangings, and that he had tried to block images of the executions from his 
mind with the help of recollections from his childhood, to “chase away from my spirit 
at any cost what I had seen a few hours earlier.” Most aspects of the two “conformist” 
legendary complexes were represented:
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A young Dutchman climbed on the chair. In a firm voice he wished us “good luck” 
and a safe trip back home in German. The noose was put on his neck, the chair was 
kicked away and, oh wonder, the rope broke. The Dutchman fell violently on the 
ground, his hands tied behind his back. The SS started all over again. The rope broke 
a second time. In this moment, a prisoner named Oxhoorn stepped forward: “I’m 
a barrister from Paris. An international law stipulates that a broken rope means the 
convict must be pardoned.” The SS ridiculed him, told him to come, then attached 
the noose around his neck, and both were hanged. I was petrified, my throat was 
tight, I was on the brink of fainting, horrified to see someone executed I knew per-
sonally — I made his portrait he had sent to his wife in France. 153

T H E R E F USA L TO BECOM E A W I T N E S S

a. Not Witnessing as an Act of Self-Preservation

Several inmates deliberately decided that they did not want to become witnesses to the 
atrocities committed in the camp. During their internment, they developed various 
strategies to avoid monitoring disturbing scenes. Active nonwitnessing partly spared 
them the process of repressing painful memories afterward, but it certainly did not 
completely exclude them from it. Such prisoners were aware that there had been one 
or more hangings, but they were unable or unwilling to recall the events. Instead, they 
gave evasive explanations for their alleged absence: “There were two hangings, I forgot 
about the details, perhaps more. I could skip such things quite often as I had to arrange 
the deputy Jewish elder’s stamp collection.” 154

“I heard there were other executions [in addition to the first one], as I was some-
times called out to the factory out of hours, I might not have been in the camp on such 
occasions.” 155

Others, like Ben Fainer, had blocked out violent scenes from their minds a long time 
before the start of public executions. Fainer stated that he had initially done this in or-
der not to rob the victims of their dignity and added that, in retrospect, he realized he 
had also tried to preserve his own humanity. In the next sentence, he was nevertheless 
confronted with the emergence of his numbed “impromtu [sic] self ” of the camp. 156 
Having grown more and more indifferent to the suffering of others, he had ultimately 
stopped turning away from cruelties, as this would only have “wasted energy.” In search 
of an explanation for his lack of compassion, he concluded that “maybe your heart has 
to harden in order to survive.” Fainer gave no description of the hangings but repeatedly 
stressed how the images of the dead bodies still haunted him, provoking feelings of guilt 
for having survived. In the end, his decision to ignore the executions did not spare him 
from suffering mental trauma. 157 Similarly, Raphael Montezinos, who had consciously 



169HANGING S WITHOU T A WITNESS ?

witnessed the first hanging and could provide details of it in his testimony, decided to 
look away during the following execution. In his memory, the incident he had avoided 
witnessing was transformed into something even more terrible. In the end, he was con-
vinced that seven prisoners had been hanged at the same time on Yom Kippur. 158

The child survivor Felix Weinberg likewise applied a mental technique to keep away 
disturbing memories, but the unexpected snapping of the rope during the first execu-
tion suddenly caught his attention. Almost seventy years later, he wrote about the ex-
ecution in a seemingly very detached, emotionally uninvolved way. However, the fact 
that he was convinced that the rope had snapped twice, and that the prisoner was 
hanged three times, reflects the deep traumatic impact the event had on him: “I tried my 
usual device again of blanking my mind — looking without seeing or registering — but 
was disturbed by a gasp from the assembled crowd when the rope snapped, and the 
man fell on the stage. Incredibly, the entire action was replayed for a second time, with 
the same result. . . . On the third attempt, with a new rope, the poor man died at last.” 159

Siegfried Parsser unsuccessfully tried to avoid watching the hangings by standing 
in the back row. The SS pulled him out and dragged him to the front, forcing him to 
witness the execution with open eyes and a smiling face. As a result of this traumatic 
and humiliating experience, he remained incapable of giving an account of the execu-
tion in later life. 160

b. Not Witnessing Out of Resistance

A fundamentally different reason prisoners refused to witness the executions was to 
protest against the SS and to show their solidarity with the victims. The outstanding 
incident described in the following provides the most congruent testimonies but seems 
to never have been integrated into the collective group memory. Therefore, only a mi-
nority of survivors referred to it, mainly those who were active participants in the pro-
test, and a few who misunderstood, and consequently misremembered, what had hap-
pened. It must have been during the final preparations for the second hanging that a 
group of prisoners, among them Czech survivors of the liquidated Auschwitz family 
camp, made a brave stand against the SS. When the verdict was read out, they left the 
assembly court to openly protest against the execution, thereby provoking reprisals by 
the SS. 161 A survivor recalled: “As a sign of protest, we tried to leave the courtyard, but 
then the guards started shooting in the air.” 162

Some managed to return to their barracks, while others in the crowd tried to move 
away from the gallows, causing turmoil among the assembled men. The SS guards be-
gan to shoot into the barracks to drive the prisoners out by force. A witness stated that 
one prisoner had been shot in this way. Others claimed the SS had not aimed at them 
and nobody had been hurt. 163
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It is astonishing that this truly courageous act of resistance was misinterpreted for 
cowardice by individual prisoners, who thought the others had “stolen themselves 
away,” as they could not bear to witness the execution. Memories of the ensuing shoot-
ings became fused with those of the execution the inmates were forced to watch im-
mediately afterward. Thus, a survivor testified that the prisoners taken out of the bar-
racks had been beaten by the SS and at least one of them had been hanged as well. 164 
According to two testimonies, the SS fired shots at the bodies of the hanged. 165 Others 
reduced the shootings to disciplinary measures intended to keep the prisoners stand-
ing on parade. 166 In the memory of one prisoner, the SS started to shoot after the rope 
had broken during the first execution. In his opinion, this was done to prevent an up-
rising, but the prisoners all remained quiet. 167

The unrest among the prisoners caused by the protesting group trying to push away 
from the main body and the SS guards’ fierce reaction to it were misconstrued as mass 
hysteria and were even perceived as a threat to their lives by some inmates, who obvi-
ously did not comprehend the general context of the scene. They were led to believe the 
SS would murder all inmates. 168 One of these witnesses, Ernest Koenig, had narrowly es-
caped from a lynching by the works police and the SS only weeks before the execution. 
The fear of death experienced then must have overwhelmed him at the sight of the gal-
lows. In a general remark on hangings, he stressed that the worst moments were the min-
utes before a person was put to death who would have had a rich and fulfilling life still 
ahead of him. In his mind, the purpose of public executions was the constant renewal of 
terror in the prisoners. 169 “It seemed as if the gallows had only been set up to distract our 
attention and they wanted to shoot us, as the machine guns on top of the watchtowers 
were turned in semicircles. Somewhere in the background, one group pushed against 
another, who pushed back in return. The sound of the trampling feet caused by their 
motion grew louder, giving those who stood in the front and at the sides the impres-
sion that one group was being hurt. But the panic that had broken out, ebbed down.” 170

Perhaps owing to the fact that this genuinely heroic act was only fully understood 
by the minority of prisoners involved in it, it was either misrepresented or missing in 
most testimonies. Thus, instead of drawing on this event, most survivors preferred to 
incorporate a different story of heroism and resistance, ultimately formed into a col-
lective legendary complex, into their own memories.

T H E F E M A L E PR I SON E R S

Detained in a secluded camp section, the women of Blechhammer had only clandes-
tine contacts with their male relatives, spouses, or friends through the wire. Only male 
functionary prisoners working in the camp and office staff regularly met with the fe-
male inmates. The women themselves were not subjected to public punishments but 
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were forced to watch those of the men from their enclosed compound. Most female sur-
vivors claimed that the SS had ordered them to watch the executions from their camp. 
However, testimonies rarely went into details on individual hangings, but rather em-
phasized the repeated occurrence of executions. To a female survivor it even seemed 
that there had been a hanging “every day.” 171 The women appeared uninformed about 
the precise circumstances of the executions. The majority were unable to state under 
which allegations the prisoners had been hanged. Contrary to the men, they frequently 
stressed that the Germans had hanged someone “to have fun.” 172

Only two of the women rendered accounts from which basic elements of the exe-
cutions described by male survivors were identifiable. In her video testimony, Esther 
Drexler indicated her disinclination to witness the public punishments of the men. 
She then related an unusual encounter with an SS man before the first hanging without 
going into more detail about the actual event: “I don’t know how they knew it’s Yom 
Kippur, I don’t know. And once a German came into the hut, the house, to the room 
where I was sleeping, and he said, ‘I know the day today, it’s Yom Kippur, but one will 
go, [points her finger upwards] they will hang somebody.’” 173

The second testimony, by Helen Pinczewski, was equally restricted to information 
regarding the context of the hanging of one prisoner, possibly that of Katz, but omit-
ted the execution as such. Following a general description of the men’s proneness to 
sores caused by missing shoelaces on their clogs, the account stated that a prisoner was 
executed for using a piece of wire as a shoelace, and the female inmates had to watch. 174

The women’s assumed ignorance might have been partly due to their remoteness 
from the men’s camp and the resulting restricted flow of information, but it also be-
came strikingly apparent that they tended to avoid witnessing the executions. This pro-
cess was assisted by the spatial distance of the gallows from the female prisoners’ bar-
racks. It also seems unlikely that the women were subjected to the same scrutiny as 
the men. During the hangings, the SS men must have gathered in front of the gallows 
rather than supervised the female inmates, and they probably did not risk punishment 
for not watching. One female survivor apparently had repressed all memories of the 
executions and claimed that the women had not been allowed to leave their barracks 
during such times. 175 Another woman stressed that she had been afraid of the hangings, 
and that she had first been confronted with the sight of dead bodies after the evacua-
tion in Bergen-Belsen. 176

To some, the suffering of the male prisoners, who were often their next of kin, gen-
erally weighed heavier than their own, and the “moral injustice” of having to witness 
such atrocities filled them with bitterness. 177 The understating of female suffering and 
the women’s refusal to witness the hangings illustrate the adjustment of testimony to 
social expectations of “appropriate” gender behavior. Rendering a concise account of 
the atrocities seemingly did not fit into the typical roles attributed to women at the 
time, which were largely centered around the ideals of “mothers” and “caregivers.” 178
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It is noteworthy that the female survivors obviously remained excluded from the 
legendary complexes reproduced in the testimonies of most men. And they made no 
effort to complete their missing or repressed memories with episodes derived from the 
pool of collective group memories created, shared, and dominated by the male survi-
vors. The only exception is the testimony of Rachel Brukner Frydrych, whose husband 
was a former prisoner in Blechhammer as well. Her account of the executions resembles 
those of the male survivors and features the two “signature” hangings of the Dutchman, 
whose rope snapped, and the two prisoners and their Kapo. The fact that she quoted di-
alogue between the Jewish elder Demerer and the SS camp leader at the gallows, which 
she could not possibly have heard from the women’s enclosure herself, further hardens 
the assumption that her testimony was largely based on the memories of her husband. 179
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“A C Y N I C A L J O K E”
Enforced Theatrical and Musical Performances

T H E C A M P T H E AT E R

Shortly after the start of his tenure in November 1944, the new camp leader Kurt Klipp 
ordered the establishment of a camp theater. 1 Enforced theatrical performances were 
commonplace in concentration camps. They were meant to convey a false sense of “nor-
mality” to the outside world and were also intended to lower the risk of insurgencies 
by offering some light relief to the prisoners. 2 Following the replacement of SS guards 
with Wehrmacht soldiers and ethnic German auxiliaries toward the end of the war, en-
tertainment grew in importance to create comradeship. 3 When public theaters were 
closed in fall 1944, the SS increasingly relied on camp performances. 4

Klipp’s deputy Karl Czapla, who portrayed himself as a great connoisseur of the 
arts, directed the theater. He even made the prisoners believe that he had been an 
art critic for a local Silesian newspaper, when in fact he had merely managed the sub-
scriptions. 5 His overeagerness to enact his alleged cultural “superiority” was typical of 
many SS men. 6

The prisoners had ambivalent feelings about the theater. To the child survivor Israel 
Rosengarten, the staging of performances for people who were on the brink of death 
was nothing but humiliating:

Overall, this cabaret was an unspeakably misplaced, outrageous, terribly cynical 
joke, of course. We were forced to participate in order to feel good, to have a little, 
miserable party. . . . No one in the camp objected to humor in general; each oppor-
tunity for making fun of somebody was welcomed. . . . However, many attending 
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the cabaret were in a worse shape than myself. They were mortally ill and could not 
stand straight, were shaky and about to die. . . . We had all lost our families. We had 
no future; we had no lives. We were disillusioned by this moment signaling the last 
phase of our destruction. 7

The performances invariably formed part of the SS men’s “perverse logic” to main-
tain a self-image of being “cultured” and “civilized” while simultaneously committing 
atrocities. 8 This notion was underscored by the requirement to stage plays on nights fol-
lowing an execution. The presence of cheerful SS men, who were enjoying themselves 
after a hanging, was unbearable for the Jewish prisoners: “In this model camp, model 
feasts of murder were held, interrupted by music and theatre performances. . . . The first 
row was reserved for the Hauptsturmbannführer and his staff who had found it worth-
while to spend the evening among their archenemies.” 9

They could not help but identify the theater shows with the acts of violence that pre-
ceded them: “It was extraordinarily ironic for Nazi officers to enjoy the performances 
of the Jewish artists they intended to destroy. . . . The SS ensured we did not forget that 
we were in a Nazi concentration camp by staging much less amusing performances, usu-
ally on Sunday afternoons, which we all had to attend. Performances of flogging pun-
ishments and horror shows of executions by hanging were carried out.” 10

The psychiatrist and Holocaust survivor Viktor Frankl felt that art had been “gro-
tesque” against the backdrop of the camps, while stressing the importance of humor 
in the prisoners’ struggle for self-preservation. 11 Along these lines, the prisoner artists 
themselves were committed to helping their comrades forget their misery for awhile. 
They were nevertheless aware that they were part of an SS strategy to make the perpe-
trators appear more “humane,” and that many prisoners were too exhausted to even at-
tend the performances. 12

The theater was set up in a barrack adjacent to the female inmates’ compound. The 
camp electrician, Maurits Bremer, installed above the stage a searchlight of the same 
type that was used on the camp wall. 13 Klipp ordered the prisoners to pilfer the rest of 
the equipment from the OHW. They therefore smuggled out paint and bales of black-
out cloth to fabricate costumes and a curtain. 14 The necessary curtain rail was stolen 
from the factory by concealing it in the middle of a detail of one hundred marching 
prisoners. 15 As in most camps, the prisoner artists were housed together in one barrack 
and were given leave from their work to rehearse. They also received more food. 16 They 
also benefited from the “entrance fee” of one cigarette per visitor. Performances were 
given on Saturday and Sunday nights to an audience of six to eight hundred people. A 
new program was put on every three or four weeks. 17 The SS men were always placed 
on the right side of the auditorium, and behind them sat the female inmates. The Jew-
ish elder and the male inmates were kept on the left. Even during the performances, the 
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prisoners were beaten by block elders attempting to restore “order.” The theater there-
fore offered neither an opportunity to meet female prisoners, as Demerer claimed in 
postwar testimony, nor a respite from the camp’s ubiquitous violence. 18

The permanent cast consisted of twenty-five prisoners. The artistic director was 
Hartog Soep, also known as Harry Pos, who performed as an actor, singer, and dancer. 
Born in Amsterdam in 1916, he had been taken off a Westerbork convoy on October 
16, 1942. Following internments in the Schmelt camps Sakrau and Bobrek, he came to 
Blechhammer on March 28, 1944. He survived several death marches to Gross-Rosen, 
Buchenwald, and Bissingen, until he finally managed to escape. After the war, he emi-
grated to New York. 19 Fellow actor Robert Clary described Harry Pos in the following 
way: “He was only five feet tall, even shorter than I, and he had the biggest nose I had 
ever seen. He would have been ugly were it not for his marvelous soft brown eyes. Out 
of this tiny man came a strong and beautifully trained voice. Harry, I soon learned, was 
the star of the camp and was admired by everybody.” 20

Klaus Wolfsohn, a clerk in the Political Department, was the technical director. The 
scenery was made by accomplished artists. David Brainin (Kharkiv, 1905) had studied 
art and choreography in Paris and became a dancer in a Russian troupe. From 1931, 
he specialized in stage design. Brainin was taken to Drancy in June 1942 and deported 
shortly thereafter. 21 His wife perished in Auschwitz. The young prisoner Walter Spitzer 
was overjoyed to assist Brainin in painting the scenery for a play titled Under the Bridges 
of Paris. Spitzer not only received an extra piece of bread in return but was grateful to 
learn from one of the “big and famous” from Paris. 22 Brainin’s fate after the evacuation 
of January 1945 remains unclear.

Wilhelm “Bil” Spira (Vienna, 1913–Puteaux, Paris, 1999) had made his debut as 
a stage designer in the anti-fascist ABC (short for Alsergrund Brettl City) Cabaret 
troupe in Vienna. Spira joined the cast in 1935 with his friend, the well-known au-
thor Jura Soyfer, 23 whom he had met while working as a cartoonist for the newspapers 

Arbeiter-Zeitung and Wiener Tag. Ahead of the ABC’s last performance before Austria’s 
incorporation into the German Reich in March 1938, Spira managed to write “Hitler 
can kiss our . . .” on the scenery, but he had to remove the phrase, as director Hans Mar-
gulies feared reprisals by the regime. In Blechhammer, Spira had the courage to allude 
to the decline of the Nazi regime under the very noses of the SS. While making gesture 
drawings (of a series of poses), he let the sun rise out of a sinister sky above the barbed 
wire fence on the last sheet of paper. This time it was Jewish elder Demerer who be-
came nervous, but Spira’s only reply was, “If the SS doesn’t mind, why should you?” 24

Among the lead actors was Peter Sturm ( Josef Michel Dischel, Vienna, 1909), who 
simultaneously functioned as the artists’ block elder. He also participated in the ABC 
Cabaret between 1936 and 1938, when he was taken to Dachau and Buchenwald for be-
ing a Communist. He illegally immigrated to France after his release in 1939 and was 
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deported from Drancy in summer 1942. The death march brought him back to Buch-
enwald, where he supported the Communist underground organization in taking over 
the camp in April 1945. He cofounded a Communist theater in Vienna after the war 
and moved to East Berlin in 1956. Sturm became a cast member of the German The-
atre (Deutsches Theater) under the direction of the Buchenwald survivor Wolfgang 
Langhoff. He appeared in more than fifty cinema and television productions, among 
them the adaptation of Bruno Apitz’s novel Nackt unter Wölfen (Naked among wolves), 
based on the true story of a child secretly kept alive by Buchenwald inmates. In 1961 Pe-
ter Sturm was awarded the Art Prize of the German Democratic Republic. He died in 
East Berlin in 1984. 25 His exceptional acting talent and fairness as a block elder earned 
him great respect in Blechhammer. Bil Spira praised his enormous versatility as an ac-
tor, a quality that also helped him to survive the reality of camps. 26 To Robert Clary, the 
time he spent rehearsing with Sturm seemed like “paradise in hell.” 27

Robert Clary (Robert Max Widerman, Paris, 1926) was the youngest of fourteen 
children. His Jewish orthodox parents had moved to Paris from Poland in 1921. From 
an early age he performed as a singer and tap dancer. He was pulled out of a Drancy 
convoy in September 1942 and assigned to the Schmelt camp Ottmuth. His parents 
and most of his siblings were murdered. Clary was transferred to Blechhammer in 
April 1944. Following his liberation in Buchenwald in April 1945, he pursued a singing 
career in France but then discovered his talent for acting during a tour in the United 
States. He starred in numerous movie and television productions as well as theatrical 
plays. Robert Clary is probably best known for his role as French POW Lebeau in the 
popular television series Hogan’s Heroes (1965–1971). In Ottmuth, his singing perfor-
mances had already earned him extra food, and the camp cook, who had taken a lik-
ing to him, inadvertently gave him the nickname “Didi,” meaning to say dis donc (“hey 
you”) in French. Before the camp theater was set up in Blechhammer, Clary entertained 
functionary prisoners. Later, Clary usually played the female parts because of his small 
stature. Wearing a straw wig and a skirt, he liked to perform Marlene Dietrich songs as 
well as traditional Yiddish pieces. He also danced with David Brainin. 28 The two had 
developed a special “Apache” dance for the play Under the Bridges of Paris, alluding to 
the gangsters of the Paris underworld. 29

Hartog Salomon Ereira from Amsterdam was famous for his remarkable voice. He 
performed for British POWs during work and for functionary prisoners at the Jewish 
elder’s soirées before joining the theater cast. 30

The first theater play was presented like a television show. A replica of a TV, a box 
with an eye and an ear, was part of the scenery. Then there was a special Christmas show 
written by Harry Pos and Klaus Wolfsohn, titled A Prisoner’s Dream. It started with an 
inmate (Harry Pos) falling asleep on the building site and dreaming of a trip around 
the world, to the tune Ein Lied geht um die Welt. 31 In his dreams he traveled to Am-
sterdam, where a clog dance was performed amid a field of tulips, then he moved on to 
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London, where he was greeted by stiff Englishmen. In Paris he walked over Montmar-
tre, and he eventually saw Robert Clary and David Brainin waltzing through Vienna. 
Finally, the prisoner was woken up by a Kapo and resumed his work. The show was 
such a success it was performed more than ten times, until the day before the camp was 
evacuated. 32 During one of the shows the lyrics of a song alluding to the Russian prov-
erb that a broom can shoot like a rifle if it is God’s will caused great confusion among 
the SS. Camp leader Klipp remarked to Demerer: “It was a very nice show, but is it re-
ally possible that a broom can shoot if it is God’s will? Isn’t that complete nonsense?” 33

In a 1976 interrogation report, Czapla claimed he had given a daring speech to the 
Jewish inmates after one of the theater performances, encouraging them to persevere, 
as liberation was close at hand. This incident had evidently contributed to his acquittal 
by a French military tribunal at Rastatt in 1948. 34 Several survivors indeed confirmed 
that a member of the SS had addressed them in a way that could be understood as crit-
icism of the Nazi regime. 35 Robert Clary associated Czapla’s speech with a general im-
provement in the camp conditions and the decision to have a theater:

Upon his arrival, [he] made a speech telling us not to despair, not to give up hope, 
that we were human beings, and one of these days we would be free. We couldn’t be-
lieve our ears. We had heard a German officer saying things nobody in his position 
would dare to say without being shot instantly for treason. It was a remarkable, brave 
thing for him to do, and we never understood how he got away with it. Life in camp 
changed somewhat. Tom Mix no longer woke us up at some godforsaken hour to ex-
ercise. And the new lieutenant decided that we should have a theatre. 36

Others, like Leo Weiniger, were clear about the unchanged brutality, despite at-
tempts by individual SS men to appear in a more favorable light: “After the show, which 
had really been a great artistic achievement, a noncommissioned officer of the SS gave 
a speech. He said he admired the brilliant performances the inmates had been able to 
present. That did not keep him from hanging three prisoners the next day.” 37

T H E C A M P ORCH E S T R A

Music, as an “existential human need,” played a crucial role in camp life. Its function 
was even more ambivalent than that of the camp theater. A softly played tune or a song 
could have a powerful effect, as memories of a former, better life were instantly brought 
to mind and feelings of solidarity and emotional warmth were created. In stark con-
trast, the SS men abused music to humiliate their victims. Prisoner musicians invariably 
became entangled in this abuse and were consequently attributed an ambivalent role 
as well. 38 Camp orchestras (Lagerkapellen) were integral to concentration and death 



178 FROM SCHMELT CAMP TO “LITTLE AUSCHWIT Z”

camps. In Auschwitz, music was deliberately played during the selections of new ar-
rivals to convey a false sense of normality. 39 The orchestra of Blechhammer was estab-
lished simultaneously with the theater at the start of Klipp’s tenure in November 1944. 40 
Blechhammer was one of five Auschwitz subcamps with an orchestra, next to Monow-
itz, Fürstengrube, Gleiwitz I, and Golleschau. 41 The orchestra was supervised by deputy 
camp leader Karl Czapla, who in a postwar trial prided himself on having founded it 
on his own initiative to offer “joy and entertainment” to the prisoners. He only spoke 
of Sunday concerts, conspicuously refraining from naming the orchestra’s more sinis-
ter functions. 42 Perniciously, prisoner ensembles in Nazi concentration camps were 
equipped with instruments originating from the depots of goods confiscated from 
those who had been murdered or incarcerated. Occasionally the SS allowed ordering 
instruments and notes from music stores, but had the prisoners pay for them. 43

Klipp appointed Georges Czaczkes (also known as Johnny Georgeslo, Gelati, Mol-
dova, 1914) as the conductor when he learned that he was a renowned violinist. The 
child prodigy had been sent to Vienna for lessons with the violinist Robert Pollak, and 
he gave his first concert at seven years of age. Czaczkes went on to study music in Vi-
enna and became a professional musician and composer. Following the annexation of 
Austria, Czaczkes fled to Paris in 1939; he was deported from Drancy in 1942. He came 
to Blechhammer via Laurahütte. Czaczkes played for the French radio symphony or-
chestra in Paris after the war. As his Stradivarius had been confiscated upon his arrival 
in the Annaberg transit camp with the blunt remark “You won’t need a violin to die,” 
he received a new instrument from Blechhammer’s depot of looted goods. Contrary 
to the actors, the musicians still had to work, but they were given time off for rehears-
als and were assigned to lighter tasks. Czaczkes was granted small privileges, like a room 
of his own in the orchestra’s barrack and higher quality food. When he contracted an-
thrax, the SS even called a German doctor into the camp. 44

Unlike most other camp orchestras, Blechhammer had a mixed ensemble. One of 
the female members was the violinist Polly Reinveld, who performed in Brussels af-
ter the war. 45 Some of the other musicians whose names can be reconstructed were the 
Viennese Weiss (violin), the Dutchman Frankenhuis (trumpet), the Simons brothers 
from Brussels, J. de Hond, and multitalented Harry Pos. They were joined by the three 
criminal Kapos Walter, Manni, and Felix. The convicted murderers Felix and Wal-
ter were excellent guitarists, and especially Walter Redock impressed with his blues. 
Manni was a Romani, who had been sentenced to twenty-five years in prison for forg-
ery. His repertoire encompassed gypsy airs and Yiddish songs, and he played the bal-
alaika. 46 The orchestra became a lifeline for six of the French Resistance fighters who 
were detained in Blechhammer from fall 1944. Following a typhus outbreak, most of 
the Frenchmen were in a deplorable condition. The camp orchestra thus offered them 
a chance to recuperate on higher food rations. Czaczkes even kept a Frenchman in 
the ensemble who had only pretended to be a musician. He henceforth held a violin 
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in his hands without playing during performances, until an SS man noticed the trick. 
Czaczkes nevertheless was able to persuade the SS man that he was indispensable for 
copying notes. 47

It was the orchestra’s daily obligation to play when the prisoners passed the camp 
gate in the morning and evening. 48 Under the merciless scrutiny of the camp leader 
and his deputy, swift marching music was meant not only to speed up the prisoners’ 
steps but also to expose those who were too weak to keep up. Holocaust survivors of-
ten drew parallels between the industrial process of mass murder and the emaciated 
inmates’ forced movements to mechanical marching tunes. 49 It was enough to have 
pulled off one’s cap too slowly to be maltreated by the SS at the gate. 50 Many emaciated 
prisoners had to mobilize their last bit of strength to avoid such attacks and then fell 
out when they were out of view. Most work details thus swiftly disintegrated once they 
had left the camp. 51 The survivor Oto Hostovsky delineated how the music at the gate 
formed part of a tormenting daily ritual that could potentially end the inmates’ lives: 

“Each morning when the block elder chases us out in the frost, when we have nowhere 
to hide anymore, when we stand at roll call for over one hour, back-to-back, until the 
SS man on duty makes us go off to the factory in rows of five to the tune of the parad-
ing march, . . . death is handing out its visiting cards to us.” 52

These humiliating encounters at the gate were the most frequent contacts between 
regular prisoners and the orchestra, and the forcefully played music inflicted suffer-
ing on both sides. However, unlike in the women’s camp in Birkenau, the inmates of 
Blechhammer showed no open hostility toward the musicians. 53 Feelings of guilt were 
commonly experienced by surviving prisoner musicians. Possibly this was the reason 
Czaczkes denied in his postwar interview that the orchestra had ever played at the gate. 54

The music was not randomly picked. The marches were intended to assert German 
dominance over the prisoners and to create a certain military order. In Blechhammer 
the Prussian grenadiers’ march Fridericus Rex was usually played. Based on Carl Loewe’s 
1837 musical version of a ballad by Willibald Alexis (1798–1871) dedicated to the Prus-
sian king Frederick II, Ferdinand Radeck composed this march in 1860. Nazi propa-
ganda portrayed the historical figure of King Frederick II as an exemplary, strong mil-
itary leader, culminating in the picture The Great King, directed by Veit Harlan (Jud 
Süß). 55 The orchestra even had to play when the prisoners were driven on the death 
march in January 1945. The only difference was that the musicians carried their food 
canisters, and they played in a more subdued and somber manner. Their instruments 
were taken along on sleighs pulled by prisoners. 56

It is unclear whether Blechhammer’s ensemble had to perform during executions, as 
was the case in numerous concentration camps. 57 There were only two testimonies stat-
ing that the orchestra had played the popular wartime song Lili Marleen after a hang-
ing. 58 As none of the other survivors confirmed this, it seems more likely that the two 
witnesses had inadvertently fused their traumatic memories of the execution with the 
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theater shows given immediately afterward, during which the musicians also had to 
play. By staging such shows after executions, the SS perverted music into an instrument 
of degradation and robbed it entirely of its positive qualities. A former Blechhammer 
prisoner recalled: “Later that evening [after the hanging], we had to listen to a concert, 
and while Harry Pos was singing, one could see the dead bodies dangling outside.” 59

As in Auschwitz, the camp orchestra had to entertain the SS on comradeship eve-
nings (Kameradschaftsabende), which were regularly held in a festival hall. As Jews were 
banned from the SS quarters, Czapla concealed the musicians’ identities by dressing 
them in grey civilian suits and white shirts and covered their shaved heads with caps. 
Occasionally there were joint performances of SS men and Jewish prisoners. 60 A fre-
quent visitor was the OHW deputy director Schlick, who seemingly was invited by 
the SS to foster their mutual relations. 61 There were no private performances for indi-
vidual SS men like the ones requested by Mengele in Auschwitz. 62

As in the preceding years, Demerer continued to organize soirées for functionary 
prisoners to provide them with some cultured entertainment. Such evenings also in-
spired political and philosophical disputes. 63 Next to classical music, Yiddish songs 
were an important part of the soirées. 64 Contrary to the classical pieces, they formed 
a bridge between the intellectual and nonintellectual functionaries. Yet these musical 
performances remained the prerogative of a few that underscored their higher status 
in the camp strata. 65 Kapos Walter, Felix, and Manni performed during the function-
aries’ social gatherings. The medical orderly Jules Fainzang related how he had been 
deeply touched by Manni’s interpretation of a German children’s song about a boy’s 
dream of owning a horse: “A magic sound filled this sinister room like rays of sunlight. 
A spell-binding tenor voice sang in German: ‘Mamatchki, schenk mir ein Pferdchen / 
Ein Pferdchen wäre mein Paradies.’ . . . These words made tears run down my face. How 
were the Germans capable of exterminating hundreds of thousands of Jewish children, 
if they cared so much for their own children? Was it possible that the German language, 
that seemed so cruel when flung at us day in day out, possessed other tonalities, too?” 66

The regular prisoners rarely enjoyed the positive aspects of music unless they sang 
songs among themselves. Several prisoners from the Netherlands thus made up a love 
song dedicated to the female inmates of Blechhammer, who risked their lives to pass 
on food to the men. The lyrics, revolving largely around bread, were sung to the popu-
lar tune of “I Can’t Give You Anything but Love, Baby.” 67 In late 1944 the Jewish pris-
oners were involuntarily exposed to musical propaganda primarily intended to raise the 
crumbling morale of German workers. By order of the SS propaganda office of Ratibor, 
Dr. Schlick continuously played them records with operettas and light popular tunes. 68 
Listening to this music evoked painful memories among the inmates of happier days in 
their former lives, of their “paradise lost.” 69
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T H E M A S S AC R E S O F 
JA NUA RY 1945

H immler began to take precautionary measures for securing 
the concentration camps in June 1944 by issuing a directive that allowed 
the HSSPFs to seize control from the SS commandants in the event of an 

insurgency or evacuation. Camp leaders received evacuation guidelines from the dis-
trict leader of Silesia, Fritz Bracht, on December 21, 1944. Nevertheless, the vast ma-
jority of the Auschwitz prisoners were not removed from the area for almost another 
month, in line with the Ministry of Armaments and Ammunitions’s order to keep pro-
duction facilities running for as long as possible. 1 The launch of the Soviet offensive on 
January 12, 1945, swiftly cut off most of Bracht’s intended marching routes. Moreover, 
Himmler’s failure to issue sweeping orders to evacuate the camps prevented a concerted 
retreat. Oswald Pohl of the WVHA eventually instructed the HSSPF of Silesia, Hein-
rich Schmauser, to start the evacuation process of Auschwitz and its satellites. 2 On Jan-
uary 19, 1945, Schmauser commanded that all sick prisoners be liquidated. 3

Blechhammer was the last Auschwitz subcamp to be evacuated. 4 The roaring of the 
Russian artillery had been audible for several days when rumors about the evacuation 
of Gleiwitz spread, and the Blechhammer prisoners expected their camp to be next. 
Notwithstanding the undeniable signs of the impending German retreat, the camp 
leadership tried to convey a sense of continuity. In a speech to the prisoners on Sat-
urday, January 20, second-in-command Czapla claimed that the camp would not be 
evacuated. A theater performance staged to distract the inmates was promptly inter-
rupted by a Soviet air raid. On the same evening, camp leader Klipp assured the Jew-
ish elders that they would stay in Blechhammer but announced only two hours later 
that the camp would be evacuated as soon as groups marching out of Gleiwitz on Jan-
uary 18 had arrived. Three blocks in the Abessynia section were cleared to enable the 
approximately twenty-three hundred inmates from Gleiwitz I, III, and IV to get some 
soup and sleep after a strenuous three-day march without any food. 5 A smaller group 



182 FROM SCHMELT CAMP TO “LITTLE AUSCHWIT Z”

of these prisoners was driven to Blechhammer on trucks. Curiously, the SS required 
them to conceal themselves with blankets during the ride. 6 Early the next morning, an-
other two to three thousand inmates evacuated from Jaworzno/Neu Dachs on January 
17 followed. All these treks had been rerouted to Blechhammer due to combat activity. 7

The SS had already murdered large numbers of inmates on each of these treks. SS Un-
terscharführer Hans Stefan Olejak had been the second-in-command of Ja worzno from 
June 1943 until April 1944, when he started his tenure in Blechhammer. He claimed he 
had been appointed camp leader of the Tschechowitz subcamp in November 1944. Sur-
vivors of Jaworzno nonetheless stated that he had returned to their camp and had shot 
twenty prisoners en route to Blechhammer. However, his renewed presence in Blech-
hammer was not corroborated by former prisoners. 8

On the morning of Sunday, January 21, preparations for the march began. 9 The SS 
intended to take the inmates from Gleiwitz, Jaworzno, and Blechhammer to the Gross- 
Rosen concentration camp in separate treks and then ship them to Buchenwald by train 
from there. The infirmary patients and the female inmates were permitted to stay be-
hind. 10 These plans were disrupted by the spontaneous decision of thousands of prison-
ers to fight for their lives by awaiting the Red Army in the camp. This rebuts the com-
mon assumption that only the sick had remained. 11 It is estimated that in addition to 
the fifty-nine thousand Auschwitz prisoners who were driven on death marches, nine 
thousand stayed behind. 12 The experience of those who remained has never been the 
focus of scholarly works, and there is not even a proper designation for the unprece-
dented and dangerously unpredictable power vacuum the prisoners struggled to sur-
vive in. The arrival of the prisoners from Gleiwitz and Jaworzno was a major catalyst 
for the escalation of violence that ensued. The Germans’ violent attempts to crush the 
Blechhammer “revolt” resulted in several massacres, which are delineated in the fol-
lowing sections, along with the prisoners’ responses to these assaults.

M U R DE R S BY T H E C A M P S S A N D FAC TORY 
GUA R DS ON JA N UA RY 21,  1945

When the Gleiwitz prisoners were woken at 6:30 a.m. for the morning roll call, they 
were informed that their group would be the first to leave, at 9:00 a.m. 13 After several 
sleepless nights in the cold, their limbs had painfully stiffened up during the short rest 
in bunk beds. Knowing they would not be able to endure another leg of the march, 
hundreds remained in their bunks. 14 Only about seven hundred Gleiwitz prisoners 
attended the roll call. Due to the pandemonium caused by the new arrivals and the 
SS men’s haste to move westward, overall discipline had become unprecedentedly lax. 
More Gleiwitz prisoners thus seized the opportunity to go into hiding. Numerous 
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Blechhammer prisoners were prompted to follow their example after hearing their har-
rowing accounts of mass shootings en route. The arrival of trucks loaded with the bodies 
of those killed on the way to Blechhammer shockingly confirmed these reports. 15 The 
SS subsequently departed with no more than one-third of the original Gleiwitz trek-
kers and made no effort to retrieve the missing men. 16

Unlike those involved in the Gleiwitz treks, the Jaworzno prisoners had not received 
anything to eat upon arrival in Blechhammer. Knowing that the prisoners had been go-
ing without any provisions for days, the SS promised them food on the condition that 
they line up for the march. 17 Under the impression of the horrors of the past days and 
the heavy losses they had suffered, the Jaworzno prisoners were desperate to dodge an-
other march at any cost. 18 They had witnessed how the SS had brutally killed fellow pris-
oners trying to hide in the mines of Jaworzno with grenades. A survivor recalled that 
the SS had “bribed” the rest of the inmates with bread and salami to prevent any resis-
tance. He assumed that they were using the same strategy now to “trick” them into an-
other death march. 19 Therefore, many opted to retreat into hideouts, such as the bar-
rack roofs, instead of queuing for food. 20

Forced to change their plans due to the Jaworzno inmates’ noncompliance, the SS 
prepared the Blechhammer trekking group for marching off first. When the Blechham-
mer prisoners were allocated their provisions for along the way, some of the starved Ja-
worzno inmates started to pilfer bread loaves and raided the food depots. 21 Klipp com-
manded his deputy Czapla and another five SS guards to open fire on the prisoners. In 
a postwar trial, Czapla claimed that they had merely shot in the air, and that he had per-
sonally tended to a prisoner who had “accidentally” received a bullet in his leg. 22 His 
story was an obvious fabrication, as a survivor witnessed how he shot a prisoner at close 
range. 23 An SS man placed in front of the shoe depot fired at any prisoner near him. 24 
They were supported by the non-Jewish criminal Kapos, who had been armed with ri-
fles and clad in SS uniforms to escort the march. 25

The newcomers’ “revolt” evoked fear of reprisals in the Blechhammer prisoners; 
however, it also emasculated the SS and encouraged many to stay behind and hide. 26 
There was no organized resistance to the evacuation as in Buchenwald, as Blechham-
mer lacked an active underground movement. 27 Therefore, most fit inmates and func-
tionary prisoners left the camp, expecting the others to be killed. 28

The approximately 130 to 150 female prisoners were in a similar dilemma when the 
SS advised them to stay in the camp if they did not feel capable of making a highly 
paced march. Suspecting that all remaining women would be murdered, only thirty 
of them dared to accept this offer. 29 Tragically, most of the women who went on the 
march later perished in the infamous “reception camp” of Bergen-Belsen. 30 Their bar-
rack was nonetheless seen as a sanctuary by a group of male prisoners, who hid there in 
the hope of avoiding the march. 31
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A diverse group of Jewish inmates aged between seventeen and fifty-one eventually 
stayed behind. 32 Some of the fifty Maquisards still accounted for in January 1945 re-
mained in the camp, but their fate is unclear. 33

When the Blechhammer group finally departed at noon, all “hell broke loose,” as a 
survivor put it. 34 Crazed with hunger, more and more Jaworzno prisoners gathered to 
force their way into the bread storeroom. They devoured their first food in days, de-
spite SS guards starting to machine-gun them from the watchtowers. 35 Around 3:00 
p.m., those prisoners from Jaworzno that the SS had been able to assemble by force were 
marched out of Blechhammer, while the looting continued. 36

Unprecedented in the camp’s history, the retreating SS delegated the plant’s works 
police under the command of OHW deputy director Schlick authority over the re-
maining prisoners. The SS instructed the works police’s leader Kurt Karl Schumann 
to crush the “rebellion.” He had up to 150 armed men at his disposal and could also 
draw on a unit of eighty SS men in charge of securing the OHW plant, who were com-
manded by SS Hauptscharführer Bruno Palla. Schumann, and SS Obersturmbann-
führer R. Kügler, the head of the SS propaganda office in Ratibor, supervised the re-
newed shootings in the camp. 37 At least ninety prisoners were shot on this day. 38 A 
postwar interrogation report by a British War Crimes Group clearly corroborates that 
Schlick knew of the massacre and presumably gave the respective shooting orders. On 
January 23, 1945, Schlick was involved in the liquidation of Polish penitentiary prison-
ers that German authorities had been unable to transfer to Gross-Rosen in time. 39 These 
incidents exemplify the fusing of the industrialists and factory guards with the regime’s 
annihilatory policies. Especially in the last phase of the war, lower echelon auxiliaries, 
such as the works police, as well as civilians were delegated tasks previously executed 
by the SS or the Gestapo. 40 Both Schumann and Schlick were released in 1947 after a 
few months in British remand custody. Their case was closed, as key witnesses residing 
in the Soviet sector could not be interrogated. 41

The looting prisoners showed signs of what Langer called “impromptu self,” a self- 
preserving survival mode that temporarily eclipses one’s moral values. 42 Many survivors, 
like Hans Rehfisch, not only struggled to come to terms with the atrocities they wit-
nessed but also found it difficult to relate to their actions later in life: “We must have 
tread over dead people, it was horrible. I suppose we were crazy.” 43

T H E I N F I R M A RY PAT I E N T S ’ 
E XCE P T IONA L PROT EC T ION

Approximately three hundred sick prisoners were left behind in the camp infirmary. 
Three of the Jewish prisoner physicians of Blechhammer, Dr. Pollak, Dr. Flescher, and 
Dr. Szeftel, stayed with them. 44 During the interim, they were the last representatives 
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of the SS-imposed “self-administration” of the prisoners. 45 Although the infirmary was 
the only place still regulated by certain rules, the physicians did not interfere with the 
fit prisoners’ affairs.

Before the evacuation, the SS ordered that all patients still able to walk were to as-
semble in front of the infirmary. Having heard rumors of the liquidation of sick inmates 
by the new arrivals from Gleiwitz and Jaworzno, the Blechhammer prisoners feared 
that they would meet a similar fate. To their surprise, the SS merely checked whether 
the inmates were genuinely unfit to march and sent them back to their beds. 46 Camp 
leader Klipp reportedly issued a written note to the infirmary staff confirming that the 
sick prisoners were not to be harmed by anyone. 47 His motives for not carrying out 
Schmauser’s directive to murder the sick, issued two days earlier, remains obscure. Evi-
dently the treatment of unfit prisoners varied from camp to camp. The rapid Soviet ad-
vance thus prevented a full-scale massacre of the sick in the Auschwitz main camp and 
in Birkenau. The infirmary of Monowitz was not touched at all. In an act of preemp-
tive obedience, the SS shot unfit inmates in Gleiwitz I on January 18, 1945, and burned 
the infirmary patients of Gleiwitz IV alive. 48

Unlike camp commandants, subcamp leaders were not authorized to revise or 
ignore superior orders from Berlin. Contrary to Wachsmann’s theory of “autono-
mous” subcamp leaders, there is no evidence that directives from the commandant of 
Monowitz, Heinrich Schwarz, who superintended all Auschwitz satellites, were not 
implemented by Blechhammer in normal times. 49 Klipp’s written note indicates that 
he had received Schmauser’s order but decided not to execute it. Possibly he intended 
to speed up the evacuation, or his own disability (his left hand had been maimed in 
combat) may have made him reluctant to massacre the infirmary patients. 50 His non-
compliance was likely triggered by the temporary power vacuum created by the un-
organized retreat. 51 Nevertheless, Klipp obeyed the sweeping order to shoot “recal-
citrant” hiding prisoners and subsequently delegated this task to the factory guards 
and the Wehrmacht. The brutal murders of those in hiding were probably rooted 
in widespread fears of prisoners leaving the camps to take revenge on the German 
population. 52 Klipp also had all prisoners murdered who became unfit en route to 
Gross-Rosen. 53

The infirmary patients’ reactions to the impending evacuation differed consider-
ably. Some forced themselves to march, others deliberately stayed behind, and some 
were mentally or physically incapable of making decisions at all. Most were invari-
ably aware of the intrinsic logic of the Nazi camps that anyone unfit for work was con-
demned to death. Therefore, it was expected that prisoners unable to march would be 
killed. As a survivor put it, the “fear of death” led many fellow patients to leave the in-
firmary despite their poor state of health: “All fit prisoners go on this transport — they 
are joined by the ones from the infirmary who are still able to limp along a little. No 
one would give a penny for the lives of the rest of the sick who stay behind. The fear of 
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their probable deaths helps many comrades to get back on their feet. . . . Yes, to live on, 
these living corpses go on the march.” 54

Tragically, the sick prisoners who had joined the trek hoping to stay alive were sys-
tematically murdered en route. On as many as ten occasions, SS guards took these in-
mates to remote places, such as rubbish dumps or cemeteries, and shot them. 55 Those 
among the gravely ill who were still sufficiently conscious were painfully aware that they 
might be killed. However, their physical state precluded any other options apart from 
staying in the HKB. Typical diseases were pneumonia or gangrene. 56 Others, like Oto 
Hostovsky, were extremely emaciated and began to turn into “Muselmen.” Hostovsky 
was one of the few survivors of the liquidated family camp BIIb in Auschwitz-Birkenau 
and was transferred to Blechhammer in July 1944. He had spent over a month in the 
infirmary due to exhaustion and malnourishment when the camp was evacuated. In 
postwar testimony, Hostovsky indicated that the other prisoners had not chosen be-
tween life and death but merely between a fast and a slow death. 57

By contrast, some lightly injured or convalescing prisoners reckoned their survival 
chances would be higher if they stayed in the infirmary, as did a number of healthy in-
mates hiding among them. 58 Similarly, a medical orderly was prompted to remain in 
the infirmary after helping to unload a truck bearing the bodies of Gleiwitz prisoners 
shot en route. 59 When the Blechhammer group left, the gate of the fence surround-
ing the infirmary was locked and was guarded by a prisoner. The guard nonetheless 
let twelve of his comrades enter in return for tending to the sick. 60 As the SS did not 
check the so-called Schonungsblock, the section where terminally ill prisoners were left 
unattended in despicably unhygienic conditions, some inmates used it as a hideout. 61

The infirmary was not affected by the massacre outside. When the last SS men had 
left with parts of the Jaworzno group, Dr. Flescher seized the opportunity to come to 
the aid of the shooting victims. The medical staff also registered the tattooed numbers 
of those killed in the massacre to secure the evidence of the atrocities committed in the 
camp. 62 As the SS had turned off the electricity and water, the orderlies melted snow to 
prepare soup and potatoes for the sick. 63

T H E R ET U R N OF T H E C A M P S S A N D 
T H E M A S SACR E OF JA N UA RY 22

After a night in nearby Heydebreck (Kędzierżyn-Koźle), the Blechhammer trekking 
group was ordered to head back toward Blechhammer, only to be rerouted to Gross- 
Rosen again within a few miles of the camp on January 22. Klipp had Czapla assemble 
a patrol to investigate whether the Russians already held the camp. 64 Seven male and fe-
male prisoners, two of the criminal Kapos, and eleven SS men set out by truck. Shortly 
after their departure, the group was marched back to the camp. 65



187THE MASSACRES OF JANUARY 1945

The patrol’s initial preparations for a return soon coalesced with hasty efforts to de-
stroy compromising evidence and culminated in a large-scale massacre of prisoners hid-
ing in the camp. 66 First the seven prisoners belonging to the patrol had to tidy up the SS 
quarters. A short while later it became clear that the camp would be left for good, and 
they were ordered to load documents on handcarts. The SS forced eighteen prisoners 
they had caught hiding in the camp to pull the carts. When an SS man remarked that 
fifteen men were sufficient, the surplus three were simply shot. Meanwhile, a member 
of the SS formerly in charge of the food allocations nicknamed “Napoleon” searched 
the camp kitchens and killed several hiding prisoners. 67

Around 3:00 p.m., the SS set their quarters and the Political Department on fire. They 
threw hand grenades into some of the prisoners’ barracks from the watchtowers and shot 
at anyone escaping the flames. The Blechhammer guards’ superior, SS Oberscharführer 
Claessen, had belonged to the group’s rearguard platoon (Nachkommando), but then fol-
lowed the patrol back to the camp. 68 Infamous for his cruelty, he even bayoneted those 
who were shot to make sure they were dead. Four prisoners lying among the dead were 
still alive and jumped up when he approached them. Claessen then shot them in front 
of the camp wall. 69 SS Rottenführer Karl Masseli also participated in the massacre. 70

Kapo Walter made all women vacate their barrack to hunt down male prisoners in 
hiding. 71 But not all of them had left when the SS set fire to the building. Several women 
were shot as they ran out to seek cover in the nearby potato cellar. Among the shooters 
was the SS man overseeing the clothes depot, Adolf Schindler. 72 Great numbers of hid-
ing prisoners sheltered in the potato cellar during the massacre. Others broke through the 
four-meter-high camp wall and escaped into the forest. 73 Their lives were saved by the weak 
spots in the concrete that the mason’s detail had deliberately inserted during the wall’s con-
struction in April 1944. 74 A small group of inmates used a wardrobe to reach an unmanned 
watchtower and fled into the woods. The SS pursued them with dogs, and some were 
shot. The rest of the group managed to hide in a deserted house until the arrival of the Red 
Army. 75 Interestingly, German OHW workers seem to have been present during the mas-
sacre. A female prisoner and her two daughters were thus warned to leave the camp imme-
diately by a German laborer and fled into the forest. Polish workers they encountered on 
the main road offered to harbor them in their camp. 76 When the SS finally left, they put a 
lock on the camp gate. 77 Up to 108 prisoners fell victim to the massacre of January 22, 1945. 78

T H E M E DIC A L S TA F F ’ S  E F FORT S TO SAV E 
T H E SHO OT I NG V IC T I M S ,  JA N UA RY 22–23

Thanks to heavy snowfall and a change in the wind direction, the surviving inmates 
soon managed to extinguish the fires. Thus, only the SS quarters and individual bar-
racks near the watchtowers were destroyed completely. 79 The prisoners began to search 
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for injured comrades trapped underneath the ruins of collapsed barracks. The camp 
was strewn with the bodies of the shot. 80 A part of the infirmary had been hit by a hand 
grenade, but no one was hurt, and the barrack remained intact. The renewed shootings 
nonetheless led to a sharp increase in the number of dead and injured prisoners hiding 
outside. Two prisoner physicians from Gleiwitz volunteered for the infirmary. How-
ever, the medical staff ’s capacity to provide genuine aid was extremely limited, as the SS 
had confiscated their surgical instruments and supplies. In aid of comrades who were 
bleeding to death, some prisoners even cut up their own shirts and trousers.

The next day, January 23, four of the orderlies were sent to the now deserted camp-
sites of British and French POWs a few miles’ away to search for dressing material. This 
undertaking was quite risky, as the Germans were still patrolling the roads. It was hoped 
that doctors’ coats with a sewn-on red cross would offer them at least some protection. 
It did not take long until two of the orderlies were stopped by elderly members of the 
home guard (Volkssturm), who were suspicious of the striped uniforms underneath 
their coats. One of the prisoners managed to scare the home guards away by making 
them believe that their SS guards had just fled from the approaching Russians. When 
the two reached the British POW camp, they were almost shot by works policemen 
involved in a massacre of Polish convicts in hiding. 81 Eventually, French POWs offered 
some of their medical supplies to the HKB. Many of the wounded and the sick never-
theless died, and the piles of unburied corpses grew. 82 When a prisoner detail ordered 
to collect those shot en route returned with the bodies of another two hundred Blech-
hammer inmates, a mass grave was excavated. The pit was left open to preserve the ev-
idence for the Soviets. 83

W E H R M ACH T K I L L I NG S: JA N UA RY 2 4–25,  1945

From Wednesday, January 24, Blechhammer was temporarily in the crossfire of the 
Soviet artillery and the Wehrmacht, and grenades exploded in the camp. 84 An air raid 
claimed the lives of several prisoners, whose barracks had received direct hits. 85 During 
the night of January 24–25, two vehicles carrying Wehrmacht soldiers arrived. 86 They 
may have belonged to a unit of soldiers on leave to work in the armaments industry 
(Wehrmachtsurlauber) that had been reactivated on January 23, 1945, to reinforce the 
local home guard. They were joined by an anti-aircraft battalion stationed in Blech-
hammer since summer 1944. 87 Purportedly there were also collaborating Georgians 
among the soldiers. 88 They killed about fifty prisoners hiding in the potato cellar. 89 The 
soldiers took up to 150 inmates out of the camp for an unclear purpose, only to shoot 
them in the end. Some survivors related that they had intended to use them as a “pro-
tective shield” or to build a bridge. Their bodies were found in the nearby forest later. 90 
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Between 780 and 1,000 prisoners, predominantly those from Jaworzno and Gleiwitz, 
were marched to a school building before being added to a trek to Gross-Rosen. 91

During the roundup, a group of Jaworzno prisoners escaped through the hole in the 
camp wall. They were eventually arrested by the police and sent to Gross-Rosen. Un-
like most other groups, they were not transferred to Buchenwald but to Leitmeritz, a 
subcamp of Flossenbürg. 92

In the middle of the massacre three prisoners, who had barricaded themselves in a 
former workshop, narrowly escaped death when they mistook the Germans for Soviet 
soldiers and erroneously gave themselves away:

We fell silent. Steps drew close, but they were the steps of a single soldier. We heard 
the screams of fear and shooting from more distant barracks. A new manhunt had be-
gun. The soldier outside hammered against our barrack door, yelling that we should 
come out. We remained silent but picked up massive lumps of iron from the floor 
of the room that appeared to have been used as a workshop. We silently agreed to 
kill the soldier if he came in. As the barrack stood isolated from the others, the sol-
dier was unsure what to do, and he must have sensed that we would attack him, if 
he tried to catch us. Cursing, he left, and did not ask his comrades for assistance, as 
we had feared. 93

T H E I N F I R M A RY ’ S CON T I N U E D PROT EC T ION 
DU R I NG T H E W E H R M ACH T ONSL AUG H T

Firing shots into the infirmary barrack’s ceiling, the soldiers demanded that all patients 
assemble outside within two minutes. In postwar testimony, Dr. Szeftel stated that he 
had succeeded in persuading the soldiers that he was not permitted to move the pa-
tients, and they had left. 94 In a different variation of this story, Dr. Pollak allegedly saved 
the inmates by claiming that they all had typhus. 95 Whichever version is accurate, the 
infirmary patients were left unscathed in the end. Only a few patients registered the sol-
diers’ presence, as most of them were too numb to respond to their demands. 96

Daniel Blatman’s contention that on January 26 a “second wave” of unknown mem-
bers of the SS or the Wehrmacht shot most of the sick prisoners and burned them in 
a ditch was not corroborated by any testimony. Evidently there were numerous survi-
vors from the infirmary. The details of the killings he ascribes to Blechhammer seem 
more or less consistent with Danuta Czech’s account of the massacre of unfit inmates 
in Tschechowitz-Vacuum on January 21, 1945. 97 The fact that the soldiers did not even 
enter the infirmary refutes Blatman’s theory of “local liquidation units” specifically del-
egated to carry out Schmauser’s order to murder the sick in Blechhammer. 98 It seems 
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more plausible that they intended to check the infirmary for hiding, fit prisoners. Not-
withstanding the atrocities undoubtedly committed by the soldiers in the camp, their 
paramount task appears to have been to transfer the hundreds of hiding prisoners 
from Gleiwitz, and Jaworzno to Gross-Rosen. They largely followed the orders issued 
by camp leader Klipp on January 21: to march off the fit prisoners, if necessary by force, 
while sparing the sick and the women. On January 24, Klipp’s group reached Ziegen-
hals (Głuchołazy), a town situated forty miles from Blechhammer. 99 As Klipp had a 
mobile wireless radio with an average range of one hundred miles, the Wehrmacht may 
have received his instructions beforehand.

Although not explicitly commanded to carry out mass killings of civilians, the Weh-
rmacht had become entangled in the Holocaust at an early stage of the war. Its level 
of complicity depended on the attitudes of lower echelon leaders and individual deci-
sions. The Blechhammer case underlines the continuum of perpetration, which moved 
from supporting roles, like rounding up prisoners, to active initiatives to kill. 100 This 
scenario likewise exemplifies the apparent leeway available to Klipp during the evac-
uation, whose decision to safeguard the sick was not overruled by the HSSPF’s supe-
rior order. Consequently, other SS camp leaders must have had the same latitude for 
action and could equally have protected their most vulnerable prisoners from such gra-
tuitous acts of brutality. 101

The Wehrmacht units left the camp gate open when they departed. The prisoners’ 
first attempts to leave the camp on their own were nonetheless thwarted by the unsafe 
situation outside and the presence of German patrols. Despite the possibility of another 
return of the SS, the camp paradoxically seemed to offer more protection at this point. 
A group of inmates who had fled into the forest during the massacre therefore quickly 
returned after stumbling over the victims of the Wehrmacht shootings. 102

S U RV I VA L I N NO -M A N ’ S L A N D A N D (SE L F-) 
L I BE R AT ION: JA N UA RY 2 6–2 8,  1945

The Germans’ ultimate withdrawal from Blechhammer signaled the end of the camp’s 
existence. Now that liberation seemed more feasible than ever, the prisoners found 
themselves at the intersection of falling into “anarchy” and regaining control over 
their lives after years of extreme oppression. During this watershed, no one took the 
place of the former Jewish elder Demerer, who had been renowned for his just lead-
ership style. As all functionaries had gone on the march, the SS-imposed “prisoner 
self-administration” no longer regulated the distribution of essential goods, like food 
and fuel. As Primo Levi, who remained behind in the infirmary of Monowitz, put it, 

“the rhythm of the great machine of the lager” had been extinguished with the departure 
of the SS. 103 When the camp’s internal and external boundaries became more permeable, 
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the enforced prisoner community gradually disintegrated. The presence of the newly 
arrived inmates sped up this process.

Following the disappearance of their greatest enemies, the SS, some prisoners iron-
ically began to perceive fellow comrades as a threat instead. The sudden access to large 
quantities of long-missed goods led certain inmates to commit excesses. They slaugh-
tered the pigs formerly kept by the SS, and fights erupted when one group found sugar 
in a depot. Amid the dead, they prepared meals on the embers of burned barracks. 
Countless prisoners literally ate themselves to death in this “paradise in hell,” as the sur-
vivor Vilem Hostovsky called it. 104 After a period of extreme starvation, hyperphagia 
was a typical reaction. The increased energy level also caused aggressive behavior and 
mood swings. Those still in control of themselves watched their comrades in disbelief, 
while concerns about their own safety grew. 105 The survivor Ernest Koenig delineated 
the almost surrealistic scenes in the camp: “They were emaciated, fantastically dressed, 
and driven by an animal craving for food. They sat in front of the fires, cooked, and 
stirred their soups, and ate [. . .]. Most were unable to digest the food and vomited. [. . .] 
I saw twice how prisoners pulled scorched corpses into the fire to use them as fuel.” 106

Contrary to the infirmary patients, the fit prisoners rarely reflected on the process of 
feeling “human” again before or during the liberation. Their disdain for those in an al-
leged “anarchic” state nevertheless betrays a change in their self-perception. These pris-
oners typically explained their survival by their having “kept their wits.” 107

The medical personnel made no effort to guard the food depots against looters ei-
ther, but merely secured enough supplies for their patients. 108 The five remaining pris-
oner physicians and their orderlies were overburdened with the growing numbers of the 
wounded, so that the approximately three hundred infirmary patients received very lit-
tle attention. Food was not distributed regularly, and the patients were desperate for wa-
ter. The barrack floors were soiled, and the dead were not even removed from the beds. 
Like Primo Levi in Monowitz, those among the sick still able to get up began to care 
for the others. They crawled outside to fetch snow for their thirsty comrades. Those in 
better shape left the camp during the day to look for food. The furniture and wooden 
boards of empty barracks were burned to heat the infirmary and to boil potatoes. The 
food and warmth, coupled with the apparent withdrawal of the Germans, filled the in-
mates with new hope of survival. Eating and chatting late into the night, they started 
to make plans for the future again. 109 Meanwhile, others passed away almost unno-
ticed. Oto Hostovsky recalled the final days in the infirmary amid the dying: “I crawl 
off my bunk, trying not to touch the dead hand stretched out widely from the bed be-
low. Then I try to close the dead eyes, but they refuse, maybe they would like to see the 
newly won freedom. They are yellow, anxiously and expectingly gazing into the air.” 110

The vast numbers of decomposing bodies became a grave concern. In line with (ul-
tra-) orthodox interpretations of the Holocaust at the time, a rabbi among the prison-
ers construed their protracted suffering as a “divine punishment” for not abiding by 
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the religious law to bury the dead. He convinced two inmates to remove the body of a 
man who had been lying in front of their barrack door for days. When they lifted him 
up, they noticed that he was still alive. Incredibly, the prisoners managed to nurse him 
back to health. 111 Such individual efforts notwithstanding, the unburied corpses caused 
numerous inmates to leave. The desire to escape the “chaotic” and “unbearable” situ-
ation in the camp was the decisive impetus for actively seeking to liberate themselves 
days before the “official” liberation. 112

The dissolution of the camp’s repressive framework permitted more personal agency, 
resulting in the formation of smaller groups pursuing individual goals. Some autono-
mously terminated their prisoner status by leaving the camp permanently and chang-
ing into civilian clothes. About forty prisoners thus roamed the forest, occasionally ask-
ing German civilians for food. One day an elderly German offered to take them into 
his house but then denounced them to the police. Luckily their civilian clothes helped 
them to pass themselves off as foreign laborers, and they were released. The group was 
found by Soviet soldiers while hiding in a deserted German workers’ camp. 113 Others 
ventured into the area around the camp in search of the Russians to speed up the liber-
ation. On Friday, January 26, prisoners encountered the first Soviet soldiers in a nearby 
village. Enthusiastically, they brought Russian cigarettes and a Soviet cap back into the 
camp to prove to fellow inmates that liberation was near at hand. 114

When a Soviet patrol finally reached the camp on Sunday, January 28, 1945, some 
survivors experienced this liberation as an “anticlimax”: “They probably did not realize 
themselves that they were part of ‘a historic moment,’ that they were about to liberate 
a camp. Moreover, this camp indubitably was just one in a whole series of camps they 
had seen.” 115 Another reason for feeling “disappointed” at the liberation was the fact that 
the war had not ended yet, and the survivors could only be repatriated months later. 116

Unlike Auschwitz, Blechhammer was not used for filming propagandistic liberation 
scenes, which rarely reflected the survivors’ genuine experience. 117 The generous help ex-
tended to them by the Soviets was nonetheless greatly appreciated, despite some com-
munication problems. As there were Jews among the soldiers, they spoke Yiddish with 
the prisoners, but not all of them were familiar with this language. 118

The sick prisoners still dreaded the possible return of the SS, despite the soldiers’ as-
surances that they were safe now. 119 To Oto Hostovsky, the day of their liberation was 
like a “rebirth” that restored their status as human beings, who were once more entitled 
to all the things that make life worth living: “eating, sleeping, dreaming, going wher-
ever, and whenever you please.” 120

Having lived in a world without mercy, the prisoners were grateful for the tender 
care they received from Soviet nurses and doctors. They were showered with choco-
lates and cigarettes and were provided with nourishing meals three times a day. The 
sick were immediately relocated to the better-equipped SS infirmary adjacent to the 
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camp and then transferred to the Soviet military hospital of Częstochowa two weeks 
later. 121 Another eighty-two prisoners died within the first days after the liberation, of 
disease or as a result of the injuries inflicted by the SS, the works police, and the Weh-
rmacht. They were buried in the camp’s mass grave. 122 In mid-February 1945, the survi-
vors were taken to a central collecting point in Gleiwitz, and they were repatriated in the 
summer. 123 The joy of liberation was tainted by the inescapable truth that most of their 
family members had perished. The survivor Mendel Meyer only began to grasp that 
he was all alone now when he returned to his former home in the Netherlands: “In the 
evening, there happened to be a car heading towards Hoogeveen giving me a lift back 
home. Then came the greatest disappointment when there was no one left anymore.” 124

Approximately five hundred prisoners perished during the interim, about 25 percent 
of those in hiding. Roughly the same percentage of inmates was killed on the march 
from Blechhammer to Gross-Rosen. 125 Thus the decision to remain behind did not 
substantially increase the prisoners’ immediate survival chances. Their earlier libera-
tion from the Nazi camp system was unquestionably a crucial advantage. The lives of 
the infirmary patients, who appear to have been the least likely to survive, were seem-
ingly spared by the order of an individual camp leader — who nevertheless did not hes-
itate to have all unfit prisoners murdered en route.
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T H E D E AT H M A RC H

B lechhammer was the last Auschwitz subcamp to be evacuated, 
on January 21, 1945. Comprising approximately four thousand prisoners, it 
also was the largest group moving westward along the border with Sudeten. 1 

Bracht granted the Auschwitz columns special priority, as they were perceived as a se-
curity threat. To ensure a swift passage, they were allowed to use major roads. Civilian 
groups were to yield to the prisoners and maintain a ten-mile distance to avoid direct 
encounters. The SS guards were to obliterate evidence of the crimes committed by the 
so-called shooting service, the men designated to kill stragglers. 2

Before leaving Blechhammer, the inmates received two loaves of bread, some marga-
rine, and ersatz honey. Most wrapped themselves in their two blankets to ward off the 
biting frost. Some also insulated their thin prisoner uniforms with empty cement sacks. 
The soles of their wooden shoes were soon covered in ice, and the frozen canvas lining 
caused frostbite. Those who had been able to grab leather shoes during the raid on the 
clothes depot had thus significantly increased their survival chances. 3 Around noon the 
line of trekkers, measuring several miles in length, was assembled on the main road. As 
they marched off, Demerer encouraged the prisoners by calling out to them that they 
were “going home,” now that the German retreat had begun. The fact that the SS already 
wore civilian clothes underneath their coats gave even more credibility to his words. 4 
The French Maquisards went along to Gross-Rosen, but only a small fraction survived 
the evacuation. 5 Prior to marching off, the SS announced that they would shoot any-
one who fell out. 6 It is still a matter of debate whether the killing of stragglers was based 
on superior orders or local initiatives. A preserved document from the commandant 
of Stutthoff corroborates that there was an order to kill escapees and prisoners who re-
fused to march. 7 The fact that similar shooting orders were given out before the evac-
uation of penitentiaries and POW camps points to higher echelon decision-makers. 8
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Sixteen SS men formed the so-called rear guard platoon (Nachkommando) that fol-
lowed the tail of the line to shoot stragglers. Among them was Oberscharführer Claes-
sen, the superior of Blechhammer’s guard battalion, who reputedly killed numerous 
prisoners. 9 The bodies were removed by a “clean-up detail” (Aufräumkommando), com-
prising four prisoners, who left Blechhammer one day after the evacuation. They had 
to haul the first shooting victims back to the camp on carts. The remaining prisoners 
later buried them in a mass grave. 10

The Blechhammer camp personnel had been reinforced with SS men from Gleiwitz 
and Jaworzno, so that about one hundred guards supervised the trek. They were joined 
by members of the home guard at a later stage of the march. 11 Survivors stated that the 
former Wehrmacht guards, who had only been recruited into the SS in summer 1944, 
were quite restrained. One guard even announced that he would not use his rifle. 12 The 
key shooters were predominantly found in the ranks of the “genuine” SS, who patrolled 
the columns on motorbikes. The head of the Political Department, Schmidt, and Tom 
Mix were often named in this context. They were assisted by the armed criminal Ka-
pos. In particular, Walter Redock and a Kapo named Heinrich Krudwig, who allegedly 

“wore the swastika with pride,” participated in killings. 13

The group was headed by a horse-drawn cart carrying Karl Czapla, who had injured 
his foot on the first marching day, as well as some luggage. Bracht had permitted the 
procurement of such vehicles for the SS men’s belongings. Ironically, the Jewish pris-
oners had had to pay for the horse and cart they were not allowed to ride on themselves. 
Czapla also bought a handcart to transport the orchestra’s instruments. It was pulled 
by prisoners in the rear of the group, who received some food in return. Occasionally 
inmates unable to walk could rest on it. 14 On the way to Heydebreck, where they spent 
the first night in a deserted Italian workers’ camp, passing British and French POWs re-
assured the prisoners that they would soon be liberated by the approaching Red Army. 
This prompted many to devour their food rations at once, unaware that they would 
only get scanty provisions en route. Only the functionary prisoners had access to hot 
drinks and frugal meals. In Heydebreck, the prisoners learned of the Soviet conquest 
of nearby Oppeln (Opole) from a foreign laborer, and they enthusiastically chanted 
the Buchenwald anthem. 15

T H E T R E K ’ S SE PA R AT ION, JA N UA RY 22–30,  1945

On January 22, the camp leader was ordered to march the prisoners back to Blech-
hammer. A short distance from the camp, a renewed Soviet advance forced the group 
back in the direction of Gross-Rosen. Having lost a whole day through making this de-
tour, Klipp attempted to cross the River Oder via a bridge one mile from Reigersfeld 
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(Birawa). It was past midnight, and the home guard had already wired the bridge for 
demolition. They only waited until about thirty-six hundred prisoners had crossed the 
bridge before triggering the explosion. Therefore, around four hundred prisoners in 
the rear were cut off from the main body and were taken on a different route in the fol-
lowing days. The main body marched on to Leobschütz (Głubczyce), where they slept 
in an empty restaurant. 16

Twelve SS guards led the split-off group, including forty female prisoners, north to-
ward Cosel. After they spent a night in a barn, a farmer prepared boiled potatoes for 
them. On January 23 they crossed the Oder near Cosel and marched westward to a sugar 
factory in Hotzenplotz, Oberglogau (Głogówek). The prisoners enjoyed the warmth 
given off by the machines and ate the sugar residue left in the cauldrons. They stayed 
there for another day, while some of the SS men set out to find the main body. In the 
evening, they received one hundred grams of bread and some soup. 17

Meanwhile, the main body had advanced over twenty-five miles, from Leobschütz 
(Głubczyce) to Neustadt (Prudnik) on January 23, and from Neustadt to Ziegenhals 
(Głuchołazy) on January 24. Contrary to the smaller group, they were driven on at a 
high pace, and the occasional distribution of potatoes was so uneven that many re-
mained without food. Consequently, they used up their entire bread provisions. Only 
those volunteering to pull the handcart and sleighs were issued a half liter of soup. The 
lack of access to drinking water forced them to eat snow. A prisoner desperate to quench 
his thirst by drinking from a well was even rifle-butted by an SS man. 18 Marching in 
temperatures below −30°C without hot meals and liquids, combined with eating snow, 
caused hypothermia. Peripheral body parts were affected by severe frostbite and often 
became necrotic, as the prisoners had no gloves, and their canvas shoes literally froze 
to their feet. Frostbite was often the reason prisoners were shot en route. Only a few 
were still disciplined enough to ration their bread and knew remedies against the cold, 
such as rubbing themselves with snow. 19

The split-off group reached Neustadt on January 24. They spent the night in an Aus-
chwitz subcamp for Jewish women, who had been evacuated on January 19. 20 From Jan-
uary 25, they followed the same route as the main body, which was still about ten miles 
ahead of them. 21 To them, the march resembled a “funeral” from then on, as they were 
confronted with dead or dying members of the main trekking group on the roads. A 
prisoner shot in the head by Schmidt remained alive and conscious. The small group 
found him sitting in a ditch with a heavily bleeding head injury and had to watch while 
he was shot dead by another SS man. 22 With the Russian gunfire becoming more dis-
tant, the prisoners’ hope of a swift liberation dwindled, as did their will to continue 
the horrendous march west. Some had given themselves up from the start and ate all 
their provisions to indulge in a long-missed feeling of saturation, before letting them-
selves fall on the road to be shot. 23 A group of teenage inmates kept each other going by 
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sharing pleasant childhood memories and reveries of a return to their previous, happy 
lives. 24 Others found the strength to go on in defiance. Leo Weiniger related his con-
stant inner struggle to endure the strain of marching: “It was so tempting to just let 
oneself fall in the snow. But I wanted to live now that I had come this far. I knew what 
happened to those falling out, and that many let themselves fall only to end this inhu-
mane suffering.” 25

Prisoners trying to help others who could not keep up were forced to surrender them 
to the SS shooters. Rafael Lewin supported a friend suffering from frostbitten toes and 
fell back with him to the tail of the group, where they were targeted by the rearguard 
platoon. One of the SS men pursued them until the friend collapsed, then shot him. 
The SS man also aimed his rifle at Lewin, who narrowly saved himself by slipping into 
another prisoner column. 26

Wehrmacht convoys frequently sped by, driving prisoners off the road, who often 
sustained fractures or sank into muddy ditches as a result. If they could not get back on 
their feet immediately, they were shot by SS guards. The Viennese cartoonist Bil Spira 
fainted after colliding with a military truck and would have been shot without the as-
sistance of his friend, the actor Peter Sturm. Sturm laid him on a sleigh with baggage 
that he was pulling with several others, until Spira had regained his senses. Through-
out the march, Sturm had been using the sleigh to secretly permit injured comrades to 
take a short rest. Luckily Spira got away with a sprained ankle, and Sturm advised him 
to conceal his limping by leaning on the sleigh. 27

On January 26 the small group reached Neisse (Nysa). The following day a heavy 
snowstorm forced them to leave the road to Ottmachau, and the SS became so disori-
ented that they decided to march the prisoners back to Neisse. 28 Numerous prisoners 
perished in the masses of fresh snow, as they were unable to get back on their feet again. 
Maurice Moshe Szmidt recalled how the group passed them by, helpless and numb: “I 
still hear the screams of those falling into the deep snow, crying for help. As if we had 
been driven by the devil, no one turned around who heard these screams that were car-
ried away by the wind.” 29 The exhausted prisoners were given a rest on January 28, and 
local residents distributed some soup and potatoes. But the distance to the main body 
had increased even more. 30

The conditions in the large group rapidly deteriorated, as the SS ceased to hand out 
provisions. They also prohibited the starved prisoners from eating the food offered 
by Polish and German civilians en route. During a stop in Mittwaldau, Czapla shot at 
prisoners who were fighting for potatoes, killing three of them. Another prisoner was 
shot for running back to a Pole distributing potatoes. The SS likewise forbade Ger-
man villagers to give bread and milk to the inmates, claiming that they were “English 
spies.” 31 Crazed with hunger, one prisoner even dashed into a bakery and grabbed sev-
eral loaves of bread. Similarly, a group of prisoners tore a shopping bag from the hands 
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of an elderly woman and devoured the contents in a hurry. 32 During the nights in barns, 
they ate grain and horse feed or secretly milked cows. The young artist Walter Spitzer 
was once caught breaking into a cowshed. He offered to make a portrait of the farmer 
in return for letting him go, but the man preferred to have his best horse portrayed in-
stead. Satisfied with the painting, the farmer gave Spitzer some soup and bread. Oth-
ers dared to knock on doors and ask for food and water, and most of the farmers re-
sponded in a kind and helpful way. 33

T H E T R E K ’ S R EU N ION

On January 30 those in the large trekking group were given their first day of rest, to 
wait for the split-off group. They were reunited in a village between Frankenstein and 
Gräditz. During the rest, a farmer’s wife caught a prisoner stealing a handkerchief from 
her washing line. She denounced him to the SS, and he was shot. The body was taken 
to the town hall, where there already was a cart loaded with prisoners killed en route. 34 
The small group was appalled by the deteriorating state of their comrades in the main 
group, whose diet had largely consisted of snow. The overall conditions were exacer-
bated by the now larger group. Karl Masseli, the SS man in charge of organizing quar-
ters and food, often made decisions with fatal consequences for the prisoners. He usu-
ally rode ahead on a bicycle to find a place for the night. 35 On the joint group’s first night 
together near Gräditz, Masseli distributed several groups among different barns. One 
group of one thousand prisoners was forced into a barn that could only hold two hun-
dred people. The SS simply shot some of the prisoners who did not fit into the build-
ing and left the remainder outside in the frost. Many either died due to overcrowding or 
froze to death outside. Those who survived the night in front of the barn suffered from 
severe frostbite and often lost several toes. The next morning, the SS ordered the prison-
ers to pile up the bodies of those shot the other night and add them to the ones who had 
died inside the barn. Dying inmates were placed on top of the pile and shot by the SS. 36

Casualties through overcrowding frequently occurred, when too many prisoners 
were forced into small barns. An average of sixty prisoners were trampled to death or 
slowly suffocated each night. Instead of offering some rest, the nights were thus almost 
unbearable. The survivor Leo Weiniger remembered during one such night that it was 
his birthday. When he mentioned this to a comrade lying next to him, the man told 
Weiniger a story as a gift: “That was the most beautiful birthday present of my life. This 
man was in the same physical and moral state as myself, and I don’t know how he found 
the strength to bring up something as wonderful as this. The storyline, his way of re-
counting it to me, were extraordinary, almost sanctified. Everything became blurred, I 
forgot about my pain and the hunger, there was only this voice telling me everything so 
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that I could picture it. In the end, I cried, something the SS had been unable to achieve 
with their blows.” 37

The following morning, he found that the storyteller had passed away.

M A S SACR E S OF U N F I T PR I SON E R S

Prisoners unable to walk began to be systematically massacred from January 23, when 
the main group had reached Neustadt (Prudnik). According to a Polish witness, who 
had been forced to dig graves, the SS shot them in a field close to the village Niemysło-
wice and buried them in Łaką (Gräflich-Wiese). The bodies of thirty-four men, who 
could be identified as Blechhammer inmates by the numbers on their uniforms, were 
exhumed by a Polish War Crimes Commission in spring 1946. The remains of another 
twenty-eight Blechhammer prisoners were found in the Jewish cemetery of Prudnik. 
In most cases, the postmortems revealed shots in the neck. 38 In Mittwaldau, unfit pris-
oners were taken to a rubbish dump on a cart and shot there. On another occasion, the 
SS asked local farmers to bring weak inmates into a forest on sleighs, so they could kill 
them with hand grenades. 39

Around January 31, somewhere between Gräditz and Schweignitz, the SS offered 
prisoners finding it difficult to walk a ride to Gross-Rosen on horse-drawn carts. Up 
to forty prisoners were on the carts when they suddenly left the main road. 40 Abra-
ham Schaufeld, who suffered from a painful cut in his foot, was among them. At dusk 
the carts stopped at a cemetery, and the SS told them to descend and get undressed. 
Grasping what awaited them, some of the inmates started to cry. Schaufeld quickwit-
tedly took cover behind a tombstone, while the others were shot. Bereft of his shoes, 
he made his way barefooted to a nearby farm and hid in a haystack. Around midnight 
the farmer discovered him and handed him over to the local police station. The po-
lice took him to the barn where his group had stayed overnight, and he continued the 
march the next day. 41 Hartog Tertaas also survived this massacre, with a shot in the 
stomach, and returned to the trek. 42

A R R I VA L I N G ROS S-ROSE N A N D 
BUCH E N WA L D, F E BRUA RY 2–7,  1945

It was on February 2 around midnight that the Blechhammer group reached Gross- 
Rosen. In a postwar statement, the Jewish elder Karl Demerer related that when they 
approached the concentration camp, Klipp offered him one of his pistols so he could 
escape with his son. Demerer declined out of solidarity with his fellow prisoners but 
never found a satisfactory explanation for Klipp’s unusual offer. 43
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From mid-January, Gross-Rosen had been transformed into a crucial transit and 
rerouting camp for tens of thousands of prisoners evacuated from Auschwitz and its 
satellites. The new camp annex for Auschwitz evacuees, Erweiterungslager Auschwitz, 
comprised ten still unfinished barracks in a muddy field that could not realistically ac-
commodate the masses of incoming prisoners. Extreme overcrowding, irregular food 
distributions, a lack of sanitary facilities, and endless roll calls made Gross-Rosen seem 
like a hell to the new arrivals. 44

On entering the blacked-out camp, the Blechhammer trekkers were greeted by the 
surreal scene of barefooted musicians playing Strauss while standing ankle-deep in the 
mud. Criminal Kapos from Gross-Rosen then viciously beat them into the barracks, 
which had been stripped of the usual bunk beds to hold more people. There was still 
barely enough room to stand. One of the Kapos caused a mass panic among a group of 
prisoners jammed into a barrack when he hit them with a shovel. Pushing toward the 
back of the barrack, they eventually broke through the wall. Laughing, the Kapo threw 
their bread rations into the barrack and disappeared, leaving many prisoners without 
any food. The next morning the prisoners were assembled for a roll call in a muddy court 
that lasted eighteen hours. They were constantly maltreated by a Kapo and SS men, who 
killed several prisoners, until bread and soup were distributed. Some inmates were so 
desperate, they electrocuted themselves on the wire. The sick and the dying were simply 
cast underneath the barracks, where water accumulated and they drowned. 45 Admit-
tance into the camp infirmary of Gross-Rosen was no longer granted, as it had reached 
the limits of its capacity with over three thousand inmate patients. The Auschwitz an-
nex lacked the urgently required facilities to treat sick prisoners. 46

During a roll call, Karl Demerer noted that eight hundred prisoners had perished on 
the march from Blechhammer to Gross-Rosen. A member of the SS rearguard platoon 
stated that there had been one thousand casualties. Another four hundred prisoners lost 
their lives during the five days in Gross-Rosen. 47 The bodies of the Blechhammer pris-
oners shot on the last leg of the march were later brought to the camp’s crematorium. 48

On February 7, the prisoners were taken to Buchenwald in open cattle cars. Apart 
from a single bread allocation when they boarded the train, they received no food 
during the four-day journey. The train reached Weimar during an air raid and was 
bombed. The prisoners took cover underneath the train or in a nearby field, and some 
managed to escape. The journey and the bombings caused another two hundred deaths. 
Following a foot march to Buchenwald, the prisoners were disinfected, shaved, and is-
sued new uniforms. As there were not enough uniforms left, some had to spend several 
days wrapped only in a blanket while waiting for their old clothes to be cleaned. Buch-
enwald was overburdened by the masses of evacuated incoming prisoners. The few bar-
racks of the so-called Little Camp (Kleines Lager) were operated at five times above 
their capacity, leading to deaths by suffocation. The prisoners also slept in washroom 
barracks and makeshift tents. The scanty food allocations often did not get through. 
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Some Blechhammer survivors reported that during their eight-day stay, they had lived 
on two servings of cold soup. The extreme conditions caused up to eighty deaths per 
day. Sick prisoners began to be murdered by lethal injections on a large scale. 49

The majority of the former Blechhammer prisoners were swiftly transferred to var-
ious subcamps of Buchenwald, Dachau, or Flossenbürg, and they often had to endure 
another death march, until they were liberated in spring 1945. 50 By order of Himmler, 
all remaining Jewish inmates of Buchenwald were evacuated to Terezín in April 1945. 
He later dismissed his plans to use them as hostages, and they were liberated by the 
Red Army. Only the Communist Jewish prisoners of Blechhammer managed to stay 
in Buchenwald, as they joined the camp underground movement’s insurgency leading 
to (self-) liberation. Among them were Peter Sturm, who had previously been interned 
in the camp in 1938, and Kurt Bachmann. 51

T H E F E M A L E PR I SON E R S

Over one hundred female inmates marched off from Blechhammer with the men on 
January 21. Dressed in male prisoner uniforms, they mingled with the men despite at-
tempts by the SS to keep them in a separate column in the front. 52 At night the women 
shared the quarters of functionary prisoners or the SS, and they thus had access to reg-
ular meals. Occasionally they were locked into sheds, and they seized the opportunity 
to drink warm milk from cows. Male friends or relatives often tried to support women 
struggling to keep up. The mother of a female prisoner was nevertheless shot on the 
first day of the march. 53 Precise numbers are not available, but a survivor estimated that 
almost all female prisoners had reached Gross-Rosen alive. 54 There, they were taken to 
overcrowded barracks with other female prisoners. The women fought for bread and 
only received some soup on the third day in the camp. Contrary to the men, none of 
the female inmates reported any violent assaults or hour-long roll calls. 55

From Gross-Rosen, the women were shipped to Buchenwald on February 7, together 
with the men. After a brief stay, they were transferred to Bergen-Belsen, a so-called re-
ception camp (Aufnahmelager) predominantly for female prisoners. From March 1944, 
Bergen-Belsen had mainly served as a collection point for unfit prisoners, who were 
left to die or were killed by lethal injections. By early 1945 it had become a camp for the 
dying (Sterbelager), where the prisoners awaited a slow and agonizing death from al-
most total neglect. Twenty-five thousand women evacuated from Auschwitz and its 
subcamps arrived in the camp between December 1944 and March 1945. The former 
commandant of Auschwitz-Birkenau, Josef Kramer, was installed in Bergen-Belsen. He 
further reduced the women’s food allocations. Starvation and typhus caused staggering 
mortality rates, with eighteen thousand deaths in March alone. A few days before the 
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camp was handed over to British troops on April 15, 1945, the food allocations stopped 
entirely, and the women were left without drinking water, as the SS refused to fix a wa-
ter pump after it was damaged by bombs. 56

Upon arrival in Bergen-Belsen, the female prisoners from Blechhammer were 
whipped, and they had to spend the first day in an open field in the snow. There was 
only a bucketful of rainwater to quench their thirst after the four-day train journey. 
In the evening, they were issued civilian clothes. The barracks were so full that some 
women slept outdoors. Apart from morning roll calls, they were left to themselves. Be-
ing unable to wash, the prisoners were infested with body lice. Soon many of them had 
contracted typhus and died of it without receiving any medical attention. The women 
were often so emaciated and weakened by starvation and illness that they were no lon-
ger able to stand or walk but could only crawl. Ida Russ, who had come from Blechham-
mer with her mother and sister, said that their suffering had been so immense that they 
had only prayed for death. They all had typhus but lived to be liberated by the British. 
However, Ida’s mother passed away after eating canned meat, and her sister died shortly 
afterward. Ida Russ was later sent to a sanatorium in Sweden, where she learned that 
her father and brother were still alive. 57

Precise death tolls are impossible to arrive at. A female survivor stated that most 
women evacuated from Blechhammer perished in Bergen-Belsen. 58 By transferring 
these fit women to Bergen-Belsen, the SS invariably destined them for death, as they 
were no longer required as a workforce. Following the cessation of mass killings by poi-
son gas, in camps like Belsen the survivors of the death marches were murdered by ex-
treme neglect. 59

F L IG H T S E N ROU T E

Historians disagree about whether there was a sweeping order to kill prisoners for es-
cape attempts on the march, as stipulated by the directive found in Stutthoff. 60 Pris-
oners in the Blechhammer trekking group were evidently not punished for trying to 
escape, either because there was no superior order to do so or because the camp leader 
did not execute it en route. Escaping was never easier than during the march, as the 
prisoners were often unguarded, and the SS had stopped counting them. However, in 
the wintry conditions escapees depended heavily on the support of the local popula-
tion, whose reactions were difficult to predict. 61 Although denunciations were com-
mon, “manhunts” for escaped prisoners, which occurred in parts of western Germany, 
were not corroborated. 62

Escapes were often related to extreme exhaustion. For these prisoners, the risk of 
falling out and being shot during the march seemed greater than escaping. The teenage 
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prisoner Felix G. thus spontaneously jumped into a ditch because he felt too weak to 
carry on. A German boy following the group as a “spectator” denounced him to the SS. 
He was rifle-butted back to the column, resulting in a partial loss of hearing. 63 Others 
hid in the haystacks of the barns they had spent the night in. The SS were well aware of 
this and searched the hay with their bayonets or hayforks each morning. Sometimes 
they fired off shots. The farmers were usually present, and most gave away hiding in-
mates. The screams of those stabbed or hit by a bullet could still be heard by the assem-
bled prisoners outside. 64 Policemen or the home guard checked the barns once more 
after the group’s departure; however, if they discovered escapees, they simply made 
them return to the march. 65

Those who remained undetected could rarely avoid encounters with the farmers. 
Three prisoners were even invited for dinner into a farmer’s house after he had found 
them in his barn. Unfortunately, the prisoners were noticed by a Wehrmacht soldier 
asking for food at the farm, who then added them to a group from Monowitz. 66 Mar-
cus Samuel Frank was handed over to the local mayor immediately after being caught 
on a farm. The mayor initially intended to portray himself as the prisoner’s “rescuer” to 
the advancing Soviet troops but then decided to send him to a prison in Breslau. Frank 
fled, hid once again in a haystack, but was discovered after one week because he was 
so weak that he fell off a ladder in the barn. He was arrested and interned in a Gestapo 
prison in Neisse. A few weeks later, he was taken to the Mauthausen and Dachau con-
centration camps. Frank escaped from another death march in spring 1945 and was fi-
nally liberated by US troops near Innsbruck in Austria. 67 Heyman Joseph Leefsma took 
the desperate decision to hide his father in a barn in the straw, as he had become too 
weak to walk without help, and Leefsma feared that the SS would shoot him. The sur-
viving son never learned what his father’s fate was. 68

The evacuation permitted some prisoners to finally put their escape plans into prac-
tice. A group of twenty teenagers had been organizing their flight from Blechhammer 
from late 1944. They stole civilian clothes from the tailor’s workshop but postponed the 
escape, as members of the group became sick. Some of these prisoners were among the 
split-off group that spent the night of January 23–24, 1945, in a sugar factory in Ober-
glogau. Two of them hid in an empty vat, put on their civilian clothes, and made it to 
the Russian front. 69 Similarly, Sam Silberberg managed to slip into a column of French 
POWs who passed by the Blechhammer group on January 26, because he had contin-
uously worn parts of a uniform given to him by a French POW at the OHW factory. 
Their highly paced march nevertheless made him pass out. His outfit was so convinc-
ing that retreating units of the Ukrainian Vlasov Army, who found him unconscious, 
carried him to a French field kitchen, where he received the first hot meal in days. Sil-
berberg then went to Neisse to be reunited with his mother, who was hiding in a mon-
astery. His father, who continued the march alone, did not survive. 70
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The unplanned escape of Henry S. exemplifies the importance of civilians as flight 
facilitators and rescuers. Henry had lost two toes to frostbite after two or three days of 
marching, and his foot began to turn septic. The SS ordered a guard to take him into a 
forest and shoot him. The two started a conversation on the way, and when the guard 
learned that Henry was only eighteen, he did not have the heart to kill him. He fired a 
shot in the air, shook Henry’s hand, and wished him good luck. Henry asked for help 
at a farm and was indeed taken in by a family, who hid him in their barn. For their own 
safety, they burned his prisoner uniform and clad the boy in a German military uni-
form, insisting he should pass himself off as an ethnic German. A few days later, Hen-
ry’s deteriorating health forced them to take him to a hospital. Nuns nursing the pa-
tients helped him to conceal his tattooed prisoner number with a bandage. Shortly 
after the patients’ evacuation to southern Germany, Henry recovered and volunteered 
in the hospital. Still pretending to be an ethnic German, he found himself in a dilemma 
when he was assigned to distribute food to a group of concentration camp prisoners in 
March 1945. He was terrified that there might be people among them who would rec-
ognize him. Henry only dared to reveal he was Jewish well after the arrival of Ameri-
can troops in April 1945. 71

T H E E VACUAT ION OF BL ECH H A M M E R I N CON T E X T

Blechhammer’s evacuation was characterized by extremes, ranging from massacres to 
the rescue of the infirmary patients. These events raise many questions, some of which 
will never be fully answered. In the havoc of the German retreat, camp leader Klipp ev-
idently seized on the temporary power vacuum to carry out or ignore superior orders at 
his own discretion. 72 His written order to leave the infirmary patients alive contradicted 
HSSPF Schmauser’s killing directive. Nevertheless, even the Wehrmacht soldiers and 
other auxiliaries followed Klipp’s instructions after his departure. Klipp’s latitude for 
action and far-reaching control seemingly rebut Blatman’s concept of a second wave 
of “local liquidation units” wielding “limitless power.” Presumably due to a source er-
ror, Blatman uses the example of atrocities allegedly committed in Blechhammer’s in-
firmary to support his argument. 73 Klipp’s order to shoot prisoners who refused to go 
on the march shows similarities to the preserved Stutthoff directive. It was the basis for 
the recurrent mass shootings of prisoners by SS men, the works police, and soldiers in 
the evacuated camp, and it instigated further acts of brutality.

In marked contrast to his efforts to safeguard the infirmary patients, Klipp had all 
unfit prisoners on the trek ruthlessly killed. Similar to the shooting of stragglers, it is 
unclear whether these murders were in response to superior orders or were randomly 
carried out by individual guards. 74 The fact that such atrocities were committed on 
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virtually all evacuation treks of concentration camps and the shooting orders were cor-
roborated by the guards of penitentiary subcamps and prisoner of war camps harden 
the assumption that higher authorities were behind them. 75

The deaths of prisoners caused by a lack of food and water, overcrowding, and hy-
pothermia probably occurred outside of the framework of written orders. 76 The rela-
tively bearable conditions in Blechhammer’s small split-off group seem to indicate that 
these mortalities increased with the number of prisoners on a trek and were connected 
to the poor organizational skills of the responsible SS guards.

The purpose of the death marches has generated controversy. Strzelecki posits that 
the paramount goal of the SS was to relocate Jewish laborers to the west in support of 
the war industry. 77 Scholars such as Yehuda Bauer and Eduard Kolb consider the death 
marches and reception camps a continuation of the genocide by other means when 
the gas chambers had ceased to operate. 78 From a gendered perspective, both conten-
tions are confirmed by the Blechhammer death march. Although one-quarter of the 
male prisoners was killed en route to Buchenwald, most survivors were almost imme-
diately allocated to work in industrial subcamps. By contrast, almost all female prison-
ers survived the march, but their transfer to Bergen-Belsen equaled a death verdict. The 
women were thus fully subjected to the alternative forms of mass murder described by 
Bauer and Kolb, whereas the male prisoners were kept alive as a labor force.



Epilogue

S U RV I V I N G 
B L E C H H A M M E R

A Look at Collective and Individual Strategies

B oth the Schmelt camps and the concentration camps were char-
acterized by total arbitrariness, excessive violence, and the policy of annihi-
lation. Coupled with malnourishment and privation, they often resulted in 

apathy and defeatism. The dehumanizing frame of reference contributed to a disinte-
gration of the prisoners’ personalities and affected their decision-making capabilities. 
Mental and physical survival thus strongly depended on finding ways of keeping one’s 
body and spirit intact. 1

The Blechhammer prisoners used a wide variety of collective and individual strate-
gies to improve their survival chances. These encompassed overarching structures un-
der the auspices of the Jewish elders, predominantly bribery and large-scale bartering, 
also with the SS. Trading, pilfering, and trafficking were crucial to individual inmates 
as well. Many prisoners established close contacts with other groups of foreign and un-
free laborers, who would give them food or pass on clandestine letters to their families. 
A small fraction of prisoners managed to escape or hide in other camps.

Mental strategies, also known as “spiritual resistance,” also played a role in coping 
with the camp conditions. The term refers to attempts to counterbalance dehumaniza-
tion and degradation in Nazi camps and ghettos through religious, nonreligious, cul-
tural, or educational activities. 2 However, its generalized assumption of inmate solidar-
ity does not sufficiently reflect the sharp dividing lines within the highly stratified camp 
population, as these practices were not always available to a broad mass of prisoners. 
Moreover, drawing on inner resources to survive was a very personal affair, which took 
different shapes in individuals and depended on their previous life experience. 3 These 
strategies included political resistance, religious practice, and the spreading of “good 
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news” about the course of the war. The production of clandestine artworks was a mix-
ture of both strategies, and it equally served as a means of preserving evidence of the 
events in the camp for posterity.

“A PAC T W I T H T H E DE V I L”: 
DE M E R E R’ S S Y S T E M OF BR I BE RY

In postwar testimony, Jewish elder Karl Demerer often prided himself on having saved 
vast numbers of inmates from certain death and on having improved the conditions in 
the camp by way of bribery. Numerous survivors confirmed that his preferred strategy 
had been to bribe the camp leader and other German functionaries with money and 
expensive gifts. Corruption was a typical phenomenon found in concentration camps 
and was equally commonplace in ghettos. It thus became a decisive factor in the rela-
tions between prisoners and German camp personnel. Bribery nonetheless could not 
alter the total arbitrariness prevailing in a camp system designed to subjugate and even-
tually murder the inmates. In a state of emasculation, the Jewish elder attempted to re-
gain a certain level of control over lower echelon German functionaries and might have 
succeeded in rescuing individuals at times. 4

However, it was an illusion to believe that the Nazis’ genocidal policies could be al-
tered in this way. Just like the heads of Jewish councils in the ghettos, Demerer must 
have been fully aware of the fact that sooner or later all prisoners would be sent to their 
deaths. His apparent talent for what survivors referred to as “diplomacy” notwithstand-
ing, Demerer was required to pay a high price for winning small victories. In postwar 
accounts of former Jewish functionaries, the impact of bribery was often greatly exag-
gerated, to the point that the real hierarchy of the camp was turned upside down. Along 
with bartering, bribes were regarded as the most crucial factors of survival, and they 
were inextricably linked to one another. In the memory of survivors, these two strate-
gies combined allegedly allowed the Jewish elder to gain sufficient control of German 
camp officials to avert maltreatment, punishments, and even executions. Relating “he-
roic” stories of daring and provocative behavior, such survivors conveyed the image of 
an almost invincible Jewish elder capable of saving prisoners at will.

Nonetheless, bribery was always Janus-faced, as the Germans coerced the Jewish el-
der to pay bribes. Corruption was thus used as another form of robbing the inmates of 
their last possessions, and it enabled the Germans to enrich themselves. 5 It is not sur-
prising then that Schmelt camp leaders were equally as susceptible to bribes as the SS, 
and the change of leadership following the Auschwitz takeover made no difference in 
this respect. A survivor pointed out: “We were not dealing with honest people, who 
would have been impressed by heroes, but with profiteers trying to avoid being sent 
to the front.” 6
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Under the threat that prisoners would be murdered or sent to Auschwitz, Demerer 
had to pay the first camp leader, Erich Hoffmann, a monthly “salary” of 500 RM and 
supply him with cognac and cigarettes. 7 The inmates even bought him a car to appease 
his violent temper. 8 The deputy Jewish elder, Jozef Niewes, described his daily “obliga-
tion” to procure alcohol for Hoffmann: “Each day he had long forgotten what he had 
been given the day before. If we did not bribe him, once again dozens of people would 
be killed. I gave him plenty to drink, and once he was intoxicated, I could get out the 
ones destined for the gas chambers. That was a nerve-wrecking task.” 9

After the Auschwitz takeover, the prisoners continued to give a fixed monthly sum 
to the new SS camp leader, Otto Brossmann, whose regular income averaged 285 RM a 
month. Brossmann demanded additional pricey gifts, like a fur coat for his mistress. The 
second-in-command and the head of the Political Department also received monthly 
payments of around 400 RM. Similarly, the criminal Kapo Walter Redock pressed the 
Jewish inmates into procuring alcohol or chocolate for him. 10 Occasionally the camp 
leaders gave the Jewish elder an ultimatum for paying large amounts of money: “One 
day, we received an order to collect 2,000 RM. They knew precisely we had money, 
and it had to be extended within so and so many days. If the money was not delivered, 
the whole camp would be punished within three days. Of course, the 2,000 RM were 
handed over, plus several liters of Jenever.” 11

Under Schmelt, the police guards often killed newly arrived prisoners so they could 
pocket their valuables. They also came into the barracks at night to take away the wed-
ding rings they were still allowed to wear. One guard infamously cut off the fingers of 
those unable to remove their rings fast enough. 12 The SS men also enriched themselves 
with the prisoners’ property. The survivor Maurits Broeks once watched an SS guard 
hide two bags containing three thousand diamonds underneath the roof of a barrack. 13 
Corruption was so widespread that the German camp personnel felt entitled to have the 
prisoners pay for gifts to their own families. In 1943 police guard duty officer Mareck 
thus expected Demerer to collect 1 RM from every inmate to pay for his daughter’s 
wedding. 14 Shortly before Christmas 1944, the SS camp leader Kurt Klipp announced 
that he would punish the whole camp unless the prisoners provided him with alcohol 
for the holidays. Demerer nevertheless tried in vain to procure the alcohol from the 
OHW’s “second economy” vendors. All prisoners were urged to find an alternative 
source. Eventually a teenage prisoner persuaded an ethnic German worker to sacrifice 
his personal reserve of three bottles, and Klipp was satisfied. 15

As Demerer was under constant pressure to collect the necessary bribes, a general 
fund was maintained to facilitate prompt responses to the camp leadership’s recur-
ring threats. Demerer thus regularly confiscated money from inmates gathering for 
gambling nights, and he pleaded with newly arrived prisoners to donate their valu-
ables. 16 Bartering nonetheless constituted the main source of money and goods. Brib-
ery and clandestine barter were interdependent in complex ways. Prisoners involved 
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in bartering were expected to contribute to the bribing fund, while the clandestine 
exchange of goods was made safer by bribing German guards, who let the respective 
work details pass unchecked. Those who were caught could often avert the filing of 
a penal report by offering their contraband goods to guards. The German camp per-
sonnel were typically eager to acquire luxury items they no longer had any access to in 

“first economy” markets due to war-related rationing, such as English cigarettes, choc-
olates, and perfumed soap, which the Jewish inmates obtained from British POWs. 17 
According to Jan T. Gross, the shortage of goods in combination with the discrimi-
nated against group of the Jews offering such desirable items as bribes, formed a cru-
cial basis for corruption. 18

In summer 1944 the Jewish work detail assigned to the Czech building company 
Smely, a commercial hub of Blechhammer’s “second economy,” was thrice threatened 
with being deported to Auschwitz. Suspecting that these prisoners possessed plenty of 
food that had been rationed in Silesia, the camp leader required Demerer to pay a ran-
som of US $5,000 so they could stay in Blechhammer. 19

The system of bribery promoted corruption in the camp itself, particularly in the 
infirmary. Certain prisoner physicians only treated patients in return for bribes and 
warned them of impending selections for Auschwitz. Drawing a line of continuity 
back to the ghettos, the poorer people, who were among the first to be sent to labor 
camps, were also more likely to fall victim to diseases and selections as prisoners. The 
corruption in the camp therefore exacerbated the cleavage between “privileged” in-
mates with access to valuables and desirable goods and those without the means to pay 
for medical aid. 20

It is difficult to judge the veracity of the overall effectiveness of the Jewish elders’ 
bribery. Demerer’s contention that his bribes had turned Blechhammer into a “sanato-
rium” certainly does not reflect the crude reality of the camp. Demerer and other Jew-
ish functionary prisoners frequently stressed that bribes had enabled them to carry out 
floggings themselves. The punishing inmates had merely pretended to hit their vic-
tims while leaving them unscathed. However, the delegation of corporal punishment 
to prisoners was ubiquitous in Nazi camps and therefore not related to corruption. 
Next to survivor testimonies stating that guards had often been bribed with cigarettes 
so they would leave the room where floggings were carried out and leave the victims to 
be spared the rest of the punishment, there were also accounts of severe or fatal beat-
ings. It was equally common that the guards or the camp leader took over if the flog-
gings were being carried out too leniently. 21 Altogether, bribery at best restrained some 
guards’ brutality for a while, but it rarely had the capability to prevent murders, execu-
tions, and Auschwitz transports on a larger scale. 22

In some cases, Demerer did indeed save individual prisoners, such as the teenage 
boys from the Eastern Upper Silesian ghettos passing through Blechhammer in summer 
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1943 who later formed the children’s detail. 23 He also averted the SS leadership’s plans 
to kill the female inmates, as they had been tattooed with the wrong numbers in April 
1944. In postwar testimony, Demerer delineated the delicate process of testing the new 
camp leader, Brossmann, for his susceptibility to bribes after the prisoners had collected 
jewelry and gold worth US $5,000:

I started to talk to him, and he suddenly asked, “Now, tell me Demerer, if I wasn’t 
camp commandant and you weren’t Jewish elder, who do you think would win the 
war?” I said, “Us, of course.” Then he looked at me and asked, “Who do you mean by 

‘us’?” “Us Germans, Herr Kommandant.” He pulled out his cigarette box, I remem-
ber it as if it were yesterday, and offered me a cigarette, lighted it for me and I smoked 
with him. I returned to the subject of the women: “Herr Kommandant, I need to 
ask you for a huge favor, please help me.” He said, “What do you want?” . . . “Leave 
the women in the camp. I found something I have to hand in to you anyway. It was 
hidden in the clothes depot (I could not tell him that I had collected the money and 
gold from the people, after all), among the old clothes taken away from people when 
they were given prisoners’ clothes I found a parcel with gold, and jewels, and dollars, 
I don’t even know how much it is, I didn’t count. It’s of no use to me, so you should 
take it, Herr Kommandant, maybe you need it, and perhaps you can do something 
for the women.” He looked at me in a strange way and said, “Where is the parcel?” I 
led him to the depot and gave him the parcel. He took it, opened it, had a good look 
at it all, put it in his pocket and said, “Does anyone else know about it?,” and I said, 

“No, Herr Kommandant, not a soul knows, just me.” “And you will keep quiet?” “I’ll 
keep quiet, Herr Kommandant, I give you my word as a former Austrian officer.” Then 
he said, “The women will stay.” 24

Demerer purportedly succeeded in saving another ten inmates from being sent to 
Auschwitz and prevented the executions of eight prisoners. 25 He seemingly also had the 
extremely violent SS block leader Paul Veittes transferred to another camp. 26 The sur-
vivor Joseph Braasem related that he had made use of Demerer’s bribing fund to with-
hold a sick transport to Auschwitz in 1944 to save his nephew, who was among the se-
lected patients. This incident was not corroborated by any other testimonies. 27

In late 1944, Jewish functionary prisoners intensified their relations with lower 
echelon SS men. On the initiative of the Jewish Kapo Max Goldfaden, the SS men 
were invited to gambling nights in the prisoners’ barracks. Among them was the in-
famously brutal Tom Mix, who was bribed in an unobtrusive way by the Kapos to ap-
pease him. Pretending to borrow gambling money from him, they paid him back with 
an added pack of cigarettes. The prisoners usually let the SS men win the card games 
and gave them plenty of drinks, hoping to get small favors from them. They were also 
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treated to exclusive goods obtained through bartering, like English cigarettes, meat, 
and sausages. 28 To regular inmates, these evenings seemed like “insanity at its peak”: 

“The bloodthirsty hangmen who terrorized us by day and night and might send us to 
the gas chambers tomorrow, were sitting there with us to play a game and have a chat, 
as if they were our best friends.” 29

As Gross has pointed out, bribery establishes a social bond. In a pernicious way, 
this was also true for the grotesque and uneven relationship formed between Jewish 
functionary prisoners and German camp personnel. The repercussions of corruption 
reached beyond liberation. In fall 1946 Demerer and the former cook Samuel Band 
were invited to Erich Hoffmann’s Munich apartment several times, purportedly to 
drink beer and smoke cigarettes together. Hoffmann apparently intended to urge the 
former Jewish elder to vindicate him in his pending denazification trial and also named 
him as a witness when he was charged with the murder of Blechhammer inmates in 
November 1946. Demerer ultimately became a witness for the prosecution and made 
it clear to the judge that his meetings with Hoffmann had not been of a “friendly” na-
ture, as the former camp leader had claimed. It is unclear how intense these postwar 
interactions between Demerer and Hoffmann were. A possible link might have been 
Hoffmann’s deputy, Pfeiffer, who, like Demerer, lived in Bayreuth in the immediate af-
termath of the war. The ties formed through bribery in the camp obviously prompted 
Hoffmann to demand such favors from former prisoners. Once again, corruption was 
coupled with blackmail. Hoffmann presumably threatened to incriminate Demerer 
in Dr. Ritter’s murder in 1943 if he did not comply. Demerer maneuvered himself out 
of this dilemma by calling on the support of other Blechhammer survivors, who testi-
fied on his behalf. 30

H E L P F ROM CI V I L I A N A N D U N F R E E WOR K E R S

Clandestine donations of food and clothes from civilian and unfree laborers consti-
tuted a crucial lifeline for the Jewish prisoners. Next to the material aspect, these ges-
tures of solidarity boosted their morale. Many established regular contacts or even 
friendships with those willing to provide aid. Nevertheless, only a small fraction of 
about 5 percent of the Jewish work details offered an opportunity for such contacts. 
The prisoners thus strove to be placed in these details and often shared the food with 
fellow inmates unable to meet other laborers themselves. 31

As of summer 1940, Blechhammer had three working parties of British and Do-
minion POWs from Stalag Lamsdorf. 32 Numerous survivor testimonies corroborate 
that they readily passed on food, items from Red Cross packages, and clothes to Jewish 
prisoners. 33 As they also helped Soviet POWs and Soviet civilian workers (Ostarbeiter), 



213SURVIVING BLECHHAMMER

their key motivation seems to have been to mitigate the palpable suffering of those 
attributed a low status in the Nazi racial hierarchy. Former British POWs often de-
scribed the misery of these groups, and especially of the Jews, in postwar accounts or 
life-writing. Explanations for extending their help were not normally given. 34

The image of British POWs as selfless and heroic rescuers of Jewish inmates, con-
veyed among others by John Castle’s 1954 autobiography about his time at Monow-
itz, The Password Is Courage, has recently been brought into question. The British his-
torian Russell Wallis argues that the POWs primarily donated their German rations 
to Jewish prisoners because they disliked this food and lived on what they received in 
Red Cross parcels instead. 35 The POWs unquestionably preferred the food in the par-
cels over the unpalatable German meals; however, Red Cross parcels were only distrib-
uted on a regular basis and in sufficient quantities from early 1943 and were the only 
source of nutrition after the stop of German allocations in late 1944. Moreover, inspec-
tors of the International Red Cross found that most British POWs in German captiv-
ity were underweight, and the prisoners frequently stated that they felt hungry. 36 This 
was the case even though they often gave to prisoners “luxury” items from their Red 
Cross parcels, like chocolates, cigarettes, and perfumed English soap, that they could 
have used to barter for extra food for themselves. These facts clearly point to a consid-
erable degree of altruism in the British POWs’ aid-giving.

In his study on the Monowitz subcamp, Joseph R. White construed British aid as 
a form of protest against the Nazis’ policy of dehumanization and the violation of hu-
man rights epitomized by the atrocious treatment of the Jews. 37 The Jewish prisoners 
commonly perceived the British POWs as extremely privileged, but they, too, inter-
preted their generosity as acts of solidarity. 38

Seeing the British as representatives of the western Allied forces, the Jewish pris-
oners occasionally even turned to them for help against German assaults. The survi-
vor Rachel Brukner Frydych significantly overestimated the British POWs’ influence 
on the Germans by ascribing the departure of Blechhammer’s first camp leader Erich 
Hoffmann to their intervention after the female prisoners had informed them of a col-
lective flogging in their camp. Hoffmann evidently had to leave his post as a result of 
the Auschwitz takeover in 1944. 39 However, the British POWs did openly demonstrate 
their contempt for the Jewish child labor practiced at the OHW. Apart from protesting 
loudly, all they could do was to shower the children with chocolates and sandwiches. 40 
The inextricable link between the material assistance British POWs provided to Jews 
and their overt rejection of Nazi ideology is underscored here. These incidents appar-
ently refute Wallis’s contention that British aid-giving to Jews had not been fused with 
political protest, as was the case in their support of Soviet POWs. 41

British aid was of particular importance to Jewish prisoners from the Netherlands. 
Unlike the Polish Jews, they could not draw on the support of civilian Polish workers, 
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as they did not speak their language. Most nevertheless had a good command of En-
glish, and some built long-term relations and even friendships with the British. Hessel 
Goldberg from Amsterdam, for instance, befriended a POW named Tommy, and they 
became so close that Goldberg felt he had cared for him “like a father.” 42

A special role was played by Jewish prisoners of war from Mandate Palestine, who 
had been captured in Greece or North Africa while volunteering to serve in the Brit-
ish Army. They formed separate working parties, but the British government made sure 
that they were treated in line with the Geneva Conventions. 43 Blechhammer had a “Pal-
estinian” detail from December 1941, whose camp was situated in Ehrenforst, near the 
later Schmelt camp. The POWs immediately connected with the Jewish inmates after 
their arrival in spring 1942. They passed on war news to them in Yiddish and Hebrew 
and supplied them with food. 44 These encounters were highly emotional for the Jew-
ish inmates: “One day in 1942, on the way to Dorflager, we saw a group of Jewish POWs 
wearing British uniforms. While passing us by, they told us they were Jews from Pales-
tine. In our misery, we could not imagine that there were indeed Jews left who did not 
share our plight. It was very moving and a moment of great joy.” 45

The POWs usually showered the Jewish inmates with bread and cigarettes during 
work. 46 Their attempts to throw food to the inmates when they were driven past their 
camp on trucks each morning were brutally thwarted by police guard duty officer Ret-
tinghausen. He fired several shots at the trucks one day and forced the drivers to take a 
different route thereafter. This was the only reported case of POWs being reprimanded 
for helping Jewish prisoners in Blechhammer. 47

The dangers involved in accepting food from POWs were invariably greater for the 
Jewish inmates. However, most of them felt that obtaining extra food outweighed the 
possible risk of being flogged, the usual punishment for such clandestine contacts. 48 
The British POWs were presumably aware of the negative repercussions their help could 
bring to Jewish prisoners. Wallis’s allegation that certain British POWs had only given 
food to Jewish inmates with the intention to inflict punishment or even death on them 
as a pernicious variant of anti-Semitism needs to be taken with a grain of salt. 49 His ar-
gument reduces the Jewish inmates to passive recipients of British aid and does not ac-
knowledge their autonomous decision-making capabilities, which might have been in-
fringed by starvation at times but still remained intact. 50 And after all, the “Palestinian” 
POWs, who were unlikely to have been motivated by a hatred of Jews or indifference to 
their plight, never refrained from helping the inmates due to concerns about their safety.

The psychological merits were presumably greater than the material benefits. 
R. Stop pelman stressed in postwar testimony that the food obtained from British 
POWs had not only sustained his brother and himself but encouraged him to perse-
vere. In postwar testimony, he expressed his gratitude to a POW whose identity was 
unknown to him: “An English prisoner of war gave me plenty of food. I took half of it 
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back to the camp for my brother, who did the same for me. That was the advantage of 
working in different details, one time he had something, and another time I did. This 
was a decisive factor in keeping up our spirits. Many thanks to this Englishman and the 
English! I will never forget this!” 51

Admittedly, not all encounters between Jewish inmates and British POWs were pos-
itive. A small fraction of Jewish survivors explicitly reproached the British for having 
denied them their support. However, even this apparent criticism simply reveals once 
more the central importance of British aid in the perception of Jewish prisoners and 
the sometimes exaggerated “moral” expectations projected onto the POWs. 52 Those 
relating negative experiences with POWs typically had no command of English at the 
time and might not only have been less successful in asking the British for food but were 
prone to misunderstand their answers. The French-speaking Jewish prisoner Nathan 
Prochownik was thus convinced that British POWs had called him names, while admit-
ting that he had had no knowledge of English then. 53 In a rare case, a British POW who 
had lost his family in an air raid started to attack Jewish prisoners. 54 Although a narra-
tive developed in wartime Britain that fused ancient anti-Jewish stereotypes with Jews 
as “war mongers,” leading some parts of the population to link the persecution of Eu-
ropean Jewry to economic motives, the POWs at no time supported the Nazi regime’s 
genocidal policy. Therefore, this POW’s behavior was possibly linked to post-traumatic 
stress rather than anti-Jewish sentiments. 55

Overall, former Jewish prisoners predominantly portrayed British POWs in a pos-
itive light, and many ascribed their physical and mental survival to their aid-giving. It 
is impossible to judge the veracity of these contentions; however, they seem to form 
part of a myth offering an explanation to the survivors themselves for having stayed 
alive while others perished. 56

Blechhammer maintained a penal commando unit of French prisoners of war from 
summer 1943, most of whom were punished for escape attempts. They experienced 
harsher living conditions than regular western Allied POWs but were still entitled 
to Red Cross parcels. 57 Although they stayed no more than two months in the com-
mando unit, some befriended Jewish inmates. French language skills naturally eased 
these encounters. 58 Jules Fainzang, a Polish Jew raised in Belgium, received a can of 
sardines on the first day he worked alongside a French POW, and the two became 
close friends. 59 The Belgian Jewish prisoner Leo Weiniger felt that the French penal 
POWs were more sympathetic than the British, as they had to endure hardships them-
selves. He appreciated their gestures of solidarity when they saluted Jewish details on 
the march to work. 60

Despite struggling for survival in the most adverse conditions themselves, the So-
viet POWs held in Blechhammer since September 1941 reportedly shared food with 
Jewish inmates. 61 The Jewish prisoners, in turn, also risked their lives to aid the Soviets. 
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Aron Goldfinger once gave a piece of bread to a Soviet POW who was so starved that 
he had begun to eat grass. Goldfinger was caught by an SS man, who threatened to send 
him to Auschwitz. His German overseer managed to talk the SS man out of making a 
report, but he still knocked out Goldfinger’s teeth with his rifle butt. 62

Foreign laborers of various nationalities conscripted for work at the OHW also 
aided Jewish prisoners. Their help was predominantly extended to prisoners originat-
ing from the same countries or able to speak their language. Many French STO (Ser-
vice de Travail Obligatoire) workers thus supported French Jews. 63 A Jewish inmate 
regularly received bread from Polish workers he still knew from his hometown, Dz-
ialozun. 64 Similarly, some Dutch laborers were ready to exchange money Dutch Jews 
had smuggled into the camp into Reichsmark to enable them to barter food. 65 Work-
ers of the Czech building company Smely, which had been a safe haven for Jewish pris-
oners during the construction of firehouses in summer 1944, continued to provide the 
Czech Jewish prisoner Ernest Koenig with bread, even after his detail had been de-
ployed elsewhere. Koenig managed to unobtrusively pick up the extra food each day by 
pretending that he had to transport a log to the Czechs that he carried on his shoulders. 
In retrospect, he considered the additional piece of bread a key factor of his survival. 66 
In early 1942 a foreman from Luxemburg eased the plight of twenty Jewish prisoners 
in his detail in a similar way by supplying them with leftovers from the German kitch-
ens at the plant every day. The food simultaneously improved the survival chances of 
other inmates, as the members of this detail shared their regular German food alloca-
tions with them. 67 A Jewish detail assigned to maintenance work in a foreign laborers’ 
camp at the Dorflager in 1943 was also secretly given food passed through windows or 
hidden in garbage bins. 68

Thousands of German civilian workers were confronted with the suffering of Jew-
ish prisoners every day. Possible motives for offering help could be a general dislike of 
the Nazi regime or political resistance against it. German Communist workers’ mate-
rial aid to Jewish inmates, for instance, was fused with political debate. 69 Others care-
fully eschewed discussing their political views, but they still conveyed their contempt 
for the Nazis by giving food to Jewish inmates or allowing them to sleep during work. 70 
An adverse attitude to the regime, however, did not always imply unwavering support 
of Jews. Despite alleging that he was an “anti-Nazi,” and that his cousin was imprisoned 
in a concentration camp, a master persistently threatened to have a Jewish inmate in his 
detail hanged for “sabotage.” He only refrained from reporting the prisoner because he 
was the only one who could understand his speech, which was impaired by damaged 
vocal cords. 71 An ethnic German worker who handed out bread to Jewish inmates out 
of compassion for their misery nevertheless made it clear that he considered the Jews 

“parasites” that should be removed from society. 72
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Giving leftovers to individual Jewish prisoners was not necessarily politically mo-
tivated. To the survivor Simon Grinband, receiving spare food from Germans, “like a 
beast is given a handful of hay,” symbolized his dehumanized status. 73 Along these lines, 
a group of Wehrmacht convalescents left their bread and soup rations to a Jewish pris-
oner they worked with, simply because the food was not to their taste. Unlike their 
master, who comforted the Jewish prisoner by telling him that the war would soon be 
over, the convalescents avoided personal contacts. 74 Another typical example of this 
attitude is that of a seventy-year-old Upper Silesian foreman, who left the crusts of his 
sandwich to the only German-speaking Jewish inmate in his detail, as he found them 
too hard to chew. 75 Often physically impaired or elderly German overseers rewarded 
prisoners with food for assisting them. A German invalid master used a Jewish pris-
oner as his personal assistant and gave him bread in return, while openly demonstrat-
ing his anti-Semitic sentiments by saying that the Jews were “terrible,” but the inmate 
in question was an exception. 76

Others had become disillusioned with the Nazi regime and started to help Jewish 
prisoners as a form of “revenge” for the loss of family members or their health. The Ger-
man master of a detail of electricians, supposedly a member of the Nazi Party, clandes-
tinely supplied the Jewish inmates under his supervision with food and clean clothes 
after his wife, his two sons, and his mother had perished in an air raid. When one of 
the inmates was wounded in a bombing, he arranged medical help for him from Brit-
ish POWs. 77 Similarly, an elderly master “retaliated” against the regime for his having 
sustained a jaw injury and losing two sons at the eastern front, by treating the inmates 
in a humane way. The master always demanded twice the number of prisoners he would 
have required for unloading bricks, so they could work in two shifts. While one group 
was working, the other was allowed to rest and received food from him. 78

With the Red Army advancing westward, the Jewish inmates noticed that higher 
echelon German employees tried to appear more “friendly.” To their astonishment, a 
group of inmates ordered to fix broken windows in an office of the OHW administra-
tion after an air raid were offered sandwiches and apples. However, the prisoners were 
apprehensive about touching the food, as they expected to be accused of theft after-
ward. Eventually some office workers handed the food to them directly, while pretend-
ing to be shouting at them. They seemingly did this to be protected against denuncia-
tion from colleagues. 79 German help occasionally entailed punishment for the Jewish 
prisoners. A civilian worker passed on two kilograms of bread to a Jewish inmate so he 
could distribute it among the children in his detail. The inmate was caught, a penal re-
port to Auschwitz was made, and he was flogged. 80

In summary, German help was interwoven with a complex network of compliance 
and collaboration with the regime and rarely the result of genuine resistance to it. As 
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Doris Bergen has pointed out, the dividing line between “rescuers” and “perpetrators” 
was often blurred, and the one did not necessarily contradict the other. 81

CL A N DE S T I N E L ET T E R S A N D PA RCE L S

Jewish inmates from Eastern Upper Silesia were permitted to receive letters and parcels 
from their families in the ghettos until the end of 1942. Following protests by the next 
of kin of prisoners who had learned of the abhorrent conditions they had to endure, 
the Jewish Councils regularly sent parcels with food and clothes to Schmelt camps as 
well. 82 By contrast, Jews from western Europe arriving in Blechhammer from October 
1942 were prohibited from corresponding with the outside world. The lack of extra pro-
visions resulting thereof increased their risk of starvation or of contracting diseases like 
pneumonia. 83 Most of the men pulled out of deportation trains in Cosel were aware 
that their next of kin were not alive anymore. However, some still had family mem-
bers in western Europe living in mixed marriages or in hiding, as well as non-Jewish 
friends whom they tried to contact. As the official way of communicating by mail was 
barred, the Jewish inmates approached civilian workers from their home countries, 
asking them to smuggle out letters in return for money or goods. Whenever a civilian 
worker was due to go on a holiday back home, the exchange could be arranged. A lo-
cal farmer even turned his house into a clandestine “post office” through which all cor-
respondence passed. The civilian couriers facilitated the influx of news from the out-
side world. Apart from asking for material support, it was of great importance to the 
inmates to learn about the fate of their family and friends at home, while sparing them 
details of their lives in the camp. It was nevertheless only a minority of prisoners who 
regularly sent and received mail. 84

Occasionally, German civilian workers offered to mail letters abroad from Up-
per Silesia using their own addresses. 85 The Jewish prisoner Maurits Stodel used sev-
eral Dutch couriers between December 1943 and June 1944 to contact his non-Jewish 
sister-in-law Mina in Amsterdam. He wrote letters on empty cement sacks that he then 
passed on to Dutch workers going on holidays. As Stodel did not have the means to pay 
the couriers in advance, his sister-in-law was obligated to remunerate them, usually in 
the form of shaving blades and soap. Stodel managed to be sent parcels with food and 
warm clothes by Mina on a weekly basis. In a postwar interview, he was moved to tears 
when delineating the couriers’ efforts to establish this lifeline for him. He also acknowl-
edged the considerable risk his sister-in-law and his brother, a member of the Dutch 
underground movement, had been willing to take and stressed that the food parcels 
had not only helped to secure his physical survival, but had also strengthened his will 
to endure the hardships of the camp. 86
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Some Jewish prisoners, like Felix G., found an opportunity for writing letters but 
had no surviving relatives or friends. Help could nevertheless come from unexpected 
sources. As Felix’s family had been deported with him from Belgium, he could think of 
no one else to write to than a former math teacher from Brussels he had admired during 
his school years, when a Belgian worker offered to smuggle out a letter prior to going 
on his holidays. Two weeks later, Felix was overjoyed to receive a parcel with choco-
lates, cookies, cigarettes, and canned meat from the teacher. 87

Clandestine letters were often the last signs of life their next of kin got from prison-
ers, as illustrated by the case of Maurice (Moritz) Young. The Young family had Czech 
roots and had settled in Vienna but had to leave the country following Austria’s annex-
ation by Nazi Germany in March 1938. Maurice emigrated to Paris and the rest of the 
family to the United Kingdom. Maurice was deported to Auschwitz and eventually 
transferred to Blechhammer, where he met the British POW J. A. Fox. Fox consented 
to pass on a message to Maurice’s relatives in Britain with the help of his sister at home. 
His sister was indeed able to contact Maurice’s family and sent a reply to her brother, 
who had been transferred to another camp in the meantime. Fox returned to Britain 
after the war, whereas Maurice’s fate remains unknown. Desperate to learn more about 
his whereabouts, the Young family wrote to Fox directly and on May 23, 1945, received 
the following letter from him:

I saw Maurice with a party digging air-raid shelters. We started a conversation when 
Maurice asked if I knew Sheffield. You must understand that it was a Jewish lager, so 
he was not allowed to write to anyone, that is why I had to be careful how I wrote, 
or else it would not have gone through. I was moved to another lager after fourteen 
days, and I made enquiries about some Jews he worked with after receiving my sis-
ter’s letter. As my sister told you, we were forced to march. I’m afraid that a lot of the 
Jews weren’t strong enough to do it, but I cannot tell you what happened to them. 
The camp Maurice was in was the Jewish lager Blechhammer O.S. The camp was de-
serted on January 29, I last saw him in May 1944. 88

Although Maurice was never found by his family and presumably perished in the 
Shoah, his example illustrates how couriers, like J. A. Fox, facilitated the spreading of 
information from inside the Nazi camps to the outside world and enabled Jewish pris-
oners to circumvent the ban on communicating with friends and relatives.

Some couriers took advantage of the prisoners’ precarious status and pocketed the 
money or valuables handed over by relatives, while making the intended recipients be-
lieve that they had not received anything. 89 The Dutch Jewish prisoner Samuel Abrams 
was even told by a worker from the Netherlands whom he had paid for delivering a let-
ter to his mother, who lived in a mixed marriage, that she had been deported. As his 
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mother was his only remaining family member, Abrams was devastated. When he re-
turned home after the war, he learned that his mother had lived in her house all the 
time, and the driver had never gone to see her. 90 A French STO likewise embezzled 
parcels passed on to him by the wife of a Jewish inmate living in France. He even wrote 
false letters to her in the inmate’s name to receive more goods and money. The STO 
only aroused the woman’s suspicion when he asked her for cigarettes, unaware that her 
husband was a nonsmoker. 91

Even if the couriers worked according to plan, the risk of being caught by German 
guards remained. The prisoner Paul Weil, for example, was reported to Auschwitz 
when a French civilian laborer picked up a letter for him. 92 Another prisoner was pur-
portedly hanged for having written to the Hungarian ambassador to complain about 
the conditions in the camp. 93

E SC A PE S

Under Schmelt and Auschwitz alike, prisoners were killed for escape attempts. The 
only difference was that during the Schmelt camp phase, the respective offenders were 
murdered on the spot, whereas the SS men were required to obtain formal permission 
for an execution from Berlin. Collective punishments were common in both systems. 
Sources corroborate three unsuccessful flight attempts in 1943, all resulting in the pris-
oners’ deaths.

A young inmate hid inside the camp to escape at a later point in time. While the 
Wehrmacht guards were searching for him, all male prisoners were flogged. When the 
hiding prisoner had been found a few hours later, the prisoners were ordered to assem-
ble once more to watch as camp leader Hoffmann set his dog on him in a deadly attack. 94 
A particularly tragic escape attempt was made by a juvenile convalescing from typhus 
on September 13, 1943, who fled from the camp infirmary the night before he was sup-
posed to be sent to the gas chambers of Auschwitz. Hoffmann had all Jewish physicians 
and medical orderlies flogged and threatened to send five of them to Auschwitz if the 
boy was not retrieved in time for the transport. The unfortunate prisoner was found 
a short while later. Before being forced to climb onto the truck to Auschwitz, he was 
severely mistreated. 95 In late 1943 two prisoners trying to escape when their transport 
from Königshütte (Chrzanów) arrived at Blechhammer were caught, and Hoffmann 
had them killed using the infamous death bath procedure. 96

At least eleven escape attempts could be established for the Auschwitz subcamp 
phase, seven of which apparently succeeded. Considering the much stricter precautions 
taken by the SS against escapes, these numbers are astonishing. The tattooed numbers 
and shaved heads thwarted flights, and only few prisoners still dared to put their escape 
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plans into action. Moreover, most inmates were no longer in a physical or mental state 
to cope with a flight situation. Successful escapes strongly depended on the assistance 
of civilians, with whom prior arrangements had to be made. 97

Shortly after the takeover of April 1944, a French Jewish prisoner fled from his 
work detail. The new SS administration evidently intended to set a deterrent example 
to the other prisoners by making them stand at the factory gates for hours while guards 
searched the territory with dogs. Rumors spread among the intimidated prisoners that 
they would be severely punished, perhaps even sent to the gas chambers. When the es-
capee had not been found before dusk, the details had to return to the camp. Instead 
of being allocated their soup rations, the prisoners were collectively punished with a 
roll call lasting all night. Around midnight, the first inmates collapsed from exhaus-
tion. Hungry and cold, they were marched straight off to work the next morning. On 
their return in the evening, they received some soup but were immediately taken back 
to work again, after almost thirty hours without sleep. The escaped prisoner was pre-
sumably never found. 98 In September 1944 Samuel Montag escaped from the factory 
using to a premeditated plan he had worked out with the Polish civilian laborer Jerzy 
Grzybowski from his hometown, Będzin. Grzybowski knew Montag’s family, who 
lived in Będzin under an assumed identity, and regularly passed on bread from them. 
He was ready to facilitate Montag’s escape, so he could hide with his relatives. Mon-
tag seized one of the frequent air raids to run into a nearby forest and change into the 
civilian clothes deposited there by Grzybowski. After nightfall, Grzybowski led him 
to the hideout, where Montag remained until the end of the war. Grzybowski was de-
clared a Righteous Among the Nations by Yad Vashem in June 1989. 99 Similarly, a pris-
oner from Olkusz escaped with the help of his foreman, with whom he had established 
friendly relations. Despite being interrogated and beaten by the SS, the members of his 
work detail did not betray his whereabouts. 100

The risk of being caught was high, and those acting as flight facilitators were not al-
ways trustworthy. A Czech foreman who promised civilian clothes to a prisoner intend-
ing to flee eventually denounced him. He and a fellow prisoner who were supposed to 
deliver the clothes to him were detained by the SS and told that they would be hanged. 
It was only thanks to the Jewish elder’s bribing fund that the SS refrained from report-
ing the incident to Auschwitz, and the two were released. 101 Chil Feder’s painstakingly 
planned escape was canceled when the SS found 500 RM and a forged photo ID card 
with his name on it with his comrade Josef Lajtner, who had procured the money and 
false papers from a German civilian in exchange for fifteen diamonds. It is unclear 
whether the German reported the two prisoners to the SS, but he took advantage of the 
situation by embezzling two-thirds of the money he had received for the diamonds. 102

During air raids, the German workforce often left their belongings behind un-
guarded. Some prisoners seized these opportunities to escape with the help of stolen 



222 FROM SCHMELT CAMP TO “LITTLE AUSCHWIT Z”

ID cards and clothes, without the risk of involving a third party. 103 The workers’ care-
lessness was lifesaving to a prisoner from Wadowice, whose foreman had reported him 
to Auschwitz after an argument. Fearing that he would be sentenced to death, the pris-
oner did not return to the camp but spontaneously grabbed civilian clothes and took 
off from the factory. The other prisoners had to stand on the assembly court until the 
SS announced hours later that the escapee had been found. To his great surprise, a sur-
vivor learned years later that the escape had succeeded, when he met the former pris-
oner in Poland after the war. 104

In late 1944 three inmates escaped on a truck, and the whole camp was punished 
with a roll call lasting two days. Two of them were caught and hanged in December 
1944. 105 On another occasion, the SS tormented a recaptured escapee by placing a card 
around his neck reading “I am back again” and making him call out this phrase while 
crawling over the assembly court on all fours. 106

One day before the evacuation, on January 20, 1945, there was a last, evidently suc-
cessful, flight from the camp during a Soviet air raid. 107

H I DI NG A MONG P OL I SH L A B OR E R S: 
T H E SA N DBE RG S

An unusual story of survival is that of the Jewish couple Jenny and Abe Sandberg, who 
smuggled themselves into a Polish workers’ camp in Blechhammer. Using forged pa-
pers, they had fled from the Częstochowa ghetto prior to its liquidation in 1942. Pre-
tending to be non-Jewish Poles, they applied to the local employment agency for work 
and were sent to Blechhammer. Unlike the other Poles, the Jewish couple could not 
rely on food parcels from relatives at home, and they had to live on the scanty amount 
of money and ration stamps they received for their work. An ethnic German’s remark 
that Jenny had “Jewish looks” aroused the others’ suspicions, and she was ostracized. 
As no one wanted to work with her anymore, she volunteered for cleaning chores and 
teamed up with another “outcast,” a woman with a limp. The ethnic German continued 
to harass the couple and eventually denounced them to the Gestapo. The Sandbergs 
assumed that he had done this to appear more “German.” Fortunately they managed 
to convince the Gestapo officer interrogating them that they were Poles. The Polish 
workers became more friendly after this and shared some of their food with them. One 
day a non-Jewish friend of her family recognized Jenny. A Communist friend of her 
husband immediately intervened, threatening to kill the man if he did not keep quiet. 
Jenny was pregnant and would have been killed if her Jewish identity had been disclosed. 
She eventually gave birth to a healthy daughter in a hospital in May 1943. The German 
midwife was not sympathetic; however, Jenny was comforted by a nun, who suggested 
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she name the baby Maria. The child was taken care of in a nursery for foreign labor-
ers’ babies, so Jenny could resume her cleaning duties. The baby was treated compar-
atively well, and Jenny was permitted to visit her after work. Like the other Polish la-
borers, the Sandbergs were not evacuated from the OHW in January 1945 but awaited 
the arrival of the Red Army. 108

T H E E XCH A NG E OF “G O OD N E W S ”

In a report to the Gestapo in February 1943, the OHW’s counterintelligence officer, 
Dr. Heinrich Schlick, rated the British POWs as the group constituting the greatest 
security threat to the works. In line with Nazi ideology, Schlick blamed the Jews for 
inciting acts of “sabotage” among the British by spreading war news: “Due to their in-
telligence and close contacts to other foreigners, something that cannot be avoided on 
a giant construction site, they [the Jews] pose a considerable risk in terms of counter-
intelligence. Therefore, we are presently contemplating to have them exchanged, es-
pecially when taking into consideration . . . that their work productivity is so low.” 109

In reality, the exchange of news was a reciprocal affair. British POWs frequently re-
layed the latest BBC news they had received with their secret wireless radios to Jew-
ish inmates, who in turn passed on what they had heard from foreign or German la-
borers. 110 These multifaceted contacts allowed the Jewish prisoners to keep updated on 
crucial turning points of the war, like the Italian surrender, the D-Day landings, the as-
sassination attempt on Hitler, and the Soviet advance. 111 Reports indicating German 
defeat and a timely liberation strongly fostered the prisoners’ will to survive. 112 Their 
enthusiasm was nevertheless tainted by the uncertainty of whether they would live to 
see the end of the war. 113

When French POWs broke the news of the Allied landing of June 1944 to a group 
of French-speaking Jewish inmates, they joined in their euphoria. The Jewish survivor 
Jules Fainzang recalled how the German guards temporarily lost control following a 
POW’s exclamation that Paris had been liberated: “They were all dancing on the tables, 
and I cried with joy. . . . Although the situation got worse for us, the advance of the Red 
Army and the Allies strengthened our courage.” 114

In addition to speaking or listening to other laborers, the Jewish prisoners gath-
ered information from German newspapers that they secretly peeked into during work 
breaks or fished out of garbage bins. They often fought over newspapers that had been 
smuggled into the camp. 115 In a rare case, a Jewish prisoner risked his life when he ac-
quired a radio from a French STO to listen to the BBC. 116 In the barracks, heated de-
bates ensued about the correct interpretation of German military reports. 117 Veterans 
of the First World War among the prisoners were even attacked for doubting the overly 
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positive prognoses of younger comrades: “If someone gave a non-optimistic progno-
sis, he would not be talked to anymore, for optimism was crucial to our morale.” 118 The 
firm belief in exaggerated “good news” about the alleged end of the war was a form of es-
capism characteristic of the Nazi camps. As the prisoners could not hope to be released 
one day, they had no future to look forward to and consequently were prone to apa-
thy and losing their sense of time. Liberation narratives motivated many to persevere. 119

Under the SS, the barracks were regularly searched for newspapers. A prisoner was 
severely maltreated simply for having used a piece of a paper as a handkerchief. 120 In Au-
gust 1944 Dr. Schlick, together with Blechhammer’s Political Department, attempted 
to charge the Jewish Kapo Max Voss with sabotaging the war effort. Voss had relayed 
news from foreign stations passed on to him by the Wehrmacht soldier Ernst Meyer to 
fellow prisoners and POWs. In their report to Auschwitz, the OHW deputy director 
and the head of the Political Department claimed that Voss had undermined the POWs’ 
work morale and strengthened their “spirit of resistance.” Max Voss was sentenced to 
twenty-five lashes as a result. The soldier was interrogated by Dr. Schlick but appar-
ently not reprimanded. 121 The OHW management and Nazi authorities were aware of 
German workers asking Jewish prisoners for war news, as they did not trust the official 
radio broadcasts or newspapers anymore. In January 1945, Dr. Schlick even suggested 
to the propaganda officer SS Obersturmbannführer Kügler publishing at least some 
real facts, deeming this measure less harmful than not reacting to the news spread by 
foreign laborers and prisoners. 122 Jewish prisoners nevertheless were cautious in their 
conversations with Germans and tried not to confront them with too many unpleas-
ant developments. 123 Nonetheless, the survivor Louis Waterman dared to tell his Ger-
man overseer that Germany was facing defeat: “‘We can’t lose with Hitler and Göring,’ 
the Meister said. I answered that they were only two men, and he laughed. In the eve-
ning, he returned with a letter saying his house had been bombed. He admitted that I 
might have been right.” 124

Especially toward the end of the war, some German OHW workers openly demon-
strated their support of the Allied advance. A German overseer thus informed a Jew-
ish prisoner in his detail of the D-Day landing and reassured him that he would soon 
be able to go home. 125

SPI R I T UA L I T Y

Contrary to other unfree laborers, concentration camp prisoners and the inmates of 
Schmelt camps were forbidden to hold religious services, to gather for prayers, and any 
other form of practicing their religious beliefs. Religious artifacts brought into camps 
by the inmates were confiscated and destroyed. Moreover, the Nazis frequently used 
Jewish holidays to stage executions or collective punishments, and observant Jews were 
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prevented from fasting on Yom Kippur under allegations of “sabotaging” the German 
war effort. The coalescence of “racial” anti-Semitism with anti-Judaist violence explic-
itly directed against religious symbols, including the desecration and burning of syna-
gogues, epitomizes the massive impact of thousands of years of metaphysical relations 
between Jews and non-Jews. The Nazis’ “racial” anti-Semitism was inextricably linked 
to the religiously motivated Christian anti-Semitism of the past and adopted its de-
monizing images of Jews. 126 In Blechhammer, a minority of observant Jews were jux-
taposed with a majority of inmates who, whether or not they had been raised in a Jew-
ish religious home, were not practicing their religion or remained indifferent. Some 
lost their faith while witnessing barbaric acts of cruelty committed by the Germans 
in ghettos and camps; others turned to religion to find consolation. Religious life was 
possibly more widespread in camps than is revealed by testimonies and took on multi-
faceted forms. Reducing religiousness to acts of “spiritual resistance” and martyrdom 
elides the central importance of religious practice in a narrative of individual survival. 127

Religious gatherings had to be held in secrecy. During the Schmelt camp phase, 
camp leader Hoffmann frequently had religious artifacts, such as phylacteries (tefilin), 
confiscated and buried on the camp’s rubbish dump. However, the religious prisoners 
stoically dug them out and reused them. 128 One of the camp policemen and head of 
the burial detail, known as the shister, regularly invited rabbis and other observant in-
mates to his room, where he clandestinely kept tefilin and a prayer shawl (tallith). Cu-
riously, the shister was not religious himself, yet he took the risk of facilitating prayer 
services. To the religious prisoners the opportunity for prayers offered a chance for re-
taining their self-respect in a dehumanizing environment. 129 On Friday nights, Shabbat 
services were held in numerous barracks. The prisoners set a watch to warn them of pa-
trolling guards. The Jewish elder’s son, Heinrich Demerer, related that he had been in-
vited to join the Shabbat prayers of French Jewish inmates when he happened to pass 
by their barracks. Hesitant at first, as he did not know any French prayers, he stayed 
with them the whole evening and pledged to return the following week. However, not 
all observant prisoners tolerated the presence of nonreligious comrades during their 
prayer times. 130

The female prisoner Gucia Ferst retained her usual prayer routine in the mornings 
and in the evenings, believing that God would help her to survive. Her unbroken faith 
inspired other women, who gathered around her to reconnect to traditional forms of 
spirituality they had known from home, to what they referred to as yiddishkayt. On Fri-
days they got together in their barracks, exchanging memories of the way the Shabbat 
had been celebrated in their families. Keeping track of upcoming holidays also helped 
prisoners maintain a certain sense of time. 131

On Yom Kippur, many of the religious prisoners tried to keep the traditional fast, 
and they sold their bread rations to fellow inmates for cigarettes. The Jewish elder had 
food rations distributed early on such occasions to enable the observant to eat before 
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the beginning of the fast. However, aware of the high holidays, the German guards at-
tempted to prevent them from fasting. On Yom Kippur 1943, police guard duty offi-
cer Mareck personally checked that everyone finished their rations and punished those 
who disobeyed by withholding their food stamps. In 1944 the SS administration chose 
the Day of Atonement for a particularly traumatizing hanging. After the execution, 
those refusing to collect their food rations were viciously maltreated by the guards. 132

As the representatives of an anti-religious ideology, the SS frequently humiliated 
observant Jews by questioning the existence of a deity. 133 When a new transport of Pol-
ish Jews, many of whom were religious, arrived in Blechhhammer, the SS confiscated 
their prayer books and artifacts, piled them up, and set them on fire. Some tried to res-
cue pages of Scripture from the flames, while others exclaimed in despair that there 
was no God if he allowed this to happen. Eventually a Blechhammer prisoner who had 
witnessed the scene convinced them that the SS merely intended to rob them of their 
dignity and that their faith did not depend on the possession of religious artifacts. 134

Christmas was one of the rare occasions on which the prisoners received meat. It was 
typically pork and therefore was rejected by some religious prisoners. Others deemed 
it acceptable to eat nonkosher food in order to survive. 135 While nonobservant prison-
ers often reproached the religious ones for gratuitously risking their lives by attempt-
ing to adhere to a kosher diet, this proved advantageous at times. When the SS distrib-
uted artificial sausages to test them on the prisoners, the religious inmates abstained 
from eating them, and thus they were not affected by the severe digestive problems that 
soon afflicted the other prisoners. 136

It has been suggested that observant prisoners found it easier to cope with the ev-
eryday atrocities experienced in camps, as they were able to integrate these events into 
a long-standing history of suffering of the Jewish people and perhaps even accepted 
them as a form of divine punishment. This included the notion of sacrificing one’s life to 
sanctify the name of God, known as Kiddush ha-Shem. 137 However, Kiddush ha-Shem, 
a form of martyrdom in response to forced conversion in the Middle Ages, intrinsically 
differed from the situation of Jews under the Nazis. As Steven T. Katz has pointed out, 
the Nazi genocidal policy precluded “a separation of the Jew from Judaism,” denying 
conversion as an option to save one’s life. Nazi racial laws aiming to eradicate the Jew-
ish people, not merely Jewish religious and cultural life, did not discern between prac-
ticing and secular Jews, and both were murdered indiscriminately. 138

In (ultra-) orthodox thinking, the reality of the Holocaust was shaped by the meta-
historical reality of Scripture. The Nazis were considered the evil tools in God’s hands 
to punish the nonobservant Jews. Some believed that their plight could only be ended 
by repentance (teshuvah). 139 Numerous Blechhammer inmates with a religious upbring-
ing were confronted with severe theological crises or a complete loss of faith while in 
the camp. Sam Silberberg, then a teenager, began to reject his ultraorthodox father’s 
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interpretation of the Holocaust as part of a divine plan, and he found the idea of the 
Germans claiming the same God as the Jews unbearable: “I could not make use of the 
notion of one God at a time when the Wehrmacht . . . had the inscription on their belt 
buckle ‘Gott mit uns.’” During the death march, his father’s spirituality nevertheless 
constituted a source of hope, until he decided not to flee with his son, as the two of 
them had planned to do a long time before the march. Feeling obligated to commem-
orate the anniversary of a relative’s death according to religious laws, the father contin-
ued the march alone, while Sam Silberberg escaped. When he learned that his father 
had perished, he blamed his piety for his death. 140

Even to religious prisoners, the brutality of the camps was hard to reconcile with 
their beliefs. 141 In the aftermath of the hanging on Yom Kippur in 1944, for instance, 
a dispute arose among a group of orthodox Jews on whether God could exist if he al-
lowed such acts of cruelty to happen. 142 While some of the pious prisoners were bereft 
of their faith, individual nonreligious inmates returned to their spiritual roots to feel 
closer to family members they assumed were dead. Reciting Yiddish prayers from their 
childhood was a way of commemorating their next of kin, and it gave them some com-
fort. The survivor Nathan Prochownik compared his prayers to “bottled messages cast 
into the ocean,” hoping these would somehow reach his family, if he entered into a di-
alogue with the God, who had allowed them to be murdered but spared his own life:

At night in the block, I was overwhelmed by a sinister sense of foreboding that my 
parents and siblings were dead. I felt an immense loneliness that would remain with 
me forever. I pondered whether there was a Supreme Being. . . . One evening I felt 
the desire to pray in Yiddish and to use the colloquial words I had heard from my 
mother, when she expressed her joy or anger, and also when she had implored the 
Lord. Perhaps I would be reunited with her and the rest of the family through the 
agency of this being above us that was so hard to perceive? 143

Faced with death, even nonreligious prisoners commonly fell back on some form 
of ritual practice. A member of the bomb-clearing detail, for instance, recalled that he 
had always “trusted in God” while handling delay-action bombs. 144 Moreover, certain 
events related to the violent deaths of Nazis were construed as manifestations of “di-
vine judgment” by the broad mass of the nonobservant camp inmates. One such occa-
sion was a direct hit on a shelter reserved for German staff during an air raid, killing ev-
eryone inside. Only minutes before the bomb fell, a group of Jewish prisoners had been 
chased out of that shelter. An inmate who witnessed the scene remarked to his friend, 

“‘You know, I’m gonna start believing in God again. A hundred times we escaped death, 
but this was direct intervention.’” 145 Another time, members of the Hitler Youth were 
driven past a detail of Jewish prisoners, and they started to chant Nazi slogans. One of 
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the boys jumped off the truck before it had come to a halt and was fatally hit by the ve-
hicle. Many prisoners perceived this as a divine punishment. 146

Jules Fainzang, who was not observant himself but had received religious tuition in 
a cheder as a child, was eager to share his knowledge of the Bible with others lacking this 
education. Among his “students” was the prisoner physician Dr. Iwanter, who had con-
verted to Catholicism early in life. Fainzang’s biblical stories served a similar purpose 
as the recounting of novels or movies he was familiar with — namely, to ease the stren-
uous foot march between the camp and the factory by distracting himself and fellow 
inmates. He also alluded to biblical figures in difficult situations, a phenomenon com-
monly found among religious inmates. For example, while the prisoners were toiled up 
a steep hill, he narrated the story of Moses and the exodus from Egypt. 147

P OL I T IC A L R E S I S TA NCE : COM M U N I S T S

Blechhammer had a small yet influential group of up to four active Communists. They 
never managed to rally other prisoners behind their cause, mainly because most of 
their comrades were too exhausted to engage in political ideas, let alone resistance ac-
tivities. 148 However, they tried to improve the conditions in the camp by countering 
the Nazis’ strategy to split up the prisoners’ solidarity. Two prominent members of this 
group were Kurt Bachmann and Peter Sturm.

Bachmann (Düren, 1909–Cologne, 1998) worked in the Jewish elder’s office, the 
Schreibstube. 149 He also volunteered to become a medical orderly in the camp infir-
mary. 150 During a dysentery outbreak, Bachmann clandestinely procured sulfonamides 
for the patients. 151 He had joined the Communist Party of Germany (KPD) in 1932 and 
participated in an underground resistance movement until he fled to France with his 
wife, Alice, in 1938. After the German invasion of 1940, Bachmann restored his contacts 
with the Communist underground but was arrested and deported with his wife from 
Drancy in 1942. Alice was murdered in Auschwitz, while Kurt Bachmann was pulled 
out in Cosel and went through numerous Schmelt camps before coming to Blechham-
mer. Following his liberation in Buchenwald, he returned to Germany and cofounded 
the Association of the Persecuted by the Nazi Regime (Vereinigung der Verfolgten des 
Naziregimes). He also was part of the KPD leadership until the party was banned in 
1950. Bachmann then became a journalist and worked as a political correspondent for 
the weekly paper Die tat. Almost two decades later, in 1968, he was one of the founding 
members of the German Communist Party (DKP), which he chaired until his death. 152

The Viennese actor Peter Sturm (Vienna, 1909–East Berlin, 1984) had been a mem-
ber of the Communist Party of Austria. Following his arrest in May 1938, he had been 
interned in Dachau and Buchenwald for one year. He fled to France and was deported 
from Drancy in summer 1942. His contacts with the camp’s Communist underground 
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organization permitted him to remain in Buchenwald following the evacuation of 
Blechhammer, and he helped to overthrow the SS in April 1945. He voluntarily set-
tled in East Berlin after the war. 153 Sturm utilized his long-standing camp experience to 
teach a group of fourteen teenage prisoners how to improve their survival chances. Set-
ting a personal example, he emphasized the importance of personal hygiene and disci-
pline. They also learned to protect one another against assaults by the SS and the risk 
of selections by sharing food with those whose rations had been withheld due to sick-
ness, and by supporting weak comrades during the march to the OHW. Kurt Baum 
was one of these teenagers, and he related that many of them attributed their survival 
to Peter Sturm, who had given them a feeling of belonging and of not living in “a jun-
gle.” 154 When Sturm was offered the controversial position of block elder in late 1944, 
he reluctantly accepted after Kurt Bachmann convinced him that the opportunity to 
help others outweighed the risk of being drawn into the Nazis’ perfidious system of 
inequality and corruption. As a block elder, Sturm was soon renowned for his justice, 
and he managed to have the teenage inmates be assigned to lighter work. 155 For exam-
ple, he distributed food leftovers according to an alphabetical list, so that all prisoners 
received their share. Peter Sturm is said to have saved more than one life and was an in-
spiration to many: “In this world of violence, contempt and injustice he was the only 
one who respected the principles of human rights. In his barrack, humanity, equality, 
and fraternity prevailed.” 156

During the death march, Sturm kept himself going in spite of the adverse conditions 
by comparing his struggle to survive with the combat of the Soviet soldiers. Drawing 
a line of continuity from the death march back to his decision to fight Austro-Fascism 
and Nazism in the prewar years, he was able to integrate his suffering into the joint 
Communist effort to create “a better world.” 157

Non-Communist Jewish prisoners were reportedly helped by German Commu-
nist OHW workers, who supplied them with food, medicine, and money. 158 Under the 
Nazis, the KPD had split up into small, underground cells, whose members no longer 
engaged in open resistance but turned to individual demonstrations of nonconform-
ist behavior. 159 Some deliberately sought contacts with foreign laborers at the work-
place. 160 These relations could have negative repercussions for the Jewish prisoners, as 
illustrated by the case of Josef Wolmark. He was reported to Blechhammer’s Politi-
cal Department in October 1944 for accepting a German foreman’s offer to exchange 
money and valuables for bread and cigarettes. The German, allegedly a Communist, 
was arrested by the Gestapo, and Wolmark had to sign a trumped-up confession stat-
ing that he had indirectly supported the Communist organization. He was sentenced 
to twenty-five whip lashes by Berlin. 161

The Jewish Communists in Blechhammer apparently did not join forces with non- 
Jewish communist workers. Attempts by British intelligence to use foreign laborers as 

“Trojan horses,” who would form a bridge with German Socialists and Communists and 
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create upheaval among the workforce, evidently failed, as the level of resistance among 
German workers was generally very low. 162

“A L MOS T NO ON E DI E D OF H U NG E R”? 
CON F RON T I NG T H E M Y T H OF 

BL ECH H A M M E R’ S “ SECON D ECONOM Y ”

“Our good Jews had money, gold and jewels and could procure anything they wanted, 
anything they wished for, on the construction site — butter, coffee, milk, eggs, sugar, sar-
dines, sausages, everything. Many had money and shared with one another, thus Blech-
hammer really was not a hunger camp. Almost no one died of hunger.” 163 This statement 
made by Jewish elder Karl Demerer in 1973 is the centerpiece of a myth whose key mes-
sage is that thanks to the black market, very few inmates had died of starvation. Curi-
ously, in a judicial interview held nine years earlier, Demerer had stated that there had 
hardly been any deaths in the camp but explained this by the fact that emaciated and 
unfit prisoners had regularly been taken to Auschwitz to be killed. 164 The narrative that 
death by starvation had been rare was predominantly supported by former function-
ary prisoners. 165 Their contention that up to 75 percent of the prisoners had been able 
to barter for extra food is rebutted by the testimonies of regular inmates, reducing this 
number to a mere 5 percent. 166 Only a few possessed the means and stamina to engage 
in such deals, and these prisoners were aware of their special status: “We, the privileged 
ones, a very small minority, managed to make contacts with civilians of all nationalities 
who worked there.” 167 Feelings of guilt likely prompted former functionaries to fabri-
cate a self-exculpatory narrative of a camp where everyone allegedly had enough to eat. 
These stories might equally have been rooted in fears of being put on trial or being os-
tracized by fellow survivors. 168

Regardless of the exact numbers of those involved, the act of bartering undoubt-
edly played a key role in the memory of survivors. They often described in minute de-
tail how they earned their first money or food and managed to establish clandestine 
contacts with other workers. Bartering raised their self-esteem, as it enabled them to 
regain some control over their lives. Access to more and higher quality food increased 
their survival chances; at the same time, it defied the Nazis’ policy of annihilating the 
Jews. These prisoners thus created another myth, centered on their inner strength, cun-
ning, and enterprise as the sources of their survival. 169

In wartime Germany, trading or offering services outside of formal sectors had be-
come an essential part of everyday life. The rationing of goods along with the devalua-
tion of money fostered the so-called second economy. This affected not only the Ger-
man civilian population but also large parts of the foreign and unfree workforce. 170 The 
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term “black market” is commonly found in testimony, but it seems inappropriate in this 
context due to its association with illegal or criminal activities. During the war, oper-
ators of the second economy supplied goods and services of an absolutely legal nature 
that were no longer available in “first economy” venues. 171

Despite the risk of punishment, Jewish prisoners soon became integral to Blech-
hammer’s second economy. Although their precarious status prevented them from 
acting on equal terms with civilian workers, they carved out a niche for themselves 
as interlocutors due to their foreign-language skills. Only a few work details offered 
a chance for establishing such contacts with other laborers without being scrutinized 
too closely by German guards. To some prisoners, favorable settings for safe barter out-
weighed harsh working conditions, and they volunteered for seemingly unattractive 
commando units. 172 Most deals required starting capital, usually in the form of valu-
ables prisoners had smuggled into the camp, like their wedding rings or cash money. 173 
Less resourceful prisoners had to make a much greater sacrifice: their own food rations. 
One of these was sixteen-year-old Israel Rosengarten. For eight consecutive days, he 
sold his entire bread allocation to fellow inmates. With the 6 RM he earned in this way, 
he bought a higher-quality bread loaf from foreign laborers and resold it for 8 RM in 
the camp. He kept up the same system for several months, until he had saved enough 
money to buy three or four loaves of bread. Following this life-threatening period of 
almost total deprivation, he could finally purchase bread for himself. The additional 
food meant a lot more to him than just filling his empty stomach: “Gaining food all 
by myself was a symbol of my resistance and it strengthened my ability to survive. . . . 
The feeling of triumph was magical. I had outwitted the monsters who wanted to kill 
us.” 174 Another prisoner pursuing the same strategy was caught by the SS when he sold 
his sausage ration to a fellow inmate for 3 RM in order to procure some bread from a 
foreign worker. 175 Others took over cleaning chores in the barracks and resold the ex-
tra food they received. 176 Some prisoners sold their clothes, cigarette allocations, bo-
nus vouchers, or pilfered tools. 177

A main target group for bartering were the British and French POWs. As they 
mainly had to live on dried or canned food from Red Cross parcels, they craved fresh 
fruits, vegetables, bread, and eggs. When their German rations ceased in late 1944, the 
British increasingly depended on bartering to sustain themselves. 178 Fresh products 
were offered by Czech and Polish laborers, who in turn were interested in obtaining 
Red Cross package items such as chocolates, cigarettes, and soap. In order to exchange 
their goods, both groups used multilingual Jewish inmates as intermediaries. Hop-
ing to acquire essential food, as well as medicine, shoes, and clothes, the deprived Jew-
ish prisoners built up an impressive network of civilians to help them procure almost 
anything the British wished for. The Jewish inmate Nathan Prochownik even man-
aged to persuade German workers to buy powder for preparing a blancmange, when a 
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British POW had told him of his craving for the dessert. The Germans received a share 
of the prunes Prochownik was offered by the POW. The transaction was repeated sev-
eral times, until Prochownik had earned enough prunes to barter an extra bread ra-
tion. Prochownik nevertheless found it hard to relate to the superficial concerns of the 
POW, considering the murderous realities in the camp for Jews: “It was a tough blow 
for him not to have a blancmange, while in a few meters’ distance we were dying like 
flies, lacking everything.” 179

The British were also very keen on onions. As the author of a food column in the 
Lamsdorf POW magazine The Clarion humorously pointed out, onions were “as scarce 
as an African native skating round the North Pole” in British camps. 180 A Jewish pris-
oner therefore specialized in supplying the POWs with onions in return for cigarettes. 181 
Similarly, the teenage inmate Wolf W. arranged a deal with two Polish laborers, who 
brought him bread rolls that he resold to British POWs. He shared the additional bread 
rations he was able to procure with fellow prisoners. Even this kind of small-scale bar-
tering was invariably accompanied by German demands for bribes, however. An SS 
guard who claimed he was “hungry” took some of the rolls for himself in return for 
not filing a penal report. 182

Bartering was occasionally combined with the Allied resistance effort, and Jewish 
prisoners also played their part in it. The Belgian Jewish inmate Jules Fainzang was rec-
ommended as an intermediary by French POWs when the British urgently required 
an electronic device for a secret wireless radio in their camp. Fainzang utilized his con-
tacts with Polish workers, who agreed to buy the device in the nearest town, to enable 
the British to receive radio messages. Fainzang’s reward, a carton of cigarettes, was un-
fortunately confiscated by an SS patrol. 183From late 1943, Czech workers supplying 
Blechhammer’s second economy markets with products from Bohemia that had been 
rationed in Silesia, like eggs, butter, ham, sausages, and alcohol, strongly relied on Jew-
ish prisoners to barter with British POWs and French laborers. They received some of 
the food in return. 184

The Jewish elder Demerer ran large-scale bartering operations, primarily to gain 
money for the camp’s bribing fund. Bartering and bribery were closely intertwined, 
as trafficking contraband goods was facilitated by bribing guards, and the revenues 
thereof were required as bribes. 185 As Demerer did not work on the construction site 
himself, several Kapos were delegated to barter for him. One of them was the Belgian 
Jewish Kapo Goldberg, whose intimidating demeanor permitted him to control the 
bread prices on the market. If POWs or civilian workers asked for more than the fixed 
sum of 6 RM, Goldberg and his fellow Kapos beat them up. 186 The prisoners were also 
instructed to cut off chunks from conveyor belts, which were exchanged for bread and 
cigarettes by their Kapos. 187
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Individual trafficking without Demerer’s special protection was riskier, prompting 
such prisoners to fabricate food cans with false bottoms or to add secret pockets to their 
jackets. 188 During the Schmelt camp phase, work details were regularly flogged for bar-
tering. Threats by camp leader Hoffmann to execute those involved in such undertak-
ings were reportedly not put into practice. However, the clandestine exchange of goods 
temporarily ceased, and some contacts were lost. 189 Under the SS, over forty penal re-
ports related to bartering were forwarded to Berlin. Typical punishments included flog-
gings, extra hard work for up to ten consecutive Sundays, and transfer to a penal com-
mando unit. 190 Many SS guards were nonetheless susceptible to bribes and refrained 
from reporting prisoners if they could pocket the contraband goods themselves. 191 The 
greatest threat was posed by the works policemen, who were given license to kill Jewish 
prisoners on the spot following the decrees on plundering and sabotage of July 1944. 192 
Moreover, dishonest trading partners occasionally took advantage of Jewish prison-
ers and robbed them of their last possessions: “A single thought was on the mind of 
the immense number of prisoners: survive and eat, eat to survive. . . . To guards and la-
borers with contacts to the outside world, these people, who lacked everything, were a 
temptation. And they, too, were driven by a single idea: to make money with them.” 193

As an example of this, the young prisoner Israel Rosengarten was deceived by a 
British POW for whom he and a fellow prisoner had made a beret. The POW never 
gave them the agreed remuneration of prunes and raisins and simply avoided them. 
Rosengarten’s next deal with a British POW ended even worse. He had procured razor 
blades from Czech workers for the POW and was paid with prunes. However, as soon 
the exchange had taken place, a Wehrmacht soldier guarding the POWs came along, 
rifle-butted Rosengarten, and took away the prunes. This strange coincidence led him 
to suspect that the POW had bribed the guard to take back his prunes. 194

In May 1944 the Jewish prisoner Israel Wächter made an exceptional decision: he 
reported a German foreman to the authorities for cheating on him! The foreman, Felix 
Ochmann, was a member of the German Air Force and had promised Wächter to sup-
ply him with bread, honey, and confitures from his father’s bakery for a considerable 
amount of gold. Wächter and several fellow prisoners were ready to invest their valu-
ables. However, as soon as Wächter had handed over the gold, Ochmann announced 
that he had no intention of delivering the goods and went off. Wächter’s outraged ex-
clamation “Catch the thief !” immediately alarmed the guards, who found the gold on 
Ochmann and arrested him. Ochmann was put on trial before a military tribunal in 
Breslau, and Israel Wächter was called up as a witness. Wächter’s courage nonetheless 
entailed negative consequences for himself. The Political Department of Blechham-
mer sent a report to the WVHA, and he was sentenced to twenty-five lashes and puni-
tive work for the possession of valuables. 195
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Aside from a lack of resources, the considerable dangers outlined above deterred 
most prisoners from bartering. 196 The teenage inmate Felix G. always went straight to 
sleep when bartering comrades started to prepare their extra food in the evenings, so he 
would not give in to the temptation of doing it himself. 197 The Jewish camp physician 
Dr. Wollenberg had other motives for rejecting clandestine trading. As a former offi-
cer of the German Army and a veteran of the First World War, he still identified with a 
military code of honor and was appalled when he learned that the other doctors lived 
on contraband food, like the sardines they offered him on his first night in Blechham-
mer: “My delight at the sardines was spoiled. I had a feeling that these were the first and 
last ones I would see during my time in the camp. But I did not starve, . . . even though 
neither in Blechhammer, nor in any other camp did I ‘make money.’” 198

Prisoners who had the means but did not want to become involved in second econ-
omy deals could turn to the Fogiel family, a father and his three sons from Belgium, 
who offered to exchange money for food. 199 Similarly, two prisoners from the Neth-
erlands specialized in selling the diamonds many of their compatriots had brought 
with them. 200

Kapo Walter Redock, a “green triangle” from Auschwitz who headed the clothing 
chamber, was prohibited from leaving the camp himself but delegated Jewish prison-
ers to barter garments from the magazine for him on the construction site. In late 1944 
four inmates offered rucksacks procured by Redock to British POWs, who were pre-
paring for the evacuation. 201

Contraband goods were also sold in one of the barracks that served as a clandestine 
“shop.” The inmates called it the “stock exchange,” as the prices varied depending on the 
quantity of available products. The prices were generally higher than on the construc-
tion site. One piece of bread bought four potatoes, for instance. 202 Almost anything was 
on offer, even live chicken, chocolate, fruit, white bread, English cigarettes, condensed 
milk, sardines, and alcohol. A bottle of alcohol was worth up to 400 RM. 203 The stock 
exchange was a place where the camp’s social strata became palpable: “The affluent sold 
English chocolate, and the poorest offered their soup rations.” 204 Fat allocations from 
the camp kitchen embezzled by the cooks were resold there as well. In stark contrast to 
bartered food, these fats had been deducted from the standard rations. 205 The German 
camp leadership attempted several times to raid the barracks, but the prisoners always 
set watches and hid the goods in time. 206

Many German laborers bartered goods they clandestinely manufactured during 
their normal work at the OHW, utilizing the company’s raw materials and tools. Jew-
ish inmates allocated to them were often forced to assist in these illegal dealings. The 
OHW management apparently knew of their workforce’s illicit enterprises but only 
seemed to object to the use of Jewish prisoners for this purpose. On December 15, 1943, 
following a complaint by Speer’s Ministry of Armament and War Production, Otto 
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Stoltzenburg of the building supervisory board issued an official warning to all contrac-
tors that their employees faced prosecution if they continued to assign Jewish prison-
ers to such tasks. 207 The Germans nevertheless proceeded with their second economy 
businesses, and Jewish prisoners fabricated electric stoves, repaired clocks, or fixed bi-
cycles for them. 208 The survivor Stanley B. was forced to mend jewelry for his German 
foreman, who owned a jeweler’s shop in Hamburg. The foreman did not pay him and 
carefully avoided giving out his name. Sometimes he passed on food to Stanley in a 
manner that reminded the latter of how “a bone is given to a dog.” 209 German workers 
also specifically chose prisoners with a good command of English to barter with Brit-
ish POWs for them in return for cigarettes. 210 The inmates’ enforced participation in 
the Germans’ bartering put them at risk of being punished or even killed on the spot for 
alleged “plundering.” 211 Several prisoners were thus reported to Berlin and sentenced to 
floggings. As the Germans involved often denied that the prisoners had acted on their 
orders, even more severe punishments ensued. 212 Despite the risks, some Jewish pris-
oners followed the Germans’ example and fabricated electric stoves, which they sold 
to fellow inmates so they could prepare their bartered food. 213 Others made rings from 
silver spoons or coins, crafted bowls, or manufactured waterproof vests from pilfered 
plastic foil for British POWs or Germans. 214

Following the Auschwitz takeover, the SS ordered that the camp be refurbished. In-
stead of providing the required material and tools, they advised the Jewish elder to steal 
everything from the OHW plant. 215 This was the birth of the so-called Organization 
Niewes. Under the auspices of the deputy Jewish elder Jozef Niewes, the prisoners pil-
fered paint, nails, tools, lamps, and clocks in return for extra food. His large-scale traf-
ficking operations prompted some prisoners to change the acronym “OT” for Organi-
sation Todt inscribed on his barracks to “ON” for “Organization Niewes.” In postwar 
testimony, Niewes delineated his efforts to improve the camp infrastructure: “We had 
the nicest shoemaker’s workshop. . . . We had a well-equipped infirmary with an oper-
ating theatre, dental care and so on. Everything was of the best material and all pilfered, 
for the Germans gave us nothing.” 216

Niewes was a polarizing figure, but his organizational skills mollified many of his 
critics. Despite considering him “a mixture of a merchant and a thief,” the survivor 
Gabriel Zvi Lifschitz credited Niewes for the significant improvements to the camp. 
Niewes seized on the pandemonium caused by the air raids on the plant to carry out 
more and more daring thefts. He even had some prisoners steal a horse-drawn cart 
loaded with logs. The sudden abundance of paint permitted the inmates to individu-
ally decorate their beds or make hand-painted Dutch clogs. 217 However, Niewes rarely 
handed out the additional food he had promised. If prisoners complained, they were 
simply beaten, and many began to loathe him for exploiting them. 218 Moreover, the pil-
fering inmates had to assume the full risk for their actions. Ironically, they were flogged 
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by the SS, who had ordered the thefts in the first place, if they were caught by the works 
police or German foremen. 219 To evade detection, the booty was even concealed under-
neath the dead and dying inmates, who were taken back from the construction site on 
a handcart. 220 Both Niewes and members of the SS came out to the factory to earmark 
tools or machines for theft. The SS men also had the prisoners pilfer objects for their 
private use, like clocks and bicycles. 221 It is unknown whether the SS ordered prisoners 
to steal from entrepreneurs in other Auschwitz subcamps as well, or if these criminal 
acts were inspired by the general climate of dishonesty prevailing at the OHW. The 
Jewish survivor Leo Voss summed up the corrupt moral values of the factory staff in 
his postwar memoir:

“Klauen” [stealing] is a system, “organisieren” [pilfering] an everyday term; everybody 
is involved in it: directors, accountants, clerks, foremen, workers, they all steal . . . the 
prisoners steal for themselves or by order of the guards or the camp leadership. Whole 
wagon-loads of material, tools and food are being stolen by these noble gentlemen, 
and nails, hammers, and paint for their garden fence on top. Whoever gets caught 
is punished without mercy. But not because he stole, but because he allowed him-
self to be caught. “Lass Dich nur nicht erwischen!” [“Don’t let yourself be caught!”] 
is the standard rule given out by the guard, who nearly batters the prisoner to death 
he himself commanded to steal. 222

CL A N DE S T I N E A RT

Several remarkable artists, some already well known and accomplished, others about 
to start their careers, were interned in Blechhammer. Their creative talent became a 
key factor in their survival. Creating clandestine artworks for fellow inmates, pris-
oners of war, civilian workers, and the SS helped them to obtain lifesaving extra food 
and clothing.

It is estimated that out of the approximately one hundred thousand works of art 
made during the Holocaust by the inmates of camps and ghettos or in hiding, only a 
small percentage may have been preserved. They were lost during confiscations, de-
portations, and death marches; in bombings; or in unsafe hiding places, or they per-
ished along with the artists. The artworks saved by smuggling them out of camps were 
often scattered all over the world. 223 They are rare, individual testimonies and reflec-
tions of their time, both in their subject matter and in what they reveal about the artist. 
During the Shoah, artists had to face unprecedented conditions of violence, suffering, 
death, deprivation, and dehumanization, affecting not only themselves but also their 
creative intentions, styles, subjects, and access to materials. Janet Blatter distinguishes 
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between the art of the Holocaust, representing works created by victims of the Shoah 
between 1939 and 1945, and the Holocaust in art, referring to all general depictions of 
the Shoah by survivors or others made either after the war or during the war, but from 
a safe distance. 224

Of the numerous artworks clandestinely made by Blechhammer prisoners, only a 
set of cartoons by Bil Spira that he gave to a British POW have been preserved as art of 
the Holocaust under Blatter’s definition. 225 From the other surviving artists, only works 
made after the war still exist. These postwar works are equally important sources, not 
only because they depict individual victims and perpetrators, but also because they re-
flect the artists’ struggle to cope with the trauma of the Shoah. They nonetheless tend 
to use a different iconography resembling the stereotypes of war art. The depiction of 
violent scenes showing Nazis as perpetrators is a dominant characteristic. The central 
theme of mass atrocity also reveals the postwar artists’ much more informed view. By 
contrast, the art of the Holocaust typically focused on relatively benign camp routines 
and images of everyday objects. 226 Moreover, postwar artists utilize a wider range of ma-
terials, allowing for a degree of finish seldom achieved in works made in the camps. 227

Contrary to Auschwitz, where artists’ workshops and even a camp “museum” had 
been established, all artworks had to be clandestinely made in Blechhammer. 228 The 
Auschwitz commandant’s order of July 1943 prohibiting the SS from commissioning 
artworks for private purposes was largely ignored. 229 Several SS men at Blechhammer 
were keen on obtaining works of art, usually portraits of their wives or girlfriends, in 
return for some food. On these occasions, the prisoner artists were given high-quality 
paper and pencils or paint, which they later reused for art they offered to civilians, 
POWs, or fellow inmates. If nothing else was available, they also drew on paper bags, 
cardboard, and scrap paper. In addition to securing the artists’ physical survival, clan-
destine art served to chronicle events in the camp and render images of prisoners. Con-
fronted with their own mortality and the deaths of their friends and families, the in-
mates found that such portraits helped to preserve a part of themselves, or the memory 
of those who had perished, for posterity. Depicting traumatizing camp scenes enabled 
the artists to cope better with their feelings. 230 Art temporarily offered consolation and 
a respite from the unbearable strains of camp life, not merely for the artist but also for 
those being portrayed. The child survivor Walter Spitzer stressed the prisoners’ need to 
reconnect with their former selves and to escape from the horrors surrounding them: 

“They wanted to see their face, it was a way of seeing their face, for there weren’t any 
photographs in the camp, they probably also wanted to have something that seemed 
like art to them, even if it was just lousy, not really great art by a guy like me, . . . but it 
made them dream a little.” 231

However, the debatable notion of art as “spiritual resistance” against dehumaniza-
tion does not sufficiently reflect the complex hierarchies in the camps and the social 
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divisions they created. It is important to remember that, similar to musical entertain-
ment, artworks were very much the privilege of more resourceful prisoners. 232

Most prisoner artists had been influenced by modernist movements such as expres-
sionism, cubism, dadaism, surrealism, and abstract art. They had typically left their 
places of origin (and their Jewish background) behind to study in cultural centers like 
Paris. Curiously, these trends do not figure prominently in the art of the Holocaust, 
which appears to be self-contained and is difficult to classify into conventional cate-
gories by school or style. At the same time, no “Holocaust style” of its own developed. 
Although the artists stuck to styles familiar to them and their cultural education sub-
liminally influenced their witnessing, their works tend to portray scenes in more real-
istic detail, largely avoiding abstract forms, albeit refusing to adopt the Nazi-approved 
sentimental realism. Possibly this was done to secure concise evidence for the outside 
world. Moreover, the artists had been forcefully dislodged from artistic communities 
and were disconnected from cultural frameworks, such as universities or museums. In 
the camps, the artists nevertheless formed distinct groups based on the diverse yet frag-
mentary remnants of their past cultural identities. 233

In Blechhammer, an alternative artistic “community” was inadvertently created 
by the camp leader. Those apt with the brush were usually assigned to painting jobs at 
the OHW or in housing estates for the German workforce. Already established pris-
oner artists seized the opportunity to transform their workplace in the basement of 
the plant’s power station into an art studio. Their German foreman Böse, who was a 
painter himself, encouraged them to create art instead of working. Böse spent most of 
his time painting landscapes, which he would sell to German civilian workers to sup-
port his family. He often prepared meals for the prisoners. Among the Jewish artists 
was a thirty-five-year-old restorer from Arnhem named Cohen, who was very knowl-
edgeable and lectured the younger members of the group on Dutch artists like Rem-
brandt. He perished on the death march to Gross-Rosen. 234 Jonas Moscou (Amsterdam, 
1900) painted in the “Dutch style,” and his works were very popular among British and 
French POWs, as well as Italian laborers, who supplied him with oil paint. His talent 
was equally exploited by the SS and higher echelon Wehrmacht guards, who even pro-
vided him with a little studio but rarely remunerated him. However, his comparatively 
privileged position as an artist did not save him when he contracted typhus. While 
Moscou was in the infirmary, he was selected for Auschwitz, where he was murdered on 
September 30, 1943. 235 An elderly painter in bad health named Kohn had fled to France 
from Nazi Germany and was eventually deported. He was greatly admired for his wa-
tercolors but peculiarly refused to depict anything but tulips. The flowers symbolized 
the beauty of life before the camps, which he tried to convey to fellow prisoners. 236

Wilhelm “Bil” Spira (Vienna, 1913–Puteaux, Paris, 1999) had drawn cartoons for 
left-wing Viennese newspapers like Das kleine Blatt as a student and later studied arts 
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at Vienna’s Kunstgewerbeschule. From 1934, he did the layout for the Sunday edition 
of the socialist paper Arbeiter-Zeitung. In 1938 he was arrested by the Gestapo, but 
he managed to escape to Paris under the assumed identity Willy Freier, which he re-
tained for some time after the war. In Paris, he joined a group of artists-in-exile headed 
by the famous Jewish writer Joseph Roth. Spira made numerous caricatures of fellow 
artists during this time. 237 After the German invasion, he fled to the unoccupied south 
of France and worked as a forger for Varian Fry of the Emergency Rescue Committee, 
set up by Thomas Mann and others in 1940 to help artists and intellectuals on the Ge-
stapo blacklist emigrate to a safe destination via Spain. In 1941 he was denounced to 
the Gestapo shortly before it would have been his turn to leave the country, leading 
to his arrest and internment in the Vernet camp. 238 On September 3, 1942, Spira was 
deported from Drancy; he came to Blechhammer in early 1944 via the Schmelt camp 
Laurahütte. He survived two death marches to Buchenwald and Terezín, where he was 
liberated by the Red Army in 1945. After the liberation, Spira returned to Paris and re-
sumed his work as a cartoonist for various Swiss and French newspapers, such as Der 
Nebelspalter and Jours de France.

In Blechhammer, Spira earned himself some extra soup by making portraits of the 
absent husbands of civilian women working in the kitchens. Despite his assignment 
to the painters’ group, he mostly drew in his spare time. While he was busy making a 
portrait one Sunday, he was surprised by an SS man. Liking what he saw, the latter re-
quested a portrait of his wife in return for offering Spira a job as a “shoeshine boy.” Each 
night after work, Spira had to clean the SS men’s boots that were lined up in the cor-
ridor of their quarters, accompanied by some dinner leftovers. Spira shared the extra 
food with an emaciated teenage prisoner from his barracks. As word of his talent had 
spread, another SS man approached him. The infamous block leader Tom Mix wanted 
Spira to create a “cheerful” painting for his room. He left the motif up to the artist. 
Spira suggested painting a girl having catcalls shouted at her by construction workers, 
to which he agreed. Tom Mix procured some watercolors and brushes and secretly let 
Spira paint in a storage room on the building site. However, the almost finished art-
work was destroyed when the room was hit by a bomb. Camp leader Klipp soon com-
missioned him to make a drawing of his wife from a photograph, supplying Spira with 
high-quality pencils and paper. 239

Spira bartered cartoons for cigarettes with British POWs. In early 1944 he regularly 
met the British prisoner of war Charles Hayward during truck rides to the construction 
site of a housing estate for OHW and IG Farben workers in Heydebreck. Hayward, a 
nonsmoker, decided to invest his cigarette allocations in artworks offered to him by 
Spira. He was looking for a “souvenir” from the camp, something that would be “inter-
esting for people at home,” as he pointed out in a postwar interview. Altogether, he ac-
quired eleven cartoons depicting foreign and unfree laborers at the OHW. In addition 
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to British POWs, these encompassed inmates of the work education camp, the pen-
itentiary subcamp, and Jewish prisoners. Unlike the portraits, the cartoons were not 
commissioned but were randomly drawn by Spira in advance. They strongly mirror his 
background as a political caricaturist. In his portrayal of the Jews, Spira focused on the 
violence meted out by Jewish functionary prisoners to their own comrades, not on the 
atrocities committed by German camp personnel. The absence of German perpetra-
tors is typical of the art of the Holocaust, 240 for most artists considered this subject too 
risky. A recurring theme in Spira’s cartoons was the working Jewish children, whose ex-
ploitation frequently caused an outcry among the other laborers, particularly the Brit-
ish POWs. 241 Possibly this was an underlying reason Spira added them, letting the out-
side world know of their internment in the camp.

Unlike his commissioned works, the cartoons directed at British POWs were obvi-
ously intended as testimonies to the victims of the Nazi camps. Spira could not be sure 
he would survive the camps; however, his cartoons had a fair chance of being brought 
back to the free world in the hands of British POWs. Charles Hayward managed to do 
just that. He even developed a special strategy for smuggling things into camps by al-
ways volunteering to be the first to have his kit searched. Hidden in a chocolate tin, Spi-
ra’s cartoons thus safely reached Hayward’s London home after the war. Spira’s identity 
and fate nevertheless remained unknown to him. 242

Unaware that some of his cartoons had been preserved, Spira delineated the tragic 
loss of his artworks from the camps in his postwar autobiography. During the liberation 
of Terezín, they were burned together with his clothes to combat lice. He had tried in 
vain to convince the Soviet soldier in charge of the delousing to spare his drawings: “I 
pointed out that the drawings did not just have an artistic value but were also import-
ant testimonies. Drawing was prohibited in German camps, and I had preserved unique 
evidence. So, did my liberators really intend to spoil my liberation and destroy what I 
had been able to save from the camp despite being searched?” 243

In 2009, ten years after Spira’s death, the Hayward family donated his cartoons to 
the Imperial War Museum in London, where they were shown in an exhibition on Ho-
locaust art. They assumed that the cartoonist, known only by his signature “Bill,” had 
perished in the Shoah. 244 As a result of this research project on Blechhammer, it was fi-
nally possible to identify the cartoons as Spira’s, thus facilitating their integration into 
his pre- and post-Holocaust artistic cycles. Most recently, the cartoons were exhibited 
in Spira’s hometown, Vienna. 245

Among the youngest budding artists at Blechhammer was Walter Spitzer (Cieszyn, 
1927–Paris, 2021), who had developed an early interest in the fine arts. He was taken to 
Laurahütte and Blechhammer after the liquidation of the Strzemieszyce ghetto in June 
1943, during which his mother was shot. His father had died before the war. Spitzer was 
liberated in Buchenwald in January 1945 and immediately volunteered to serve with the 
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US Signal Corps. He later settled in Paris to study at the École des Beaux Arts and be-
came a renowned painter and sculptor. Among his works is the official memorial for the 
Jews of France, who were rounded up for deportation in the Vél-d’Hiver cycling arena.

In Blechhammer, Spitzer started out as a welder. As they had to work at great heights, 
many prisoners on that detail fell to their deaths or were sent to Auschwitz due to frac-
tured bones. His friendship with the Jewish elder’s daughter Halina Demerer enabled 
Spitzer to transfer into the painters’ detail. Already accomplished artists, like David 
Brainin, taught him how to earn extra food by making portraits from photographs for 
civilian female workers. He sacrificed most of his family’s valuables, which had been 
deposited with non-Jewish neighbors in Cieszyn, to procure pencils and watercolors, 
with the assistance of Czech laborers. Hiding in a pipe, Spitzer used the thirty-minute 
lunch break at the factory for making portraits. Stricter punishments for contacts be-
tween Jews and other workers after the Auschwitz takeover made him temporarily 
abandon his clandestine production of artworks, until he found a friend ready to ne-
gotiate the deals for him. Shortly before the death march, his friend managed to swap 
some of Spitzer’s paintings for a pair of shoes and lambswool socks from British POWs 
for him, which presumably saved his life. In retrospect, Spitzer identified his compar-
atively “privileged” life as an artist as a key factor in his survival. 246

Spitzer lost all the artworks he made in the camps, but he started a series of paint-
ings depicting scenes from Blechhammer and Buchenwald soon after his liberation. His 
immediate postwar artistic cycle predominantly depicts atrocities, executions, selec-
tions for Auschwitz, and individual perpetrators. 247 Spitzer’s powerful works exemplify 
the survivors’ attempts to come to terms with the traumatic past through their art. 248

Jakob Zim (Cymberknopf ), born in Sosnowiec in 1920, was conscripted for forced 
labor in the ghetto. His ability to draw and paint initially secured him a job as a drafts-
man at the local German police station. By mid-1941 he was forced to leave, but he 
managed to set up a workshop for applied arts with the help of a German who admired 
his artistic talent. The workshop offered a temporary refuge to 120 ghetto inhabitants, 
among them his two brothers. Following the liquidation of the Sosnowiec ghetto in 
August 1943, Zim was sent to camp Annaberg, where he secretly continued to paint. 
However, he never created art for bartering but exclusively to have a respite from the 
atrocious life in the camp. Like many prisoner artists, Zim drew his inspiration from a 
well-known painting and adapted it to his own situation. He chose an artwork by the 
Polish Jewish painter Josef Budko entitled No One Cries Like Me. When his painting 
was discovered by guards in January 1944, he was flogged and sent to Blechhammer as a 
punishment. There, he was reunited with his younger brother Nathan. They were both 
liberated in Buchenwald. During the death march, Zim drew on his artistic talent as a 
core inner strength to help him survive. After the war, he resolved to communicate his 
experiences in the camps through painting. Zim migrated to Israel and studied at the 
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Bezalel Academy of Art and Design in Jerusalem. He won many prizes as a graphic de-
signer and artist and exhibited his work internationally. 249 A visit to Poland inspired a 
series of abstract paintings commemorating his childhood and the Shoah. 250

Michel Sima (Michael Smajewski, Słonim, Poland/Belarus, 1912) left the tradi-
tional Jewish orthodox environment of his childhood in 1929 to study sculpture at 
the Académie de la Grande Chaumière in Paris. After one year at the academy, he felt 
he could learn more by working directly with artists in their studios. Sima thus got to 
know many artists and writers and was invited to join the circle formed around Fran-
cis Gruber, Moise Kisling, and Pierre Tal-Coat. Ossip Zadkine, one of the leading cub-
ist sculptors of his time, accepted him as a student. In Zadkine’s studio, Sima met Jean 
Cocteau, Paul Eluard, and Francis Picabia. Eluard gave him the pseudonym “Sima,” an 
anagram derived from the French word for “friends,” amis. It symbolized Sima’s sincere 
friendship with the other artists. Sima had truly arrived in the world of the most influ-
ential artists in Paris when he met Picasso and Gertrude Stein.

In 1940 the German invasion of France forced him to leave Paris, and he fled to the 
nonoccupied zone in the south. Together with his friend Picabia he prepared an exhi-
bition in Cannes, but he was arrested before its launch on August 22, 1942. Sima was 
deported from Drancy and taken to Blechhammer in the same year. In May 1945 he 
returned to France, physically and mentally shattered. The Nazis had destroyed all the 
artworks he had left behind in Paris, and the camps had robbed him of the strength to 
continue as a sculptor. Picasso suggested that he should take a series of photographs to 
document his work-in-progress instead. Sima thus successfully used photography as a 
new means of expression. In the following years, he portrayed the works of artists like 
Matisse, Jacques Cocteau, and Marc Chagall, resulting in the publication 21 visages d’ar-
tistes in 1959. He made a fresh attempt at creating sculptures in 1967, using olive wood 
instead of stone this time. He died in the Ardèche region in 1987. Sima is said to have 
been the least known photographer who made some of the best-known photographs. 
In Blechhammer, his artistic proficiency helped him to survive. He carved the portraits 
of the girlfriends and wives of German airmen stationed nearby into sheets of metal in 
return for food. 251 Sima also used the daily march to work to chisel small stones he held 
in the hollow of his hands into tiny sculptures, usually erotic couples and nude women, 
for British POWs. 252 Extremely small sculptures like these had been characteristic of Si-
ma’s artistic style of the 1930s. They were “reminiscent of butterfly wings and extraor-
dinary ornaments made for a lilliputian palace,” as stated in the preface to the catalog 
of his last exhibition in France. 253

Later, Sima was placed in Blechhammer’s carpentry workshop, entitling him to cer-
tain privileges. All carpenters were accommodated in a wing of the infirmary, with only 
two men sharing each bedroom. They had proper beds with a spring mattress and were 
not required to attend the strenuous roll calls. When the SS camp leader discovered 
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Sima’s talent for creating beautiful wood carvings, he commissioned an intricate chan-
delier and supplied him with the special carving knives he required. As Sima was remu-
nerated with food from the SS kitchen, he tried to prolong the work as much as possible. 
The evacuation of January 1945 prevented him from finishing it, and the camp leader 
left without the chandelier. Sima secretly stayed behind in the camp. In the critical pe-
riod between the evacuation and the arrival of the Red Army, he sacrificed the chan-
delier to have firewood for his comrades and himself. 254 Despite certain material ben-
efits and the soothing qualities offered by their creativity, an estimated two-thirds of 
the artists held in camps and ghettos perished in the Holocaust, and most of their art-
works disappeared with them. And even if the artists survived, they usually lost what 
they had created. The Blechhammer artists were no exception in this respect. The rare 
preservation of Bil Spira’s cartoons underscores the important role played by clandes-
tine contacts with non-Jews, who not only supplied prisoner artists with lifesaving food, 
but whose less vulnerable status permitted them to safeguard such unique art from in-
side the Nazi camps. 255



C O N C LUS I O N

I n February 1946, former OHW employee Heinz Ebers was interro-
gated by British intelligence. He recounted the following episode, apparently to 
vindicate himself. Ebers told of his encounter with three liberated concentration 

camp prisoners in the vicinity of Bergen-Belsen. The men started a conversation, and 
when Ebers mentioned that he had worked for the OHW, one of them purportedly 
exclaimed: “I owe my life to you, then!” The former prisoner, whose family had been 
murdered in Auschwitz, was allegedly convinced that he had escaped certain death by 
working at the plant. Ebers claimed that the three men later admitted that they had 
planned to mug him but had changed their minds after the conversation. He contended 
that this encounter was proof of the favorable conditions granted to Jews at the OHW 
and the lifesaving function of their work deployment. 1

Ebers’s story was obviously fabricated, as male Blechhammer prisoners were evacu-
ated to Buchenwald and were unlikely to have wound up in Bergen-Belsen. Contrary 
to its intended purpose, the narrative clearly corroborates his derogatory view of Jews, 
whom he portrayed as “marauders” and a security threat. This is nonetheless an early 
example of the apologetic argumentation that industrialists had saved lives by accept-
ing Jews as a workforce.

Plants like the Oberschlesische Hydrierwerke had been established in Upper Sile-
sia for ideological purposes from the outset. The protracted war changed their func-
tion from offering employment opportunities to Germans in a borderland area to as-
sisting in the mass murder of the Jews in the region and detaining other political or 
ethnic groups rated as “dangerous” by the Nazi regime. Both Schmelt and the Aus-
chwitz administration relied on the OHW’s infrastructure and increasingly drew on 
their staff as auxiliaries. The utilization of Jewish workers was inexorably intertwined 
with the implementation of the Final Solution, and the OHW played its part in turning 
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the Holocaust into a reality. The company’s complicity began with its consent to have 
a Schmelt camp erected on its premises in spring 1942 that eventually became Aus-
chwitz’s second largest satellite and culminated in senior members of the management 
shooting Jewish prisoners during the evacuation of January 1945.

Blechhammer was set up during the most expansive phase of Schmelt’s system, when 
Speer’s calls for higher productivity and the first ghetto liquidations pumped more and 
more Jewish prisoners into these camps. Their vital status in the war economy secured 
the OHW ever larger contingents of such workers. After three-quarters of the Schmelt 
camps had been disbanded, Blechhammer was among the fifteen camps that were im-
portant enough to be taken over by Auschwitz in early 1944. At this point, an estimated 
fifty thousand Jewish women and men from Eastern Upper Silesia, the Netherlands, 
Belgium, and France had perished in Schmelt’s system. The OHW management had 
lent its private industrial terrain to be used as a collection point for taking unfit, or sim-
ply superfluous, Schmelt prisoners as well as children, pregnant women, and the elderly 
from the ghettos to the gas chambers of Auschwitz in 1943.

Under Schmelt and Auschwitz alike, the prisoners allocated to the OHW quickly 
succumbed to the lethal conditions. However, it was not simply the combination of 
hard labor and too little food that killed them. Polish penitentiary prisoners (among 
them Jews arrested in the Łódź ghetto) were subjected to the same amount of work on 
similar rations, but their mortality did not exceed 20 percent. 2 Death tolls of up to 95 
percent in Blechhammer’s camp for Jews point to other underlying causes that did not 
affect the penitentiary prisoners. A major contributor was the systematic murder of in-
jured, sick, or emaciated prisoners either by using water-related methods in the camp 
or in the gas chambers of Auschwitz. Contracts between the SS and the industrial cli-
ents contained a paragraph stating that permanently unfit prisoners could be sent back 
to Auschwitz. Analogous to the euphemistic terminology commonly used by the SS to 
obfuscate their crimes, the document avoided spelling out that these prisoners would 
be killed. Affidavits by former OHW employees nonetheless corroborate that the gas-
sings of Jewish inmates were an open secret at the plant. 3 Moreover, German and eth-
nic German foremen not only maltreated Jewish prisoners but intentionally worked or 
bludgeoned them to death, without being reprimanded. The OHW management like-
wise tolerated the camp guards’ ubiquitous violence against the prisoners. From sum-
mer 1944, decrees on plundering permitted the company’s works police under the dep-
uty director, Heinrich Schlick, to lynch unfree laborers.

As one of the most important Schmelt camps and Auschwitz subcamps, Blechham-
mer illustrates the practical implications of two seemingly opposite policies: the intense 
exploitation of Jewish labor in wartime Upper Silesia and the mass murder of the Jew-
ish people. A constant influx of fresh prisoners allowed the OHW to increase its Jew-
ish workforce while simultaneously contributing to the genocide. The lives of Jewish 
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workers were assigned little value, both economically and as human beings. Their over-
all treatment by camp leaders, guards, the OHW management, and civilian foremen 
was not in line with Speer’s alleged “economic rationalization” efforts. Franciszek Piper 
fittingly described Jewish forced labor in industrial camps as the “protracted hell” of 
the death camps. 4

Only a small fraction of the OHW’s German and ethnic German workforce was 
ready to aid Jewish prisoners, for varying and at times purely opportunistic reasons. 
Many British and French POWs, along with other foreign laborers, extended a crucial 
lifeline to the Jews. Next to the material aspects, these gestures of solidarity strength-
ened the inmates’ will to persevere. The Jewish elder Karl Demerer also did his best to 
ameliorate the conditions in the camp. However, his strategy of bribing the camp lead-
ership invariably drew him into the Nazis’ perfidious system of dividing the prison-
ers and projecting their crimes onto functionary inmates. Inner resources, like artistic 
creativity, spirituality, and political convictions, helped individual prisoners keep go-
ing. These immense human efforts notwithstanding, the few survivors of Blechham-
mer and other Nazi camps owed their lives to the fact that they were liberated in time. 5

Those who narrowly lived through the agony of the Schmelt camps always stressed 
that they had been even more “hellish” than the concentration camps. 6 These survi-
vors’ experiences are still not sufficiently reflected by Holocaust scholarship, which 
continues to marginalize camps outside the concentration camp system, like the 
Schmelt camps. Thus, Blechhammer’s two-year history as a Schmelt camp is all too 
often eclipsed by its ten-month status as an Auschwitz satellite in academic literature.

The Holocaust was not a uniform process; there were regional and temporal speci-
ficities and a wide array of perpetrators and collaborators. The Schmelt camps were in-
tegral, not antithetical, to the Shoah in Eastern Upper Silesia. Young people died there 
even before their next of kin were deported to Auschwitz from the ghettos. Schmelt’s 
staff, first and foremost his deputy Heinrich Lindner, were chiefly responsible for 
both, detaining the able-bodied in these camps and organizing the ghetto liquida-
tions. Schmelt’s half a dozen coworkers could draw on the support of hundreds of Ger-
man order policemen and their ethnic German auxiliaries, and they also found civilians 
like Dr. Erich Hoffmann and Haunschild, who readily participated in camp killings 
or selected prisoners for Auschwitz. Blechhammer formed part of an extensive net-
work of camps that remains largely unexplored. In the immediate vicinity of Auschwitz, 
Schmelt’s killing infrastructure (which has been understudied) facilitated the murder 
of the Jews of Eastern Upper Silesia and up to nine thousand Jewish men from west-
ern Europe. Beyond the typical concentration camp settings, this also underscores the 
connivance and collaboration of a wide spectrum of German society in the Holocaust. 
Schmelt’s system also reflects how some ethnically mixed parts of the Upper Silesian 
population and ethnic Germans were prompted to prove their “Germanness” by par-
ticipating in the genocide. This microhistory endeavors to unravel the functions and 
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inner workings of one of these camps. However, Blechhammer’s history will only be-
come fully comprehensible when more is known about the other Schmelt camps, their 
interactions, and their changing purposes in the Shoah.

When all ghettos in Eastern Upper Silesia had been liquidated and most of their 
inhabitants had been murdered in Auschwitz, the Schmelt camps were no longer re-
quired. Drawing on the remaining twenty-five thousand Schmelt inmates and, later, 
on Jews held in Auschwitz, Blechhammer’s prisoner population of thirty-two hun-
dred was steadily increased to almost six thousand during the course of 1944. The for-
mer Schmelt camp’s second life as an Auschwitz satellite was a result of Speer’s pressure 
on Himmler to increase the number of concentration camp prisoners working in the 
war industry. In parallel to this, the mass murder of the European Jews at Auschwitz 
reached its devastating peak.

Apart from French resistance fighters interned there from fall 1944, Blechhammer 
remained an exclusively Jewish camp. The only difference was that the new prisoners 
now came from Auschwitz, not Sosnowiec. The takeover initially brought increased 
reliability and slightly improved living conditions but also entailed stricter discipline 
with more vigilant camp personnel. In summer 1944 the onset of Allied airstrikes added 
two new threats to the prisoners’ lives: exposure to bombs and the laws on sabotage 
and plundering, which led to lynchings and public hangings. The SS camp leader Otto 
Brossmann used the first execution to instill absolute horror in the prisoners. SS men 
like Tom Mix instigated new levels of violence against the inmates that also spread to 
German and ethnic German foremen on the OHW construction site. The haste to 
build shelters and fix bomb damage, coupled with lowered food rations, consumed 
the prisoners’ last physical reserves. Those requiring treatment in the camp infirmary, 
along with the victims of a typhus outbreak, were taken to Auschwitz in two-weekly 
intervals or killed by phenol injections. On the eve of the evacuation in January 1945, 
the second camp leader, Kurt Klipp, surprisingly opted to disobey superior orders and 
to spare the lives of three hundred infirmary patients and over one hundred female 
prisoners. He was nevertheless responsible for several massacres of prisoners refusing 
to go on the death march and had those who fell out en route ruthlessly killed. When 
Klipp’s group was already miles away on their trek, he could rely on the collaboration of 
the OHW works police and Wehrmacht units, who continued to murder in the camp. 
During Blechhammer’s final days, the deadly alliance between the Nazi regime and the 
industrialists reached its tragic climax.

In the thirty-four months of its existence, the Blechhammer camp saw a swift suc-
cession of leaders and authorities and underwent several transformations. While the 
perpetrators were exchanged (and apparently were highly interchangeable), the camp’s 
dual function remained the same: to supply the German war industry with cheap la-
borers and decimate the Jewish population through the lethal conditions of their work 
deployment.
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